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REPORT OF THE TRUSTEES
We are pleased to present before you the ANNUAL REPORT of SAHARA MUTUAL FUND for the year
ended March 31, 2014.
Overview of Debt Markets in 2013-14
The events unfolded in the last year provided indications to the policy makers across the globe that policy
action needs coordination not only to face the challenge but also during the unwinding process. US at the
back of growth momentum announced the roll back plan of its stimulus measures which resulted in
impact on global capital markets as well as currencies. The 10Year benchmark rates in India zoomed to
over 9.5% while short term rates stepped up to 12.5% between May’13 to August ’13. Dollar outflow
pushed the forex reserve to pare nearly 20 bn Dollars. RBI had to intervene and certain measures were
announced both to attract dollar and to curtail the speculation in currency while government discouraged
gold import to sustain the current account deficit (CAD). Also RBI hiked the policy rates twice to counter
the impact as well as to soften the inflationary tendencies to 8%.
The second half of the year was relatively stable on the back of above policy measures. Macro economic
data and volatility in currency market eased. Rupee remained stable in the range of 60-62/dollar. Current
Account Deficit (CAD) moderated to below 3% of the GDP while WPI softened and CPI too followed the
trend to register 4.68% and 8.03% respectively in the month of Feb. However Fiscal deficit remained the
concern for most part even after the reiteration from government to cap the fiscal deficit at 4.8%.
Government finance fared poorly due to less than budgeted tax revenue especially indirect tax while non
plan expenditure remained buoyant. IIP posted a dismal picture for the year with negative growth.
Overview of Equity Markets in 2013-14
At the start of October 2013-2014, there were hopes of revival of the Indian economy; however certain
global circumstances coupled with low policy initiatives led to subdued performance of the equity market.
Despite that, and amidst high volatility throughout the year, the stock markets ended the year with gains.
In the last financial year 2013-2014, the leading benchmark indices, Sensex and Nifty posted annual
gains of 18.85% & 17.98% respectively. Both Sensex and Nifty made all time highs, whereas CNX
Midcap index gave a return of 16.36%. In the last financial year, flows have been robust from Foreign
Institutional Investors (FII’s) with net buyers of around Rs.80,000 crores while Domestic Institutional
Investors (DII’s) were net sellers.
India has decisively voted BJP-led NDA to power at the center. BJP itself has won over 50% of the seats,
thereby giving a sign of stability and freedom of pursuing its policies.
During the Financial Year 2013-2014 few major events which impacted the markets were, U.S. Federal
bank action, India'
s twin deficits i.e. fiscal deficit and current account deficit, currency movement and
General Elections in India.
The U.S. action on tapering impacted the markets across the global. The sharp increase in U.S. yields
sparked a sudden portfolio adjustment by international investors away from developing country assets,
leading to a significant decline in capital flows. Tapering is to continue in '
measured fashion'through first
half of 2014 unless economic conditions change.
Financial Year 2013-2014 was a turbulent year for India dictated by falling economic growth, depreciating
rupee, high inflation and tight liquidity conditions. While the year started on a favourable note with lower
commodity prices, diesel price hike, low core inflation and interest rate cuts, fears of taper in the US led to
notable volatility in the financial markets. The worst hit was the Rupee which touched a low of Rs.68.825
against the Dollar in August from the Rs.61-62 levels seen earlier. However, the policies followed by the
Reserve Bank of India (RBI) during that period helped India to navigate the situations safely and without
having adverse impact on its currency.
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On the international front financial markets are undergoing significant transition as strengthening growth
in high-income economies is prompting an end to the extraordinary stimulus measures taken in the wake
of the global financial crisis. Most of this adjustment had played itself out by end-August 2013, with equity,
bond and foreign exchange markets recovering or stabilizing in the final months of the year. The euro
area has seen a sluggish with modest improvement in growth. Germany continues to drive growth in the
region.
• Scheme Performance, Future Outlook and Operations
Performance as of March 31, 2014
1 year
Since
Inception date
inception
Sahara Tax Gain Fund (%)
27.21
23.63
April 1, 1997
S & P BSE 200 (%)
17.19
13.05
“The price and redemption value of the units, and income from them, can go up as well as down with the
fluctuations in the market value of its underlying investments”
As on March 31, 2014, the scheme had invested 95 % of its net assets in equities and the balance 5% in
other current assets. The scheme has declared a dividend of Rs 2.00 per unit (on face value of Rs.10/per unit) during the year 2013-14 under the scheme.
Performance as of March 31, 2014

1 year

Since
inception

Inception date

Sahara Growth Fund (%)
21.45
21.35
Aug 30, 2002
CNX Nifty (%)
17.98
17.73
“The price and redemption value of the units, and income from them, can go up as well as down with the
fluctuations in the market value of its underlying investments”
As on March 31, 2014, the scheme had invested 98% of its net assets in equities and the balance in other
current assets.
Performance as of March 31, 2014

1 year

Since
inception

Inception date
st

Sahara Midcap Fund (%)
33.76
15.07
31 December , 2004
CNX Midcap Index (%)
16.36
12.14
“The price and redemption value of the units, and income from them, can go up as well as down with the
fluctuations in the market value of its underlying investments”
As on March 31, 2014, the scheme had invested 99% of its net assets in equities and the balance in
current assets.
Performance as of March 31, 2014
Sahara Wealth Plus Fund (%) – Variable Pricing Option
Fixed Pricing Option
S & P CNX 500 (%)

1 year
29.85
28.61
17.72

Since
inception
13.05
12.17
10.94

Inception date

01/09/2005

“The price and redemption value of the units, and income from them, can go up as well as down with the
fluctuations in the market value of its underlying investments”
As on March 31, 2014, the scheme had invested 94 % of its net assets in equities and the balance 6% in
other current assets.
Performance as of March 31, 2014

1 year

Sahara Infrastructure Fund (%) Variable Pricing Option
Fixed Pricing Option
CNX Nifty (%)

11.29
10.23
17.98

Since
inception
4.72
3.88
8.57

Inception date
April 3,
2006
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“The price and redemption value of the units, and income from them, can go up as well as down with the
fluctuations in the market value of its underlying investments”
As on March 31, 2014, the scheme had invested 98 % of its net assets invested in equities and the
balance in other current assets.
Performance as of March 31, 2014

Since
Inception date
inception
Sahara R.E.A.L Fund (%)
26.25
(1.41)
Nov 27, 2007
CNX Nifty (%)
17.98
2.60
“The price and redemption value of the units, and income from them, can go up as well as down with the
fluctuations in the market value of its underlying investments”
As on March 31, 2014, the scheme had invested 96 % of its net assets invested in equities and the
balance in other current assets
Performance as of March 31, 2014
Sahara Power and Natural Resources Fund (%)
CNX Nifty (%)

1 year

1 year

Since
inception

22.05

3.64

Inception date
th

17 June, 2008

17.98
6.51
“The price and redemption value of the units, and income from them, can go up as well as down with the
fluctuations in the market value of its underlying investments”
As on March 31, 2014, the scheme had invested 98 % of its net assets invested in equities and the
balance in current assets
Performance as of March 31, 2014
1 year
Since
Inception date
inception
th
Sahara Banking and Financial Services Fund (%)
16 Sept 2008
9.99
23.95
CNX Bank Nifty Index (%)
12.15
14.11
“The price and redemption value of the units, and income from them, can go up as well as down with the
fluctuations in the market value of its underlying investments”
As on March 31, 2014, the scheme had invested 98 % of its net assets invested in equities and the
balance in current assets.
Performance as of March 31, 2014

1 year

Since
Inception date
inception
st
Sahara Super 20 Fund (%)
18.92
6.55
31 July 2009
CNX Nifty Index (%)
17.98
8.22
“The price and redemption value of the units, and income from them, can go up as well as down with the
fluctuations in the market value of its underlying investments”
As on March 31, 2014,the scheme had invested 95 % of its net assets invested in equities and the
balance 5% in current assets.
Performance as of March 31, 2014
1 year
Since inception
Inception date
th
Sahara Star Value Fund (%)
28.56
4.93
14 September,2009
S & P BSE 200 (%)
17.19
6.86
“The price and redemption value of the units, and income from them, can go up as well as down with the
fluctuations in the market value of its underlying investments”
As on March 31, 2014,the scheme had invested 98 % of its net assets invested in equities and the
balance in current assets.
DEBT MARKETS
Financial year 2014-2015 started with general election and hence an expectation of strong, stable, and
policy driven government may drive the sentiments of the debt market. Currency market and Current
Account Deficit (CAD) may also be positively affected given a strong FII inflow. Also with strong
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government may revive the structural and policy reform which has been stalled for long. So the nature of
the new government is one of the key factors which may decide the overall market sentiments.
However the outlook for the inflation is bleak given the possibilities of El-Nino effect impacting the
monsoon. Food inflation which has been the major dampener in the past year may again prove to be a
threat. WPI and CPI both on account on expected higher food price. Inflation may not tread on RBI
expected lines. With the new government in place it is expected to follow high growth policies which may
result in better economic outlook and slightly lower inflation trajectory. RBI is expected to hold the policy
st
rates in the 1 half of the FY15 but may review the policy in tune with prevailing condition. Export sector
though has improved in the last year but weak environment in China and other emerging economies
which are battling with lower growth syndrome may affect the sector. Gold import which has been
artificially curtailed may again pose challenge once the import restrictions resides. Fiscal position may not
see too much of the improvement in FY15. Fiscal Deficit and subsidy would remain the concerns.
Industrial growth may also be a concern area.
On international front, the revival of US and Europe and the consequent tapering of stimulus may result in
volatility in the emerging markets. The global economic situation is likely to improve during the current
fiscal year leading to better opportunities on export front. A stable new government along with mature
responses of the Reserve Bank is likely to lead to better fiscal and monetary position. In this scenario
interest rates are likely to fall in second half of current fiscal year.
EQUITY MARKETS
Though the economy is still in a low growth phase, it looks close to bottoming out. GDP growth is looking
set to better expectations after 10 quarters and is headed higher after hitting a low of 4.5% for FY14.
Liquidity stress is easing as influx of forex has improved liquidity at the shorter end. On the external front,
an improvement in trade deficit has helped narrow the Current Account Deficit (CAD). Improved forex
reserves on the back of USD 34 billion accretion through RBI swap window for FCNR(B) and bank
borrowing have stabilized around Rs.60 level, which may have provided some comfort to RBI to start
rebuilding its reserves.
India has decisively voted BJP-led NDA to power at the center. BJP won its highest ever number of seats
with clear majority.
The reformist and pro-development track record and image of Mr.Narendra Modi and the NDA are
expected to boost the overall sentiments. The new government is likely to follow a path of stable,
consistent and growth policies.
2. Brief Background of Sponsor, Trust, and AMC Company
a. Sahara Mutual Fund
Sahara Mutual Fund (SMF) has been established as a Trust by the Trust Deed (amended from time to
th
time) dated 18 July, 1996 in accordance with the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and duly registered under the
Indian Registration Act, 1908, sponsored by Sahara India Financial Corporation Limited (“SIFCL”).
The Trustees have appointed Sahara Asset Management Company Private Limited as the Investment
Manager to Sahara Mutual Fund to function as the Investment Manager for all the Schemes of Sahara
st
Mutual Fund. Sahara Mutual Fund was registered with SEBI on 1 October, 1996.
b. Board of Trustees
The Board of Trustees as on date comprises Mr.S.R Hegde, Independent Trustee, Mr.P.V Rao,
Independent Trustee, Mr A. K Thakur, Independent Trustee and Dr.P.P Shastri, Independent Trustee.
The Board of Trustees is the exclusive owner of the Trust Fund and holds the same in trust for the benefit
of the unit holders. The Board of Trustees has been discharging its duties and carrying out the
responsibilities as provided in the Regulations and the Trust Deed. The Board of Trustees seeks to
ensure that the Fund and the Schemes floated there under are managed by the AMC in accordance with
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the Trust Deed, the Regulations, directions and guidelines issued by the SEBI, the Stock Exchanges, the
Association of Mutual Funds in India and other regulatory agencies.
3. Investment Objective of the Scheme.
Sahara Tax Gain Fund: The basic objective of is to provide immediate tax relief and long term capital
gains to investors.
Sahara Growth Fund: The basic objective is to achieve capital appreciation by investing in equity and
equity related instruments.
Sahara Midcap Fund: The objective to achieve long term capital growth at medium level of risks by
investing primarily in mid–cap stocks.
Sahara Wealth Plus Fund: The objective is to invest in equity and equity related instruments of
companies that would be wealth builders in the long run.
Sahara Infrastructure Fund: The investment objective is to provide income distribution and/or medium
to long term capital gains by investing in equity/equity related instruments of companies mainly in the
Infrastructure sector.
Sahara R.E.A.L Fund: The investment objective would be to provide long term capital gains by investing
predominantly in equity / equity related instrument of companies in the Retailing, Entertainment & Media,
Auto & auto ancillaries and Logistics sector.
Sahara Power and Natural Resources Fund: The investment objective is to generate long term capital
appreciation through investment in equities and equity related securities of companies engaged in the
business of generation, transmission, distribution of Power or in those companies that are engaged
directly or indirectly in any activity associated in the power sector or principally engaged in discovery,
development, production, processing or distribution of natural resources.
Sahara Banking and Financial Services Fund: The investment objective to provide long term capital
appreciation through investment in equities and equities related securities of companies whose business
comprise of Banking / Financial Services, either whole or in part.
Sahara Super 20 Fund: The investment objective of the scheme would be to provide long term capital
appreciation by investing in predominantly equity and equity related securities of around 20 companies
selected out of the top 100 largest market capitalization companies, at the point of investment.
Sahara Star Value Fund: The investment objective would be to provide long term capital appreciation by
investing predominantly in equity / equity related instruments of select companies based on value
parameters
4. Significant Accounting Policies:
The Balance Sheet and the Revenue Account together with the notes thereon have been prepared in
accordance with the accounting policies and standards specified in the Ninth Schedule of the Securities
and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996 and amendments thereto, as applicable.
5. Unclaimed Dividends and Redemptions
Number of
Scheme Name
Investors

Unclaimed
Dividend (Rs)

Number of
Investors

Unclaimed
Redemption (Rs)

1437

1,628,859.82

31

165,749.41

Sahara Growth Fund

23

75,469.17

10

237,640.51

Sahara Midcap Fund

690

771,096.13

81

364,394.45

1034
34
-

1,163,739.90
166,712.45
-

95
53
41

822,129.71
509,022.92
605,486.31

69

237,192.71

18

309,568.59

5
5

8,558.10
7,188.88

13
9
6

155,002.83
110,877.25
69,096.59

Sahara Taxgain Fund

Sahara Wealthplus Fund
Sahara Infrastructure Fund
Sahara Real Fund
Sahara Banking & Financial
Services Fund
Sahara Power & Natural
Resources Fund
Sahara Super 20 Fund
Sahara Star Value Fund
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6. Disclosure of investor complaints for the year 2013-14
Total Number of Folios under all schemes: 31504
Action on (a) and (b)
(a) No. of
Complaint
Complai Type of
s
nt
Complaint pending
Code
#
at
the
beginning
of the
year
IA
Non receipt
0
of
Dividend on
Units
IB
Interest on
0
delayed
payment of
Dividend
IC
Non receipt
0
of
Redemptio
n
Proceeds
ID
Interest on
0
delayed
Payment of
Redemptio
n
II A
Non receipt
0
of
Statement
of
Account/Un
it Certificate
II B
Discrepanc
0
y in
Statement
of Account
II C
Data
0
corrections
in Investor
details
II D

III A

Non receipt
of Annual
Report
/Abridged
Summary
Wrong
switch
between
Schemes

(b) No of
complaint
s
received
during
the year Withi
n
30
Days
14
14

*Non
Actionabl
e

Resolved
30- 60- Beyon
60 180
d
Day Day 180
s
s
days
0
0
0

0

Pending

0-3 3 - 6 6-9 9-12
mth mth mth mth
s
s
s
s
0
0
0
0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

6

6

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

3

3

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0
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III B

III C

III D

III E

IV

Unauthoriz
ed switch
between
Schemes
Deviation
from
Scheme
attributes
Wrong or
Excess
charges/loa
d
Non
updation of
changes
viz.address,
PAN,bank
details,
nomination,
etc
Others**

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

5

5

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

4

4

0

0

0

4

0

0

0

0

# including against its authorized persons/ distributors/ employees etc.* Non actionable means the
complaint that are incomplete / outside the scope of the mutual fund ** Not pertaining to Sahara Mutual
Fund.
7. Role of Mutual Funds in Corporate Governance of Public Listed Companies
Policy on Attending AGM/EOGM of Investee Companies
Introduction
Sahara Asset Management Company Private Limited acts as an Investment Manager (“The AMC”) to the
schemes of Sahara Mutual Fund (“Fund”). The general voting policy and procedures being followed by
the AMC in exercising the voting rights (“Voting Policy”) is given hereunder.
Philosophy and Guidelines of Voting Policy:
The AMC has a dual responsibility of a prudent fund manager investing investor money as well as of an
entity performing the responsibility of protecting the investor interest. As part of the management of funds,
irrespective of the scheme, the AMC ensures that investments are made in companies that meet
investment norms. It is expected that the investee company adheres to proper corporate governance
standards. The voting policy for the investee companies by the AMC is as under:
The AMC shall deal with voting on case to case basis. For this purpose, the AMC shall review various
notices of AGM/EOGM received from the investee companies from time to time and decide whether there
are some issues on which the voting decision (favourable / unfavourable) is to be taken. The AMC would
generally agree with the management of the Investee Company on routine matters, but may object by
voting against if it believes that the interest of the shareholders are prejudiced in any manner.
As regards non-routine items the Fund Manager - Equity with assistance of the Equity Research
Department and in consultation with the Chief Investment Officer shall review each of such cases and
make specific recommendations to the Chief Executive Officer. In case the AMC is against any non
routine item, it may decide to attend the meeting and vote against. In some other such cases, it may
decide to abstain based on one or more of the factors like our small holding in the company, location of
the meeting place, time/cost involved etc. For these instances, the reasons for non attendance will be
recorded.
As per the decision taken by the AMC, it may depute an authorized person to vote in AGM/EOGM
appropriately keeping in mind the interest of unit holders. AMC would maintain a record on the
AGM/EOGM voting related matters.
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Disclosure of Voting policy and Maintenance of Records:
This Policy on attending AGM/EOGM and suitable disclosure thereof is available on the website
(www.saharamutual.com) of the Mutual Fund.
Note: For details of voting in the AGMs of the investee companies for the financial year 2013-14, unit
holders can log on to the website (www.saharamutual.com) of the Fund. The details of voting shall be
emailed/sent as and when requested by the unit holders free of cost.
The details of voting in the AGMs of the investee companies for the financial year 2013-14 are as follows:
THE PAPER PRODUCTS LTD
Type of
Meeting
Date
Proposal
(AGM /
EGM)
Adoption of Accounts for financial year 2012-13
and reports of Board of Directors and Auditors
thereon
To declare dividend
To appoint a Director in place of Shri R. K. Dhir
who retires by rotation and eligible to reappointment
th
7
To appoint a Director in place of Shri S K Palekar
May
AGM
who retires by rotation and eligible to reappointment
2013
To appoint M/s S R Batliboi & Co Chartered
Accountants Mumbai as Statutory Auditors of the
Company and to fix their remuneration.
Appointment of Mr A.Venkatrangan as Director of
the Company
Appointment of Mr.Nripjit Singh Chawla as
Director of the Company
BATA INDIA LTD
Type of
Date Meeting
(AGM /
EGM)

th

4
June
2013

AGM

FOR

Vote
(For /
Against /
Abstain)
FOR

FOR
FOR

FOR
FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

Management
Recommendation

Proposal

Management
Recommendation

Adoption of Accounts as on 31st December 2012
To declare dividend
To appoint Directors in place of Mr Uday Khanna
and Mr Atul Singh who retire by rotation and
being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment
Re-appointment of M/s.S.R.Batliboi & Co,
Chartered Accountants, Mumbai as Statutory
Auditors and fixing of remuneration.
Approval to the appointment of Mr. Gigi Abraham
as Director of the Company and total
remuneration thereof.

FOR
FOR
FOR

Vote
(For /
Against /
Abstain)
FOR
FOR
FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

RELIANCE INDUSTRIES LTD
Date

Type of
Meeting
(AGM /
EGM)

Proposal

Management
Recommendation

Vote
(For /
Against /
Abstain)
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th

6
June,
2013

AGM

YES BANK LTD
Type of
Meeting
Date
(AGM /
EGM)

th

8
June
2013

AGM

To adopt the audited Balance Sheet as at March
31, 2013, the Statement of Profit & Loss for the
year ended on that date and the reports of the
Board of Directors and Auditors thereon.
To declare dividend on equity shares
To appoint Directors in place of those retiring by
rotation.
To appoint M/s. Chaturvedi & Shah (Chartered
Accountants), M/s. Deloitte, Haskins & Sells
(Chartered Accountants) and M/s. Rajendra &
Co. (Chartered Accountants) as Auditors on such
remuneration as may be fixed by the Board of
Directors.
To approve the payment of commission not
exceeding
Rs.5 crore per annum, in addition
to the sitting fees, by way of annual payment to
the Non – Executive Directors (i.e Directors other
than the Managing Director & the Whole-time
Directors).

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

Proposal

Management
Recommendation

Vote
(For /
Against /
Abstain)

Adoption of Accounts for financial year 2012-13
and reports of Board of Directors and Auditors
thereon
Declaration of dividend on equity shares
Retirement by rotation and re-appointment of Mrs.
Radha Singh as Director
Retirement by rotation and re-appointment of Mr.
Ajay Vohra as Director.
Appointment of M/s. S.R.Batliboi & Co. LLP as
Statutory Auditors of the Bank for FY 2013-14
and to fix their remuneration.
Appointment of Mr. Diwan Arun Nanda as a
Director of the Bank
Appointment of Mr. Ravish Chopra as a Director
of the Bank
Appointment of Mr. M. R. Srinivasan as a Director
of the Bank
Revision in remuneration of Mr. Rana Kapoor,
Managing Director and CEO with effect from April
1, 2012
Approval for raising of additional capital
aggregating upto USD 500 million or its Indian
Rupee equivalent

FOR

FOR

FOR
FOR

FOR
FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

ASIAN PAINTS LTD
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Date

Type of
Meeting
(AGM /
EGM)

th

24
June,
2013

AGM

Proposal
Adoption of audited annual accounts of the
company for the year ended 31st March, 2013
together with the Reports of the Board of
Directors and Auditors thereon.
To consider and declare payment of final
dividend and confirm the interim dividend of
Rs.9.50 (Rupees nine and paise fifty only) per
share declared and paid during the financial
year ended 31st March, 2013
Re-appointment of Shri Mahendra Choksi as
Director of the company.
Not to fill the vacancy of Ms.Tarjani Vakil, a
Director liable to retire by rotation and does not
wish to seek re-appointment..
Re-appointment of Shri Mahendra Shah as
Director of the company.
Re-appointment of Shri S.Ramadorai as
Director of the company.
Re-appointment of M/s Shah & Co., Chartered
Accountants, and M/s B S R & Associates,
Chartered Accountants as Joint Statutory
Auditors of the company and to fix their
remuneration
Appointment of Shri M.K.Sharma as a Director
of the company.
Revision in remuneration payable to Shri Jalaj
Dani (a relative of Company’s Directors – Shri
Ashwin Dani and Mrs. Ina Dani) holding an
office or place of profit in the company, subject
to the approval of the Central Government.
Revision in remuneration payable to Shri
Manish Choksi (a relative of Company’s
Directors – Shri Ashwin Choksi and Shri
Mahendra Choksi) holding an office or place of
profit in the company, subject to the approval of
the Central Government.
Appointment of Mr. Vivek Vakil (a relative of
Company’s Directors – Mr. Abhay Vakil and Mr.
Amar Vakil) to hold an office or place of profit in
the company as an Executive in the Corporate
Finance Department.
Sub-division of each Equity Share of nominal
face value of Rs.10 (Rupees Ten) each fully
paid-up, into 10 (ten) Equity Shares of the
nominal face value of Re.1 (Rupee One) each
fully paid-up.
Amendment to the existing Clause V of the
Memorandum of Association of the company,
subsequent to approval of sub-division of Equity
Shares.

Management
Recommendation

Vote
(For /
Against /
Abstain)

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR
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Amendment to the existing Clause 3 of the
Articles of Association of the company,
subsequent to approval of sub-division of Equity
Shares.
ING VYSYA BANK LTD
Type of
Meeting
Date
(AGM /
EGM)

th

25
June
2013

AGM

FOR

FOR

Vote
(For /
Against /
Abstain)

Proposal

Management
Recommendation

Adoption of Accounts for financial year 2012-13
and reports of Board of Directors and Auditors
thereon
Declaration of dividend on equity shares
Retirement by rotation and re-appointment of Mrs.
Richard Coz as Director
Retirement by rotation and re-appointment of Mr.
Meleveetil Damodaran as Director.
Retirement by rotation and re-appointment of Mr.
Vikram Talwar as Director.
Appointment of M/s. B.S.R & Co. as Statutory
Auditors of the Bank for FY 2013-14 and to fix
their remuneration
Appointment of Mr. Sanjeev Aga as a Director of
the Bank
Issuing of ESOS which are convertible to equity
to the Directors of the Bank.
Approval for raising capital by issuing Equity
Shares, GDRs or FCCBs or other instruments
convertible to equity shares upto 3,00,00,000
equity shares or equivalent securities subject to a
maximum of Rs. 20,000 mn.
Re-appointment of Mr. Shailendra Bhandari as
MD and CEO of ING Vysya Bank Ltd. for a period
of 3 yrs w.e.f. August 5, 2012

FOR

FOR

FOR
FOR

FOR
FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

CMC LTD

Date

Type of
Meeting
(AGM /
EGM)

th

26
June,
2013

AGM

Proposal

Adoption of the audited Statement of Profit and
Loss for the year ended on 31 March, 2013 and
the Balance Sheet as at that date
Declaration of dividend for the Financial Year
2012-13 on equity shares
Reappointment of Mr. S Ramadorai, who retires
by rotation and, being eligible, offered himself for
re-appointment
Reappointment of Ms. Kalpana Morparia, who

Management
Recommendation

Vote
(For /
Against /
Abstain)

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR
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retires by rotation and, being eligible, offered
herself for re-appointment
Reappointment of Statutory Auditors and to fix
their remuneration
Appointment of Prof. M S Ananth as a Director of
the Company liable to retire by rotation
Appointment of Mr. Ashok Sinha as a Director of
the Company liable to retire by rotation
Re-appointment of Mr. R Ramanan as Managing
Director & CEO
HDFC BANK LTD
Type of
Meeting
Date
(AGM /
EGM)

th

27
June
2013

AGM

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

Proposal

Management
Recommendation

Vote
(For /
Against /
Abstain)

Adoption of Accounts for financial year 2012-13
and reports of Board of Directors and Auditors
thereon
Declaration of dividend on equity shares
Retirement by rotation and re-appointment of Mr.
Bobby Parikh as Director
Retirement by rotation and re-appointment of Mr.
A. N. Roy as Director.
Appointment of M/s. B S R & Co. as Auditors of
the Bank for FY 2013-14 and to fix their
remuneration.
Retirement by rotation and re-appointment of Mr.
Vijay Merchant as Director
To grant, offer, issue or allot 10 crore equity stock
options to employees/ directors under Employee
Stock Option Plan
Reappointment of Mr. Paresh Sukthankar as
Executive Director of the Bank for a period of 3
years and approval of terms of appointment.

FOR

FOR

FOR
FOR

FOR
FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

TATA CONSULTANCY SERVICES LTD
Type of
Meeting
Date
Proposal
(AGM /
EGM)
Adoption of Accounts for financial year 2012-13
and reports of Board of Directors and Auditors
thereon
To confirm payment of Interim Dividends and to
declare Final Dividend on Equity Shares for the
th
financial year 2012-13
28
To declare Dividend on Redeemable Preference
June,
AGM
Shares for the financial year 2012-13
2013
Re-appointed Dr. Vijay Kelkar as a Director of the
company
Re-appointed Mr. Ishaat Hussain as a Director of
the company
Re-appointed Mr. Aman Mehta as a Director of

Management
Recommendation

Vote
(For /
Against /
Abstain)

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR
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the company
Appointment Auditors and fixing of their
remuneration
Revision in terms of remuneration of Mr. N.
Chandrasekaran, Chief Executive Officer and
Managing Director
Re-appointed Mr. S. Mahalingam as Chief
Financial Officer and Executive Director of the
Company until his retirement
Appointment of Branch Auditors
IndusInd BANK LTD
Type of
Date Meeting
Proposal
(AGM /
EGM)
Adoption of Accounts for financial year 2012-13
and reports of Board of Directors and Auditors
thereon
Declaration of dividend on equity shares
Retirement by rotation and re-appointment of Mr.
S. C. Tripathi as Director
Retirement by rotation and re-appointment of Dr.
th
28
T. T. Ram Mohan as Director.
June
AGM
Appointment of M/s B S R & Co, Chartered
2013
Accountants
Auditors
and
to
fix
their
remuneration.
Re-Appointment of Mr. R. Seshasayee as PartTime Chairman and approval of terms of
appointment.
Re-appointment of Mr. Romesh Sobti as
Managing Director and CEO and approval of
terms of appointment.

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

Vote
(For /
Against /
Abstain)
FOR

FOR
FOR

FOR
FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

Management
Recommendation

Shriram Transport Finance Co. Ltd
Date

Type of
Meeting
(AGM /
EGM)

Proposal

AGM

Adoption of Accounts for financial year 2012-13
and reports of Board of Directors and Auditors
thereon
Declaration of dividend on equity shares
Retirement by rotation and re-appointment of
Mr.S. Lakshminarayanan as Director.
Appointment of M/s. S. R. Batliboi & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants, Mumbai and M/s.
G.D.Apte and Co. Chartered Accountants,
Mumbai as joint auditors of the company for the
financial year 2013-14 and to fix their
remuneration
Retirement by rotation and re-appointment of Mr.
R. Sridhar, Mr. Amitabh Chaudhry and Mrs.
Kishori Udeshi as Directors.

th

5
July
2013

FOR

Vote
(For /
Against
/
Abstain)
FOR

FOR
FOR

FOR
FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

Management
Recommendation

17

Sahara Mutual Fund – Annual Report 13-14.
Enhancement in the borrowing powers of the
Board of Directors to Rs.50,000 crores.
Enhancement of limit to create charge/mortgage
assets of the company by the Board of Directors
to Rs.62,500 crores.
Payment of commission to Non-Executive
independent directors for a period of 5 years from
1/04/2012
Alteration in the Articles of Association of the
Company
GRUH FINANCE LTD
Type of
Meeting
Date
(AGM /
EGM)

th

8
July
2013

AGM

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

Vote
(For /
Against /
Abstain)

Proposal

Management
Recommendation

Adoption of Accounts for financial year 2012-13
and reports of Board of Directors and Auditors
thereon
To declare dividend on equity shares
Retirement by rotation and re-appointment of Mr.
Keki M. Mistry as Director
Retirement by rotation and re-appointment of Ms.
Renu S. Karnad as Director.
Retirement by rotation and re-appointment of Mr.
S. G. Mankad as Director.
Re-appointment of Auditors M/s Sorab S
Engineer & Co of the Bank and fix their
remuneration.
Consideration and approval for increasing the
borrowing powers from Rs.6000 crores to
Rs.9000 crores

FOR

FOR

FOR
FOR

FOR
FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

TATA GLOBAL BEVERAGES LTD
Date

Type of
Meeting
(AGM /
EGM)

th

15
July,
2013

AGM

Proposal
Adoption of Accounts for financial year 2012-13
and reports of Board of Directors and Auditors
thereon
To declare dividend on equity shares
Mr. F.K. Kavarana, Mrs. Ranjana Kumar and Mrs.
Mallika Srinivasan who retired by rotation and
eligible for re-appointment.
To appoint Auditors and fix their remuneration.
Appointment of Mr. L. Krishnakumar and Mr. S.
Santhanakrishnan as Directors of the company.
Appointment and remuneration of Mr. L.
Krishnakumar as Wholetime Executive Director.
Revision in terms of remuneration of Mr. Harish
Bhat, Managing Director of the company.
Revision in terms of remuneration of Mr. Ajoy

Management
Recommendation

Vote
(For /
Against /
Abstain)

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR
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Misra, Wholetime Executive Director of the
company.
Bajaj Finance Ltd
Type of
Meeting
Date
(AGM /
EGM)

th

18
July
2013

AGM

Bajaj Finserv Ltd
Type of
Meeting
Date
(AGM /
EGM)

th

18
July
2013

AGM

HDFC LTD
Type of
Meeting
Date
(AGM /
EGM)

th

19
July
2013

AGM

Proposal
Adoption of Accounts for financial year 2012-13
and reports of Board of Directors and Auditors
thereon
Declaration of dividend on equity shares
Retirement by rotation and re-appointment of Mr.
Nanoo Pamnani as Director
Retirement by rotation and re-appointment of Mr.
D. J. Balaji Rao as Director.
Retirement by rotation and re-appointment of Mr.
Dipak Poddar as Director.
Re-appointment of M/s Dalal and Shah,
Chartered Accountants as Statutory Auditors for
FY 2013-14 and to fix their remuneration.

Proposal
Adoption of Accounts for financial year 2012-13
and reports of Board of Directors and Auditors
thereon
Declaration of dividend on equity shares
Retirement by rotation and re-appointment of Mr.
D. J. Balaji Rao as Director.
Retirement by rotation and re-appointment of Mr.
S H Khan as Director.
Appointment of Auditors for FY2013-14 and fix
their remuneration

Proposal
Adoption of Accounts for financial year 2012-13
and reports of Board of Directors and Auditors
thereon
Declaration of dividend on equity shares
Retirement by rotation and re-appointment of Mrs.
Deepak S. Parekh as Director
Retirement by rotation and re-appointment of Mr.
Keshub Mahindra as Director.
Retirement by rotation and re-appointment of Mr.
D. M. Sukthankar as Director.

FOR

Vote
(For /
Against /
Abstain)
FOR

FOR
FOR

FOR
FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

Management
Recommendation

FOR

Vote
(For /
Against /
Abstain)
FOR

FOR
FOR

FOR
FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

Management
Recommendation

FOR

Vote
(For /
Against /
Abstain)
FOR

FOR
FOR

FOR
FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

Management
Recommendation
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Retirement by rotation and re-appointment of Mr.
Naseer Munjee as Director.
Appointment of M/s Deloitte Haskins & Sells,
Chartered Accountants as Statutory Auditors and
to fix their remuneration.
Appointment of M/s PKF, Chartered Accountants
as Branch Auditors and to fix their remuneration.
Approval to the Board to borrow monies in excess
of the paid up share capital and free reserves of
the Corporation upto an amount not exceeding
Rs.3,00,000 crores outstanding at any point in
time
AXIS BANK LTD
Type of
Meeting
Date
(AGM /
EGM)

th

19
July
2013

AGM

Proposal
Adoption of Accounts for financial year 2012-13
and reports of Board of Directors and Auditors
thereon
Retirement by rotation and re-appointment of Mr.
S. B. Mathur as Director
Retirement by rotation and re-appointment of Mr.
Prasad R. Menon as Director.
Retirement by rotation and re-appointment of Mr.
R. N. Bhattacharyya as Director.
Declaration of dividend on equity shares
Appointment of M/s Deloitte Haskins & Sells ,
Chartered Accountants and Statutory ,Auditors
and fixing their remuneration
To appoint Ms. Ireena Vittal as a Director of the
Bank
To appoint Mr. Rohit Bhagat as a Director of the
Bank
To appoint Mr. Sanjiv Misra as a Director of the
Bank
Revision in terms and conditions and appointment
of Ms. Shikha Sharma, MD and CEO of the bank
w.e.f. 01/06/2013
Revision in terms and conditions and appointment
of Mr. Somnath Sengupta as ED of the bank
w.e.f. 01/04/2013 or any other date as may be
approved by the RBI
Revision in terms and conditions and appointment
of Mr. V. Srinivasan as ED of the bank w.e.f.
01/04/2013 or any other date as may be
approved by the RBI
To issue, offer and allot additional equity stock
options to employees/ directors under Employee
Stock Option Plan

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

Vote
(For /
Against /
Abstain)
FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR
FOR

FOR
FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

Management
Recommendation
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PIDILITE INDUSTRIES LTD
Type of
Meeting
Date
Proposal
(AGM /
EGM)
To receive and adopt the Profit and Loss Account
for the year ended on 31st March 2013 and the
Balance Sheet as at that date together with the
Directors'Report and Auditors'Report.
To declare Dividend on equity shares.
To re-appoint Shri Yash Mahajan, Shri N J
Jhaveri, Shri S K Parekh and Shri A N. Parekh as
Directors, who retire by rotation and being
eligible, offers themselves for re-appointment.
To appoint M/s. Deloitte Haskins & Sells,
Statutory Auditors of the Company to hold office
from the conclusion of this AGM till the conclusion
of next AGM and to fix their remuneration.
rd
23
Re-appointment of Shri M.B.Parekh as Managing
July,
AGM
Director of the Company for further period of 5
2013
years w.e.f from 1st August, 2013 and payment of
remuneration to him.
Re-appointment of Shri A.B.Parekh as a Wholetime Director of the Company for further period of
5 years w.e.f from 1st August, 2013 and payment
of remuneration to him.
Re-appointment of Shri N.K.Parekh as a Joint
Managing Director of the Company for further
period of 5 years w.e.f from 1st August, 2013 and
payment of remuneration to him.
To approve payment of commission upto 1% of
the Net Profits of the Company to the Non
Executive Directors from a period of 5 years
commencing 1st April, 2013.
CAIRN INDIA LTD
Type of
Meeting
Date
(AGM /
EGM)

th

24
July,
2013

AGM

Proposal
To receive and adopt the Profit and Loss Account
for the year ended on 31st March 2013 and the
audited Balance Sheet as at that date together
with the Directors'Report and Auditors'Report.
To confirm declaration & payment of Interim
Dividend for the year 2012-13 and to declare final
st
dividend for the year ended 31 March, 2013
Appointment of Mr. Naresh Chandra, Director,
who retires by rotation & is eligible for reappointment
Appointment of Mr. Edward T. Story, Director,
who retires by rotation & is eligible for reappointment
Appointment of S.R. Batliboi & Co. LLP,
Chartered Accountants, as Statuatory Auditors of

Management
Recommendation

Vote
(For /
Against /
Abstain)

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

Management
Recommendation

Vote
(For /
Against /
Abstain)

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR
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the Company & to fix their remuneration
Appointment of Mr. P. Elango, as a Whole Time
Director, and of the company, whose term of
office shall be liable to retirement by rotation and
approval of terms of appointment
ATUL LTD
Type of
Meeting
Date
(AGM /
EGM)

th

26
July,
2013

AGM

Proposal
To receive and adopt the Profit and Loss Account
for the year ended on 31st March 2013 and the
audited Balance Sheet as at that date together
with the Directors'Report and Auditors'Report.
To declaration dividend on equity shares
Reappointment of Dr. S. S. Baijal as a Director
Reappointment of Mr. S. M. Datta as a Director
Reappointment of Mr. V. S. Ranjan as a Director
Appointment of Dalal & Shah as Statutory
Auditors and fix their remuneration
Appointment of Mr. R. A. Shah as Director
Payment of remuneration by way of commission
over & above sitting fees up to 1 % of Net Profits
to Non-executive Directors of the Company
Re-appointment of Mr. S. S. Lalbhai as Chairman
& Managing Director with effect from July 1, 2014.

AGRO TECH FOODS LTD
Type of
Meeting
Date
Proposal
(AGM /
EGM)
To receive, consider and adopt the Balance
st
Sheet as at 31 March, 2013 and the Statement
of Profit and Loss for the year ended on that date
and the Report of the Directors and Auditors
thereon.
To declare dividend for the financial year ended
31st March, 2013.
To appoint a Director in place of Mr. Michael D
Walter, who retires by rotation and, being eligible,
offers himself for reappointment.
th
26
To appoint a Director in place of Mr. Arun
July,
Bewoor, who retires by rotation and, being
AGM
2013
eligible, offers himself for reappointment.
To appoint Auditors M/s.B S R and Co, Chartered
Accountants and to fix their remuneration.
To appoint Mr. William Lyon Hutton, as Director of
the Company.
To approve Re-appointment of Dr. Pradip Ghosh
Chaudhuri as a Whole Time Director as per terms
of appointment.
To accord and consent for withdrawal of the
approval granted by the Members vide resolution

FOR

FOR

Management
Recommendation

Vote
(For /
Against /
Abstain)

FOR

FOR

FOR
FOR
FOR
FOR

FOR
FOR
FOR
FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

Management
Recommendation

Vote
(For /
Against /
Abstain)

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR
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th

dated 10 June, 2013 passed by way of postal
ballot, to buy back 1,000,000 fully paid up equity
shares through tender offer route.
CESC LTD
Date

Type of
Meeting
(AGM /
EGM)

Proposal

AGM

Consider and adopt the Profit & Loss Account for
the year ended 31 March 2013, the Balance Sheet
as at that date and the Reports of the Directors
and the Auditors thereon.
To declare Dividend
To appoint a Director in place of Mr. B. M Khaitan
who retires by rotation and, being eligible, offers
himself for reappointment.
To appoint a Director in place of Mr. P.K Khaitan
who retires by rotation and, being eligible, offers
himself for reappointment.
To appoint Auditors M/s Lovelock and Lewis and
to fix their remuneration
To consider to accord to the Board of Directors to
mortgage, charge and/or otherwise encumber all
or any of the properties of the Company, whether
immovable or movable and whether present or
future and wheresoever the same may be
situated,
To appoint Mr Aniruddha Basu as Director of the
Company
Approval to the appointment of and the
remuneration payable to Mr. Aniruddha Basu as
Whole time Director of the Company and as
Managing Director of the Company as per terms
and conditions thereof.
To accord payment of commission to Directors
who are neither in the whole time employment of
the Company nor its managing director provided
that the total commission paid to all of such
directors together shall not exceed three per cent
of the net profits of the Company
To delist equity shares of the Company from
London Stock Exchange from such date as the
Board or any Committee constituted by the Board
(‘the Committee’) may decide.

th

26
July,
2013

Management
Recommendation

Vote
(For /
Against
/
Abstain)

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

Management
Recommendation

Vote
(For /
Against /
Abstain)

COLGATE – PALMOLIVE (INDIA) LTD

Date

Type of
Meeting
(AGM /
EGM)

Proposal
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th

29
July,
2013

IDFC Ltd
Date

AGM

Type of
Meeting
(AGM /
EGM)

th

29
July
2013

AGM

To receive, consider and adopt the Balance
st
Sheet as at 31 March, 2013 and the Statement
of Profit and Loss for the year ended on that date
and the Report of the Directors and Auditors
thereon.
To appoint a Director in place of Mr. J.K.Setna,
who retires by rotation and, being eligible, offers
himself for re-appointment.
To appoint a Director in place of Mr. V.S. Mehta,
who retires by rotation and, being eligible, offers
himself for reappointment.
Appointment of Mr. Godfrey Nthunzi as Director
of the Company.
Appointment of Mr. Godfrey Nthunzi, as Wholetime Director of the Company as per agreed
terms and conditions..
To appoint Auditors and fix their remuneration.

Proposal
To receive, consider and adopt the Balance
st
Sheet as at 31 March, 2013 and the Statement
of Profit and Loss and the cash Flow statement
for the financial year ended on that date and the
Report of the Directors and Auditors thereon.
To declare dividend on equity shares
Retirement by rotation and re-appointment of Dr.
Omkar Goswami as Director
Retirement by rotation and re-appointment of Mr.
Shardul Shroff as Director
Re-appointment of M/s. Deloitte Haskins and
Sells, Chartered Accountants as the auditors of
the company and to fix their remuneration.
Appointment of Mr. Joseph Dominic Silva as
director of the company
Appointment of Ms. Snehalata Shrivastava as
director of the company
Appointment of Dr. Rajiv B. Lall as Executive
Chairman
Appointment of Mr. Vikram Limaye as Managing
Director and CEO of the company
Payment of Commission to Non-Executive
Directors
Issuance of shares under ESOS upto 2% of the
issued capital of the company
Decrease in limit of FII shareholding in the equity
share capital from 74% to 54%

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

Vote
(For /
Against /
Abstain)
FOR

FOR
FOR

FOR
FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

Management
Recommendation
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SHOPPERS STOP LTD
Date

Type of
Meeting
(AGM /
EGM)

Proposal

AGM

To receive, consider and adopt the audited
Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2013 and the
Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended
on that date together with the Reports of the
Directors and Statutory Auditors thereon.
To declare dividend on equity shares.
To appoint a Director in place of Mr. Gulu
Mirchandani, who retires by rotation and being
eligible, offers himself for re-appointment.
To appoint a Director in place of Mr. Deepak
Ghaisas, who retires by rotation and being
eligible, offers himself for re-appointment
To appoint Deloitte Haskins & Sells, Chartered
Accountants
as Statutory Auditors of the
Company and fix their remuneration.

th

30
July,
2013

L&T Finance Holdings
Type of
Meeting
Date
Proposal
(AGM /
EGM)
To consider and adopt the Balance Sheet as at
st
31 March, 2013 and the Statement of Profit and
Loss for the year ended on that date and the
Report of the Directors and Auditors thereon.
To declare a dividend on preference shares
To declare a dividend on equity shares
Retirement by rotation and re-appointment of Mr.
R. Shankar Raman as Director
st
1
Appointment of M/s. Sharp and Tannan,
Aug
AGM
Chartered Accountants as Statutory Auditors of
2013
the company and to fix their remuneration
Not to fill the vacancy of Mr. Subramanium N.,
Director retiring by rotation and not seeking reappointment
Not to fill the vacancy of Mr. M. Venugopalan,
Director retiring by rotation and not seeking reappointment
Appointment of Mr. R. Gopalakrishnan as Director
of the Company
ICRA Ltd
Date
nd

2
Aug
2013

Type of
Meeting
(AGM /
EGM)
AGM

Proposal
To receive, consider and adopt the Balance
st
Sheet as at 31 March, 2013 and the Statement
of Profit and Loss for the year ended on that date

Management
Recommendation

Vote
(For /
Against
/
Abstain)

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

Vote
(For /
Against /
Abstain)
FOR

FOR
FOR
FOR

FOR
FOR
FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

Management
Recommendation

Management
Recommendation
FOR

Vote
(For /
Against /
Abstain)
FOR
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and the Report of the Directors and Auditors
thereon.
To declare dividend on equity shares
To appoint a Director in place of Dr. Uddesh Kohli
who retires by rotation and, being eligible, offers
himself for re-appointment
To appoint a Director in place of Prof Deepak
Nayyar who retires by rotation and, being eligible,
offers himself for re-appointment
Re-appointment of M/s.Vipin Aggarwal and
Associates, Chartered Accountants as Statutory
Auditors and fix their remuneration
Re-appointment
of
Mr.
Pranab
Kumar
Choudhury,a Whole Time Director designated as
Chairman and Group CEO as per terms and
conditions thereof.
Appointment of Dr. Min Ye as Director of the
company
Appointment of Mr. Simon Richard Hastilow as
Director of the company.

FOR
FOR

FOR
FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

JYOTHY LABORATORIES LTD
Date

Type of
Meeting
(AGM /
EGM)

Proposal

Management
Recommendation

Vote
(For /
Against
/
Abstain)

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

st

Adoption of Audited Balance Sheet as at 31
March, 2013 and statement of Profit and Loss
Account for the Financial Year April 2012 to
March 2013 together with the Reports of the
Board of Directors and Auditors Report.
To declare dividend on equity shares

th

12
August,
2013

AGM

To appoint a Director in place of Mr. K P
Padmakumar who retires by rotation and, being
eligible, offers himself for re-appointment
To appoint a Director in place of Mr. Bipin R
Shah who retires by rotation and, being eligible,
offers himself for re-appointment.
Re-appointment of S.R. Batliboi & Associates
LLP, Chartered Accountants, Mumbai as
Statutory Auditors and to fix their remuneration.
Special Resolution for payment of remuneration
and perquisites to Mr. M.P.Ramachandran,
Chairman and Managing Director.
Special Resolution for payment of remuneration
and perquisites to Mr. K.Ullas Kamath, Joint
Managing Director.
Special Resolution for payment of remuneration
and perquisites to Ms. M.R.Jyothy, Whole Time
Director.
Special Resolution for payment of remuneration
and perquisites to Mr. S.Raghunandan, Whole
Time Director and Chief Executive Officer.
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The Phoenix Mills Ltd
Date

Type of
Meeting
(AGM /
EGM)

th

21
August,
2013

AGM

Management
Recommendation

Vote
(For /
Against /
Abstain)

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

Management
Recommendation

Vote
(For /
Against /
Abstain)

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

Re-appointment of Mr. Anil Mehra as Director
of the Company.

FOR

FOR

Re-appointment of Mr. Rakesh Kumar Malhotra
as Director of the Company.

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

Proposal
To consider and adopt the audited Balance
Sheet as at March 31, 2013 and the Profit and
Loss for the year ended on that date together
with the Reports of the Directors and thereon
Auditors
To declare dividend on equity shares
Re-appointment of Mr. Amit Kumar Dabriwala
as a Director
Re-appointment of Mr. Suhail Nathani as a
Director
Appointment of Mr. Gautam Nayak as a
Director
To appoint M/s A M Ghelani & Co as Statutory
Auditors and to fix their remuneration
To raise funds to the extent of Rs.1000/- cr
through QIP/Pvt Placement/Public Issue or
Preferential Issue

TV TODAY NETWORK LTD
Type of
Meeting
Date
Proposal
(AGM /
EGM)
To consider and adopt the audited Balance
Sheet as at March 31, 2013 and the Profit and
Loss for the year ended on that date together
with the Reports of the Directors and thereon
Auditors
To declare dividend on equity shares
nd

22
August,
2013

AGM

To appoint of M/s. Price Waterhouse,
Chartered Accountants as Statutory Auditors of
the Company.and to fix their remuneration.
To approve remuneration of Ms. Koel Purie
Rinchet, Whole Time Director of the Company
as per agreed terms and conditions.
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HINDUSTAN PETROLEUM CORPORATION LTD
Date

Type of
Meeting
(AGM /
EGM)

th

5
Sept,
2013

AGM

Proposal
To receive, consider & adopt the Balance
Sheet as on March 31, 2013, P&L Account for
the year ended on that date and reports of the
Board of Directors and Auditors thereon.
To declare equity dividend for the financial
Year 2012–13
Appointment of a Director in place of Shri S.K
Roongta, who retires by rotation & is eligible for
reappointment.
Appointment of a Director in place of Smt Nishi
Vasudeva, who retires by rotation & is eligible
for reappointment.
Appointment of a Director in place of Shri Anil
Razdan, who retires by rotation & is eligible for
reappointment.
Appointment of a Director in place of Shri G.K
Pillai, who retires by rotation & is eligible for
reappointment.
Appointment of Dr. Gitesh K Shah as Director
of the company, liable to retire by rotation.
Appointment of Shri. K V Rao as Director of the
company, liable to retire by rotation.
Appointment of Shri R K Singh as Director of
the company, liable to retire by rotation.
Appointment of Shri. B K Namdeo as Director
of the company, liable to retire by rotation.

Management
Recommendation

Vote
(For /
Against /
Abstain)

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

NAGARJUNA FERTILIZERS AND CHEMICALS LTD
Date

Type of
Meeting
(AGM /
EGM)

th

29
Nov,
2013

AGM

Proposal
To receive, consider and adopt the Balance
st
Sheet as at 31 March, 2013 and the
Statement of Profit and Loss and the cash
Flow statement for the financial year ended
on that date and the Report of the Directors
and Auditors thereon.
To appoint a Director in the place of Dr.
N.C.B. Nath who retires by rotation and is
eligible for re-appointment.
To appoint a Director in the place of Shri.S.R.
Ramakrishnan who retires by rotation and is
eligible for re-appointment.
Re-appointment of M/s M Bhaskara Rao and
Co, Chartered Accountants, Hyderabad as
Auditors of the company and to fix their

Management
Recommendation

Vote
(For /
Against /
Abstain)

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR
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remuneration
To consider alteration in the Articles of
Association by inserting clause Article No 4A
– on Buyback of shares
To consider inserting a new Article 136 in
place of the existing Article 136 of the
Articles of Association. Resolve that any
moneys, investments, or other assets
forming part of the undivided profits of the
Company standing to the credit of the
Reserves, or any Capital Redemption
Reserve Account, or in the hands of the
Company and available for dividend or
representing premiums received on the issue
of shares and standing to the credit of the
Securities Premium Account be capitalized
and distributed amongst such of the
members as would be entitled to receive the
same
Sub-division of Preference shares
To delete existing Clause V of the
Memorandum of Association of the Company
and in its place a new Clause V be inserted
considering sub division of Preference
Shares.
To delete existing Article 5(1) of the Articles of
Association of the Company and in its place a
new Article 5(1) be inserted considering sub
division of Preference Shares.

FOR

AGAINST

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

Management
Recommendation

Vote
(For /
Against /
Abstain)

FOR

FOR

FOR

FOR

BANK OF INDIA
Date

rd

3 Dec,
2013

Type of
Meeting
(AGM /
EGM)
EGM

Proposal
To
issue
equity
shares
through
preferential issue route to Government of
India (Promoter) in name of President of
India
To issue equity shares via Qualified
institutional placement, Public issue,
rights issue, GDR or such other issue as
provided by applicable laws.

8. Statutory Information.
a. The Sponsor is not responsible or liable for any loss resulting from the operation of the Schemes of the
Fund beyond their initial contribution of Rs.1 lakh for setting up the Fund.
b. The price and redemption value of the units, and income from them, can go up as well as down with
fluctuations in the market value of its underlying investments.
c. Full Annual Report is disclosed on the website (www.saharamutual.com) and shall be available for
inspection at the Head Office of the Mutual Fund. Present and prospective unit holders can obtain copy of
the trust deed, the full Annual Report of the Fund / AMC free of cost.
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SAHARA TAX GAIN FUND
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Trustees of Sahara Mutual Fund
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Sahara Mutual Fund – Sahara Tax Gain
Fund (“the Scheme”), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2014, and the Revenue
Account for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Trustees of Sahara Mutual Fund and the Management of Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Limited (the “Management”) are responsible for the preparation of these financial statements
that give a true and fair view of the financial position and financial performance of the Scheme in
accordance with the accounting policies and standards specified in the Ninth Schedule of the
Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996 and amendments thereto,
as applicable. This responsibility includes the design, implementation and maintenance of internal
control relevant to the preparation and presentation of the financial statements that give a true and fair
view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
Scheme’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Scheme’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the
financial statements give the information required by the Securities and Exchange Board of India
(Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996 and amendments thereto, as applicable, in the manner so required
and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India:
(a) in the case of the Balance Sheet, of the state of affairs of the Scheme as at March 31, 2014;
(b) in the case of the Revenue Account, of the surplus for the year ended on that date.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
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As required by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996 and
amendments thereto, as applicable, we report that:
a) We have obtained all the information and explanations, which to the best of our knowledge and
belief were necessary for the purpose of our audit.
b) The statement of account has been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies and
standards specified in the Ninth Schedule of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual
Funds) Regulations, 1996 and amendments thereto, as applicable.
c) We have reviewed the Valuation Policy being followed for the schemes of Sahara Mutual Fund.
The Valuation Policy implemented for the scheme is in line with the SEBI guidelines issued in this
regard.
For Chaturvedi & Co
Chartered Accountants
(Firm’s Registration No. 302137E)

(SN Chaturvedi)
(Partner)
Mem. No. 040479
Place: Mumbai
th
Date: 6 June 2014
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BALANCE SHEET AS AT MARCH 31, 2014
SAHARA TAX GAIN FUND

Schedule

As at
March 31, 2014

As at
March 31, 2013

(Rs)

(Rs)

ASSETS
Investments

1

99,712,010

93,220,706

Other Current Assets

2

16,959,500

13,319,938

116,671,510

106,540,644

Total Assets
LIABILITIES
Unit Capital

3

59,310,317

66,335,883

Reserves & Surplus

4

45,784,009

35,802,241

Current Liabilities & Provisions

5

11,577,184

4,402,520

116,671,510

106,540,644

46.1172
12.7211
46.3912
12.7692

36.2470
11.6856
36.3099
11.6939

Total Liabilities
NET ASSET VALUE
Net Asset Value per unit (Rs.)
i) Growth Option
ii) Dividend Option
iii) Direct Growth Option
iv) Direct Dividend Option
Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to the
accounts

8

Schedules 1 to 5 and 8 form an integral part of the Balance Sheet
As per our attached report of even date
For Chaturvedi & Co
Chartered Accountants
Firm Regn. No.:- 302137E

For Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Ltd

For Sahara Mutual Fund

S.N.Chaturvedi
Partner
Mem.No: 040479

C.Kamdar
Director

R M Joshi
Director

S R Hegde
Trustee

Naresh Kumar Garg
Chief Executive Officer

A.N.Sridhar
Fund Manager

Place: Mumbai
Date: 6th June 2014

A K Thakur
Trustee

Vidya Manjrekar
Head- Operations & NAV Accounting
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REVENUE ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2014
For the year
For the year
SAHARA TAX GAIN FUND
Schedule
ended
ended
March 31, 2014
March 31, 2013
(Rs)
(Rs)
INCOME
1,537,873

1,870,650

469,720

464,665

9,632,932

771,427

11,640,525

3,106,742

1,283,794

1,470,775

158,679

92,208

20,534

11,924

-

7,074

Registrar & Transfer Agent Charges

421,148

282,499

Custodian Fees

256,042

200,613

Fees & Expenses of Trustees

171,658

193,258

Statutory Audit Fees

113,516

92,518

Internal Audit Fees

191,766

171,157

46,361

39,166

118,276

108,779

66,279

60,765

77,729

359,443

Total Expenses

2,925,782

3,090,179

Net Surplus for the Year (excluding unrealised appreciation)
Provision/ Write back for dimunition in value of
Investments
7

8,714,743

16,563

5,258,551

2,036,611

Net Surplus for the Year (excluding unrealised appreciation)

13,973,294

2,053,174

Dividend Income
Interest Income

6

Profit on Sale / Redemption of Investments(Net)
(Other than Inter Scheme Transfer / Sale)
Total Income
EXPENSES & LOSSES
Management Fees
ST on Management Fees
Investor Education & Awareness Fees
STT Fees on Equity Transactions

Insurance
Costs related to Investor Communication
Transaction cost
Marketing & Selling Exps. Including agents
Commission
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Transfer from Income Equalisation Reserve
Dividend paid, including dividend tax
Net Surplus Transferred to Revenue Reserve
Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to the
accounts

(8,948,369)

(2,380,073)

(10,210,994)

(11,150,032)

(5,186,069)

(11,476,931)

8

Schedules 6 to 8 form an integral part of the Revenue Account
As per our attached report of even date
For Chaturvedi & Co
Chartered Accountants
Firm Regn. No.:- 302137E

For Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Ltd

For Sahara Mutual Fund

S.N.Chaturvedi
Partner
Mem.No.: 040479

C.Kamdar
Director

S R Hegde
Trustee

Naresh Kumar Garg
Chief Executive Officer

R M Joshi
Director

A. K Thakur
Trustee

A.N.Sridhar
Fund Manager

Vidya Manjrekar
Head- Operations & NAV Accounting
Place: Mumbai
th
Date: 6 June 2014
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SCHEDULES FORMING PART OF THE BALANCE SHEET

SAHARA TAX GAIN FUND

As at
March 31,
2014
(Rs)

As at
March 31,
2013
(Rs)

SCHEDULE 1
Investments
(Refer Note 8.14 of Schedule 8 for
detailed Portfolio Statement)
Equity Shares

99,712,010

93,220,706

99,712,010

93,220,706

7,539,028

3,469,937

3,561

10,162

674,380

8,429,737

SCHEDULE 2
Other Current Assets
Balances with Banks in Current
accounts
Outstanding and Accrued Income
Reverse Repo arrangements
Collateralized Borrowing
Receivable on Issue of Units / Dividend
/ Switches
Investment - Liquid MF Units

1,996,472
23,000
1,836,982

Dividend Receivable

-

Receivable from AMC

-

Receivable from Brokers / Contracts for
Investments

4,886,077

500
1,380,040
28,000
1,562
-

16,959,500

13,319,938

8,527,007

9,866,560

48,423,057

55,566,099

344,878

155,710

SCHEDULE 3
Unit Capital
Growth Option - 852700.3030 units of
Rs.10 each
(For 2012-2013 - 986655.6180 units of
Rs.10 each
Dividend Option 4842305.7170 units of
Rs.10 each
(For 2012-2013 - 5556609.8960 units
of Rs.10 each
Direct Growth Option 34487.8900 units
of Rs.10 each
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(For 2012-2013 - 15571.0330 units of
Rs.10 each
Direct Dividend Option 201537.4720
units of Rs.10 each
(For 2012-2013 - 74751.3970 units of
Rs.10 each
Total

2,015,375

747,514

59,310,317

66,335,883

(Refer Note 8.10 of Schedule 8)

SCHEDULE 4
Reserves and Surplus
Revenue Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year
Transferred from Revenue Account

79,439,348

90,916,279

(5,186,069)

(11,476,931)

Balance as at end of the year

74,253,279

79,439,348

Income Equalisation Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year
Additions during the year
Transferred to Revenue Account

(8,948,369)

(2,380,073)

8,948,369

2,380,073

Balance as at end of the year

-

-

Unrealised Appreciation Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year

4,592,272

Additions/(Deletions) during the year

11,136,898

Balance as at end of the year

6,515,488
(1,923,216)
15,729,170

4,592,272

Unit Premium Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year
(Deletions)/Additions during the year
Balance as at end of the year
Balance carried to the Balance Sheet

(48,229,379)

(49,430,513)

4,030,939

1,201,134
(44,198,440)

(48,229,379)

45,784,009

35,802,241

SCHEDULE 5
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Current Liabilities and Provisions
Sundry Creditors
Management Fees Payable
ST on Management Fees Payable
STT Payable
Payable - Transaction Fees
Payable - Fee on Investor Education
Payable - Load Subscription
Contract for Purchase of Investments
Unclaimed Distributed Income
Payable on Redemption of Units

141,661

323,989

21,280

24,369

2,630

3,095

50

476

450

2,800

22,339

11,367

44

55

9,183,738

2,492,209

1,655,760

1,268,484

549,232

275,676

11,577,184

4,402,520

85,409

19,534

384,311

445,131

469,720

464,665

(5,287,692)

(7,324,303)

(29,141)

(5,287,692)

5,258,551

2,036,611

SCHEDULES FORMING PART OF
REVENUE ACCOUNT
SCHEDULE 6
Interest & Discount Income
CBLO
Reverse Repo

SCHEDULE 7
Provision/ Write back for dimunition
in value of Investments
At the beginning of the year
At the end of the year
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PERSPECTIVE HISTORICAL PER UNIT STATISTICS
SAHARA TAX GAIN FUND
As at
As at
31-Mar-14 31-Mar-13
Particulars
(A) Gross Income
(I) Income other than Profit on sale of Investments
0.34
0.35
(ii) Income from Profit (net of loss) on inter-scheme sales/
transfer of Investments
0.00
0.00
(iii) Income from Profit (net of Loss) on sale other
than Inter scheme
1.62
0.12
(iv) Transfer to revenue account from past year'
s
reserve
NA
NA

As at
31-Mar-12
0.35
0.00
0.16
NA

(B) Aggregate of expenses, write off, amortisation
and charges

0.49

0.47

0.40

(c) Net Income

1.47

0.00

0.11

(d) Net unrealised appreciation/(dimunition) in value
of Investments

2.65

-0.10

-0.12

46.1172
12.7211
46.3192
12.7692

36.2470
11.6856
36.3099
11.6939

36.4590
13.6836
-

45.6560
13.9696
45.8560
14.0051

41.4376
15.5520
41.4376
15.5527

37.9766
14.2527
-

33.8998
10.9295
33.9954
10.9473

33.7438
11.4459
35.5638
11.4536

30.2863
11.3673
-

46.1172
14.1107
46.3192
14.1466

42.7980
16.0626
41.8562
15.7098

38.3602
14.3967
-

34.2422
11.0399
34.3388
11.0579

34.8515
11.8216
35.9230
11.5693

30.5922
11.4821
-

(e) Net Asset Value
Growth Plan
Dividend Plan
Direct Growth Plan
Direct Dividend Plan
(f) Repurchase Price during the year**
(I) Highest
Growth Plan
Dividend Plan
Direct Growth Plan
Direct Dividend Plan
(ii) Lowest
Growth Plan
Dividend Plan
Direct Growth Plan
Direct Dividend Plan
(g) Resale Price during the year**
(I) Highest
Growth Plan
Dividend Plan
Direct Growth Plan
Direct Dividend Plan
(ii) Lowest
Growth Plan
Dividend Plan
Direct Growth Plan
Direct Dividend Plan
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(h) Ratio of expenses to average daily net assets by
Percentage
2.85%
(i) Ratio of income to average daily net assets by Percentage
(excluding transfer to revenue account from past year'
s reserve
but including net change in unrealized appreciation /
depreciation in value of Investments and adjusted for net loss
on sale / redemption of investments)
26.62%
**Based on the maximum load during the year
Per unit calculations based on number of units in issue at the end of the year

2.63%

2.50%

2.05%

2.46%
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SCHEDULE - 8
ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES FORMING PART OF ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
MARCH 31, 2014.
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1 About the Scheme
Sahara Tax Gain Fund (the “Scheme”) was launched as a close ended scheme on
April 1,
1997 of Sahara Mutual Fund (the “Fund”) and the units allotted under the scheme were subject to
a mandatory three-year lock-in-period till March 31, 2000. The basic objective of the scheme is to
provide immediate tax relief and long term growth of capital to investors. The Scheme opened for
redemptions at Net Asset Value with effect from April 1, 2000. The Scheme has subsequently
become open ended from November 7, 2002 and opened for continuous purchase and
redemptions at prevailing NAV from November 11, 2002. In line with SEBI Circular for providing
separate options for direct investments, the scheme has now four options (1) Growth Option (ii)
Dividend Option (iii) Growth Option – Direct and (iv) Dividend Option – Direct. The scheme will
not declare dividend under the Growth Plan. The Income earned on such units will remain
invested under the scheme and will be reflected in the Net Asset Value.
1.2 Asset Management Company
Sahara Mutual Fund (SMF) has been established as a Trust in accordance with the Indian Trusts
Act, 1882, and is sponsored by Sahara India Financial Corporation Limited.
Sahara Asset Management Company Private Limited (“SAMCPL”), a company incorporated
under the Companies Act, 1956, has been appointed as the Asset Management Company
(“Investment Manager”) to Sahara Mutual Fund.
The shareholding of Sahara Asset Management Company Private Limited as on March 31, 2014
is as follows:
Name of the Shareholder
Type of
Holding
Holdings
Sahara India Financial Corporation Limited
Equity
45.60 %
Sahara India Corp Investment Limited
Equity
11.36 %
Sahara Prime City Limited
Equity
11.36 %
(formerly Sahara India Investment Corporation Limited )
Sahara Care Limited
Equity
31.68 %
Name of the Shareholder
Sahara India Commercial Corporation Ltd
Sahara Care Ltd

Type of
Holdings
Preference
Preference

Holding
90.32 %
9.68 %

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1. Basis of Accounting
The Scheme maintains its books of account on an accrual basis. These financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with the Accounting Policies and Standards specified in the Ninth
Schedule of The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996, (the
“Regulation”), and amendments thereto, as applicable.
2.2. Accounting for Investments
Investments are accounted on trade dates at cost including brokerage, stamp duty and other
charges which are included in the acquisition of investments.
2.2.1 Profit or loss on sale of investments is determined on the respective trade date by
adopting the “Weighted Average Cost” method.
2.2.2 Bonus/Rights entitlements on equity holdings are recognized only when the original
shares on which the entitlement accrues are traded on the Principal stock exchange on
ex-bonus/ex-rights basis respectively.
2.2.3 Primary Market Investments are recognized on the basis of allotment advice.
2.3. Valuation of Investments
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Valuation Policy as on 31.03.2014 is as under
VALUATION POLICY / PROCEDURES - EQUITY & EQUITY RELATED SECURITIES
1. Traded Equity Securities
A security would be treated as ‘Traded’ if it is traded on the “Designated Stock Exchanges” namely,
National Stock Exchange (NSE), or/and Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) or/and MCX Stock
Exchange, within a period of 30 days (including the date of valuation). The order in which the three
designated exchanges would be used for the purposes of valuation would always remain as NSE,
BSE and MCX. The price for valuation would be the last quoted closing price on the valuation date. If
the equity security is not traded on the valuation date in NSE, then BSE price would be considered
and if BSE is not available MCX Stock Exchange price would be considered for valuation.
The principal “Designated” stock exchange for valuation of equity security would be NSE. When an
equity security is not traded on the valuation date on any of the “Designated Stock Exchanges”, then
the closing price of the earliest previous date shall be used for valuation provided such date is within
a period of 30 days (including the date of valuation).
2. Thinly Traded Securities
"When trading in an equity/equity related security (such as convertible debentures, equity warrants,
etc.) in a month is both less than Rs.5 lakhs and the total volume is less than 50,000 shares, it shall
be considered as a thinly traded security and valued accordingly". In order to determine whether a
security is thinly traded or not, the volumes traded in all “designated” stock exchanges shall taken into
account.
3. Non-traded / Suspended / Unlisted Equity Securities
When a security (other than Government Securities) is not traded on any stock exchange for a period
of thirty days prior to the valuation date, the scrip would be considered as a Non-Traded security. This
would include at least four categories:

i. Shares remaining non-traded for more than 30 days in all the “Designated Stock Exchanges”
ii. Shares that are suspended from trading in all the “Designated Stock Exchanges” due to any
iii.
iv.

reason
Shares remaining unlisted for more than 30 days from the date of closure of any public issue
Shares issued by way of corporate actions by companies and remaining unlisted for more
than 30 days from the ex-date of the respective corporate action.

The valuation methodology for the above four categories, until the date of listing, would be as follows:
a) Based on the latest available Balance Sheet, net worth would be calculated as follows:
(i)
(ii)

Net Worth per share = [share capital+ reserves (excluding revaluation reserves) – Misc.
expenditure and Debit Balance in P&L A/c] Divided by No. of Paid up Shares.
Average capitalization rate (P/E ratio) for the industry based upon NSE prices or BSE
prices and discounted by 75% i.e. only 25% of the Industry average P/E would be taken
as capitalization rate (P/E ratio). Earnings Per Share (EPS) of the latest audited annual
accounts would be considered for this purpose.

b) The value as per the net worth value per share (i) and the capital earning value (ii) calculated as
above would be averaged and further discounted by 10%(15% for Unlisted) for ill-liquidity so as
to arrive at the fair value per share.
c) In case the EPS is negative, EPS value for that year would be taken as zero for arriving at
capitalized earning.
d) In case where the latest Balance Sheet of the company is not available within nine months from
the close of the year, unless the accounting year is changed, the shares of such companies
would be valued at zero.
e) In case an individual security accounts for more than 5% of the total assets of the scheme, then
an Independent Valuer shall be appointed for the valuation of the said security.
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4. Demerger/ Spin-Off/Carve-Out/Divestiture etc.
Generally on any of the above corporate actions, a currently listed security in the portfolio gets bifurcated
into securities of two or more entities (Demerger/ Spin-Off/Carve-Out/Divestiture etc.)
The valuation of the shares of these entities would be as under.
1. In case shares of all entities post the corporate action are traded on the “Designated Stock
Exchanges”, the closing traded price would be used for valuation purpose.
2. In case one or all of the entities post the corporate action, are not traded, then it would be ensured
that:
a. Listed entity would be valued at the closing price
b. Unlisted entity would be valued = Value of combined entity(s) immediately prior to corporate
action – Value of listed entity immediately prior to corporate action AND this valuation of the
unlisted entity would be persisted till the entity gets listed. However, if the entity remains
unlisted for a period of 30 days (including the valuation date) from the date of the corporate
action, it would be valued as per the valuation rules applicable for a non-traded security.
5. Warrants
a. In respect of warrants to subscribe for shares attached to instruments, the warrants would be valued at
the value of the share which would be obtained on exercise of the warrants as reduced by the amount
which would be payable on exercise of the warrant. A discount similar to the discount to be determined in
respect on convertible debentures shall be deducted to account for the period, which must elapse before
the warrant can be exercised.
b. In case the warrants are traded separately they would be valued as per the valuation guidelines
applicable to Equity Shares.
6. Rights
Until they are traded, the value of "rights" shares would be calculated as:
Vr = n ÷ m x (Pex - Pof)
Where
Vr = Value of rights
n = no. of rights offered
m = no. of original shares held
Pex = Ex-rights price
Pof = Rights Offer Price
Where the rights are not treated pari passu with the existing shares, suitable adjustment would be made
to the value of rights. Where it is decided not to subscribe for the rights but to renounce them and
renunciations are being traded, the rights would be valued at the renunciation value.
7. Derivatives
Market values of traded open futures and option contracts would be determined with respect to the
exchange on which contracted originally, i.e., a future or an option contracted on the National Stock
Exchange (NSE) would be valued at the closing price on the NSE.
The price of the same futures and option contract on the Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) cannot be
considered for the purpose of valuation, unless the futures or option itself has been contracted on the
BSE.
The same will be valued at closing price if the contract is traded on the valuation day. In case there is no
trade on valuation day then the same would be valued at Settlement prices.
However, the contracts which are going to expire on valuation date would be valued at Settlement prices
only.
Related matters
I.
In case of any other instruments not mentioned above and not covered in the policy above, the
same shall be referred to the Investment and Valuation Committee which is empowered to take
decision.
II.
In case of any perceived conflict of interest while valuing the securities, the matter shall be dealt
and decided by Investment and Valuation Committee.
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III.

For non– business day the Valuation shall be done on aggregated Scrip wise prices as provided
by CRISIL/ICRA. In absence of Scrip wise prices the valuation shall be done on accrual
basis/amortization basis based on last valuation.
In case of exceptional circumstances like, exceptional policy announcements by
government/regulatory bodies, natural disasters, public disturbances, extreme volatility in capital
market, shut down of market, war etc and on those days if scrip- wise value or valuation matrices
are not available from CRISIL/ICRA and if security is not traded, the valuation for the day shall be
done based on last valuation plus accrual/amortization or as may decided by the Investment and
Valuation Committee.
The Valuation Policy shall be reviewed by the Statutory Auditor at least once in a year.
Valuation Policy and Procedures as updated and approved by the Board of AMC /
Board of Trustees shall be applicable for the schemes of Sahara Mutual Fund

IV.

V.
vi)

VALUATION OF DEBT INSTRUMENTS
(I) - The Valuation Policy of Debt and Money Market Instruments is given below:
Sr.
No.

Instrument

CBLO, REPO, Fixed Deposit, Call Money , etc and
such Similar Instruments

1.

Certificate of Deposit (CD), Commercial Paper (CP),
Non-Convertible Debenture (NCD) Pass Through
Certificate (PTC), Bonds, etc. where Scrip wise
values are available from CRISIL/ ICRA(Over 60
days residual maturity)
Certificate of Deposit (CD), Commercial Paper (CP),
Non-Convertible Debenture (NCD) Pass Through
Certificate (PTC), Bonds, etc where Scrip wise
values are not available from CRISIL/ ICRA
(Upto 60 days residual maturity)

2.

3.

On Amortization basis / Accrual basis.

The aggregated price provided by
CRISIL / ICRA for the given security or
any other agencies entrusted by SEBI
from time to time for that day

i)

Same security traded and reported on
public platforms.

On Weighted Average Yield of all trades
(excluding abnormal and retail trades)
on Public platforms, for that Securities
on that day irrespective of settlement
day.

ii)

If Same Security not traded and reported
on any of the public platforms.

The aggregated matrices of CRISIL/
ICRA for the respective category or any
other agencies entrusted by SEBI from
time to time for that day.

Central Government Securities / State Government
Securities / Treasury Bills/Cash Management Bill etc

4.

Valuation applicable on the day of
valuation

Aggregated valuation as provided by
CRISIL/ ICRA or any other agencies
entrusted by SEBI from time to time for
that day.

(II) Pricing of Inter -Scheme Transfer of Debt Instruments (ISTs)
Sr.
No.

Instrument

Valuation applicable on the day of
valuation
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1.

Certificate of Deposit (CD), Commercial Paper
(CP), Non-Convertible Debenture (NCD) Pass
Through Certificate (PTC), Bonds, etc.

i)

ii)

iii)

2.

Same security traded and reported on
FTRAC up to the time of IST.

Pricing will be based on Weighted Average
Yield of all trades in same security on FTRAC
(Excluding abnormal and retail trades)
irrespective
of
settlement
day
plus
accrual/amortization, if any, based on
settlement day of the IST. Example: If
settlement is T+0 then no accrual/amortization
and if the settlement is other than T+0, then
appropriate accrual/amortization.

If Same security is not traded but similar
Security/securities are
traded and
reported up to the time of IST on FTRAC

Pricing will be based on Weighted Average
Yield of all trades in similar security/securities
on FTRAC (excluding abnormal and retail
trades) irrespective of settlement day plus
accrual/amortization, if any, based on
settlement day of the IST. Example: If
settlement is T+0 then no accrual/amortization
and if the settlement is other than T+0, then
appropriate accrual/amortization.

If Same or similar Security/securities are
not traded and reported up to the time of
IST on FTRAC

Previous end of the day valuation plus accrual,
if any, based on settlement day of the IST shall
be taken. Example: if settlement is T+0 then no
accrual/amortization and if the settlement is
other
than
T+0
then
appropriate
Accrual/amortization.

Central Government Securities / State
Government Securities / Treasury Bills/ Cash
Management Bill etc
i)

Same security traded and reported on
NDS-OM section of CCIL website.

On last traded price as given on NDS-Section
of CCIL Website (Excluding abnormal trade).

Same security not traded and reported on Previous end of the day valuation price plus
NDS-OM section of CCIL website
accrual/amortization shall be taken
AMC may take screen shot/ downloaded excel file from FTRAC / NDS-OM for the same purpose.
Similar Security:
Similar security here shall mean those securities which are same nature security [Commercial Paper
(CP), Certificate of Deposit (CD), Non-Convertible Debentures (NCD), etc ] of different issuers having
same or equivalent credit rating for Similar maturity profile (For both Short term rating and Long term
rating), and falling in same “Maturity Bucket” as defined below. Further the instruments Commercial Paper
(CP), Bonds and Non-Convertible Debentures (NCDs) etc are categorized into following subcategories:—
1.
NBFC
2.
Real Estate,
3.
PTC
ii)

45

Sahara Mutual Fund – Annual Report 13-14.
4.

Others

Maturity Bucket:
• For Debt Security having remaining maturity upto 91 days
Maturity date of securities falling between
Time Bucket
1st and 7th of the month
1-7 of the same month
8th and 15th of the month
8-15 of the same month
16th and 23rd of the month
16-23 of the same month
24th to end of the month
24- end of the month
• For Debt Securities having remaining maturities more than 91 days
“Time Bucket” for maturity profile of “Similar Securities” shall be same calendar month of that
year.
Notes:
1. For the purpose of Valuation of securities and for Inter Scheme Transfer, Weighted average of all
trades of 5 crs and above, excluding abnormal trades and retail trades shall be taken. Since retail
trades are of small value and generally may deviate materially from the yield at which the market
lots in WDM is traded, it would be appropriate to exclude the retail trades for the more realistic
valuation of the security.
2. Abnormal Trade is defined as those transaction/s which is/are over+/- 250 Basis Point compared
to the previous day valuation yield of the security in question
For the Valuation/Inter-scheme transfer, the available trades of various public platform shall be
considered where the face value of trade per transaction is Rs. 5 crs and above. If in any given
day in same/ similar security, the value of total trade is less than minimum market lot of 5 Crs, the
same shall be ignored for the valuation purpose.
3. CRISIL and ICRA provide the valuation matrices for various maturity bucket. Scrip wise value for
various debt instruments are also provided by CRISIL and ICRA . Trades are also reported and
settled on various public platform.
4. Public platform for the purpose of valuation of security shall mean FIMMDA managed FTRAC,
NSE, BSE, (except NSER- NSE retail and BSER- BSE Retail), RBI managed NDS-OM or any
other Public platform for Debt market launched from time to time. Market trades from different
Platforms are usually collected by BILAV Information LLP, which may be used for the purpose of
Valuation of traded security for which scrip wise values are not available from CRISIL/ICRA
5. The data on yield and prices are generally provided upto 4 decimal point which shall be
considered. Price upto 4 decimal points shall be considered on respective face value of the
instruments for arriving at valuation.
6. For the valuation of traded security where scrip wise values are not available by CRISIL/ICRA,
price derived from (corresponding to) Weighted Average yield of all available trades excluding
abnormal and retail trades on any public platform for the same security on t+1 settlement basis
shall be taken.
In case, on any other day because of technical and other reason, if the Required Bilav file is not
sent by 7.30 PM, FIMMDA managed FTRAC platform and NDS OM section of CCIL website may
be used for the calculation of weighted average yield of traded security for which scrip wise values
are not available .
7. For non traded security where scrip wise values are not available, the valuation shall be done on
the price derived from (corresponding to) the aggregated yield matrices for the respective category
as provided by CRISIL/ICRA on T+1 settlement basis.

46

Sahara Mutual Fund – Annual Report 13-14.
8. For Government Securities, SDL, T-Bills, Cash Management Bill etc, the valuation shall be done
on aggregated script wise pricing as provided by CRISL/ICRA and as applicable for that day.
In the absence of scrip wise values the valuation shall be based on aggregated matrices if
available from CRISIL/ICRA on T+1 settlement and as applicable for that day.
9. In case the valuation matrices/script wise value is available either from CRISIL/ICRA upto
reasonable time limit, the same shall be considered for arriving at valuation

a

10. In case on any given day neither the script wise value nor the valuation Matrices is available from
CRISIL/ICRA within the reasonable time limit, the Valuation shall be done based on
accrual/amortization based on last valuation.
2.3.1 Valuation of Other Investments:
Mutual Fund Units:
a. In case of traded Mutual Fund schemes, the units would be valued at closing price on the stock
exchange on which they are traded like equity instruments. In case the units are not traded for more than
7 days, last declared Repurchase Price (the price at which Mutual Fund schemes buys its units back)
would be considered for valuation.
b. If the last available Repurchase price is older than 7 days, the valuation will be done at the last
available NAV reduced by illiquidity discount. The illiquidity discount will be 10% of NAV or as decided by
the Valuation Committee.
c. In case of non-traded Mutual Fund scheme, the last declared Repurchase Price (the price at which
Mutual Fund schemes buys its units back) would be considered for valuation.
2.3.2 Valuation of securities not covered under the above valuation policy:
The total exposure in securities, which do not fall under above valuation norms, shall not exceed 5% of
the total AUM of the scheme.
In case of any other instruments not mentioned above and not covered in the policy above, the same
shall be referred to the Investment and Valuation Committee which is empowered to take decision.
Investment in such securities is to be valued by a method approved by the Investment and Valuation
Committee and the same will be reported to the Board of Trustees.
2.3.3 Unrealised Appreciation/Depreciation.
In accordance with the Guidance Note on Accounting for Investments in the Financial Statements of
Mutual Funds issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, the unrealized appreciation
determined separately for each individual investment is directly transferred to the “Unrealised
Appreciation Reserve Account” i.e. without routing it through the revenue account.
The provision for depreciation in value of investments determined separately for each individual
investment is recognized in the revenue account. The loss (realized) on investments sold / transferred
during the year is charged to revenue account, instead of being first adjusted against the provision for
depreciation, if already created in the prior year, as recommended by the said Guidance Note. However,
this departure from the Guidance Note does not have any net impact on the Scheme’s net assets or
results for the year.
2.4 Revenue Recognition
2.4.1 Income and Expenses are recognized on accrual basis.
2.4.2 Interest on funds invested in short term deposits with scheduled commercial banks is
recognized on accrual basis.
2.4.3 Dividend income earned by the scheme is recognized on the date the share is quoted on
ex-dividend basis on principal stock exchange.
2.4.4 Proportionate realized gains on investments out of sales / repurchase proceeds at the time
of sale / repurchase of units are transferred to revenue Account from Unit Premium
Reserve.
3. Net Asset Value for Growth/Dividend Options:
The net asset value of the units is determined separately for units issued under the Growth Option,
Dividend Option, Growth Option – Direct and Dividend Option – Direct. For reporting the net asset
value of the Growth Option, Dividend Option, Growth Option – Direct and Dividend Option - Direct,
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4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

daily income earned, including realized and unrealized gain or loss in the value of investments and
expenses incurred by the scheme are allocated to the options in proportion to the value of the net
assets.
Unit Premium Reserve Account
Upon issue and redemption of units, the net premium or discount to the face value of units is adjusted
against the unit premium reserve account of the Scheme, after an appropriate amount of the issue
proceeds and redemption payout is credited or debited respectively to the income equalization
account.
Income Equalisation Account
An appropriate part of the sale proceeds or the redemption amount, as the case may be, is
transferred to income equalization account. The total distributable surplus (without considering
unrealized appreciation) upto the date of issue/ redemption of units has been taken into account for
the purpose of ascertaining the amount to be transferred to Equalization Account on a daily basis.
The net balance in this account is transferred to the Revenue Account at the end of the year.
Load Charges
The Entry load charges collected, if any are used to meet expenses as per the stipulated SEBI
guidelines from time to time. Service tax on exit load , if any, shall be paid out of the exit load
proceeds and exit load net of service tax, if any, shall be credited to the scheme.
Unclaimed Redemption.
In line with SEBI circular no. MFD/CIR/9/120 /2000 dated November 24, 2000, the unclaimed
redemption and dividend amounts may be deployed by the mutual funds in call money market or
money market instruments only and the investors who claim these amounts during a period of three
years from the due date shall be paid at the prevailing Net Asset Value. After a period of three years,
this amount can be transferred to a pool account and the investors can claim the unclaimed
redemption amount at NAV prevailing at the end of the third year. The income earned on such funds
can be used for the purpose of investor education. The AMC should make continuous effort to remind
the investors through letters to take their unclaimed amounts. Further, the investment management
fee charged by the AMC for managing unclaimed amounts shall not exceed 50 basis points.
NOTES ON ACCOUNTS
8.1 Management Fees, Trusteeship Fees, Custodian Fees
Management Fees
Management Fees (inclusive of service tax) has been computed at 1.40 % on average net assets
calculated on a daily basis.
Trusteeship Fees & Expenses
th
In accordance with Deed of Trust dated 18 July 1996 between the Settler and the Trustees, the
fund has paid or provided an annual fee of Rs.1,00,000/- per Trustee. Trusteeship fees &
Expenses are allocated to the schemes on the basis of their daily average net assets.
Custodian Charges
HDFC Bank Ltd provides Custodial Services to the scheme for which fees is paid as per the
agreement.
8.2 Provision for tax has not been made since the income of the scheme is exempt from tax under
Section 10(23D) of the Income Tax Act, 1961.
8.3 Transactions with Brokers in excess of 5% or more of the aggregate purchases and sale of
securities made by the Fund have been reported to the Trustees on a Bimonthly basis.
8.4 Certain investments are registered in the name of the Fund without specific reference to the
Scheme. As at March 31, 2014 the aggregate market value of securities under Sahara Tax Gain
Fund but held in the name of Sahara Mutual Fund is Rs. 6,75,119.46
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8.5 The Registrar and Transfer Agent expenses amounting Rs.4,21,148.00 constitutes 14.39% of
the total schemes expenses.
8.6 Transactions with Associates
Brokerage / Commission on sale of units by the Scheme or by the Asset Management Company
given to associates, pursuant to Regulation 25(8):
Commission to SIFCL A/c CMSD (Associate) made for sale of units of the MF for the current year
st
ended 31 March 2014.
(Rs.In lakhs)
Tax Gain
Fund

Growth
Fund

Liquid
Fund

Mid cap
Fund

Wealth Plus
Fund

Short Term
Bond

Infrastructure
Fund

0.42

0.13

0.03

0.14

0.02

0.01

0.07

Star Value
Fund
0.01

Super 20
Fund
0.02

Power and Natural
Resources Fund
0.00

Banking & Financial
Services Fund
0.76

(Rs.In lakhs)
Income Fund
0.01

Commission to SIFCL A/c CMSD (Associate) made for sale of units of the MF for the previous year ended
st
31 March 2013.
(Rs.In lakhs)
Tax Gain
Fund

Growth
Fund

Liquid
Fund

Mid cap
Fund

Wealth Plus
Fund

0.40

0.24

0.04

0.25

0.05

Short
Term
Bond
0.01

Infrastructure
Fund
0.11
(Rs. in lakhs)

Star Value
Super 20
Power and Natural
Banking & Financial
Income Fund
Fund
Fund
Resources Fund
Services Fund
0.04
0.08
0.00
0.58
0.00
Commission paid to associates / related parties /group companies of Sponsor/AMC
Name of associate / related
Business given
Commission paid
Nature of
Period
(Rs cr and % of
(Rs & % of total
parties / group companies
association /
Covered
of Sponsor / AMC
nature of
total business
commission paid
relation
received by the
by the fund
fund)
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
Sponsor /
(1.29 & 0.45%)
(Rs.1,60,398.82 ;
April 13SIFCL A/c CMSD
Mutual Fund
13.57% )
March 14
Distributor
Sponsor /
April 12SIFCL A/c CMSD
Mutual Fund
(0.81 & 0.24%)
(Rs.1,80,802.67 ;
March 13
Distributor
8.82% )
In column No 4, the total business received by the fund includes business through ARNs & also direct
business.
In column No 5, the amount includes the upfront and the trail.
Brokerage paid to associates / related parties / group companies of Sponsor/AMC
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Name of associate / related
parties / group companies of
Sponsor / AMC

Value
of Brokerage (Rs Cr &
Transaction (in Rs, % of total brokerage
Cr & of Total value paid by the Fund)
of Transaction of
the Fund)
There are no associate brokers, hence not applicable for the period April – Mar 2014 & April – Mar 2013.
8.7

Nature
of
association
/ nature of
relation

Period
Covered

The Aggregate value of Investments purchased and sold (Including Redemption) during the year as
a percentage of daily average net asset value;
Purchases
Year

Sales

Amount in Rs.

% of Daily Average

2013-14
2012-13

444,610,406
261,716,854

432.92
222.44

Year
2013-14
2012-13

Amount in Rs.
462,233,597
275,772,222

% of Daily Average
450.08
234.39

8.8 Aggregate Appreciation and Depreciation in the value of Investments :
Asset Class
31-Mar-14
31-Mar-13
Appreciation Depreciation Appreciation Depreciation
(Rs. In
(Rs. In lakhs)
(Rs. In
(Rs. In lakhs)
lakhs)
lakhs)
Equity Shares

157.29

0.29

8.9 Income and Expense Ratio
Total Income (including net unrealized appreciation and
net of loss on sale of investments) to average net assets
calculated on a daily basis.
Total Expenditure to average net assets calculated on a
daily basis+
8.10

45.92

52.88

2013-14

2012-13

26.62%

2.05%

2.85%

2.63%

Movements in Unit Capital: Face Value of Units: Rs. 10/- per unit.
8.10.1 Growth Option
Number of Units
As on
31-Mar-14
653,500.000
Initial Capital
986,655.618
Opening Balance
Units Sold during the
61,428.622
year
Units Repurchased
(195,383.937)
during the year
852,700.303
Closing Balance

Amount (Rs) Number of Units
As on
As on
31-Mar-14
31-Mar-13
6,535,000.00
653,500.000
9,866,556.18 1,005,014.531

Amount (Rs)
As on
31-Mar-13
6,535,000.00
10,050,145.31

614,286.22

107,770.517

1,077,705.17

(1,953,839.37)

(126,129.430)

(1,261,294.30)

8,527,003.03

986,655.618

9,866,556.18

8.10.2 Growth Option(Direct)
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Initial Capital
Opening Balance
Units Sold during
the year
Units Repurchased
during the year
Closing Balance

Number of Units
As on
31-Mar-14
15,571.033

Amount (Rs) Number of Units
As on
As on
31-Mar-14
31-Mar-13
155,710.33
-

Amount (Rs)
As on
31-Mar-13
-

19,153.312

191,533.12

15,571.033

155,710.33

(236.455)

(2,364.55)

-

-

34,487.890

344,878.90

15,571.033

155,710.33

8.10.3 Dividend Option

Number of
Units
As on
31-Mar-14
5,556,609.896
453,537.867

Number of
Amount (Rs)
Units
As on
As on
As on
31-Mar-14
31-Mar-13
31-Mar-13
55,566,098.96 5,813,512.062 58,135,120.62
4,535,378.67 437,343.562 4,373,435.62
Amount (Rs)

Initial Capital
Opening Balance
Units Sold during the period
Units Repurchased during the
(1,167,842.046) (11,678,420.46) (694,245.728) (6,942,457.28)
period
4,842,305.717 48,423,057.17 5,556,609.896 55,566,098.96
Closing Balance
8.10.4 Dividend Option(Direct)

Initial Capital
Opening Balance
Units Sold during the period
Units Repurchased during the
period
Closing Balance

Number of
Units
As on
31-Mar-14
74,751.397
126,786.075

Amount
(Rs)
As on
31-Mar-14
747,513.97
1,267,860.75

Number of
Units
As on
31-Mar-13
74,751.397

Amount
(Rs)
As on
31-Mar-13
747,513.97

-

-

-

-

201,537.472

2,015,374.72

74,751.397

747,513.97

8.11 The scheme has declared dividend of Rs.2.00 per unit during the year ended March 31, 2014
(PY: Rs. 2.00 per unit). No bonus (PY: Nil) was declared during the year ended March 31, 2014. .
8.12 Unclaimed Amounts (beyond three months)
Unclaimed Redemption and Dividend amounts as of March 31, 2014 are given below:
Scheme Name
No of Investors
Unclaimed
No of Investors
Unclaimed
Dividend (Rs)
Redemption
(Rs)
Sahara Tax Gain
1437
1,628,589.82
31
165,749.41
Fund
8.13
Investments made by the Schemes of Sahara Mutual Fund in Companies or their
subsidiaries that have invested more than 5% of the net asset value of any scheme, pursuant to
Regulation 25(11):NIL
8.14

st

Portfolio Statement as on 31 March, 2014:
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Name of the Instrument

ISIN

QTY

Market
Value
(Rs In
lakhs)

% to
NAV

% to
category

1) Equity & Equity Related
(a) Listed/awaiting Listing on Stock
Exchange
EQUITY SHARES
Pharmaceuticals
BIOCON LTD.

INE376G01013

8000

33.95

LUPIN LTD

INE326A01037

3100

28.93

CADILA HEALTHCARE LTD
GLENMARK PHARMACEUTICALS
LTD

INE010B01019

2500

25.62

INE935A01035

3400

19.22

Auto
TVS MOTOR COMPANY LTD

INE494B01023

35000

33.99

HERO MOTOCORP LTD

INE158A01026

1300

29.57

ASHOK LEYLAND LTD

INE208A01029

110000

26.02

Software
WIPRO Ltd

INE075A01022

4400

23.90

TECH MAHINDRA LTD
TATA CONSULTANCY SERVICES
LTD

INE669C01028

1200

21.54

INE467B01029

1000

21.33

INFOSYS LIMITED

INE009A01021

600

19.70

Industrial Capital Goods
CROMPTON GREAVES LTD

INE067A01029

16000

25.66

ABB INDIA LIMITED

INE117A01022

2800

23.91

BEML LTD

INE258A01016

7000

20.45

Banks
BANK OF INDIA

INE084A01016

10000

22.85

ALLAHABAD BANK

INE428A01015

25000

22.73

ORIENTAL BANK OF COMMERCE

INE141A01014

10000

22.29

Power
PTC INDIA LTD

INE877F01012

50000

10.25

10.80

8.52

8.98

8.23

8.67

6.66

7.02

6.46

6.81

6.33

6.67

33.90
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CESC LTD

INE486A01013

6500

32.58

Minerals/Mining
NMDC LIMITED

INE584A01023

25000

34.81

COAL INDIA LTD

INE522F01014

10000

28.88

Industrial Products
SUPREME INDUSTRIES LTD.

INE195A01028

6000

30.14

BHARAT FORGE LTD

INE465A01025

7000

29.53

Telecom & Services
TATA COMMUNICATIONS LTD

INE151A01013

13000

39.92

BHARTI AIRTEL LTD

INE397D01024

7000

22.24

Consumer Non Durables
NESTLE INDIA LIMITED

INE239A01016

600

30.17

HINDUSTAN UNILEVER LTD

INE030A01027

3500

21.19

Construction Project
VOLTAS LTD.
TEXTILE PRODUCTS

INE226A01021

27000

43.44

ARVIND LTD
CONSUMER DURABLES

INE034A01011

20000

34.79

BATA INDIA LTD
PETROLEUM PRODUCTS

INE176A01010

RELIANCE INDUSTRIES LTD
OIL

INE002A01018

CAIRN INDIA LTD
NON - FERROUS METALS

INE910H01017

HINDALCO INDUSTRIES LTD.
PESTICIDES

INE038A01020

UPL LIMITED
CEMENT

INE628A01036

ULTRATECH CEMENT LTD.

INE481G01011

PAPER
TAMIL NADU NEWSPRINT & PAPERS
LTD

INE107A01015

3000
3000
8000
17000
12000
1000

15000

INE573A01034

10000

6.39

5.68

5.99

5.92

6.24

4.88

5.14

4.13

4.35

3.31

3.49

3.26

3.43

2.66

2.80

2.53

2.67

2.29

2.42

2.11

2.22

2.08

2.19

1.83

1.93

1.69

1.78

34.22
27.92
26.64
24.10
22.13
21.87

19.25

AUTO ANCILLARIES
JK TYRES & INDUSTRIES LTD

6.06

17.74
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(b) Unlisted

Nil

Nil

0.00

Nil

485,900

997.12

94.88

100.00

2) Debt Instruments
(a) Listed/awaiting Listing on Stock
Exchange

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

(b) Privately Placed/Unlisted

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

(c) Securitized Debt

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

3) Money Market Instruments

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

4) Short Term Deposits

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

5) Other- Net Current Assets

Nil

53.82

5.12

100.00

485,900

1050.94

100.00

100.00

Equity Total (a+b)

Grand Total

8.15 Investments made by the Scheme in shares of Group Companies of the Sponsor – NIL.
8.16 Holdings over 25% of the NAV of the scheme
Particulars

As on March 31, 2014

As on March 31, 2013

Number of Investors

Nil

Nil

Percentage of Holdings

N/A

N/A

8.17 Contingent Liability: Nil
8.18 Previous year figures have been reclassified/regrouped, wherever necessary, to conform to the
current year’s classification.
As per our attached report of even date
For Chaturvedi & Co
Chartered Accountants
Firm Regn. No.:- 302137E

For Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Ltd

For Sahara Mutual Fund

S.N.Chaturvedi
Partner
Mem.No: 040479

C.Kamdar
Director

R M Joshi
Director

S R Hegde
Trustee

Naresh Kumar Garg
Chief Executive Officer

A.N.Sridhar
Fund Manager

Place: Mumbai
Date: 6th June 2014

A K Thakur
Trustee

Vidya Manjrekar
Head- Operations & NAV Accounting
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Trustees of Sahara Mutual Fund
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Sahara Mutual Fund – Sahara Growth
Fund (“the Scheme”), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2014, and the Revenue
Account for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Trustees of Sahara Mutual Fund and the Management of Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Limited (the “Management”) are responsible for the preparation of these financial statements
that give a true and fair view of the financial position and financial performance of the Scheme in
accordance with the accounting policies and standards specified in the Ninth Schedule of the
Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996 and amendments thereto,
as applicable. This responsibility includes the design, implementation and maintenance of internal
control relevant to the preparation and presentation of the financial statements that give a true and fair
view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
Scheme’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Scheme’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the
financial statements give the information required by the Securities and Exchange Board of India
(Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996 and amendments thereto, as applicable, in the manner so required
and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India:
(a) in the case of the Balance Sheet, of the state of affairs of the Scheme as at March 31, 2014;
(b) in the case of the Revenue Account, of the surplus for the year ended on that date.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
As required by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996 and
amendments thereto, as applicable, we report that:
a) We have obtained all the information and explanations, which to the best of our knowledge
and belief were necessary for the purpose of our audit.
b) The statement of account has been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies and
standards specified in the Ninth Schedule of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual
Funds) Regulations, 1996 and amendments thereto, as applicable.
c) We have reviewed the Valuation Policy being followed for the schemes of Sahara Mutual Fund.
The Valuation Policy implemented for the scheme is in line with the SEBI guidelines issued in this
regard.
d) The methods used to value non-traded securities as at March 31, 2014 as determined by the
Management under procedures approved by the Trustees of Sahara Mutual Fund in accordance
with the guidelines for valuation of securities for mutual funds, issued by the Securities and
Exchange Board of India, are fair and reasonable.
For Chaturvedi & Co.
Chartered Accountants
(Firm’s Registration No. 302137E)
(SN Chaturvedi)
(Partner)
Mem. No. 040479
Place : Mumbai
th
Date: 6 June, 2014
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BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31st MARCH, 2014
SAHARA GROWTH FUND

Schedule

ASSETS
Investments
Other Current Assets
Total Assets

1
2

LIABILITIES
Unit Capital
Reserves & Surplus
Current Liabilities & Provisions
Total Liabilities

3
4
5

As at
March 31, 2014

As at
March 31, 2013

(Rs)
77,242,820
6,661,978
83,904,798

(Rs)
72,219,252
13,260,588
85,479,840

20,108,111
59,012,411
4,784,276
83,904,798

26,703,500
57,230,146
1,546,194
85,479,840

94.2413
27.3411
94.7438
27.4787

77.5872
22.5169
77.6915
22.5414

NET ASSET VALUE
Net Asset Value per unit (Rs.)
Growth Option
Dividend Option
Direct Growth Option
Direct Dividend Option
Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to the accounts 7
Schedules 1 to 5 and 7 form an integral part of the Balance Sheet
As per our attached report of even date
For Chaturvedi & Co
Chartered Accountants
Firm Regn. No.:- 302137E

For Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Ltd

For Sahara Mutual Fund

S.N.Chaturvedi
Partner
Mem.No: 040479

C.Kamdar
Director

R M Joshi
Director

S R Hegde
Trustee

Naresh Kumar Garg
Chief Executive Officer

A.N.Sridhar
Fund Manager

Place: Mumbai

A K Thakur
Trustee

Vidya Manjrekar
Head- Operations & NAV Accounting

Date: 6th June 2014
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REVENUE ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2014
For the year
For the year
Schedule
ended
ended
March 31,2014
March 31, 2013
SAHARA GROWTH FUND
(Rs)
(Rs)
INCOME
1,329,197

1,721,656

358,390

404,565

63,009

6,616

Profit on Sale / Redemption of
Investments(Net)-other than Inter Scheme
Transfer/ sale

2,885,317

4,616,838

Net Income from Exit Load on Redemption

14,410

49,357

4,650,323

6,799,032

Management Fees

989,645

1,277,232

ST on Management Fees

122,322

77,491

15,887

10,054

-

10,290

Registrar & Transfer Agent Charges

326,934

222,828

Custodian Fees

197,994

173,159

Fees & Expenses of Trustees

135,082

154,304

Statutory Audit Fees

87,925

80,151

Internal Audit Fees

144,768

145,153

Insurance

32,985

31,550

Costs related to Investor Communication

79,949

82,660

Transaction cost

50,890

52,493

Marketing & Selling Expenses including
Agents commission

76,140

363,760

Total Expenses

2,260,521

2,681,125

Surplus for the Year (excluding unrealised appreciation)

2,389,802

4,117,907

Dividend
Interest Income
Accretion of Discount

Total Income

EXPENSES & LOSSES

Investor Education & Awareness Fees
STT on Equity Transactions
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Provision/ Write back for dimunition in
value of Investments
Transfer from Income Equalisation
Reserve

6,818,756

(143,754)

(21,275,681)

(28,996,068)

-

-

(12,067,123)

(25,021,915)

6

Dividend paid, including dividend tax
Surplus/(Deficit) transferred to Reserves
Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to the accounts 7
Schedules 6 and 7 form an integral part of the Revenue
Account
As per our attached report of even date
For Chaturvedi & Co
Chartered Accountants
Firm Regn. No.:- 302137E

For Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Ltd

For Sahara Mutual Fund

S.N.Chaturvedi
Partner
Mem.No: 040479

C.Kamdar
Director

R M Joshi
Director

S R Hegde
Trustee

Naresh Kumar Garg
Chief Executive Officer

A.N.Sridhar
Fund Manager

Place: Mumbai

A K Thakur
Trustee

Vidya Manjrekar
Head- Operations & NAV Accounting

Date: 6th June 2014
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SCHEDULES FORMING PART OF THE BALANCE SHEET

As at
March 31,
2014
(Rs)

SAHARA GROWTH FUND

As at
March 31,
2013
(Rs)

SCHEDULE 1
Investments
(Refer note 8.14 of Schedule 7 for detailed Portfolio statement)
77,242,820
Equity Shares

72,219,252

77,242,820

72,219,252

2,555,362

1,264,036

1,056,593
66,061
674,380
313,110

44,277
11,843,005
109,070

1,996,472
6,661,978

200
13,260,588

3,487,390

4,280,463

16,351,270

22,243,085

Direct Growth Option: 12015.3550 units of Rs.10 each
(For 2012-2013: 4215.9620 units of Rs.10 each)

120,154

42,160

Direct Dividend Option: 14929.6440 units of Rs.10
each
(For 2012-2013: 13779.2260 units of Rs.10 each)

149,297

137,792

20,108,111

26,703,500

SCHEDULE 2
Other Current Assets
Balances with Banks in Current
accounts
Contracts for sale of Investments
Outstanding and Accrued Income
Reverse Repo arrangements
Investment - Liquid MF Units for
Dividend
Receivable on Switches
CBLO Investments
SCHEDULE 3
Unit Capital
Growth Option: 348739.1100 units of Rs.10 each
(For 2012-2013:428046.3400 units of Rs.10 each)
Dividend Option: 1635126.996 units of Rs.10 each
(For 2012-2013: 2224308.5160 units of Rs.10 each)

Total
(Refer note 8.10 of Schedule 7)
SCHEDULE 4
Reserves and Surplus
Revenue Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year
Transfer from Revenue Account
Balance as at end of the year

89,758,079
(12,067,123)

114,779,994
(25,021,915)
77,690,956

89,758,079

Income Equalisation Reserve
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Balance as at beginning of the year
Additions During the year
Transfer to Revenue Account
Balance as at end of the year

(21,275,681)
21,275,681
-

Unrealised Appreciation Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year
Additions During the year
Balance as at end of the year

2,298,779
6,353,772

Unit Premium Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year
Additions During the year
Balance as at end of the year

(34,826,712)
7,495,616

-

3,488,872
(1,190,093)
8,652,551

SCHEDULE 5
Current Liabilities and Provisions
Sundry Creditors
Management Fees Payable
ST on Management Fees Payable
Payable Fees on Investor Education
Payable -Transaction Fees
Contracts for Purchase of Investments
Payable on redemption of units
STT Payable
Unclaimed Distributed Income
ST Payable on Exit Load
Load Charges on Subscription

SCHEDULES FORMING PART OF REVENUE
ACCOUNT
SCHEDULE 6
Provision / Write back for dimumition
in value of Investments
At the beginning of the year
At the end of the year

(28,996,068)
28,996,068

2,298,779

(46,558,885)
11,732,173
(27,331,096)
59,012,411

(34,826,712)
57,230,146

106,077
16,059
1,985
18,082
4,223,297
343,093
38
75,469
176
4,784,276

234,559
19,979
2,526
9,624
75
1,067,863
128,352
360
82,427
11
418
1,546,194

For the Year
ended
March 31,
2014
(Rs)
(8,445,397)
(1,626,641)
6,818,756

For the Year
ended
March 31,
2013
(Rs)
(8,301,643)
(8,445,397)
(143,754)
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Sahara Growth Fund
PERSPECTIVE HISTORICAL PER UNIT STATISTICS

Particulars

(a) Gross Income
(I) Income other than Profit on sale of
Investments
(ii) Income from Profit (net of loss) on interscheme sales/ transfer of Investments

Year Ended
As at
31-Mar-14

Year Ended
As at
31-Mar-13

Year Ended
As at
31-Mar-12

0.88

0.82

0.67

0.00

0.00

0.00

(iii) Income from Profit (net of Loss) on sale
other than Inter scheme

1.43

1.73

-0.74

(iv) Transfer to revenue account from past
year'
s reserve

NA

NA

NA

(b) Aggregate of expenses, write off,
amortisation and charges

1.12

1.00

0.74

(c) Net Income

1.19

1.54

-0.81

(d) Net unrealised appreciation/(dimunition)
in value of Investments

3.49

-2.30

-1.29

Growth Plan

94.2413

77.5872

77.0210

Dividend Plan

27.3411

22.5169

22.3563

Direct Growth Plan

94.7438

77.6915

-

Direct Dividend Plan

27.4787

22.5414

-

93.2989
27.0677
93.7964
27.2039

88.8764
25.7949
89.3276
25.6642

81.8427
23.7559
-

71.6061
20.7777
71.8266

70.3664
20.4249
76.0952

65.2184
18.9309
-

(e) Net Asset Value

(f) Repurchase Price during the year**
(I) Highest
Growth Plan
Dividend Plan
Direct Growth Plan
Direct Dividend Plan
(ii) Lowest
Growth Plan
Dividend Plan
Direct Growth Plan
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Direct Dividend Plan
(g) Resale Price during the year**
(I) Highest
Growth Plan
Dividend Plan
Direct Growth Plan
Direct Dividend Plan
(ii) Lowest
Growth Plan
Dividend Plan
Direct Growth Plan
Direct Dividend Plan
(h) Ratio of expenses to average daily net
assets by Percentage
(i) Ratio of income to average daily net
assets by Percentage
(excluding transfer to revenue account from
past year'
s reserve but including
net change in unrealized appreciation
/depreciation in value of Investments and
adjusted for net loss on sale / redemption of
investments)

20.8345

22.0782

-

94.2413
27.3411
94.7438
27.4787

91.7940
26.6417
89.7870
26.0558

82.6694
23.9959
-

72.3294
20.9876
72.5521
21.0449

72.6764
21.0954
76.8638
22.3012

65.8772
19.1221
-

2.84%

2.62%

2.49%

14.69%

0.64%

-4.57%

Per unit calculations based on number of units
in issue at the end of the year
**Based on the maximum load during the year

63

Sahara Mutual Fund – Annual Report 13-14.
SCHEDULE - 7
ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES FORMING PART OF ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
MARCH 31, 2014.
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1 About the Scheme
Sahara Growth Fund (the “Scheme”) is an open ended growth scheme of Sahara Mutual Fund
(the “Fund”). The objective is to achieve capital appreciation by investing in equity and equity
related instruments. In line with SEBI Circular for providing separate options for direct
investments , the scheme has now four options (1) Growth Option (ii) Dividend Option (iii)
Growth Option – Direct and (iv) Dividend Option – Direct. The scheme will not declare dividend
under the Growth Plan. The Income earned on such units will remain invested under the scheme
and will be reflected in the Net Asset Value. The initial issue period of the scheme was from July
22, 2002 to August 12, 2002 and the scheme was reopen for continuous purchase and
redemption at prevailing NAV from August 30, 2002.
1.2 Asset Management Company
Sahara Mutual Fund (SMF) has been established as a Trust in accordance with the Indian Trusts
Act, 1882, and is sponsored by Sahara India Financial Corporation Limited .
Sahara Asset Management Company Private Limited (“SAMCPL”), a company incorporated
under the Companies Act, 1956, has been appointed as the Asset Management Company
(“Investment Manager”) to Sahara Mutual Fund.
The Shareholding of Sahara Asset Management Company Private Limited as on March 31, 2014
is as follows:
Name of the Shareholder
Sahara India Financial Corporation Limited
Sahara India Corp Investment Limited
Sahara Prime City Limited
(formerly Sahara India Investment Corporation Limited )
Sahara Care Limited
Name of the Shareholder
Sahara India Commercial Corporation Ltd
Sahara Care Ltd

Type of
Holdings
Equity
Equity
Equity

Holding

Equity

31.68%

Type of
Holdings
Preference
Preference

Holding

45.60%
11.36%
11.36%

90.32 %
9.68 %

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1. Basis of Accounting.
The Scheme maintains its books of account on an accrual basis. These financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with the Accounting Policies and Standards specified in the Ninth
Schedule of The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996, (the
“Regulation”), and amendments thereto, as applicable.
2.2. Accounting for Investments
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2.2.1 Investments are accounted on trade dates at cost including brokerage, stamp duty and
other charges which are included in the acquisition of investments.
2.2.2 Profit or loss on sale of investments is determined on the respective trade date by
adopting the “Weighted Average Cost” method.
2.2.3 Bonus/Rights entitlements on equity holdings are recognized only when the original
shares on which the entitlement accrues are traded on the Principal stock exchange on
ex-bonus/ex-rights basis respectively.
2.2.4 Primary Market Investments are recognized on the basis of allotment advice.
2.3. Valuation of Investments
Valuation Policy as on 31.03.2014 is as under.
VALUATION POLICY / PROCEDURES - EQUITY & EQUITY RELATED SECURITIES
1. Traded Equity Securities
A security would be treated as ‘Traded’ if it is traded on the “Designated Stock Exchanges” namely,
National Stock Exchange (NSE), or/and Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) or/and MCX Stock
Exchange, within a period of 30 days (including the date of valuation). The order in which the three
designated exchanges would be used for the purposes of valuation would always remain as NSE,
BSE and MCX. The price for valuation would be the last quoted closing price on the valuation date. If
the equity security is not traded on the valuation date in NSE, then BSE price would be considered
and if BSE is not available MCX Stock Exchange price would be considered for valuation.
The principal “Designated” stock exchange for valuation of equity security would be NSE. When an
equity security is not traded on the valuation date on any of the “Designated Stock Exchanges”, then
the closing price of the earliest previous date shall be used for valuation provided such date is within
a period of 30 days (including the date of valuation).
2. Thinly Traded Securities
"When trading in an equity/equity related security (such as convertible debentures, equity warrants,
etc.) in a month is both less than Rs.5 lakhs and the total volume is less than 50,000 shares, it shall
be considered as a thinly traded security and valued accordingly". In order to determine whether a
security is thinly traded or not, the volumes traded in all “designated” stock exchanges shall taken into
account.
3. Non-traded / Suspended / Unlisted Equity Securities
When a security (other than Government Securities) is not traded on any stock exchange for a period
of thirty days prior to the valuation date, the scrip would be considered as a Non-Traded security. This
would include at least four categories:

i. Shares remaining non-traded for more than 30 days in all the “Designated Stock Exchanges”
ii. Shares that are suspended from trading in all the “Designated Stock Exchanges” due to any
reason

iii. Shares remaining unlisted for more than 30 days from the date of closure of any public issue
iv. Shares issued by way of corporate actions by companies and remaining unlisted for more
than 30 days from the ex-date of the respective corporate action.

The valuation methodology for the above four categories, until the date of listing, would be as follows:
a) Based on the latest available Balance Sheet, net worth would be calculated as follows:
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(iii)
(iv)

Net Worth per share = [share capital+ reserves (excluding revaluation reserves) – Misc.
expenditure and Debit Balance in P&L A/c] Divided by No. of Paid up Shares.
Average capitalization rate (P/E ratio) for the industry based upon NSE prices or BSE
prices and discounted by 75% i.e. only 25% of the Industry average P/E would be taken
as capitalization rate (P/E ratio). Earnings Per Share (EPS) of the latest audited annual
accounts would be considered for this purpose.

b) The value as per the net worth value per share (i) and the capital earning value (ii) calculated as
above would be averaged and further discounted by 10%(15% for Unlisted ) for ill-liquidity so as
to arrive at the fair value per share.
c) In case the EPS is negative, EPS value for that year would be taken as zero for arriving at
capitalized earning.
d) In case where the latest Balance Sheet of the company is not available within nine months from
the close of the year, unless the accounting year is changed, the shares of such companies
would be valued at zero.
e) In case an individual security accounts for more than 5% of the total assets of the scheme, then
an Independent Valuer shall be appointed for the valuation of the said security.
4. Demerger/ Spin-Off/Carve-Out/Divestiture etc.
Generally on any of the above corporate actions, a currently listed security in the portfolio gets bifurcated
into securities of two or more entities (Demerger/ Spin-Off/Carve-Out/Divestiture etc.)
The valuation of the shares of these entities would be as under.
1. In case shares of all entities post the corporate action are traded on the “Designated Stock
Exchanges”, the closing traded price would be used for valuation purpose.
2. In case one or all of the entities post the corporate action, are not traded, then it would be ensured
that:
a. Listed entity would be valued at the closing price
b. Unlisted entity would be valued = Value of combined entity(s) immediately prior to
corporate action – Value of listed entity immediately prior to corporate action AND this
valuation of the unlisted entity would be persisted till the entity gets listed. However, if the
entity remains unlisted for a period of 30 days (including the valuation date) from the date
of the corporate action, it would be valued as per the valuation rules applicable for a nontraded security.
5. Warrants
a. In respect of warrants to subscribe for shares attached to instruments, the warrants would be valued at
the value of the share which would be obtained on exercise of the warrants as reduced by the amount
which would be payable on exercise of the warrant. A discount similar to the discount to be determined in
respect on convertible debentures shall be deducted to account for the period, which must elapse before
the warrant can be exercised.
b. In case the warrants are traded separately they would be valued as per the valuation guidelines
applicable to Equity Shares.
6. Rights
Until they are traded, the value of "rights" shares would be calculated as:
Vr = n ÷ m x (Pex - Pof)
Where
Vr = Value of rights
n = no. of rights offered
m = no. of original shares held
Pex = Ex-rights price
Pof = Rights Offer Price
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Where the rights are not treated pari passu with the existing shares, suitable adjustment would be made
to the value of rights. Where it is decided not to subscribe for the rights but to renounce them and
renunciations are being traded, the rights would be valued at the renunciation value.
7. Derivatives
Market values of traded open futures and option contracts would be determined with respect to the
exchange on which contracted originally, i.e., a future or an option contracted on the National Stock
Exchange (NSE) would be valued at the closing price on the NSE.
The price of the same futures and option contract on the Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) cannot be
considered for the purpose of valuation, unless the futures or option itself has been contracted on the
BSE.
The same will be valued at closing price if the contract is traded on the valuation day. In case there is no
trade on valuation day then the same would be valued at Settlement prices.
However, the contracts which are going to expire on valuation date would be valued at Settlement prices
only.
Related matters
i.

In case of any other instruments not mentioned above and not covered in the policy above, the
same shall be referred to the Investment and Valuation Committee which is empowered to take
decision.

ii.

In case of any perceived conflict of interest while valuing the securities, the matter shall be dealt
and decided by Investment and Valuation Committee.

iii.

For non– business day the Valuation shall be done on aggregated Scrip wise prices as provided
by CRISIL/ICRA. In absence of Scrip wise prices the valuation shall be done on accrual
basis/amortization basis based on last valuation.

iv.

In case of exceptional circumstances like, exceptional policy announcements by
government/regulatory bodies, natural disasters, public disturbances, extreme volatility in capital
market, shut down of market, war etc and on those days if scrip- wise value or valuation matrices
are not available from CRISIL/ICRA and if security is not traded, the valuation for the day shall be
done based on last valuation plus accrual/amortization or as may decided by the Investment and
Valuation Committee.

v.

The Valuation Policy shall be reviewed by the Statutory Auditor at least once in a year.

vi.

Valuation Policy and Procedures as updated and approved by the Board of AMC /
Board of Trustees shall be applicable for the schemes of Sahara Mutual Fund

VALUATION OF DEBT INSTRUMENTS
(I) - The Valuation Policy of Debt and Money Market Instruments is given below:
Sr.
No.

Instrument

Valuation applicable on the day of valuation
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CBLO, REPO, Fixed Deposit, Call Money , etc and
such Similar Instruments
Certificate of Deposit (CD), Commercial Paper
(CP), Non-Convertible Debenture (NCD) Pass
Through Certificate (PTC), Bonds, etc. where Scrip
wise values are available from CRISIL/ ICRA
( Over 60 days residual maturity)
Certificate of Deposit (CD), Commercial Paper
(CP), Non-Convertible Debenture (NCD) Pass
Through Certificate (PTC), Bonds, etc where Scrip
wise values are not available from CRISIL/ ICRA
(Upto 60 days residual maturity)

2

3

The aggregated price provided by CRISIL / ICRA
for the given security or any other agencies
entrusted by SEBI from time to time for that day

i)

Same security traded and reported on
public platforms.

On Weighted Average Yield of all trades
(excluding abnormal
and retail trades) on
Public platforms, for that Securities on that day
irrespective of settlement day .

ii)

If Same Security not traded and reported
on any of the public platforms.

The aggregated matrices of CRISIL/ ICRA for
the respective category or any other agencies
entrusted by SEBI from time to time for that
day.

Central Government Securities / State Government
Securities / Treasury Bills/Cash Management Bill
etc

4

On Amortization basis / Accrual basis.

Aggregated valuation as provided by CRISIL/
ICRA or any other agencies entrusted by SEBI
from time to time for that day.

(II) Pricing of Inter -Scheme Transfer of Debt Instruments (ISTs):
Sr.
No.

1.

Instrument

Valuation applicable on the day of
valuation

Certificate of Deposit (CD), Commercial Paper
(CP), Non-Convertible Debenture (NCD) Pass
Through Certificate (PTC), Bonds, etc.

i)

Same security traded and reported on
FTRAC up to the time of IST.

Pricing will be based on Weighted Average
Yield of all trades in same security on FTRAC
(Excluding abnormal and retail trades)
irrespective
of
settlement
day
plus
accrual/amortization, if any, based on
settlement day of the IST. Example : If
settlement is T+0 then no accrual/amortization
and if the settlement is other than T+0, then
appropriate accrual/amortization.
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ii)

iii)

2.

Pricing will be based on Weighted Average
Yield of all trades in similar security/securities
on FTRAC (excluding abnormal and retail
If Same security is not traded but similar trades) irrespective of settlement day plus
Security/securities are traded and reported accrual/amortization, if any, based on
up to the time of IST on FTRAC
settlement day of the IST. Example : If
settlement is T+0 then no accrual/amortization
and if the settlement is other than T+0, then
appropriate accrual/amortization
Previous end of the day valuation plus accrual,
if any, based on settlement day of the IST shall
If Same or similar Security/securities are be taken. Example: if settlement is T+0 then no
not traded and reported up to the time of accrual/amortization and if the settlement is
IST on FTRAC
other
than
T+0
then
appropriate
Accrual/amortization.

Central
Government
Securities
/
State
Government Securities / Treasury Bills/ Cash
Management Bill etc

i)

Same security traded and reported on
NDS-OM section of CCIL website.

On last traded price as given on
NDS-Section of CCIL
Website (Excluding abnormal trade).

ii)

Same security not traded and reported on
NDS-OM section of CCIL website

Previous end of the day valuation price plus
accrual/amortization shall be taken

AMC may take screen shot/ downloaded excel file from FTRAC / NDS-OM for the same purpose.
Similar Security:
Similar security here shall mean those securities which are same nature security [Commercial Paper
(CP), Certificate of Deposit (CD), Non-Convertible Debentures (NCD), etc ] of different issuers having
same or equivalent credit rating for Similar maturity profile (For both Short term rating and Long term
rating), and falling in same “Maturity Bucket” as defined below. Further the instruments Commercial Paper
(CP), Bonds and Non-Convertible Debentures (NCDs) etc are categorized into following subcategories:—
5.
NBFC
6.
Real Estate,
7.
PTC
8.
Others
Maturity Bucket:
• For Debt Security having remaining maturity upto 91 days
Maturity date of securities falling between
1st and 7th of the month
8th and 15th of the month
16th and 23rd of the month
24th to end of the month

Time Bucket
1-7 of the same month
8-15 of the same month
16-23 of the same month
24- end of the month
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•

For Debt Securities having remaining maturities more than 91 days
“Time Bucket” for maturity profile of “Similar Securities” shall be same calendar month of that
year.

Notes:
1. For the purpose of Valuation of securities and for Inter Scheme Transfer, Weighted average of all
trades of 5 crs and above, excluding abnormal trades and retail trades shall be taken. Since retail
trades are of small value and generally may deviate materially from the yield at which the market
lots in WDM is traded, it would be appropriate to exclude the retail trades for the more realistic
valuation of the security.
2. Abnormal Trade is defined as those transaction/s which is/are over+/- 250 Basis Point compared
to the previous day valuation yield of the security in question
For the Valuation/Inter-scheme transfer, the available trades of various public platform shall be
considered where the face value of trade per transaction is Rs. 5 crs and above. If in any given
day in same/ similar security, the value of total trade is less than minimum market lot of 5 Crs, the
same shall be ignored for the valuation purpose.
3. CRISIL and ICRA provide the valuation matrices for various maturity bucket. Scrip wise value for
various debt instruments are also provided by CRISIL and ICRA. Trades are also reported and
settled on various public platform.
4. Public platform for the purpose of valuation of security shall mean FIMMDA managed FTRAC,
NSE, BSE, (except NSER- NSE retail and BSER- BSE Retail), RBI managed NDS-OM or any
other Public platform for Debt market launched from time to time. Market trades from different
Platforms are usually collected by BILAV Information LLP, which may be used for the purpose of
Valuation of traded security for which scrip wise values are not available from CRISIL/ICRA
5. The data on yield and prices are generally provided upto 4 decimal point which shall be
considered. Price upto 4 decimal points shall be considered on respective face value of the
instruments for arriving at valuation.
6. For the valuation of traded security where scrip wise values are not available by CRISIL/ICRA,
price derived from (corresponding to) Weighted Average yield of all available trades excluding
abnormal and retail trades on any public platform for the same security on t+1 settlement basis
shall be taken.
In case, on any other day because of technical and other reason, if the Required Bilav file is not
sent by 7.30 PM, FIMMDA managed FTRAC platform and NDS OM section of CCIL website may
be used for the calculation of weighted average yield of traded security for which scrip wise values
are not available .
7. For non traded security where scrip wise values are not available, the valuation shall be done on
the price derived from (corresponding to) the aggregated yield matrices for the respective category
as provided by CRISIL/ICRA on T+1 settlement basis.
8. For Government Securities, SDL, T-Bills, Cash Management Bill etc, the valuation shall be done
on aggregated script wise pricing as provided by CRISL/ICRA and as applicable for that day.
In the absence of scrip wise values the valuation shall be based on aggregated matrices if
available from CRISIL/ICRA on T+1 settlement and as applicable for that day.
9. In case the valuation matrices/script wise value is available either from CRISIL/ICRA upto
reasonable time limit, the same shall be considered for arriving at valuation

a
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10. In case on any given day neither the script wise value nor the valuation Matrices is available from
CRISIL/ICRA within the reasonable time limit, the Valuation shall be done based on
accrual/amortization based on last valuation.
2.3.1 Valuation of Other Investments
Mutual Fund Units:
a. In case of traded Mutual Fund schemes, the units would be valued at closing price on the stock
exchange on which they are traded like equity instruments. In case the units are not traded for more than
7 days, last declared Repurchase Price (the price at which Mutual Fund schemes buys its units back)
would be considered for valuation.
b. If the last available Repurchase price is older than 7 days, the valuation will be done at the last
available NAV reduced by illiquidity discount. The illiquidity discount will be 10% of NAV or as decided by
the Valuation Committee.
c. In case of non-traded Mutual Fund scheme, the last declared Repurchase Price (the price at which
Mutual Fund schemes buys its units back) would be considered for valuation
2.3.2 Valuation of securities not covered under the above valuation policy:
The total exposure in securities, which do not fall under above valuation norms, shall not exceed 5% of
the total AUM of the scheme.
In case of any other instruments not mentioned above and not covered in the policy above, the same
shall be referred to the Investment and Valuation Committee which is empowered to take decision.
Investment in such securities is to be valued by a method approved by the Investment and Valuation
Committee and the same will be reported to the Board of Trustees.
2.3.3 Unrealized Appreciation / Depreciation.
In accordance with the Guidance Note on Accounting for Investments in the Financial Statements of
Mutual Funds issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, the unrealized appreciation
determined separately for each individual investment is directly transferred to the “Unrealized
Appreciation Reserve Account” i.e. without routing it through the revenue account.
The provision for depreciation in value of investments determined separately for each individual
investment is recognized in the revenue account. The loss (realized) on investments sold / transferred
during the year is charged to revenue account, instead of being first adjusted against the provision for
depreciation, if already created in the prior year, as recommended by the said Guidance Note. However,
this departure from the Guidance Note does not have any net impact on the Scheme’s net assets or
results for the year.
2.4 Revenue Recognition

3.

2.4.1 Income and Expenses are recognized on accrual basis.
2.4.2 Interest on funds invested in short term deposits with scheduled commercial banks is
recognized on accrual basis.
2.4.3 Dividend income earned by the scheme is recognized on the date the share is quoted on
ex-dividend basis on principal stock exchange.
2.4.4 Proportionate realized gains on investments out of sales / repurchase proceeds at the time
of sale / repurchase of units are transferred to revenue Account from Unit Premium
Reserve.
Net Asset Value for Growth/Dividend Options:
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The net asset value of the units is determined separately for units issued under the Growth
Option, Dividend Option, Growth Option – Direct and Dividend Option – Direct. For reporting the
net asset value of the Growth Option, Dividend Option, Growth Option – Direct and Dividend
Option - Direct, daily income earned, including realized and unrealized gain or loss in the value of
investments and expenses incurred by the scheme are allocated to the options in proportion to
the value of the net assets
4. Unit Premium Reserve Account
Upon issue and redemption of units, the net premium or discount to the face value of units is
adjusted against the unit premium reserve account of the respective Options/Scheme, after an
appropriate of the issue proceeds and redemption payout is credited or debited respectively to
the income equalization account.

5. Income Equalisation Account
An appropriate part of the sale proceeds or the redemption amount, as the case may be, is
transferred to income equalization account. The total distributable surplus (without considering
unrealized appreciation) upto the date of issue/ redemption of units has been taken into account
for the purpose of ascertaining the amount to be transferred to Equalization Account on a daily
basis. The net balance in this account is transferred to the Revenue Account at the end of the
year.
6. Load Charges
The Entry load charges collected, if any are used to meet expenses as per the stipulated SEBI
guidelines from time to time. Service tax on exit load , if any, shall be paid out of the exit load
proceeds and exit load net of service tax, if any, shall be credited to the scheme.
7. Unclaimed Redemption.
In line with SEBI circular no. MFD/CIR/9/120/2000 dated November 24, 2000, the unclaimed
redemption and dividend amounts may be deployed by the mutual funds in call money market or
money market instruments only and the investors who claim these amounts during a period of
three years from the due date shall be paid at the prevailing Net Asset Value. After a period of
three years, this amount can be transferred to a pool account and the investors can claim the
unclaimed redemption amount at NAV prevailing at the end of the third year. The income earned
on such funds can be used for the purpose of investor education. The AMC should make
continuous effort to remind the investors through letters to take their unclaimed amounts. Further,
the investment management fee charged by the AMC for managing unclaimed amounts shall not
exceed 50 basis points.
8. NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
8.1 Management Fees, Trusteeship Fees, Custodian Fees
Management Fees
Management Fees (inclusive of service tax) has been computed at 1.40 % on average net assets
calculated on a daily basis.
Trusteeship Fees & Expenses
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In accordance with Deed of Trust dated 18 July 1996 between the Settler and the Trustees, the
fund has paid or provided an annual fee of Rs.1,00,000/- per Trustee. Trusteeship fees &
expenses are allocated to the schemes on the basis of their daily average net assets.
Custodian Charges
HDFC Bank provides Custodial services to the scheme for which fees is paid as per the
agreement.
8.2 Provision for tax has not been made since the income of the scheme is exempt from tax under
Section 10(23D) of the Income Tax Act, 1961.
8.3 Transactions with Brokers in excess of 5% or more of the aggregate purchases and sale of
securities made by the Fund have\s been reported to the Trustees on a Bimonthly basis.
8.4 Certain investments are registered in the name of the Fund without specific reference to the
Scheme. As at March 31, 2014 the aggregate market value of securities under Sahara Growth
Fund but held in the name of Sahara Mutual Fund is Rs.6,75,119.46
8.5 The Registrar and Transfer Agents charges amounting to Rs.3,26,935.00 constitutes 14.46 %
of the total schemes expenses.
8.6 Transactions with Associates
Brokerage / Commission on sale of units by the Scheme or by the Asset Management Company
given to associates, pursuant to Regulation 25(8):
Commission to SIFCL A/c CMSD (Associate) made for sale of units of the MF for the current year
st
ended 31 March 2014.
(Rs.In lakhs)
Tax Gain
Fund
0.42

Star Value
Fund
0.01

Growth
Fund

Liquid
Fund

Mid cap
Fund

Wealth Plus
Fund

Short Term
Bond

Infrastructure
Fund

0.03

0.14

0.02

0.01

0.07

0.13

Super 20
Fund
0.02

Power and Natural
Resources Fund
0.00

Banking & Financial
Services Fund
0.76

(Rs.In lakhs)
Income Fund
0.01

Commission to SIFCL A/c CMSD (Associate) made for sale of units of the MF for the previous year
st
ended 31 March 2013.
(Rs.In lakhs)
Tax Gain
Fund
0.40

Growth
Fund
0.24

Liquid
Fund
0.04

Mid cap
Fund
0.25

Wealth Plus
Fund
0.05

Star Value
Fund

Super 20
Fund

Power and Natural Resources
Fund

0.04

0.08

0.00

Short Term
Bond
0.01
Banking &
Financial
Services Fund
0.58

Infrastructure
Fund
0.11
(Rs. in lakhs)
Income Fund
0.00
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Commission paid to associates / related parties /group companies of Sponsor/AMC
Name of associate /
related parties / group
companies of Sponsor
/ AMC
(1)
SIFCL A/c CMSD
SIFCL A/c CMSD

Nature of
association /
nature of
relation
(2)
Sponsor /
Mutual Fund
Distributor
Sponsor /
Mutual Fund
Distributor

Period
Covered

Business given
(Rs cr and % of total
business received
by the fund)
(4)

Commission paid
(Rs
& % of total commission
paid
by the fund
(5)

April 13March 14

(1.29 & 0.45%)

(Rs.1,60,398.82 ;
13.57% )

April 12March 13

(0.81 & 0.24%)

(Rs.1,80,802.67 ;
8.82% )

(3)

In column No 4, the total business received by the fund includes business through ARNs & also direct
business.
In column No 5, the amount includes the upfront and the trail.
Brokerage paid to associates / related parties / group companies of Sponsor/AMC
Name of associate /
Nature of
Period
Value of Transaction (in
Brokerage (Rs Cr &
related parties /
association /
Covered
Rs, Cr & of Total value
% of total brokerage
group companies of
nature of relation
of Transaction of the
paid by the Fund)
Sponsor / AMC
Fund)
There are no associate brokers, hence not applicable for the period April – Mar 2014 & April – Mar 2013.
8.7 The aggregate value of Investment purchased and sold(Including Redemption) during the year as a
percentage of daily average net asset value;
Purchases
Year
2013-14

Amount (Rs)
344,711,732

% of Daily average
433.77

2012-13

185,489,927

180.97

Sales
Year
2013-14
2012-13

Amount (Rs)
353,809,724
213,997,919

% of Daily average
445.22
208.79

8.8 Aggregate Appreciation and Depreciation in the value of Investments :
Asset Class
31-Mar-14
31-Mar-13
Appreciation
Depreciation
Depreciation
Appreciation
(Rs. In lakhs)
(Rs. In lakhs)
(Rs. In lakhs)
(Rs. In lakhs)
Equity Shares

86.53

16.27

22.99

8.9 Income and Expense Ratio
Total Income (including net unrealized appreciation and net of loss on
sale of investments) to average net assets calculated on a daily basis.
Total Expenditure to average net assets calculated on a daily basis

84.45
2013-14
14.69%

2012-13
0.64%

2.84%

2.62%
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Movements in Unit Capital: Face Value of Units : Rs. 10/- per unit.
8.9.1

Growth Option
Number of Units Amount (Rs) Number of Units Amount (Rs)
As on March 31, As on March 31, As on March 31, As on March 31,
2014
2014
2013
2013
Initial Capital
1256545.617
12,565,456.17
1256545.617
12,565,456.17
Opening Balance
428046.340
4,280,463.40
470531.706
4,705,317.06
Units Sold during the
year
20340.553
203,405.53
79891.800
798,918.00
Units Repurchased
during the year
(99647.783)
(996,477.83)
(122377.166)
(1,223,771.66)
Closing Balance
348739.110
3,487,391.10
428046.340
4,280,463.40

Initial Capital
Opening Balance
Units Sold during the
year
Units Repurchased
during the year
Closing Balance
8.9.3

Number of
Units
Amount (Rs)
As on March As on March 31,
31, 2014
2014
4,215.962
42,159.62

8.9.2
Growth Option -Direct
Number of
Units
Amount (Rs)
As on March As on March 31,
31, 2013
2013
-

15,034.314

150,343.14

4,263.203

42,632.03

(7,234.921)
12,015.355

(72,349.21)
120,153.55

(47.241)
4,215.962

(472.41)
42,159.62

Dividend Option
Number of Units Amount (Rs) Number of Units Amount (Rs)
As on March 31, As on March 31, As on March 31, As on March 31,
2014
2014
2013
2013
308,657.065
3,086,570.65
308,657.065
3,086,570.65
2,224,308.516
22,243,085.16
3,251,698.162
32,516,981.62

Initial Capital
Opening Balance
Units Sold during the
year
9,101.695
Units Repurchased
during the year
(598,283.215)
Closing Balance
1,635,126.996

Dividend Option-Direct
Number of
Units
As on March
31, 2014
Initial Capital
Opening Balance
13,779.226
Units Sold during the
year
8,425.456
Units Repurchased
during the year
(7,275.038)
Closing Balance
14,929.644

91,016.95

147,361.633

1,473,616.33

(5,982,832.15)
16,351,269.96

(1,174,751.279)
2,224,308.516

(11,747,512.79)
22,243,085.16

8.9.4

Amount (Rs)
As on March
31, 2014
137,792.26

Number of
Units
As on March
31, 2013
-

Amount (Rs)
As on March
31, 2013
-

84,254.56

13,779.226

137,792.26

(72,750.38)
149,296.44

13,779.226

137,792.26
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8.10
The scheme has declared Nil dividend for the year ended March 31, 2014 (PY: Nil).
There was no bonus declared during the year ended March 31, 2014 (PY: Nil).
8.11

Unclaimed Amounts ( beyond three months) :

Unclaimed Redemption and Dividend during the year ended March 31, 2014 are as below:
Scheme name
No of
Unclaimed Dividend
No. of
Unclaimed
Investors
(Rs)
Investors
Redemption (Rs)
Sahara Growth
Fund
23
75,469.17
10
237,640.51
8.12
Investments made by the Schemes of Sahara Mutual Fund in Companies or their
subsidiaries that have invested more than 5% of the net asset value of any scheme, pursuant
to Regulation 25(11): NIL
8.13

Portfolio Statement as on March 31, 2014
Name of the Instrument

Quantity

Market
Value
(Rs. in
Lakhs)

INE090A01013
INE160A01014
INE062A01012
INE476A01014
INE040A01026
INE028A01013

2800
4000
1500
7000
2200
1200

34.86
29.76
28.77
18.50
16.47
8.65

INE002A01018

4500

41.88

INE029A01011
INE077F01027

4500
18000

20.70
19.58

INE009A01021
INE075A01022
INE467B01029

700
4000
900

22.98
21.73
19.20

ISIN

% to
NAV

% to
Category
Total

1) Equity & Equity Related
(a) Listed/awaiting Listing on Stock
Exchange
EQUITY SHARES
BANKS
ICICI BANK LTD
PUNJAB NATIONAL BANK
STATE BANK OF INDIA
CANARA BANK
HDFC BANK LTD
BANK OF BARODA
PETROLEUM PRODUCTS
RELIANCE INDUSTRIES LTD
BHARAT PETROLEUM CORPORATION
LTD
GULF OIL CORPORATION LIMITED
SOFTWARE
INFOSYS LIMITED
WIPRO Ltd
TATA CONSULTANCY SERVICES LTD
CONSTRUCTION PROJECT
VOLTAS LTD.
LARSEN AND TOUBRO LIMITED
AUTO
HERO MOTOCORP LTD
MAHINDRA & MAHINDRA LTD
ASHOK LEYLAND LTD
PHARMACEUTICALS
CADILA HEALTHCARE LTD

INE226A01021
INE018A01030

22000
2000

35.40
25.44

INE158A01026
INE101A01026
INE208A01029

1000
2000
80000

22.75
19.61
18.92

INE010B01019

2500

17.32

17.74

10.38

10.63

8.08

8.28

7.69

7.88

7.75

7.94

7.32

7.50

25.62
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BIOCON LTD.
DR.REDDY LABORATORIES LTD
OIL
OIL & NATURAL GAS CORP LTD
CAIRN INDIA LTD
TELECOM - SERVICES
BHARTI AIRTEL LTD
IDEA CELLULAR LTD
MINERALS/MINING
COAL INDIA LTD
NMDC LIMITED
GAS
GAIL (INDIA) LTD
INDUSTRIAL CAPITAL GOODS

INE376G01013
INE089A01023

4000
600

16.98
15.38

INE213A01029
INE910H01017

8000
7000

25.50
23.31

INE397D01024
INE669E01016

6500
13000

20.65
17.87

INE522F01014
INE584A01023

8000
10200

23.10
14.20

INE129A01019

8000

30.08

CROMPTON GREAVES LTD
NON - FERROUS METALS

INE067A01029

13000

20.85

HINDALCO INDUSTRIES LTD.
HOTELS

INE038A01020

INDIAN HOTELS CO LTD
PESTICIDES

INE053A01029

PI INDUSTRIES LIMITED
INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS

INE603J01030

BHARAT FORGE LTD
CONSUMER NON DURABLES

INE465A01025

HINDUSTAN UNILEVER LTD
FINANCE
HOUSING DEVELOPMENT FINANCE
CORPORATION LTD
TRANSPORTATION

INE030A01027

ADANI PORTS & SEZ LTD
FERTILISERS
NAGARJUNA FERTILIZERS AND
CHEMICALS LTD.

INE742F01042

(b) Unlisted
Equity Total (a+b)
2) Debt Instruments
(a) Listed/awaiting Listing on Stock
Exchange
(b) Privately Placed/Unlisted

INE001A01036

INE454M01024

14000
27000
7000
3800
2500

1700
8000

6.17

6.32

4.87

4.99

4.71

4.82

3.80

3.89

2.64

2.70

2.51

2.57

2.48

2.54

2.46

2.52

2.03

2.08

1.91

1.96

1.90

1.95

1.90

1.95

1.71

1.75

19.85
19.63
19.48
16.03
15.14

15.03
15.00

88000

13.53

Nil
96,000

Nil
772.43

0
97.63

Nil
100.00

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

(c) Securitised Debt
Nil
Nil
Nil
3) Money Market Instruments
Nil
Nil
Nil
4) Short Term Deposits
Nil
Nil
Nil
5) Other- Net Current Assets
18.78
2.37
Nil
Grand Total
96,000
791.21 100.00
8.14 Investments made by the Scheme in shares of Group Companies of the Sponsor – NIL.

Nil
Nil
Nil
100.00
100.00
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8.15 Holdings over 25% of the NAV of the scheme as of March 31, 2014.
Particulars

As on March 31, 2014
Nil
N/A

Number of Investors
Percentage of Holdings

As on March 31, 2013
Nil
N/A

8.17 Contingent Liability: Nil
8.18
Previous year figures have been reclassified/regrouped, wherever necessary, to conform to
the current year’s classification.
As per our attached report of even date
For Chaturvedi & Co
Chartered Accountants
Firm Regn. No.:- 302137E

For Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Ltd

For Sahara Mutual Fund

S.N.Chaturvedi
Partner
Mem.No: 040479

C.Kamdar
Director

R M Joshi
Director

S R Hegde
Trustee

Naresh Kumar Garg
Chief Executive Officer

A.N.Sridhar
Fund Manager

Place: Mumbai
Date: 6th June 2014

A K Thakur
Trustee

Vidya Manjrekar
Head- Operations & NAV Accounting
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Trustees of Sahara Mutual Fund
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Sahara Mutual Fund – Sahara Midcap Fund
(“the Scheme”), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2014, and the Revenue Account for
the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Trustees of Sahara Mutual Fund and the Management of Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Limited (the “Management”) are responsible for the preparation of these financial statements that
give a true and fair view of the financial position and financial performance of the Scheme in accordance
with the accounting policies and standards specified in the Ninth Schedule of the Securities and
Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996 and amendments thereto, as applicable. This
responsibility includes the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the
preparation and presentation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Scheme’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Scheme’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the
financial statements give the information required by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual
Funds) Regulations, 1996 and amendments thereto, as applicable, in the manner so required and give a
true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India:
(a) in the case of the Balance Sheet, of the state of affairs of the Scheme as at March 31, 2014;
(b) in the case of the Revenue Account, of the surplus for the year ended on that date.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
As required by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996 and
amendments thereto, as applicable, we report that:
a) We have obtained all the information and explanations, which to the best of our knowledge and
belief were necessary for the purpose of our audit.
b) The statement of account has been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies and
standards specified in the Ninth Schedule of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual
Funds) Regulations, 1996 and amendments thereto, as applicable.
c) We have reviewed the Valuation Policy being followed for the schemes of Sahara Mutual Fund. The
Valuation Policy implemented for the scheme is in line with the SEBI guidelines issued in this regard.
For Chaturvedi & Co.
Chartered Accountants
(Firm’s Registration No. 302137E)
(SN Chaturvedi)
(Partner)
Mem. No. 040479
Place of Signature: Mumbai
th
Date: 6 June, 2014
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BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31st MARCH, 2014

SAHARA MIDCAP FUND
ASSETS
Investments
Other Current Assets

Schedule

As at
March 31, 2014

1
2

Total Assets
LIABILITIES
Unit Capital
Reserves & Surplus
Current Liabilities & Provisions

3
4
5

Total Liabilities

As at
March 31,
2013

(Rs)
84,031,863
4,823,226

(Rs)
77,021,543
9,825,849

88,855,089

86,847,392

40,782,249
44,303,806
3,769,034

55,130,452
30,234,812
1,482,128

88,855,089

86,847,392

36.6408

27.3897

16.1842

12.1171

NET ASSET VALUE
Net Asset Value per unit (Rs.)
Growth Option
Dividend Option
Bonus Option
Growth Auto Earning Payout

36.6408

27.3897

36.6408

27.3897

Direct Growth Plan

36.6899

27.4096

Direct Dividend Plan

16.2274

12.1253

Direct Bonus Plan

36.6899

27.4096

Direct Growth - Auto Earning Payout

36.6899

27.4096

Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to the accounts
8
Schedules 1 to 5 and 8 form an integral part of the Balance Sheet
As per our attached report of even date
For Chaturvedi & Co
Chartered Accountants
Firm Regn. No.:- 302137E

For Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Ltd

For Sahara Mutual Fund

S.N.Chaturvedi
Partner
Mem.No: 040479

C.Kamdar
Director

R M Joshi
Director

S R Hegde
Trustee

Naresh Kumar Garg
Chief Executive Officer

A.N.Sridhar
Fund Manager

Place: Mumbai
Date: 6th June 2014

A K Thakur
Trustee

Vidya Manjrekar
Head- Operations & NAV Accounting
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REVENUE ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2014
For the year
ended
March 31, 2014

For the year
ended
March 31, 2013

INCOME

(Rs)

(Rs)

Dividend

1,342,191

1,514,745

480,082

431,120

2,901,896

-

4,724,169

1,945,865

-

4,337,772

1,015,682

1,302,028

125,541

77,185

16,648

10,255

-

6,563

Registrar & Transfer Agent Charges

341,334

249,072

Custodian Fees

208,295

179,372

Fees & Expenses of Trustees

138,708

179,131

Statutory Audit Fees

92,296

83,798

Internal Audit Fees

156,135

149,370

Insurance

36,838

32,971

Costs related to Investor Communication

82,335

86,886

Transaction cost
Marketing & Selling Exps. Including Agents
Commission

53,433

54,574

79,805

350,013

2,347,050

7,098,990

2,377,119

(5,153,125)

10,938,985

4,596,350

SAHARA MIDCAP FUND

Interest and Discount Income

Schedule

6

Profit on Sale / Redemption of Investments(Net)
(Other than Inter Scheme Transfer / Sale)
Total Income
EXPENSES & LOSSES
Loss on Sale / Redemption of Investments(Net)
(Other than Inter Scheme Transfer / Sale)
Management Fees
ST on Management Fees
Investor Education & Awareness Fees
STT on Equity Transactions

Total Expenses
Surplus for the Year (excluding unrealised
appreciation)
Provision/ Write back for dimunition in value of
investments

7
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Transfer from Income Equalisation Reserve

(8,179,310)

(10,367,978)

-

-

5,136,794

(10,924,753)

Dividend Including Distribution Tax
Surplus / (Deficit) transferred to Revenue Reserve
Significant Accounting Polices Notes to the accounts

8

Schedules 6 to 8 form an integral part of the Revenue Account
As per our attached report of even date
For Chaturvedi & Co
Chartered Accountants
Firm Regn. No.:- 302137E

For Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Ltd

For Sahara Mutual Fund

S.N.Chaturvedi
Partner
Mem.No: 040479

C.Kamdar
Director

R M Joshi
Director

S R Hegde
Trustee

Naresh Kumar Garg
Chief Executive Officer

A.N.Sridhar
Fund Manager

Place: Mumbai
Date: 6th June 2014

A K Thakur
Trustee

Vidya Manjrekar
Head- Operations & NAV Accounting
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SCHEDULES FORMING PART OF THE BALANCE SHEET
March 31,
2014
SAHARA MIDCAP FUND
(Rs)
SCHEDULE 1
Investments
(Refer note 8.14 of Schedule 8 for detailed
Portfolio statement)
84,031,863
Equity Shares
84,031,863
SCHEDULE 2
Other Current Assets
1,464,233
Balances with Banks in Current accounts
2,822
Outstanding & Accrued Income
Reverse Repo arrangements
Collateralized Borrowing and Lending Obligation
1,996,472
(CBLO)
Receivable on issue of Units / Switches
1,135,491
Investment - Liquid MF units
Contract for Sale of Investments

March 31,
2013
(Rs)

77,021,543
77,021,543

561,560
33,788
8,119,440
650
1,110,411

224,208
4,823,226

9,825,849

86,000

90,586

31,242,575

42,867,145

8,925,807

11,802,461

121,506

129,488

2,864

-

212,005

109,731

191,492

131,041

-

-

SCHEDULE 3
Unit Capital
Bonus Plan
8600.0000 units of Rs. 10 each
(For 2012-2013- 9058.5760 units of Rs.10 each)
Dividend Plan
3124257.4020 units of Rs. 10 each
(For 2012-13-4286714.4920 units of Rs 10 each)
Growth Plan
892580.7250 units of Rs. 10 each
(For 2012-13-1180246.1190 units of Rs.10 each)
Auto Earnings Payout Plan
12150.5850 units of Rs. 10 each
(For 2012-2013-12948.8100 units of Rs.10 each)
Direct Bonus Plan
286.4330 units of Rs. 10 each
(For 2012-2013 - Nil units of Rs. 10 each)
Direct Dividend Plan
21200.5390 units of Rs. 10 each
(For 2012-13- 10973.1010 units of Rs. 10 each)
Direct Growth Plan
19149.2160 units of Rs. 10 each
(For 2012-13 - 13104.1400 units of Rs. 10 each)
Direct Auto Earnings Payout Plan
Nil units of Rs. 10 each
(For 2012-2013- Nil units of Rs. 10 each)
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40,782,249

Total
(Refer Notes on Accounts 8.10 of Schedule 8)

55,130,452

SCHEDULE 4
Reserves and Surplus
Revenue Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year
Transferred from Revenue Account
Balance as at end of the year
Income Equalisation Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year
Additions During the year
Transferred to Revenue Account
Balance as at end of the year
Unrealised Appreciation Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year
Additions During the year
Balance as at end of the year
Unit Premium Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year
Additions During the year
Balance as at end of the year

24,091,682
5,136,794

35,016,435
(10,924,754)
29,228,476

(8,179,310)
8,179,310

24,091,682
(10,367,978)
10,367,978

3,143,725
1,387,902

6,585,203
(3,441,478)

14,531,627
2,999,405

3,143,725
2,271,666

(2,455,702)

727,739
543,703
44,303,806

2,999,405
30,234,812

149,228
17,286
2,137
99
225
18,716
44
1,791,472
1,007,729
771,095
11,003
3,769,034

270,491
19,796
2,493
102
100
9,804
44
0
350,557
828,741
1,482,128

SCHEDULE 5
Current Liabilities and Provisions
Sundry Creditors
Management Fees Payable
ST on Management Fees Payable
STT Payable
Payable - Transaction Fees
Payable - Fees on Investor Education
Payable - Load Subscriptions
Contract for purchase of investments
Payable on Redemption of Units
Unclaimed Distributed Income
Payable / Receivable on Switches

SCHEDULES FORMING PART OF REVENUE
ACCOUNT

For the year
ended
March 31,
2014
(Rs)

For the year
ended
March 31,
2013
(Rs)

SCHEDULE 6

85

Sahara Mutual Fund – Annual Report 13-14.
Interest and Discount Income
Non Convertible Debentures
Reverse Repo arrangements
CBLO
Net Income from Exit Loads
Others
SCHEDULE 7
Provision/ Write Back or dimunition in value
of investments
At the beginning of the year
At the end of the year

366,116
51,368
62,577
21
480,082

503
393,515
25,040
12,062
431,120

(11,410,578)
(471,593)
10,938,985

(16,006,928)
(11,410,578)
4,596,350
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PERSPECTIVE HISTORICAL PER UNIT STATISTICS
SAHARA MIDCAP FUND
Particulars
(a) Gross Income
(I) Income other than Profit on sale of Investments
(ii) Income from Profit (net of loss) on inter-scheme sales/
transfer of Investments
(iii) Income from Profit (net of Loss) on sale other
than Inter scheme
(iv) Transfer to revenue account from past year'
s reserve

As at

As at

As at

31-Mar-14 31-Mar-13 31-Mar-12
0.45

0.35

0.44

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.71
NA

-0.79
NA

0.32
NA

(b) Aggregate of expenses, write off, amortisation and charges

0.58

0.50

0.41

(c) Net Income

0.58

-0.93

0.35

(d) Net unrealised appreciation/(dimunition) in value of
Investments

3.45

-1.50

-1.29

(e) Net Asset Value
Growth Plan
Dividend Plan
Bonus Plan
Growth - Auto Earning Payout
Direct Growth Plan
Direct Dividend Plan
Direct Bonus Plan
Direct Growth - Auto Earning Payout

36.6408
16.1842
36.6408
36.6408
36.6899
16.2274
36.6899
36.6899

27.3897
12.1171
27.3897
27.3897
27.4096
12.1253
27.4096
27.4096

28.9895
12.8263
28.9895
28.9895

(f) Repurchase Price during the year**
(I) Highest
Growth Plan
Dividend Plan
Bonus Plan
Growth - Auto Earning Payout
Direct Growth Plan
Direct Dividend Plan
Direct Bonus Plan
Direct Growth - Auto Earning Payout

36.2744
16.0224
36.2744
36.2744
36.3230
16.0651
36.3230
36.3230

32.8604
14.5379
32.8604
32.8604
32.8616
14.5395
32.8616
32.8616

31.4412
13.9105
31.4412
31.4412

(ii) Lowest
Growth Plan
Dividend Plan
Bonus Plan
Growth - Auto Earning Payout
Direct Growth Plan

25.2441
11.1622
25.2441
25.2441
25.2745

26.2408
11.6101
26.2408
26.2408
26.7858

23.6321
10.4558
23.6321
23.6321
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Direct Dividend Plan
Direct Bonus Plan
Direct Growth - Auto Earning Payout

11.1818
25.2745
25.2745

11.8491
26.7858
26.7858

36.6408
16.1842
36.6408
36.6408
36.6899
16.2274
36.6899
36.6899

33.9391
15.0151
33.9391
33.9391
33.1935
14.6864
33.1935
33.1935

31.7588
14.0510
31.7588
31.7588

25.4991
11.2750
25.4991
25.4991
25.5298
11.2947
25.5298
25.5298

27.1023
11.9913
27.1023
27.1023
27.0564
11.9688
27.0564
27.0564

23.8708
10.5614
23.8708
23.8708

2.82%

2.59%

2.47%

(i) Ratio of income to average daily net assets by Percentage
22.55%
(excluding transfer to revenue account from past year'
s reserve but
including net change in unrealized appreciation /depreciation in
value of Investments and adjusted for net loss on sale / redemption
of investments)
*Annualized
**Based on the maximum load during the year
Per unit calculations based on number of units in issue at the end of the period

-9.98%

-3.21%

(g) Resale Price during the year**
(I) Highest
Growth Plan
Dividend Plan
Bonus Plan
Growth - Auto Earning Payout
Direct Growth Plan
Direct Dividend Plan
Direct Bonus Plan
Direct Growth - Auto Earning Payout
(ii) Lowest
Growth Plan
Dividend Plan
Bonus Plan
Growth - Auto Earning Payout
Direct Growth Plan
Direct Dividend Plan
Direct Bonus Plan
Direct Growth - Auto Earning Payout
(h) Ratio of expenses to average daily net assets by Percentage
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SCHEDULE - 8
ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES FORMING PART OF ACCOUNTS FOR THE PERIOD
ENDED MARCH 31, 2014
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1 About the Scheme
Sahara Midcap Fund (the “Scheme”) is an open ended growth scheme of Sahara
Mutual Fund (the “Fund”). The objective is to achieve long term capital growth at
medium level of risks by investing primarily in mid –cap stocks. . In line with SEBI
Circular for providing separate options for direct investments , the scheme has now
Eight options The Scheme has Eight plans – Dividend, Growth, Growth –Auto
Earnings Payout ,Bonus, Direct-Dividend, Direct Growth, Direct Growth-Auto Earnings
Payout & Direct-Bonus The scheme will not declare dividend under the Growth Plan.
The Income earned on such units will remain invested under the scheme and will be
reflected in the Net Asset Value. The initial issue period of the scheme was from
November 29, 2004 to December 22, 2004 and the scheme was reopened for
continuous purchase and redemption at prevailing NAV from January 17, 2005.
1.2 Asset Management Company
Sahara Mutual Fund (SMF) has been established as a Trust in accordance with the Indian
Trusts Act, 1882, and is sponsored by Sahara India Financial Corporation Limited.
Sahara Asset Management Company Private Limited (“SAMCPL”), a company incorporated
under the Companies Act, 1956, has been appointed as the Asset Management Company
(“Investment Manager”) to Sahara Mutual Fund.
The Shareholding of Sahara Asset Management Company Private Limited as on March 31,
2014 is as follows:
Name of the Shareholder
Sahara India Financial Corporation Limited
Sahara India Corp Investment Limited
Sahara Prime City Limited
(formerly Sahara India Investment Corporation Limited )
Sahara Care Limited

Type of Holdings
Equity
Equity
Equity

Holding
45.60%
11.36%
11.36%

Equity

31.68%

Name of the Shareholder
Sahara India Commercial Corporation Ltd
Sahara Care Ltd

Type of Holdings
Preference
Preference

90.32%
9.68%

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1. Basis of Accounting.
The Scheme maintains its books of account on an accrual basis. These financial statements
have been prepared in accordance with the Accounting Policies and Standards specified in
the Ninth Schedule of The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds)
Regulations, 1996, (the“Regulation”), and amendments thereto, as applicable.
2.2. Accounting for Investments
2.2.1 Investments are accounted on trade dates at cost including brokerage, stamp duty
and other charges which are included in the acquisition of investments.
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2.2.2 Profit or loss on sale of investments is determined on the respective trade date by
adopting the “Weighted Average Cost” method.
2.2.3 Bonus/Rights entitlements on equity holdings are recognized only when the original
shares on which the entitlement accrues are traded on the Principal stock exchange
on ex-bonus/ex-rights basis respectively.
2.2.4 Primary Market Investments are recognized on the basis of allotment advice.
2.3. Valuation of Investments
Valuation Policy as on 31.03.2014 is as under
VALUATION POLICY / PROCEDURES - EQUITY & EQUITY RELATED SECURITIES
1. Traded Equity Securities
A security would be treated as ‘Traded’ if it is traded on the “Designated Stock Exchanges” namely,
National Stock Exchange (NSE), or/and Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) or/and MCX Stock
Exchange, within a period of 30 days (including the date of valuation). The order in which the three
designated exchanges would be used for the purposes of valuation would always remain as NSE,
BSE and MCX. The price for valuation would be the last quoted closing price on the valuation date. If
the equity security is not traded on the valuation date in NSE, then BSE price would be considered
and if BSE is not available MCX Stock Exchange price would be considered for valuation.
The principal “Designated” stock exchange for valuation of equity security would be NSE. When an
equity security is not traded on the valuation date on any of the “Designated Stock Exchanges”, then
the closing price of the earliest previous date shall be used for valuation provided such date is within
a period of 30 days (including the date of valuation).
2. Thinly Traded Securities
"When trading in an equity/equity related security (such as convertible debentures, equity warrants,
etc.) in a month is both less than Rs.5 lakhs and the total volume is less than 50,000 shares, it shall
be considered as a thinly traded security and valued accordingly". In order to determine whether a
security is thinly traded or not, the volumes traded in all “designated” stock exchanges shall taken into
account.
3. Non-traded / Suspended / Unlisted Equity Securities
When a security (other than Government Securities) is not traded on any stock exchange for a period
of thirty days prior to the valuation date, the scrip would be considered as a Non-Traded security. This
would include at least four categories:

i. Shares remaining non-traded for more than 30 days in all the “Designated Stock Exchanges”
ii. Shares that are suspended from trading in all the “Designated Stock Exchanges” due to any
iii.
iv.

reason
Shares remaining unlisted for more than 30 days from the date of closure of any public issue
Shares issued by way of corporate actions by companies and remaining unlisted for more
than 30 days from the ex-date of the respective corporate action.

The valuation methodology for the above four categories, until the date of listing, would be as follows:
a) Based on the latest available Balance Sheet, net worth would be calculated as follows:
(i)

Net Worth per share = [share capital+ reserves (excluding revaluation reserves) – Misc.
expenditure and Debit Balance in P&L A/c] Divided by No. of Paid up Shares.
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(ii)

Average capitalization rate (P/E ratio) for the industry based upon NSE prices or BSE
prices and discounted by 75% i.e. only 25% of the Industry average P/E would be taken
as capitalization rate (P/E ratio). Earnings Per Share (EPS) of the latest audited annual
accounts would be considered for this purpose.

b) The value as per the net worth value per share (i) and the capital earning value (ii) calculated as
above would be averaged and further discounted by 10%( 15% for Unlisted ) for ill-liquidity so as
to arrive at the fair value per share.
c) In case the EPS is negative, EPS value for that year would be taken as zero for arriving at
capitalized earning.
d) In case where the latest Balance Sheet of the company is not available within nine months from
the close of the year, unless the accounting year is changed, the shares of such companies
would be valued at zero.
e) In case an individual security accounts for more than 5% of the total assets of the scheme, then
an Independent Valuer shall be appointed for the valuation of the said security.

4. Demerger/ Spin-Off/Carve-Out/Divestiture etc.
Generally on any of the above corporate actions, a currently listed security in the portfolio gets bifurcated
into securities of two or more entities (Demerger/ Spin-Off/Carve-Out/Divestiture etc.)
The valuation of the shares of these entities would be as under.
1. In case shares of all entities post the corporate action are traded on the “Designated Stock
Exchanges”, the closing traded price would be used for valuation purpose.
2. In case one or all of the entities post the corporate action, are not traded, then it would be ensured
that:
a. Listed entity would be valued at the closing price
b. Unlisted entity would be valued = Value of combined entity(s) immediately prior to corporate
action – Value of listed entity immediately prior to corporate action AND this valuation of the
unlisted entity would be persisted till the entity gets listed. However, if the entity remains unlisted
for a period of 30 days (including the valuation date) from the date of the corporate action, it
would be valued as per the valuation rules applicable for a non-traded security.
5. Warrants
a. In respect of warrants to subscribe for shares attached to instruments, the warrants would be valued at
the value of the share which would be obtained on exercise of the warrants as reduced by the amount
which would be payable on exercise of the warrant. A discount similar to the discount to be determined in
respect on convertible debentures shall be deducted to account for the period, which must elapse before
the warrant can be exercised.
b. In case the warrants are traded separately they would be valued as per the valuation guidelines
applicable to Equity Shares.
6. Rights
Until they are traded, the value of "rights" shares would be calculated as:
Vr = n ÷ m x (Pex - Pof)
Where
Vr = Value of rights
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n = no. of rights offered
m = no. of original shares held
Pex = Ex-rights price
Pof = Rights Offer Price
Where the rights are not treated pari passu with the existing shares, suitable adjustment would be made
to the value of rights. Where it is decided not to subscribe for the rights but to renounce them and
renunciations are being traded, the rights would be valued at the renunciation value.
7. Derivatives
Market values of traded open futures and option contracts would be determined with respect to
the exchange on which contracted originally, i.e., a future or an option contracted on the National
Stock Exchange (NSE) would be valued at the closing price on the NSE.
The price of the same futures and option contract on the Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) cannot
be considered for the purpose of valuation, unless the futures or option itself has been contracted
on the BSE.
The same will be valued at closing price if the contract is traded on the valuation day. In case
there is no trade on valuation day then the same would be valued at Settlement prices.
However, the contracts which are going to expire on valuation date would be valued at Settlement
prices only.
Related matters
1. In case of any other instruments not mentioned above and not covered in the policy above, the
same shall be referred to the Investment and Valuation Committee which is empowered to take
decision.
2. In case of any perceived conflict of interest while valuing the securities, the matter shall be dealt
and decided by Investment and Valuation Committee.
3. For non– business day the Valuation shall be done on aggregated Scrip wise prices as provided
by CRISIL/ICRA. In absence of Scrip wise prices the valuation shall be done on accrual
basis/amortization basis based on last valuation.
4. In case of exceptional circumstances like, exceptional policy announcements by
government/regulatory bodies, natural disasters, public disturbances, extreme volatility in capital
market, shut down of market, war etc and on those days if scrip- wise value or valuation matrices
are not available from CRISIL/ICRA and if security is not traded, the valuation for the day shall be
done based on last valuation plus accrual/amortization or as may decided by the Investment and
Valuation Committee.
5. The Valuation Policy shall be reviewed by the Statutory Auditor at least once in a year.
6. Valuation Policy and Procedures as updated and approved by the Board of AMC /
Board of Trustees shall be applicable for the schemes of Sahara Mutual Fund
VALUATION OF DEBT INSTRUMENTS
(I) - The Valuation Policy of Debt and Money Market Instruments is given below:
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Sr.
No.

Valuation applicable on the day of
valuation

Instrument
CBLO, REPO, Fixed Deposit, Call Money , etc and
such Similar Instruments

1

On Amortization basis / Accrual basis.

2

Certificate of Deposit (CD), Commercial Paper (CP),
Non-Convertible Debenture (NCD) Pass Through
Certificate (PTC), Bonds, etc. where Scrip wise
values are available from CRISIL/ ICRA
( Over 60 days residual maturity)

3

Certificate of Deposit (CD), Commercial Paper (CP),
Non-Convertible Debenture (NCD) Pass Through
Certificate (PTC), Bonds, etc where Scrip wise
values are not available from CRISIL/ ICRA
(Upto 60 days residual maturity)

i)

Same security traded and reported on
public platforms.

On Weighted Average Yield of all trades
(excluding abnormal and retail trades)
on Public platforms, for that Securities
on that day irrespective of settlement
day .

ii)

If Same Security not traded and reported
on any of the public platforms.

The aggregated matrices of CRISIL/
ICRA for the respective category or any
other agencies entrusted by SEBI from
time to time for that day.

Central Government Securities / State Government
Securities / Treasury Bills/Cash Management Bill etc

4

The aggregated price provided by
CRISIL / ICRA for the given
security or any other agencies entrusted by
SEBI from time to
time for that day

Aggregated valuation as provided by
CRISIL/ ICRA or any other agencies
entrusted by SEBI from time to time for
that day.

(II) Pricing of Inter -Scheme Transfer of Debt Instruments (ISTs):
Sr.
No.

1.

Instrument

Valuation applicable on the day of
valuation

Certificate of Deposit (CD), Commercial Paper
(CP), Non-Convertible Debenture (NCD) Pass
Through Certificate (PTC), Bonds, etc.

i)

Same security traded and reported on
FTRAC up to the time of IST.

Pricing will be based on Weighted Average
Yield of all trades in same security on FTRAC
(Excluding abnormal and retail trades)
irrespective
of
settlement
day
plus
accrual/amortization, if any, based on
settlement day of the IST. Example : If
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settlement is T+0 then no accrual/amortization
and if the settlement is other than T+0, then
appropriate accrual/amortization.

ii)

iii)

2.

Pricing will be based on Weighted Average
Yield of all trades in similar security/securities
on FTRAC (excluding abnormal and retail
If Same security is not traded but similar trades) irrespective of settlement day plus
Security/securities are traded and reported accrual/amortization, if any, based on
up to the time of IST on FTRAC
settlement day of the IST. Example : If
settlement is T+0 then no accrual/amortization
and if the settlement is other than T+0, then
appropriate accrual/amortization
Previous end of the day valuation plus accrual,
if any, based on settlement day of the IST shall
If Same or similar Security/securities are be taken. Example: if settlement is T+0 then no
not traded and reported up to the time of accrual/amortization and if the settlement is
IST on FTRAC
other
than
T+0
then
appropriate
Accrual/amortization.

Central
Government
Securities
/
State
Government Securities / Treasury Bills/ Cash
Management Bill etc

i)

Same security traded and reported on
NDS-OM section of CCIL website.

On last traded price as given on
NDS-Section of CCIL
Website (Excluding abnormal trade).

ii)

Same security not traded and reported on
NDS-OM section of CCIL website

Previous end of the day valuation price plus
accrual/amortization shall be taken

AMC may take screen shot/ downloaded excel file from FTRAC / NDS-OM for the same purpose.
Similar Security:
Similar security here shall mean those securities which are same nature security [Commercial Paper (CP),
Certificate of Deposit (CD), Non-Convertible Debentures (NCD), etc ] of different issuers having same or
equivalent credit rating for Similar maturity profile (For both Short term rating and Long term rating), and falling
in same “Maturity Bucket” as defined below. Further the instruments Commercial Paper (CP), Bonds and NonConvertible Debentures (NCDs) etc are categorized into following sub-categories:—
1.
NBFC
2.
Real Estate,
3.
PTC
4.
Others
Maturity Bucket:
• For Debt Security having remaining maturity upto 91 days
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Maturity date of securities falling between
1st and 7th of the month
8th and 15th of the month
16th and 23rd of the month
24th to end of the month

Time Bucket
1-7 of the same month
8-15 of the same month
16-23 of the same month
24- end of the month

• For Debt Securities having remaining maturities more than 91 days
“Time Bucket”for maturity profile of “Similar Securities” shall be same calendar month of that year.
Notes:
1. For the purpose of Valuation of securities and for Inter Scheme Transfer, Weighted average of all
trades of 5 crs and above, excluding abnormal trades and retail trades shall be taken. Since retail
trades are of small value and generally may deviate materially from the yield at which the market
lots in WDM is traded, it would be appropriate to exclude the retail trades for the more realistic
valuation of the security.
2. Abnormal Trade is defined as those transaction/s which is/are over+/- 250 Basis Point compared
to the previous day valuation yield of the security in question
For the Valuation/Inter-scheme transfer, the available trades of various public platform shall be
considered where the face value of trade per transaction is Rs. 5 crs and above. If in any given
day in same/ similar security, the value of total trade is less than minimum market lot of 5 Crs, the
same shall be ignored for the valuation purpose.
3. CRISIL and ICRA provide the valuation matrices for various maturity bucket. Scrip wise value for
various debt instruments are also provided by CRISIL and ICRA . Trades are also reported and
settled on various public platform.
4. Public platform for the purpose of valuation of security shall mean FIMMDA managed FTRAC,
NSE, BSE, (except NSER- NSE retail and BSER- BSE Retail), RBI managed NDS-OM or any
other Public platform for Debt market launched from time to time. Market trades from different
Platforms are usually collected by BILAV Information LLP, which may be used for the purpose of
Valuation of traded security for which scrip wise values are not available from CRISIL/ICRA
5. The data on yield and prices are generally provided upto 4 decimal point which shall be
considered. Price upto 4 decimal points shall be considered on respective face value of the
instruments for arriving at valuation.
6. For the valuation of traded security where scrip wise values are not available by CRISIL/ICRA,
price derived from (corresponding to) Weighted Average yield of all available trades excluding
abnormal and retail trades on any public platform for the same security on t+1 settlement basis
shall be taken.
In case, on any other day because of technical and other reason, if the Required Bilav file is not
sent by 7.30 PM, FIMMDA managed FTRAC platform and NDS OM section of CCIL website may
be used for the calculation of weighted average yield of traded security for which scrip wise values
are not available .
7. For non traded security where scrip wise values are not available, the valuation shall be done on
the price derived from (corresponding to) the aggregated yield matrices for the respective category
as provided by CRISIL/ICRA on T+1 settlement basis.
8. For Government Securities, SDL, T-Bills, Cash Management Bill etc, the valuation shall be done
on aggregated script wise pricing as provided by CRISL/ICRA and as applicable for that day.
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In the absence of scrip wise values the valuation shall be based on aggregated matrices if
available from CRISIL/ICRA on T+1 settlement and as applicable for that day.
9. In case the valuation matrices/script wise value is available either from CRISIL/ICRA upto
reasonable time limit, the same shall be considered for arriving at valuation

a

10. In case on any given day neither the script wise value nor the valuation Matrices is available from
CRISIL/ICRA within the reasonable time limit, the Valuation shall be done based on
accrual/amortization based on last valuation.
2.3.1 Valuation of Other Investments
Mutual Fund Units:
a. In case of traded Mutual Fund schemes, the units would be valued at closing price on the stock
exchange on which they are traded like equity instruments. In case the units are not traded for more than
7 days, last declared Repurchase Price (the price at which Mutual Fund schemes buys its units back)
would be considered for valuation.
b. If the last available Repurchase price is older than 7 days, the valuation will be done at the last
available NAV reduced by illiquidity discount. The illiquidity discount will be 10% of NAV or as decided by
the Valuation Committee.
c. In case of non-traded Mutual Fund scheme, the last declared Repurchase Price (the price at which
Mutual Fund schemes buys its units back) would be considered for valuation.
2.3.2 Valuation of securities not covered under the above valuation policy:
The total exposure in securities, which do not fall under above valuation norms, shall not exceed 5% of
the total AUM of the scheme.
In case of any other instruments not mentioned above and not covered in the policy above, the same
shall be referred to the Investment and Valuation Committee which is empowered to take decision.
Investment in such securities is to be valued by a method approved by the Investment and Valuation
Committee and the same will be reported to the Board of Trustees.
2.3.3 Unrealised Appreciation/Depreciation.
In accordance with the Guidance Note on Accounting for Investments in the Financial Statements
of Mutual Funds issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, the unrealized
appreciation determined separately for each individual investment is directly transferred to the
“Unrealised Appreciation Reserve Account” i.e. without routing it through the revenue account.
The provision for depreciation in value of investments determined separately for each individual
investment is recognized in the revenue account. The loss (realized) on investments sold /
transferred during the year is charged to revenue account, instead of being first adjusted against
the provision for depreciation, if already created in the prior year, as recommended by the said
Guidance Note. However, this departure from the Guidance Note does not have any net impact
on the Scheme’s net assets or results for the year.
2 .4 Revenue Recognition
2.4.1 Income and Expenses are recognized on accrual basis.
2.4.2 Interest on funds invested in short term deposits with scheduled commercial banks is
recognized on accrual basis.
2.4.3 Dividend income earned by the scheme is recognized on the date the share is quoted on
ex-dividend basis on principal stock exchange.
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2.4.4

Proportionate realized gains on investments out of sales / repurchase proceeds at the
time of sale / repurchase of units are transferred to revenue Account from Unit Premium
Reserve.
3. Net Asset Value for Growth / Dividend Options:
The net asset value of the units is determined separately for units issued under the Growth,
Dividend Options, Growth-Bonus, Growth-Auto Earning Payout Option, Direct Growth, Direct
Dividend, Direct Growth –Auto Earning Payout Option & Direct Growth - Bonus. For reporting the
net asset value of the Options, daily income earned, including realized and unrealized gain or
loss in the value of investments and expenses incurred by the scheme are allocated to the
options in proportion to the value of the net assets.
4. Unit Premium Reserve Account
Upon issue and redemption of units, the net premium or discount to the face value of units is
adjusted against the unit premium reserve account of the respective Options / Scheme, after an
appropriate of the issue proceeds and redemption payout is credited or debited respectively to
the income equalization account.
5. Income Equalisation Account
An appropriate part of the sale proceeds or the redemption amount, as the case may be, is
transferred to income equalization account. The total distributable surplus (without considering
unrealized appreciation) upto the date of issue/ redemption of units has been taken into account
for the purpose of ascertaining the amount to be transferred to Equalization Account on a daily
basis. The net balance in this account is transferred to the Revenue Account at the end of the
year.
6. Load Charges
The Entry load charges collected, if any are used to meet expenses as per the stipulated SEBI
guidelines from time to time. Service tax on exit load , if any, shall be paid out of the exit load
proceeds and exit load net of service tax, if any, shall be credited to the scheme.
7.

Unclaimed Redemption.
In line with SEBI circular no. MFD/CIR/9/120 /2000 dated November 24, 2000, the unclaimed
redemption and dividend amounts may be deployed by the mutual funds in call money market or
money market instruments only and the investors who claim these amounts during a period of
three years from the due date shall be paid at the prevailing Net Asset Value. After a period of
three years, this amount can be transferred to a pool account and the investors can claim the
unclaimed redemption amount at NAV prevailing at the end of the third year. The income earned
on such funds can be used for the purpose of investor education. The AMC should make
continuous effort to remind the investors through letters to take their unclaimed amounts. Further,
the investment management fee charged by the AMC for managing unclaimed amounts shall not
exceed 50 basis points.

8. NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
8.1 Management Fees , Trusteeship Fees, Custodian Fees
Management Fees
Management Fees (inclusive of service tax) has been computed at 1.37 % on average net
assets calculated on a daily basis.
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Trusteeship Fees & Expenses
th
In accordance with Deed of Trust dated 18 July 1996 between the Settler and the Trustees,
the fund has paid or provided an annual fee of Rs.1,00,000/- per Trustee. Trustee fees &
expenses are allocated to the schemes on the basis of their daily average net assets.
Custodian Charges
HDFC Bank provides Custodial services to the scheme for which fees is paid as per the
agreement.
Provision for tax has not been made since the income of the scheme is exempt from tax
under Section 10(23D) of the Income Tax Act, 1961.

8.2.

8.3. Transactions with Brokers in excess of 5% or more of the aggregate purchases and sale of
securities made by the Fund have / has been reported to the Trustees on a Bi-monthly
basis.
8.4

Certain investments are registered in the name of the Fund without specific reference to
the Scheme. As at March 31, 2014 the aggregate market value of securities held under
Sahara Midcap Fund but held in the name of Sahara Mutual Fund is Rs. Nil

8.5

The Registrar and Transfer Agent charges amounting to Rs.3,41,334.00 constitutes 14.54
% of the total schemes expenses.

8.6

Transactions with Associates
Brokerage / Commission on sale of units by the Scheme or by the Asset Management
Company given to associates, pursuant to Regulation 25(8):

Commission to SIFCL A/c CMSD (Associate) made for sale of units of the MF for the current year
st
ended 31 March 2014.
(Rs. In lakhs)
Tax Gain
Fund

Growth
Fund

Liquid
Fund

Mid cap
Fund

Wealth Plus
Fund

Short Term
Bond

Infrastructure
Fund

0.42

0.13

0.03

0.14

0.02

0.01

0.07

Star Value
Fund
0.01

Super 20
Fund
0.02

Power and Natural
Resources Fund
0.00

(Rs. In lakhs)
Banking & Financial
Income
Services Fund
Fund
0.76
0.01

Commission to SIFCL A/c CMSD (Associate) made for sale of units of the MF for the previous year ended
st
31 March 2013.
(Rs.In lakhs)
Tax Gain
Fund
0.40
Star Value
Fund
0.04

Growth
Fund
0.24

Liquid
Fund
0.04

Super 20
Fund
0.08

Mid cap
Fund
0.25

Wealth Plus
Fund
0.05

Power and Natural
Resources Fund
0.00

Short Term
Bond
0.01
Banking & Financial
Services Fund
0.58

Infrastructure
Fund
0.11
(Rs. in lakhs)
Income
Fund
0.00
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Commission paid to associates / related parties /group companies of Sponsor/AMC
Name of associate /
Nature of
Period
Business given
Commission paid
related parties / group
association /
Covered
(Rs cr and % of total
(Rs & % of total
companies of Sponsor nature of relation
business received by
commission paid
the fund)
by the fund
/ AMC
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
Sponsor /
April 13(Rs.1,60,398.82 ;
SIFCL A/c CMSD
Mutual Fund
(1.29 & 0.45%)
March 14
13.57% )
Distributor
Sponsor / Mutual
April 12(Rs.1,80,802.67 ;
SIFCL A/c CMSD
(0.81 & 0.24%)
Fund Distributor
March 13
8.82% )
In column No 4, the total business received by the fund includes business through ARNs & also
direct business.
In column No 5, the amount includes the upfront and the trail.
Brokerage paid to associates / related parties / group companies of Sponsor/AMC
Name of associate
Nature of
Period
Value of Transaction (in
Brokerage (Rs Cr &
/ related parties /
association /
Covered
Rs, Cr & of Total value
% of total brokerage
group companies
nature of relation
of Transaction of the
paid by the Fund)
of Sponsor / AMC
Fund)
There are no associate brokers, hence not applicable for the period April – Mar 2014 & April –
Mar 2013.
8.7

The Aggregate value of Investment purchased and sold(Including Redemption) during the year as a
percentage of daily average net asset value;
Purchases
Year
2013-14
2012-13

Amount (Rs)
300,208,258
189,184,353

% of Daily average
360.42
177.19

Year

Amount (Rs)

% of Daily average

2013-14

316,478,795

379.95

2012-13

217,683,602

203.88

Sales

8.8

8.9

Aggregate Appreciation and Depreciation in the value of Investments :
Scheme
31-Mar-14
31-Mar-13
Appreciation
Depreciation
Appreciation
Depreciation
(Rs. In lakhs)
(Rs. In lakhs)
(Rs. In lakhs)
(Rs. In lakhs)
145.32
Equity Shares
Income and Expense Ratio

4.72

31.44

Total Income (including net unrealized appreciation and net of loss on
sale of investments) to average net assets calculated on a daily basis.
Total Expenditure to average net assets calculated on a daily basis.

114.11
2013-14
22.55%

2012-13
-9.98%

2.82%

2.59%
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8.10 Movements in Unit Capital: Face Value of Units : Rs. 10/- per unit
8.10.1 Growth Option
Number of Units Amount (Rs) Number of Units Amount (Rs)
As on
As on
As on
As on
March 31, 2014 March 31, 2014 March 31, 2013 March 31, 2013
Initial Capital

38,747,086.657 387,470,866.57 38,747,086.657 387,470,866.57

Opening Balance

1,180,246.119

11,802,461.19

154,542.082
1,545,420.82
Units Sold during the year
Units Repurchased during
(442,207.476)
(4,422,074.76)
the year
892,580.725
8,925,807.25
Closing Balance
8.10.2
Dividend Option
Number of
Amount (Rs)
Units
As on
As on
March 31, 2014 March 31, 2014
51,626,396.716 516,263,967.16
Initial Capital
4,286,714.492 42,867,144.92
Opening Balance
197,790.691
1,977,906.91
Units Sold during the year
Units Repurchased during
(1,360,247.781) (13,602,477.81)
the year
3,124,257.402 31,242,574.02
Closing Balance
8.10.3

1,412,381.132

14,123,811.32

108,776.020

1,087,760.20

(340,911.033)
1,180,246.119

(3,409,110.33)
11,802,461.19

Number of Units

Amount (Rs)

As on
As on
March 31, 2013 March 31, 2013
51,626,396.716 516,263,967.16
5,862,822.682 58,628,226.82
116,661.514
1,166,615.14
(1,692,769.704) (16,927,697.04)
4,286,714.492 42,867,144.92

Bonus Option

Initial Capital
Opening Balance
Units Sold during the year
Units Repurchased during
the year
Closing Balance

Number of
Number of Units Amount (Rs)
Units
Amount (Rs)
As on
As on
As on
As on
March 31, 2014 March 31, 2014 March 31, 2013 March 31, 2013
46,030.000
460,300.00
46,030.000
460,300.00
9,058.576
90,585.76
10,941.112
109,411.12
(458.576)
8,600.000

(4,585.76)
86,000.00

(1,882.536)
9,058.576

(18,825.36)
90,585.76

8.10.4 Growth – Auto Earnings Payout Option
Number of Units Amount (Rs) Number of Units Amount (Rs)
As on
As on
As on
As on
March 31, 2014 March 31, 2014 March 31, 2013 March 31, 2013
Initial Capital
415,034.300
4,150,343.00
415,034.300
4,150,343.00
12,948.810
129,488.10
Opening Balance
14,693.547
146,935.47
Units Sold during the year
162.070
1,620.70
Units Repurchased
(798.225)
(7,982.25)
during the year
(1,906.807)
(19,068.07)
12,150.585
121,505.85
Closing Balance
12,948.810
129,488.10
8.10.5

Growth Option - Direct
Number of Units Amount (Rs)
As on
As on

Number of Units
As on

Amount (Rs)
As on
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Initial Capital
Opening Balance
Units Sold during the year
Units Repurchased during
the year
Closing Balance

March 31, 2014 March 31, 2014 March 31, 2013 March 31, 2013
13,104.140
131,041.40
17,971.648
179,716.48
13,169.508
131,695.08
(11,926.572)
19,149.216

(119,265.72)
191,492.16

(65.368)
13,104.140

(653.68)
131,041.40

8.10.6

Dividend Option - Direct
Number of Units Amount (Rs) Number of Units Amount (Rs)
As on
As on
As on
As on
March 31, 2014 March 31, 2014 March 31, 2013 March 31, 2013
Initial Capital
Opening Balance
10,973.101
109,731.01
Units Sold during the year
35,689.718
356,897.18
10,973.101
109,731.01
Units Repurchased during
the year
(25,462.280)
(254,622.80)
Closing Balance
21,200.539
212,005.39
10,973.101
109,731.01
8.10.7

Bonus Option - Direct
Number of Units
As on
March 31, 2014

Initial Capital
Opening Balance
Units Sold during the year
Units Repurchased during
the year
Closing Balance

286.433
286.433

Amount Number of Units Amount (Rs)
(Rs)
As on
As on
As on
March 31, March 31, 2013 March 31, 2013
2014
2,864.33
2,864.33

-

-

8.11 The Scheme has declared nil dividends during the year ended March 31, 2014(PY: Nil).
There was no Bonus declared during the year ended March 31, 2014. (PY: Nil)
8.12 Unclaimed Amounts ( beyond three months):
Unclaimed Dividend and Redemption amounts as on March 31, 2014 are as below:
Scheme Name
No of
Unclaimed
No of
Unclaimed
Investors
Dividend (Rs)
Investors
Redemption (Rs)
Sahara Midcap Fund
690
771,096.13
81
364,394.45
8.13 Investments made by the Schemes of Sahara Mutual Fund in Companies or their
subsidiaries that have invested more than 5% of the net asset value of any scheme, pursuant
to Regulation 25(11):NIL
8.14 Portfolio Statement as on March 31, 2014
Name of the Instrument

ISIN

Quantity

Market
Value
(Rs. in
Lakhs)

% to
NAV

% to
Category
Total

1) Equity & Equity Related
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(a) Listed/awaiting Listing on Stock
Exchange
EQUITY SHARES
PHARMACEUTICALS
TORRENT PHARMACEUTICALS LTD

INE685A01028

3500

18.35

MARKSANS PHARMA LTD

INE750C01026

80000

19.12

IPCA LABORATORIES LTD

INE571A01020

3000

25.35

GLENMARK PHARMACEUTICALS LTD

INE935A01035

3000

16.96

DISHMAN PHARMACEUTICALS LTD.

INE353G01020

18000

15.12

BIOCON LTD.

INE376G01013

5000

21.22

BANKS
THE FEDERAL BANK LIMITED

INE171A01029

16000

15.32

DENA BANK

INE077A01010

30000

18.15

DCB BANK LIMITED

INE503A01015

33000

20.21

BANK OF BARODA

INE028A01013

2400

17.30

ALLAHABAD BANK

INE428A01015

20000

18.18

CONSUMER NON DURABLES
NESTLE INDIA LIMITED

INE239A01016

500

25.14

DCM SHRIRAM LIMITED

INE499A01024

25000

23.06

COLGATE-PALMOLIVE (INDIA) LTD

INE259A01022

1900

26.08

SOFTWARE
PERSISTENT SYSTEMS LTD.

INE262H01013

1700

17.84

NIIT TECHNOLOGIES LTD

INE591G01017

5000

20.13

INFOTECH ENTERPRISES LTD

INE136B01020

5000

16.29

POWER
PTC INDIA LTD

INE877F01012

40000

27.12

CESC LTD

INE486A01013

4650

23.31

CONSUMER DURABLES
BATA INDIA LTD

INE176A01010

2500

28.52

BAJAJ ELECTRICALS LTD

INE193E01025

7400

21.50

INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS
SUPREME INDUSTRIES LTD.

INE195A01028

4500

22.61

BHARAT FORGE LTD

INE465A01025

6000

25.31

INDUSTRIAL CAPITAL GOODS
SCHNEIDER ELECTRIC
INFRASTRUCTURE LIMITED

INE839M01018

17000

13.65

13.82

10.48

10.61

8.73

8.84

6.38

6.46

5.93

6.00

5.88

5.95

5.63

5.70

4.93

4.99

14.67
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CROMPTON GREAVES LTD

INE067A01029

17000

27.27

SERVICES
TALWALKARS BETTER VALUE
FITNESS LTD

INE502K01016

13000

20.96

ADITYA BIRLA NUVO (INDIAN RAYON)

INE069A01017

1600

17.46

CONSTRUCTION PROJECT
VOLTAS LTD.

INE226A01021

22000

PRICOL LTD.

INE605A01026

60000

16.11

JK TYRES & INDUSTRIES LTD

INE573A01034

9500

16.85

TELECOM - SERVICES
INE151A01013

10000

INE203G01019

9000

INE494B01023

25000

INE034A01011

12000

INE092A01019

6200

INE053A01029

23000

INE628A01036

9000

INE623B01027

20000

INE347A01017

12027

INE294A01037

95000

(b) Unlisted
Equity Total (a+b)

INE038F01029

2.89

2.45

2.48

2.09

2.12

1.97

1.99

1.95

1.97

1.93

1.95

1.74

1.76

1.46

1.48

1.39

1.41

12.45

MEDIA & ENTERTAINMENT
T.V. TODAY NETWORK LTD

2.85

14.81

PAPER
BALLARPUR INDUSTRIES LTD

3.20

16.45

CEMENT
MANGALAM CEMENT LTD

3.16

16.60

RETAILING
FUTURE RETAIL LIMITED

3.66

16.72

PESTICIDES
UPL LIMITED

3.61

17.81

HOTELS
INDIAN HOTELS CO LTD

3.92

20.87

CHEMICALS
TATA CHEMICALS LTD

3.87

24.28

TEXTILE PRODUCTS
ARVIND LTD

4.21

26.91

AUTO
TVS MOTOR COMPANY LTD

4.16

30.71

GAS
INDRAPRASTHA GAS LTD

4.58

35.40

AUTO ANCILLARIES

TATA COMMUNICATIONS LTD

4.52

10000

11.83

Nil

Nil

0

Nil

689,377

840.32

98.76

100.00
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2) Debt Instruments
(a) Listed/awaiting Listing on Stock
Exchange

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

(b) Privately Placed/Unlisted

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

(c) Securitised Debt

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

3) Money Market Instruments

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

4) Short Term Deposit

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

5) Other- Net Current Assets

Nil

10.54

1.24

100.00

689,377

850.86

100.00

100.00

Grand Total
8.15

Investments made by the Scheme in shares of Group Companies of the Sponsor – NIL.

8.16

Holdings over 25% of the NAV of the scheme as of March 31, 2014:
Particulars
Number of Investors
Percentage of Holdings

As on March 31, 2014
NIL
N/A

As on March 31, 2013
NIL
N/A

8.17 Contingent Liability: Nil
8.18 Previous year figures have been reclassified / regrouped wherever necessary to conform to the
current year’s classification.
As per our attached report of even date
For Chaturvedi & Co
Chartered Accountants
Firm Regn. No.:- 302137E

For Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Ltd

For Sahara Mutual Fund

S.N.Chaturvedi
Partner
Mem.No: 040479

C.Kamdar
Director

R M Joshi
Director

S R Hegde
Trustee

Naresh Kumar Garg
Chief Executive Officer

A.N.Sridhar
Fund Manager

Place: Mumbai
Date: 6th June 2014

A K Thakur
Trustee

Vidya Manjrekar
Head- Operations & NAV Accounting
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Trustees of Sahara Mutual Fund
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Sahara Mutual Fund – Sahara Wealthplus
Fund (“the Scheme”), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2014, and the Revenue
Account for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Trustees of Sahara Mutual Fund and the Management of Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Limited (the “Management”) are responsible for the preparation of these financial statements that
give a true and fair view of the financial position and financial performance of the Scheme in accordance
with the accounting policies and standards specified in the Ninth Schedule of the Securities and
Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996 and amendments thereto, as applicable. This
responsibility includes the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the
preparation and presentation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Scheme’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Scheme’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the
financial statements give the information required by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual
Funds) Regulations, 1996 and amendments thereto, as applicable, in the manner so required and give a
true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India:
(a) in the case of the Balance Sheet, of the state of affairs of the Scheme as at March 31, 2014;
(b) in the case of the Revenue Account, of the surplus for the year ended on that date.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
As required by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996 and
amendments thereto, as applicable, we report that:
a)

We have obtained all the information and explanations, which to the best of our knowledge and
belief were necessary for the purpose of our audit.
b) The statement of account has been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies and
standards specified in the Ninth Schedule of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual
Funds) Regulations, 1996 and amendments thereto, as applicable.
c) We have reviewed the Valuation Policy being followed for the schemes of Sahara Mutual Fund. The
Valuation Policy implemented for the scheme is in line with the SEBI guidelines issued in this regard.

For Chaturvedi & Co
Chartered Accountants
(Firm’s Registration No. 302137E)

(SN Chaturvedi)
(Partner)
Mem. No. 040479
Place: Mumbai
TH
Date: 6 June 2014
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BALANCE SHEET AS AT MARCH 31, 2014
As at
SAHARA WEALTH PLUS FUND
Schedule
March 31,
2014
ASSETS
(Rs)
Investments
1
97,234,660
Other Current Assets
2
12,449,327
Total Assets
109,683,987
LIABILITIES
Unit Capital
Reserves & Surplus
Current Liabilities & Provisions
Total Liabilities

3
4
5

43,249,493
60,433,329
6,001,165
109,683,987

48,591,714
40,556,195
1,844,852
90,992,761

19.0911
26.8015
20.7828
28.6674
19.1485
26.9234
20.8517
28.7581

14.8422
20.8354
16.0073
22.0766
14.8530
20.8490
16.0217
22.0893

NET ASSET VALUE
Net Asset Value per unit (Rs.)
Fixed Pricing - Dividend Plan
Fixed Pricing - Growth Plan
Variable Pricing - Dividend Plan
Variable Pricing - Growth Plan
Fixed Pricing - Direct Dividend Plan
Fixed Pricing - Direct Growth Plan
Variable Pricing - Direct Dividend Plan
Variable Pricing - Direct Growth Plan
Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to the
Accounts

As at
March 31,
2013
(Rs)
81,267,008
9,725,753
90,992,761

8

Schedules 1 to 5 and 8 form an integral part of the
Balance Sheet
As per our attached report of even date
For Chaturvedi & Co
For Sahara Asset Management Company
Chartered Accountants
Private Ltd
Firm Regn. No.:- 302137E
S.N.Chaturvedi
Partner
Mem.No: 040479

Place: Mumbai
Date: 6th June 2014

C.Kamdar
Director

R M Joshi
Director

Naresh Kumar Garg
Chief Executive Officer

A.N.Sridhar
Fund Manager

For Sahara Mutual Fund

S R Hegde
Trustee

A K Thakur
Trustee

Vidya Manjrekar
Head- Operations & NAV Accounting
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REVENUE ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2014

SAHARA WEALTH PLUS FUND

Schedule

For the year
ended March 31,
2014

For the year
ended March 31,
2013

(Rs)

(Rs)

INCOME
Dividend Income

1,233,810

1,656,061

534,398

474,407

14,366,549

2,041,911

16,134,757

4,172,379

518,332

556,734

St on Management Fees

64,066

32,132

Investor Education & Awareness Fees

18,855

10,449

-

8,934

Registrar & Transfer Agent Charges

384,557

252,241

Custodian Fees

235,585

170,994

Fees & Expenses of Trustees

179,479

178,732

Statutory Audit Fees

104,413

82,174

Internal Audit Fees

179,708

150,186

Insurance

42,599

32,271

Costs related to Investor Communication

91,970

126,000

Transaction cost
Marketing & Selling Exps. Including agents
commission

60,893

54,131

66,515

292,685

1,946,972

1,947,663

14,187,785

2,224,716

-

(8,754,327)

2,451,964
(11,687,555)

6,116,828
(15,001,470)

4,952,194

(15,414,253)

Interest Income

6

Profit on Sale / Redemption of Investments Net)
(Other than Inter Scheme Transfer / Sale)
Total Income
EXPENSES & LOSSES
Management Fees

STT on Equity Transactions

Total Expenses
Net Surplus for the Year (excluding unrealised
appreciation)
Dividend paid including dividend distribution tax
Provision / Write back for dimunition in value of
investments
Transfer from Income Equalisation Reserve
Net Surplus transferred to Revenue Reserve

7
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Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to the
accounts
Schedules 6 to 8 form an integral part of the
Revenue Account

8

As per our attached report of even date
For Chaturvedi & Co
Chartered Accountants
Firm Regn. No.:- 302137E

For Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Ltd

For Sahara Mutual Fund

S.N.Chaturvedi
Partner
Mem.No: 040479

C.Kamdar
Director

R M Joshi
Director

S R Hegde
Trustee

Naresh Kumar Garg
Chief Executive Officer

A.N.Sridhar
Fund Manager

Place: Mumbai
Date: 6th June 2014

A K Thakur
Trustee

Vidya Manjrekar
Head- Operations & NAV Accounting
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SCHEDULES FORMING PART OF THE BALANCE SHEET
As at
SAHARA WEALTH PLUS FUND
March 31,
2014
(Rs)

As at
March 31,
2013
(Rs)

SCHEDULE 1
Investments
(Refer Note 8.14 of Schedule 8 for
detailed Portfolio statement)
Equity Shares

SCHEDULE 2
Other Current Assets
Balances with Banks in Current accounts
Reverse Repo arrangements
Outstanding and accrued income
Investment - Liquid MF Units for
Dividend
Contracts for Sale of Investments
Collatorised Borrowing
Other Receivables

SCHEDULE 3
Unit Capital
Fixed Plan Dividend

97,234,660
97,234,660

81,267,008
81,267,008

1,908,967
1,400,637
7,180

656,346
7,552,631
49,105

2,016,889
3,122,709
3,992,944
1
12,449,327

1,467,669
1
9,725,753

4,980,274

6,823,684

2,088,758

2,557,171

18,862,476

20,949,724

16,604,968

17,846,120

Fixed Pricing - Dividend Option
498027.4740 units of Rs.10 each
(For 2012-2013 - 682368.4300 units of
Rs.10 each
Fixed Plan Growth
Fixed Pricing - Growth Option
208875.8380 units of Rs.10 each
(For 2012-2013 - 255717.065
Rs.10 each
Variable Plan Dividend

units of

Variable Pricing - Dividend Option
1886247.638 units of Rs.10 each
(For 2012-2013 - 2094972.378 units of
Rs.10 each
Variable Plan Growth
Variable Pricing - Growth Option
1660496.7500 units of Rs.10 each
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(For 2012-2013 - 1784611.972 units of
Rs.10 each
Fixed Plan Direct Dividend

37,684

61,108

80,328

7,968

286,398

185,352

308,607

160,587

43,249,493

48,591,714

Fixed Pricing - Direct Dividend Option
3768.4290 units of Rs.10 each
(For 2012-2013 - 6110.846 units of
Rs.10 each
Fixed Plan Direct Growth
Fixed Pricing - Direct Growth Option
8032.7590 units of Rs.10 each
(For 2012-2013 - 796.791 units of Rs.10
each
Variable Plan Dividend
Variable Pricing - Direct Dividend Option
28639.8200 units of Rs.10 each
(For 2012-2013 - 18535.238 units of
Rs.10 each
Variable Plan Growth
Variable Pricing - Direct Growth Option
30860.6660 units of Rs.10 each
(For 2012-2013 - 16058.709 units of
Rs.10 each
Total
(Refer Note 8.10 of Schedule 8)
SCHEDULE 4
Reserves and Surplus
Revenue Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year
Transferred from Revenue Account
Balance as at end of the year
Income Equalisation Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year
Additions During the year
Transferred to Revenue Account
Balance as at end of the year

105,294,381
4,952,194

120,708,634
(15,414,253)
110,246,575

-

105,294,381

-

(11,687,555)

(15,001,470)

11,687,555

15,001,470
-

-

Unrealised Appreciation Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year
Additions During the year
Balance as at end of the year

7,072,005
8,334,437

7,289,497
(217,493)
15,406,442

7,072,005

Unit Premium Reserve
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Balance as at beginning of the year
Additions During the year
Balance as at end of the year

SCHEDULE 5
Current Liabilities and Provisions
Sundry Creditors
Management Fees Payable
ST on Management Fees
Contract for purchase of Investments
Payable on redemption of units
Payable on Switches
STT Payable
Payable - Fee on Investor Education
Payable - Transaction Fees
Distribution Payable

SCHEDULES FORMING PART OF THE
REVENUE ACCOUNT
SCHEDULE 6
Interest & Discount Income
Reverse Repo
CBLO
Net Income from Exit Loads

(71,810,189)

(79,656,585)

6,590,501

7,846,396
(65,219,688)
60,433,329

(71,810,189)
40,556,195

208,575
9,061
1,120
3,656,205
896,221
17,175
18
20,134
25
1,192,631
6,001,165

303,718
8,723
1,078
918,693
30
9,982
425
602,204
1,844,852

As at March
31, 2014

As at March
31, 2013

(Rs)
466,275
57,084
11,039
534,398

(Rs)
456,904
15,573
1930
474,407

(2,635,685)
(183,721)
2,451,964

(8,752,513)
(2,635,685)
6,116,828

SCHEDULE 7
Provision / Write back for dimunition
in value of Investments
At the beginning of the year
At the end of the year

112

Sahara Mutual Fund – Annual Report 13-14.

PERSPECTIVE HISTORICAL PER UNIT STATISTICS
As at
As at
SAHARA WEALTH PLUS FUND
31-Mar-14 31-Mar-13
Particulars
(Rs. Per
(Rs. Per
Unit)
Unit)

As at
31-Mar-12
(Rs. Per
Unit)

(a) Gross Income
(i) Income other than Profit on sale of Investments
(ii) Income from Profit (net of loss) on inter-scheme sales/
transfer of Investments
(iii) Income from Profit (net of Loss) on sale other than Inter
scheme

0.41

0.44

0.42

0.00

0.00

0.00

3.32

0.42

-0.74

(iv) Transfer to revenue account from past year'
s reserve

0.00

0.00

0.00

(b) Aggregate of expenses, write off, amortisation and
charges

0.45

0.40

0.36

(c) Net Income

3.28

0.46

-0.67

(d) Net unrealised appreciation/(dimunition) in value of
Investments

3.52

0.91

-0.25

Fixed Pricing - Dividend Plan

19.0911

14.8422

16.3019

Fixed Pricing - Growth Plan

26.8015

20.8354

19.6804

Variable Pricing - Dividend Plan

20.7828

16.0073

17.2426

Variable Pricing - Growth Plan

28.6674

22.0766

20.6572

Fixed Pricing - Direct Dividend Plan

19.1485

14.8530

-

Fixed Pricing - Direct Growth Plan

26.9234

20.8490

-

Variable Pricing - Direct Dividend Plan

20.8517

16.0217

-

Variable Pricing - Direct Growth Plan

28.7581

22.0893

-

Fixed Pricing - Dividend Plan

18.9002

19.0364

17.7735

Fixed Pricing - Growth Plan

26.5335

22.9810

21.4570

Variable Pricing - Dividend Plan

20.5750

20.2730

18.6914

Variable Pricing - Growth Plan

28.3807

24.2878

22.3930

Fixed Pricing - Direct Dividend Plan

18.9570

19.1128

-

Fixed Pricing - Direct Growth Plan

26.6542

23.0732

-

Variable Pricing - Direct Dividend Plan

20.6432

20.3532

-

Variable Pricing - Direct Growth Plan

28.4705

24.4397

-

(e) Net Asset Value

(f) Repurchase Price during the year**
(i) Highest
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(ii) Lowest
Fixed Pricing - Dividend Plan

14.4025

14.4915

14.1048

Fixed Pricing - Growth Plan

20.2178

18.3666

17.0280

Variable Pricing - Dividend Plan

15.5708

15.6266

14.8836

Variable Pricing - Growth Plan

21.4747

19.3052

17.8311

Fixed Pricing - Direct Dividend Plan

14.4239

14.5015

-

Fixed Pricing - Direct Growth Plan

20.2784

20.3557

-

Variable Pricing - Direct Dividend Plan

15.5858

15.6400

-

Variable Pricing - Direct Growth Plan

21.4883

21.5632

-

Fixed Pricing - Dividend Plan

19.0911

19.6613

17.9530

Fixed Pricing - Growth Plan

26.8015

23.7354

21.6737

Variable Pricing - Dividend Plan

20.7828

20.9386

18.8802

Variable Pricing - Growth Plan

28.6674

25.0851

23.6192

Fixed Pricing - Direct Dividend Plan

19.1485

19.2287

-

Fixed Pricing - Direct Growth Plan

26.9234

23.2131

-

Variable Pricing - Direct Dividend Plan

20.8517

20.4778

-

Variable Pricing - Direct Growth Plan

28.7581

24.5333

-

Fixed Pricing - Dividend Plan

14.5480

14.9673

14.2473

Fixed Pricing - Growth Plan

20.4220

18.9695

17.2000

Variable Pricing - Dividend Plan

15.7281

16.1395

15.0339

Variable Pricing - Growth Plan

21.6916

19.9390

18.0112

Fixed Pricing - Direct Dividend Plan

14.5696

14.6480

-

Fixed Pricing - Direct Growth Plan

20.4832

20.5613

-

Variable Pricing - Direct Dividend Plan

15.7432

15.7980

-

Variable Pricing - Direct Growth Plan
(h) Ratio of expenses to average daily net assets by
Percentage

21.7054

21.7810

-

2.06%

1.86%

1.81%

(i) Ratio of income to average daily net assets by Percentage

33.24%

8.21%

-2.88%

(g) Resale Price during the year**
(i) Highest

(ii) Lowest

(excluding transfer to revenue account from past year'
s
reserve but including net change in unrealized appreciation /
depreciation in value of Investments and adjusted for net loss
on sale / redemption of investments)
*Annualized
**Based on the maximum load during the year
Per unit calculations based on number of units in issue at the end of the period
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SCHEDULE - 8
ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES FORMING PART OF ACCOUNTS FOR THE PERIOD ENDED
MARCH 31, 2014.
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1 About the Scheme
Sahara Wealth Plus Fund (the “Scheme”) is an open ended growth scheme of Sahara Mutual Fund (the
“Fund”). The objective is to invest in equity and equity related instruments of companies that would be
wealth builders in the long run. In line with SEBI Circular for providing separate options for direct
investments , the scheme has now Eight options (i) Fixed Pricing- Growth Option (ii) Fixed Pricing Dividend Option (iii) Fixed Pricing -Growth Option – Direct and (iv) Fixed Pricing - Dividend Option –
Direct. v)Variable Pricing- Growth Option (vi)Variable- Pricing - Dividend Option (vii) Variable Pricing Growth Option – Direct and Variable Pricing - Dividend Option – Direct.
The scheme will not declare dividend under the Growth Plan. The Income earned on such units will
remain invested under the scheme and will be reflected in the Net Asset Value. The initial issue period of
the scheme was from July 4, 2005 to August 9, 2005 and the scheme was reopen for continuous
purchase and redemption at prevailing NAV from September 6, 2005.
1.2 Asset Management Company
Sahara Mutual Fund (SMF) has been established as a Trust in accordance with the Indian Trusts Act,
1882, and is sponsored by Sahara India Financial Corporation Limited.
Sahara Asset Management Company Private Limited (“SAMCPL”), a company incorporated under the
Companies Act, 1956, has been appointed as the Asset Management Company (“Investment Manager”)
to Sahara Mutual Fund.
The shareholding of Sahara Asset Management Company Private Limited as on March 31, 2014 is as
follows:
Name of the Shareholder
Sahara India Financial Corporation Limited
Sahara India Corp Investment Limited
Sahara Prime City Limited
(formerly Sahara India Investment Corporation Limited )
Sahara Care Limited
Name of the Shareholder
Sahara India Commercial Corporation Ltd
Sahara Care Ltd

Type of
Holdings
Equity
Equity
Equity

Holding

Equity

31.68%

Type of
Holdings
Preference
Preference

Holding

45.60%
11.36%
11.36%

90.32 %
9.68 %

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1. Basis of Accounting
The Scheme maintains its books of account on an accrual basis. These financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the Accounting Policies and Standards specified in the Ninth Schedule of
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The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996, (the “Regulation”), and
amendments thereto, as applicable.
2.2. Accounting for Investments
2.2.1 Investments are accounted on trade dates at cost including brokerage, stamp duty and
other charges.
2.2.2 Profit or loss on sale of investments is determined on the respective trade date by
adopting the “Weighted Average Cost” method.
2.2.3 Bonus/Rights entitlements on equity holdings are recognized only when the original
shares on which the entitlement accrues are traded on the principal stock exchange on
ex-bonus/ex-rights basis respectively.
2.2.4 Primary Market Investments are recognized on the basis of allotment advice.
2.3. Valuation of Investments
Valuation Policy as on 31.03.2014 is as under
VALUATION OF EQUITY INSTRUMENTS
VALUATION POLICY / PROCEDURES - EQUITY & EQUITY RELATED SECURITIES
1. Traded Equity Securities
A security would be treated as ‘Traded’ if it is traded on the “Designated Stock Exchanges” namely,
National Stock Exchange (NSE), or/and Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) or/and MCX Stock
Exchange, within a period of 30 days (including the date of valuation). The order in which the three
designated exchanges would be used for the purposes of valuation would always remain as NSE,
BSE and MCX. The price for valuation would be the last quoted closing price on the valuation date. If
the equity security is not traded on the valuation date in NSE, then BSE price would be considered
and if BSE is not available MCX Stock Exchange price would be considered for valuation.
The principal “Designated” stock exchange for valuation of equity security would be NSE. When an
equity security is not traded on the valuation date on any of the “Designated Stock Exchanges”, then
the closing price of the earliest previous date shall be used for valuation provided such date is within
a period of 30 days (including the date of valuation).
2. Thinly Traded Securities
"When trading in an equity/equity related security (such as convertible debentures, equity warrants,
etc.) in a month is both less than Rs.5 lakhs and the total volume is less than 50,000 shares, it shall
be considered as a thinly traded security and valued accordingly". In order to determine whether a
security is thinly traded or not, the volumes traded in all “designated” stock exchanges shall taken into
account.
3. Non-traded / Suspended / Unlisted Equity Securities
When a security (other than Government Securities) is not traded on any stock exchange for a period
of thirty days prior to the valuation date, the scrip would be considered as a Non-Traded security. This
would include at least four categories:

i. Shares remaining non-traded for more than 30 days in all the “Designated Stock Exchanges”
ii. Shares that are suspended from trading in all the “Designated Stock Exchanges” due to any
reason

iii. Shares remaining unlisted for more than 30 days from the date of closure of any public issue
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iv. Shares issued by way of corporate actions by companies and remaining unlisted for more
than 30 days from the ex-date of the respective corporate action.

The valuation methodology for the above four categories, until the date of listing, would be as follows:
a) Based on the latest available Balance Sheet, net worth would be calculated as follows:
(i)
(ii)

Net Worth per share = [share capital+ reserves (excluding revaluation reserves) – Misc.
expenditure and Debit Balance in P&L A/c] Divided by No. of Paid up Shares.
Average capitalization rate (P/E ratio) for the industry based upon NSE prices or BSE
prices and discounted by 75% i.e. only 25% of the Industry average P/E would be taken
as capitalization rate (P/E ratio). Earnings Per Share (EPS) of the latest audited annual
accounts would be considered for this purpose.

b) The value as per the net worth value per share (i) and the capital earning value (ii) calculated as
above would be averaged and further discounted by 10%(15% for Unlisted) for ill-liquidity so as
to arrive at the fair value per share.
c) In case the EPS is negative, EPS value for that year would be taken as zero for arriving at
capitalized earning.
d) In case where the latest Balance Sheet of the company is not available within nine months from
the close of the year, unless the accounting year is changed, the shares of such companies
would be valued at zero.
e) In case an individual security accounts for more than 5% of the total assets of the scheme, then
an Independent Valuer shall be appointed for the valuation of the said security.
4. Demerger/ Spin-Off/Carve-Out/Divestiture etc.
Generally on any of the above corporate actions, a currently listed security in the portfolio gets bifurcated
into securities of two or more entities (Demerger/ Spin-Off/Carve-Out/Divestiture etc.)
The valuation of the shares of these entities would be as under.
1. In case shares of all entities post the corporate action are traded on the “Designated Stock
Exchanges”, the closing traded price would be used for valuation purpose.
2. In case one or all of the entities post the corporate action, are not traded, then it would be ensured
that:
a. Listed entity would be valued at the closing price
b. Unlisted entity would be valued = Value of combined entity(s) immediately prior to corporate action –
Value of listed entity immediately prior to corporate action AND this valuation of the unlisted entity
would be persisted till the entity gets listed. However, if the entity remains unlisted for a period of 30
days (including the valuation date) from the date of the corporate action, it would be valued as per
the valuation rules applicable for a non-traded security.
5. Warrants
a. In respect of warrants to subscribe for shares attached to instruments, the warrants would be valued at
the value of the share which would be obtained on exercise of the warrants as reduced by the amount
which would be payable on exercise of the warrant. A discount similar to the discount to be determined in
respect on convertible debentures shall be deducted to account for the period, which must elapse before
the warrant can be exercised.
b. In case the warrants are traded separately they would be valued as per the valuation guidelines
applicable to Equity Shares.
6. Rights
Until they are traded, the value of "rights" shares would be calculated as:
Vr = n ÷ m x (Pex - Pof)
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Where
Vr = Value of rights
n = no. of rights offered
m = no. of original shares held
Pex = Ex-rights price
Pof = Rights Offer Price
Where the rights are not treated pari passu with the existing shares, suitable adjustment would be made
to the value of rights. Where it is decided not to subscribe for the rights but to renounce them and
renunciations are being traded, the rights would be valued at the renunciation value.
7. Derivatives
Market values of traded open futures and option contracts would be determined with respect to the
exchange on which contracted originally, i.e., a future or an option contracted on the National Stock
Exchange (NSE) would be valued at the closing price on the NSE.
The price of the same futures and option contract on the Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) cannot be
considered for the purpose of valuation, unless the futures or option itself has been contracted on the
BSE.
The same will be valued at closing price if the contract is traded on the valuation day. In case there is no
trade on valuation day then the same would be valued at Settlement prices.
However, the contracts which are going to expire on valuation date would be valued at Settlement prices
only.
Related matters
I.

In case of any other instruments not mentioned above and not covered in the policy above,
the same shall be referred to the Investment and Valuation Committee which is empowered
to take decision.

II.

In case of any perceived conflict of interest while valuing the securities, the matter shall be
dealt and decided by Investment and Valuation Committee.

III.

For non– business day the Valuation shall be done on aggregated Scrip wise prices as
provided by CRISIL/ICRA. In absence of Scrip wise prices the valuation shall be done on
accrual basis/amortization basis based on last valuation.

IV.

In case of exceptional circumstances like, exceptional policy announcements by
government/regulatory bodies, natural disasters, public disturbances, extreme volatility in
capital market, shut down of market, war etc and on those days if scrip- wise value or
valuation matrices are not available from CRISIL/ICRA and if security is not traded, the
valuation for the day shall be done based on last valuation plus accrual/amortization or as
may decided by the Investment and Valuation Committee.

V.

The Valuation Policy shall be reviewed by the Statutory Auditor at least once in a year.

VI.

Valuation Policy and Procedures as updated and approved by the Board of AMC /
Board of Trustees shall be applicable for the schemes of Sahara Mutual Fund
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VALUATION OF DEBT INSTRUMENTS
(I) - The Valuation Policy of Debt and Money Market Instruments is given below:
Sr.
No.

Instrument
CBLO, REPO, Fixed Deposit, Call Money , etc and
such Similar Instruments

1

2

Certificate of Deposit (CD), Commercial Paper (CP),
Non-Convertible Debenture (NCD) Pass Through
Certificate (PTC), Bonds, etc. where Scrip wise
values are available from CRISIL/ ICRA
(Over 60 days residual maturity)

3

Certificate of Deposit (CD), Commercial Paper (CP),
Non-Convertible Debenture (NCD) Pass Through
Certificate (PTC), Bonds, etc where Scrip wise
values are not available from CRISIL/ ICRA
(Upto 60 days residual maturity)

On Amortization basis / Accrual basis.
The aggregated price provided by
CRISIL / ICRA for the given
security or any other agencies
entrusted by SEBI from time to
time for that day

i)

Same security traded and reported on
public platforms.

On Weighted Average Yield of all trades
(excluding abnormal and retail trades)
on Public platforms, for that Securities
on that day irrespective of settlement
day .

ii)

If Same Security not traded and reported
on any of the public platforms.

The aggregated matrices of CRISIL/
ICRA for the respective category or any
other agencies entrusted by SEBI from
time to time for that day.

Central Government Securities / State Government
Securities / Treasury Bills/Cash Management Bill etc

4

Valuation applicable on the day of
valuation

Aggregated valuation as provided by
CRISIL/ ICRA or any other agencies
entrusted by SEBI from time to time for
that day.

(II) Pricing of Inter -Scheme Transfer of Debt Instruments (ISTs):
Sr.
No.

1.

Instrument

Valuation applicable on the day of
valuation

Certificate of Deposit (CD), Commercial Paper
(CP), Non-Convertible Debenture (NCD) Pass
Through Certificate (PTC), Bonds, etc.
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i)

ii)

iii)

2.

Pricing will be based on Weighted Average
Yield of all trades in same security on FTRAC
(Excluding abnormal and retail trades)
irrespective
of
settlement
day
plus
Same security traded and reported on
accrual/amortization, if any, based on
FTRAC up to the time of IST.
settlement day of the IST. Example : If
settlement is T+0 then no accrual/amortization
and if the settlement is other than T+0, then
appropriate accrual/amortization.
Pricing will be based on Weighted Average
Yield of all trades in similar security/securities
on FTRAC (excluding abnormal and retail
If Same security is not traded but similar trades) irrespective of settlement day plus
Security/securities are traded and reported accrual/amortization, if any, based on
up to the time of IST on FTRAC
settlement day of the IST. Example : If
settlement is T+0 then no accrual/amortization
and if the settlement is other than T+0, then
appropriate accrual/amortization
Previous end of the day valuation plus accrual,
if any, based on settlement day of the IST shall
If Same or similar Security/securities are be taken. Example: if settlement is T+0 then no
not traded and reported up to the time of accrual/amortization and if the settlement is
IST on FTRAC
other
than
T+0
then
appropriate
Accrual/amortization.

Central
Government
Securities
/
State
Government Securities / Treasury Bills/ Cash
Management Bill etc

i)

Same security traded and reported on
NDS-OM section of CCIL website.

On last traded price as given on
NDS-Section of CCIL
Website (Excluding abnormal trade).

ii)

Same security not traded and reported on
NDS-OM section of CCIL website

Previous end of the day valuation price plus
accrual/amortization shall be taken

AMC may take screen shot/ downloaded excel file from FTRAC / NDS-OM for the same purpose.
Similar Security:
Similar security here shall mean those securities which are same nature security [Commercial Paper (CP),
Certificate of Deposit (CD), Non-Convertible Debentures (NCD), etc ] of different issuers having same or
equivalent credit rating for Similar maturity profile (For both Short term rating and Long term rating), and falling
in same “Maturity Bucket” as defined below. Further the instruments Commercial Paper (CP), Bonds and NonConvertible Debentures (NCDs) etc are categorized into following sub-categories:—
1.
NBFC
2.
Real Estate,
3.
PTC
4.
Others
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Maturity Bucket:
• For Debt Security having remaining maturity upto 91 days
Maturity date of securities falling between
1st and 7th of the month
8th and 15th of the month
16th and 23rd of the month
24th to end of the month

Time Bucket
1-7 of the same month
8-15 of the same month
16-23 of the same month
24- end of the month

• For Debt Securities having remaining maturities more than 91 days
“Time Bucket”for maturity profile of “Similar Securities” shall be same calendar month of that year.
Notes:
1. For the purpose of Valuation of securities and for Inter Scheme Transfer, Weighted average of all
trades of 5 crs and above, excluding abnormal trades and retail trades shall be taken. Since retail
trades are of small value and generally may deviate materially from the yield at which the market
lots in WDM is traded, it would be appropriate to exclude the retail trades for the more realistic
valuation of the security.
2. Abnormal Trade is defined as those transaction/s which is/are over+/- 250 Basis Point compared
to the previous day valuation yield of the security in question
For the Valuation/Inter-scheme transfer, the available trades of various public platform shall be
considered where the face value of trade per transaction is Rs. 5 crs and above. If in any given
day in same/ similar security, the value of total trade is less than minimum market lot of 5 Crs, the
same shall be ignored for the valuation purpose.
3. CRISIL and ICRA provide the valuation matrices for various maturity bucket. Scrip wise value for
various debt instruments are also provided by CRISIL and ICRA . Trades are also reported and
settled on various public platform.
4. Public platform for the purpose of valuation of security shall mean FIMMDA managed FTRAC,
NSE, BSE, (except NSER- NSE retail and BSER- BSE Retail), RBI managed NDS-OM or any
other Public platform for Debt market launched from time to time. Market trades from different
Platforms are usually collected by BILAV Information LLP, which may be used for the purpose of
Valuation of traded security for which scrip wise values are not available from CRISIL/ICRA
5. The data on yield and prices are generally provided upto 4 decimal point which shall be
considered. Price upto 4 decimal points shall be considered on respective face value of the
instruments for arriving at valuation.
6. For the valuation of traded security where scrip wise values are not available by CRISIL/ICRA,
price derived from (corresponding to) Weighted Average yield of all available trades excluding
abnormal and retail trades on any public platform for the same security on t+1 settlement basis
shall be taken.
In case, on any other day because of technical and other reason, if the Required Bilav file is not
sent by 7.30 PM, FIMMDA managed FTRAC platform and NDS OM section of CCIL website may
be used for the calculation of weighted average yield of traded security for which scrip wise values
are not available .
7. For non traded security where scrip wise values are not available, the valuation shall be done on
the price derived from (corresponding to) the aggregated yield matrices for the respective category
as provided by CRISIL/ICRA on T+1 settlement basis.

121

Sahara Mutual Fund – Annual Report 13-14.

8. For Government Securities, SDL, T-Bills, Cash Management Bill etc, the valuation shall be done
on aggregated script wise pricing as provided by CRISL/ICRA and as applicable for that day.
In the absence of scrip wise values the valuation shall be based on aggregated matrices if
available from CRISIL/ICRA on T+1 settlement and as applicable for that day.
9. In case the valuation matrices/script wise value is available either from CRISIL/ICRA upto
reasonable time limit, the same shall be considered for arriving at valuation

a

10. In case on any given day neither the script wise value nor the valuation Matrices is available from
CRISIL/ICRA within the reasonable time limit, the Valuation shall be done based on
accrual/amortization based on last valuation.
2.3.1 Valuation of Other Investments
Mutual Fund Units:
a. In case of traded Mutual Fund schemes, the units would be valued at closing price on the stock
exchange on which they are traded like equity instruments. In case the units are not traded for more than
7 days, last declared Repurchase Price (the price at which Mutual Fund schemes buys its units back)
would be considered for valuation.
b. If the last available Repurchase price is older than 7 days, the valuation will be done at the last
available NAV reduced by illiquidity discount. The illiquidity discount will be 10% of NAV or as decided by
the Valuation Committee.
c. In case of non-traded Mutual Fund scheme, the last declared Repurchase Price (the price at which Mutual
Fund schemes buys its units back) would be considered for valuation
2.3.2 Valuation of securities not covered under the above valuation policy:
The total exposure in securities, which do not fall under above valuation norms, shall not exceed
5% of the total AUM of the scheme.
In case of any other instruments not mentioned above and not covered in the policy above, the
same shall be referred to the Investment and Valuation Committee which is empowered to take
decision.
Investment in such securities is to be valued by a method approved by the Investment and
Valuation Committee and the same will be reported to the Board of Trustees.
2.3.3 Unrealised Appreciation / Depreciation.
In accordance with the Guidance Note on Accounting for Investments in the Financial Statements
of Mutual Funds issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, the unrealized
appreciation determined separately for each individual investment is directly transferred to the
“Unrealised Appreciation Reserve Account” i.e. without routing it through the revenue account.
The provision for depreciation in value of investments determined separately for each individual
investment is recognized in the revenue account. The loss (realized) on investments sold /
transferred during the year is charged to revenue account, instead of being first adjusted against
the provision for depreciation, if already created in the prior year, as recommended by the said
Guidance Note. However, this departure from the Guidance Note does not have any net impact
on the Scheme’s net assets or results for the year.
2.4

Revenue Recognition
2.4.1
2.4.2

Income and Expenses are recognized on accrual basis.
Interest on funds invested in short term deposits with scheduled commercial banks is
recognized on accrual basis.
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2.4.3

Dividend income earned by the scheme is recognized on the date the share is quoted on
ex-dividend basis on principal stock exchange.
2.4.4 Proportionate realized gains on investments out of sales / repurchase proceeds at the
time of sale / repurchase of units are transferred to revenue Account from Unit Premium
Reserve.
3. Net Asset Value for Growth/Dividend options
The net asset value of the units is determined separately for units issued under the Fixed Pricing
Option & Variable Pricing Option each having sub options Growth , Dividend, Growth –Direct &
Dividend -Direct. For reporting the net asset value of various options, daily income earned, including
realized and unrealized gain or loss in the value of investments and expenses incurred by the
scheme are allocated to the options in proportion to the value of the net assets.
4. Unit Premium Reserve Account
Upon issue and redemption of units, the net premium or discount to the face value of units is adjusted
against the unit premium reserve account of the respective Options / Scheme, after an appropriate of
the issue proceeds and redemption payout is credited or debited respectively to the income
equalization account.
5. Income Equalisation Account
An appropriate part of the sale proceeds or the redemption amount, as the case may be, is
transferred to income equalization account. The total distributable surplus (without considering
unrealized appreciation) upto the date of issue/ redemption of units has been taken into account for
the purpose of ascertaining the amount to be transferred to Equalization Account on a daily basis.
The net balance in this account is transferred to the Revenue Account at the end of the year.
6. Load Charges
The Entry load charges collected, if any are used to meet expenses as per the stipulated SEBI
guidelines from time to time. Service tax on exit load , if any, shall be paid out of the exit load
proceeds and exit load net of service tax, if any, shall be credited to the scheme.
7. Unclaimed Redemption.
In line with SEBI circular no. MFD/CIR/9/120 /2000 dated November 24, 2000, the unclaimed
redemption and dividend amounts may be deployed by the mutual funds in call money market or
money market instruments only and the investors who claim these amounts during a period of three
years from the due date shall be paid at the prevailing Net Asset Value. After a period of three years,
this amount can be transferred to a pool account and the investors can claim the unclaimed
redemption amount at NAV prevailing at the end of the third year. The income earned on such funds
can be used for the purpose of investor education. The AMC should make continuous effort to remind
the investors through letters to take their unclaimed amounts. Further, the investment management
fee charged by the AMC for managing unclaimed amounts shall not exceed 50 basis points.
8.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
8.1 Management Fees, Trusteeship Fees, Custodian Fees
Management Fees
The total Management Fee (inclusive of service tax) has been computed at 0.62 % on average
net assets calculated on a daily basis.
Under the Variable Pricing Option, the AMC fee earned depends on the scheme'
s daily
performance and the same has been computed on average net assets calculated on a daily

123

Sahara Mutual Fund – Annual Report 13-14.
basis.
The IMA fees are charged accordingly, on the basis of whether at least one of the two conditions
is met.
(a) If NPR < Benchmark and NPR < 0 IMA fees = zero
(b) if either NPR > Benchmark or Actual IMA fees = ½
of maximum
NPR > 0
permissible IMA fees
( c) if both NPR > Benchmark and Actual IMA fees = maximum permissible
NPR > 0
IMA fees

•
•
•
•

Net Portfolio Return (NPR) = Gross Portfolio Return(GPR) - Scheme expense
IMA = Investment Management and Advisory fees
GPR = Total Income during the day (Incl Net Appreciation / Depreciation) / Opening Net
Assets*100
Benchmark Return = ((Benchmark Value of today – Benchmark Value of yesterday) /
Benchmark Value of yesterday)*(100*(365/1.25))

Trusteeship Fees & Expenses
th

In accordance with Deed of Trust dated 18 July 1996 between the Settler and the Trustees, the
fund has paid or provided an annual fee of Rs.1,00,000/- per Trustee. Trusteeship fees &
Expenses are allocated to the schemes on the basis of their daily average net assets.
Custodian Charges
HDFC Bank Ltd provides Custodial services for which fees are paid as per the agreement.
8.2 Provision for tax has not been made since the income of the scheme is exempt from tax under
Section 10(23D) of the Income Tax Act, 1961.
8.3 Transactions with Brokers in excess of 5% or more of the aggregate purchases and sale of
securities made by the Fund have been reported to the Trustees on a bimonthly basis.
8.4 Certain investments are registered in the name of the Fund without specific reference to the
Scheme. As at March 31, 2014 the aggregate market value of securities under Sahara Wealth
Plus Fund but held in the name of Sahara Mutual Fund is Rs.14,02,171.19.
8.5 Registrar and Transfer Agent charges amounting to Rs. 3,84,557.00 and Custody Fees
amounting to Rs.2,35,584.92 constitutes 19.75% and 12.10 % respectively of the total
schemes expenses.
8.6 Transactions with Associates
Brokerage / Commission on sale of units by the Scheme or by the Asset Management Company
given to associates, pursuant to Regulation 25(8):
Commission to SIFCL A/c CMSD (Associate) made for sale of units of the MF for the current year
st
ended 31 March 2014
(Rs.In lakhs)
Tax
Growth
Liquid
Mid cap
Wealth
Short Term
Infrastructure
Gain
Fund
Fund
Fund
Plus Fund
Bond
Fund
Fund
0.42
0.13
0.03
0.14
0.02
0.01
0.07
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Star Value
Fund
0.01

Super 20
Fund
0.02

Power and Natural
Resources Fund
0.00

Banking & Financial
Services Fund
0.76

(Rs.in lakhs)
Income Fund
0.01

Commission to SIFCL A/c CMSD (Associate) made for sale of units of the MF for the previous year ended
st
31 March 2013.
(Rs.In lakhs)
Tax Gain
Growth
Liquid
Mid cap
Wealth Plus Short Term Infrastructure
Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund
Bond
Fund
0.01
0.40
0.24
0.04
0.25
0.05
0.11
Star Value
Fund
0.04

Super 20
Fund
0.08

Power and Natural
Resources Fund
0.00

Banking & Financial
Services Fund
0.58

(Rs. in lakhs)
Income Fund
0.00

Commission paid to associates / related parties /group companies of Sponsor/AMC
Name of associate /
related parties / group
companies of Sponsor /
AMC

Nature
of
association /
nature
of
relation

Period
Covered

(1)

Business
given
(Rs cr and % of
total
business
received by the
fund)
(4)

Commission
paid
(Rs & % of total
commission paid
by the fund

(2)
(3)
(5)
Sponsor /
April 13SIFCL A/c CMSD
Mutual Fund
(1.29 & 0.45%)
(Rs.1,60,398.82 ;
March 14
Distributor
13.57% )
Sponsor /
April 12SIFCL A/c CMSD
Mutual Fund
(0.81 & 0.24%)
(Rs.1,80,802.67 ;
March 13
Distributor
8.82% )
In column No 4, the total business received by the fund includes business through ARNs & also direct
business.
In column No 5, the amount includes the upfront and the trail
Brokerage paid to associates / related parties / group companies of Sponsor/AMC
Value
of Brokerage (Rs Cr &
Transaction (in Rs, % of total brokerage
Cr & of Total value paid by the Fund)
of Transaction of
the Fund)
There are no associate brokers, hence not applicable for the period April – Mar 2014 & April – Mar 2013.
Name of associate / related
parties / group companies
of Sponsor / AMC

Nature
of
association /
nature
of
relation

Period
Covered

8.7 Aggregate value of purchases and sales of Investments during the year as a percentage of daily
average net asset value;
Purchases
Year
2013-14
2012-13

Amount ( Rs)
344,251,749
200,492,145

% of Daily Average
364.94
191.18
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Sales
Year
2013-14
2012-13

Amount ( Rs)
349,495,541
225,106,542

% of Daily Average
370.50
214.65

8.8 Aggregate Appreciation and Depreciation in the value of Investments :

31-Mar-14

31-Mar-13

Asset Class

Appreciation
(Rs. In lakhs)

Depreciation
(Rs. In lakhs)

Appreciation
(Rs. In lakhs)

Depreciation
(Rs. In lakhs)

Equity Shares

154.06

1.84

70.72

26.36

8.9 Income and Expense Ratio
Total Income (including net unrealized appreciation and net
of loss on sale of investments) to average net assets
calculated on a daily basis.
Total
Expenditure
(excluding
Deferred
Revenue
Expenditure) to average net assets calculated on a daily
basis
8.10

2013-14

2012-13

33.24%

8.21%

2.06%

1.86%

Movements in Unit Capital: Face Value of Units: Rs.10/- per unit.

8.10.1 Fixed Pricing Option - Growth Option
Number of
Units
Amount (Rs) Number of Units
As on March As on March As on March 31,
31, 2014
31, 2014
2013
1,581,244.089 15,812,440.89 1,581,244.089
Initial Capital
255,717.065 2,557,170.65
Opening Balance
315,715.537
5,426.094
54,260.94
Units Sold during the year
23,326.376
Units Repurchased
(52,267.321) (522,673.21)
during the year
(83,324.848)
208,875.838 2,088,758.38
Closing Balance
255,717.065
8.10.2 Fixed Pricing Option - Growth Option – Direct

Initial Capital
Opening Balance
Units Sold during the
year
Units Repurchased
during the year
Closing Balance

Number of
Units
Amount (Rs) Number of Units
As on March As on March As on March 31,
31, 2014
31, 2014
2013
796.791
7,967.91
-

Amount (Rs)
As on March 31,
2013
15,812,440.89
3,157,155.37
233,263.76
(833,248.48)
2,557,170.65

Amount (Rs)
As on March 31,
2013
-

8,134.657

81,346.57

1,172.156

11,721.56

(898.689)
8,032.759

(8,986.89)
80,327.59

(375.365)
796.791

(3,753.65)
7,967.91
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8.10.3 Fixed Pricing Option - Dividend Option
Number of
Units
Amount (Rs) Number of Units
As on March As on March As on March 31,
31, 2014
31, 2014
2013
2,611,581.056 26,115,810.56
Initial Capital
2,611,581.056
682,368.430 6,823,684.30
Opening Balance
842,570.992
Units Sold during the
2,403.430
24,034.30
year
63,474.533
Units Repurchased
(186,744.386) (1,867,443.86)
(223,677.095)
during the year
498,027.474 4,980,274.74
Closing Balance
682,368.430

Amount (Rs)
As on March
31, 2013
26,115,810.56
8,425,709.92
634,745.33
(2,236,770.95)
6,823,684.30

8.10.4 Fixed Pricing Option - Dividend Option- Direct

Initial Capital
Opening Balance
Units Sold during the
year
Units Repurchased
during the year
Closing Balance

Number of
Units
Amount (Rs) Number of Units
Amount (Rs)
As on March As on March As on March 31, As on March 31,
31, 2014
31, 2014
2013
2013
61,108.46
6,110.846
12,484.215

124,842.15

797,966.634

7,979,666.34

(14,826.632)
3,768.429

(148,266.32)
37,684.29

(791,855.788)
6,110.846

(7,918,557.88)
61,108.46

8.10.5 Variable Pricing Option – Growth Option

Initial Capital
Opening Balance
Units Sold during the
year
Units Repurchased
during the year
Closing Balance

Number of Units Amount (Rs)
As on March 31, As on March
2014
31, 2014
21,486,302.533 214,863,025.33
1,784,611.972 17,846,119.72

Number of Units
Amount (Rs)
As on March 31, As on March 31,
2013
2013
21,486,302.533 214,863,025.33
1,907,652.293 19,076,522.93

65,525.474

655,254.74

39,627.570

396,275.70

(189,640.696)
1,660,496.750

(1,896,406.96)
16,604,967.50

(162,667.891)
1,784,611.972

(1,626,678.91)
17,846,119.72

8.10.6 Variable Pricing Option – Growth Option -Direct

Initial Capital
Opening Balance
Units Sold during the
year
Units Repurchased
during the year
Closing Balance

Number of Units Amount (Rs) Number of Units
As on March 31, As on March As on March 31,
2014
31, 2014
2013
16,058.709
160,587.09
33,617.411

Amount (Rs)
As on March 31,
2013
-

336,174.11

16,739.734

167,397.34

(18,815.454) (188,154.54)
30,860.666
308,606.66

(681.025)
16,058.709

(6,810.25)
160,587.09
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8.10.7 Variable Pricing Option – Dividend Option

Initial Capital
Opening Balance
Units Sold during the
year
Units Repurchased
during the year
Closing Balance

Number of Units
As on March 31,
2014
4,007,989.345
2,094,972.378

Amount (Rs)
As on March
31, 2014
40,079,893.45
20,949,723.78

Number of Units
As on March 31,
2013
4,007,989.345
2,712,744.485

Amount (Rs)
As on March 31,
2013
40,079,893.45
27,127,444.85

77,217.13

98,320.745

983,207.45

(216,446.453) (2,164,464.53)
1,886,247.638 18,862,476.38

(716,092.852)
2,094,972.378

(7,160,928.52)
20,949,723.78

7,721.713

8.10.8 Variable Pricing Option – Dividend Option – Direct
Number of Units Amount (Rs) Number of Units
As on March 31, As on March As on March 31,
2014
31, 2014
2013
Initial Capital
18,535.238
185,352.38
Opening Balance
Units Sold during the
17,852.552
178,525.52
year
25,704.905
Units Repurchased
(7,747.970)
(77,479.70)
during the year
(7,169.667)
28,639.820
286,398.20
Closing Balance
18,535.238

Amount (Rs)
As on March
31, 2013
257,049.05
(71,696.67)
185,352.38

8.11 The scheme has declared Nil dividend during the year ended March 31, 2014
per unit ). No bonus (PY: Nil) was declared during the year ended March 31, 2014.
8.12

(PY: 2.50

Unclaimed Amounts ( beyond three months) :

Unclaimed Dividend and Redemption amounts as of March 31, 2014 are given below:
Scheme Name
Sahara Wealth Plus
Fund

No of
Investors

Unclaimed
Dividend (Rs)

No of
Investors

Unclaimed
Redemption (Rs)

1034

1,163,739.90

95

822,129.71

8.13 Investments made by the Schemes of Sahara Mutual Fund in Companies or their subsidiaries
that have invested more than 5% of the net asset value of any scheme, pursuant to Regulation
25(11):NIL.
8.14

Portfolio Statement as on March 31, 2014

Name of the Instrument

ISIN

Quantity

Market
Value
(Rs. in
Lakhs)

1) Equity & Equity Related
(a) Listed/awaiting Listing on Stock
Exchange
EQUITY SHARES
SOFTWARE
PERSISTENT SYSTEMS LTD.

% to
NAV

12.84
INE262H01013

3000

% to
Category
Total

13.69

31.48
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WIPRO Ltd
TECH MAHINDRA LTD

INE075A01022
INE669C01028

5000
1500

27.16
26.93

INFOSYS LIMITED
TATA CONSULTANCY SERVICES
LTD
PHARMACEUTICALS

INE009A01021

800

26.26

INE467B01029

1000

21.33

BIOCON LTD.
IPCA LABORATORIES LTD
CIPLA LTD
LUPIN LTD
DR.REDDY LABORATORIES LTD
AUTO

INE376G01013
INE571A01020
INE059A01026
INE326A01037
INE089A01023

7500
3000
6000
2000
700

31.83
25.35
22.97
18.66
17.95

TVS MOTOR COMPANY LTD
HERO MOTOCORP LTD
MAHINDRA & MAHINDRA LTD
CONSUMER NON DURABLES

INE494B01023
INE158A01026
INE101A01026

NESTLE INDIA LIMITED
COLGATE-PALMOLIVE (INDIA) LTD

INE239A01016
INE259A01022

600
2000

30.17
27.45

BRITANNIA INDUSTRIES LTD
HINDUSTAN UNILEVER LTD
CONSTRUCTION PROJECT

INE216A01022
INE030A01027

2500
3000

21.09
18.17

VOLTAS LTD.
ENGINEERS INDIA LTD
MINERALS/MINING

INE226A01021
INE510A01028

30000
15000

48.27
33.85

COAL INDIA LTD
NMDC LIMITED
AUTO ANCILLARIES

INE522F01014
INE584A01023

11000
18000

31.76
25.07

BALKRISHNA INDUSTRIES LTD
MOTHERSON SUMI SYSTEMS LTD
CHEMICALS

INE787D01026
INE775A01035

PIDILITE INDUSTRIES LTD.
TATA CHEMICALS LTD
INDUSTRIAL CAPITAL GOODS

INE318A01026
INE092A01019

BEML LTD
THERMAX LTD
INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS

INE258A01016
INE152A01029

SUPREME INDUSTRIES LTD.
BANKS

INE195A01028

PUNJAB NATIONAL BANK
CONSUMER DURABLES

INE160A01014

BATA INDIA LTD
GAS

INE176A01010

2700

30.80

INDRAPRASTHA GAS LTD

INE203G01019

10000

29.90

45000
1600
2000

6000
8000
8000
7000
8800
2500
7000
4500

11.26

12.01

9.62

10.26

9.34

9.96

7.92

8.45

5.48

5.84

4.73

5.04

4.31

4.60

4.28

4.56

3.39

3.61

3.23

3.44

2.97

3.17

2.88

3.07

43.70
36.40
19.61

28.64
20.44
24.56
20.10
25.71
18.71
35.16
33.48
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PETROLEUM PRODUCTS
RELIANCE INDUSTRIES LTD
HOTELS

INE002A01018

3200

INDIAN HOTELS CO LTD
FINANCE

INE053A01029

37500

27.26

BAJAJ FINANCE LIMITED
PESTICIDES

INE296A01016

1400

25.07

UPL LIMITED
MEDIA & ENTERTAINMENT

INE628A01036

SUN TV NETWORK LIMITED

INE424H01027

11500

2.87

3.06

2.63

2.80

2.43

2.59

2.05

2.19

1.55

1.65

29.78

21.21

4000

16.07

(b) Unlisted
Equity Total (a+b)
2) Debt Instruments
(a) Listed/awaiting Listing on Stock
Exchange
(b) Privately Placed/Unlisted

Nil
283,300

Nil
972.35

0
93.78

Nil
100.00

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil

(c) Securitised Debt
3) Money Market Instruments
4) Short Term Deposit
5) Other- Net Current Assets
Grand Total

Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
283,300

Nil
Nil
Nil
64.48
1036.83

Nil
Nil
Nil
6.22
100.00

Nil
Nil
Nil
100.00
100.00

8.15
8.16

Investments made by the Scheme in shares of Group Companies of the Sponsor – Nil
Holdings over 25% of the NAV of the scheme.
Particulars
As on March 31, 2014
As on March 31, 2013
Nil
Number of investors
Nil
Percentage of Holdings
N/A
N/A

8.17 Contingent Liability: Nil
8.18 Previous year figures have been reclassified/regrouped, wherever necessary, to conform to the
current year’s classification.
As per our attached report of even date
For Chaturvedi & Co
Chartered Accountants
Firm Regn. No.:- 302137E

For Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Ltd

For Sahara Mutual Fund

S.N.Chaturvedi
Partner
Mem.No: 040479

C.Kamdar
Director

R M Joshi
Director

S R Hegde
Trustee

Naresh Kumar Garg
Chief Executive Officer

A.N.Sridhar
Fund Manager

Place: Mumbai
Date: 6th June 2014

A K Thakur
Trustee

Vidya Manjrekar
Head- Operations & NAV Accounting
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Trustees of Sahara Mutual Fund
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Sahara Mutual Fund – Sahara Infrastructure
Fund (“the Scheme”), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2014, and the Revenue
Account for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Trustees of Sahara Mutual Fund and the Management of Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Limited (the “Management”) are responsible for the preparation of these financial statements that
give a true and fair view of the financial position and financial performance of the Scheme in accordance
with the accounting policies and standards specified in the Ninth Schedule of the Securities and
Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996 and amendments thereto, as applicable. This
responsibility includes the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the
preparation and presentation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Scheme’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Scheme’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the
financial statements give the information required by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual
Funds) Regulations, 1996 and amendments thereto, as applicable, in the manner so required and give a
true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India:
(a) in the case of the Balance Sheet, of the state of affairs of the Scheme as at March 31, 2014;
(b) in the case of the Revenue Account, of the deficit for the year ended on that date.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
As required by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996 and
amendments thereto, as applicable, we report that:
d) We have obtained all the information and explanations, which to the best of our knowledge and belief
were necessary for the purpose of our audit.
e) The statement of account has been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies and
standards specified in the Ninth Schedule of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual
Funds) Regulations, 1996 and amendments thereto, as applicable.
f) We have reviewed the Valuation Policy being followed for the schemes of Sahara Mutual Fund. The
Valuation Policy implemented for the scheme is in line with the SEBI guidelines issued in this regard.
For Chaturvedi & Co.
Chartered Accountants
(Firm’s Registration No. 302137E)
(SN Chaturvedi)
(Partner)
Mem. No. 040479
Place:Mumbai
th
Date: 6 June 2014
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BALANCE SHEET AS AT MARCH 31, 2014
SAHARA INFRASTRUCTURE FUND

As at
March 31, 2014
(Rs)
46,695,041

As at
March 31, 2013
(Rs)
46,893,629

2

3,406,372
50,101,413

8,206,226
55,099,855

3
4
5

39,242,723
8,291,696
2,566,994
50,101,413

48,916,631
4,654,124
1,529,100
55,099,855

9.9134
13.5605
10.6211
14.4557
9.9405
13.6040
10.6548
14.4999

8.9940
12.3006
9.5443
12.9892
8.9952
12.3080
9.5501
12.9979

Schedule

ASSETS
Investments

1

Other Current Assets
Total Assets
LIABILITIES
Unit Capital
Reserves & Surplus
Current Liabilities & Provisions
Total Liabilities
NET ASSET VALUE
Net Asset Value Per Unit (Rs.)
Fixed Pricing - Dividend Plan
Fixed Pricing - Growth Plan
Variable Pricing - Dividend Plan
Variable Pricing - Growth Plan
Fixed Pricing - Direct Dividend Plan
Fixed Pricing - Direct Growth Plan
Variable Pricing - Direct Dividend Plan
Variable Pricing - Direct Growth Plan
Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to
the accounts

8

Schedules 1 to 5 and 8 form an integral part of the Balance Sheet
As per our attached report of even date
For Chaturvedi & Co
For Sahara Asset Management Company
Chartered Accountants
Private Ltd
Firm Regn. No.:- 302137E
S.N.Chaturvedi
Partner
Mem.No: 040479

Place: Mumbai
Date: 6th June 2014

C.Kamdar
Director

R M Joshi
Director

Naresh Kumar Garg
Chief Executive Officer

A.N.Sridhar
Fund Manager

For Sahara Mutual Fund

S R Hegde
Trustee

A K Thakur
Trustee

Vidya Manjrekar
Head- Operations & NAV Accounting
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REVENUE ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR ENDED March 31, 2014
For the year
For the year
Schedule
ended March
SAHARA INFRASTRUCTURE FUND
ended March
31, 2014
31, 2013
(Rs)
(Rs)
INCOME
Dividend Income
Interest Income

870,133
308,697

1,276,373
275,680

1,178,830

1,552,053

7,967,155

8,378,751

334,695

463,684

41,368

26,598

9,256

6,371

-

4,330

Registrar & Transfer Agent Charges

191,101

161,245

Custodian Fees

115,592

117,958

Fees & Expenses of Trustees

104,470

115,148

Statutory Audit Fees

51,433

55,003

Internal Audit Fees

83,734

92,501

Insurance

19,096

20,442

Costs related to Investor Communication

47,388

94,299

Transaction cost
Marketing & Selling Exps. Including agents
commission

29,663

33,806

19,742

150,780

9,014,693

9,720,916

(7,835,863)

(8,168,863)

7,005,518

3,641,394

Transfer from Income Equalisation Reserve

(112,929)

(1,976,724)

Net Surplus transferred to Revenue Reserve

(943,274)

(6,504,193)

6

Total Income
EXPENSES & LOSSES
Loss on Sale / Redemption of Investments (Net)
(Other than Inter Scheme Transfer / Sale)
Management Fees
ST on Management Fees
Investor Education and Awareness Fees
STT on Equity Transactions

Total Expenses
Net Surplus for the Year (excluding unrealised
appreciation)
Provision/ write back for dimunition in value of
investments

7

134

Sahara Mutual Fund – Annual Report 13-14.

Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to the
accounts

8

Schedules 6 to 8 form an integral part of the Revenue Account
As per our attached report of even date
For Chaturvedi & Co
For Sahara Asset Management Company
Chartered Accountants
Private Ltd
Firm Regn. No.:- 302137E
S.N.Chaturvedi
Partner
Mem.No: 040479

Place: Mumbai
Date: 6th June 2014

C.Kamdar
Director

R M Joshi
Director

Naresh Kumar Garg
Chief Executive Officer

A.N.Sridhar
Fund Manager

For Sahara Mutual Fund

S R Hegde
Trustee

A K Thakur
Trustee

Vidya Manjrekar
Head- Operations & NAV Accounting
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SCHEDULES FORMING PART OF THE BALANCE SHEET
As at
March 31,
2014
(Rs)

As at
March 31,
2013
(Rs)

46,695,041
46,695,041

46,893,629
46,893,629

1,554,261

475,633

Collatorised Borrowing

998,236

-

Reverse Repo arrangements

166,002

7,085,117

1,594

42,642

686,279
3,406,372

602,834
8,206,226

Fixed Plan Dividend
Fixed Pricing - Dividend Option 884751.7660 units
of Rs.10 each
(For 2012-2013 1041912.031 units of Rs.10 each)

8,847,517

10,419,120

Fixed Plan Growth
Fixed Pricing - Growth Option 710097.581 units of
Rs.10 each
(For 2012-2013 884954.54 units of Rs.10 each)

7,100,976

8,849,545

Variable Plan Dividend
Variable Pricing - Dividend Option 1166960.4050
units of Rs.10 each
(For 2012-2013 1499192.780 units of Rs.10 each)

11,669,604

14,991,928

Variable Plan Growth
Variable Pricing - Growth Option 1140579.8870
units of Rs.10 each
(For 2012-2013 1454151.05 units of Rs.10 each)

11,405,799

14,541,510

Fixed Plan Direct Dividend
Fixed Pricing - Direct Dividend Option 5235.3280
units of Rs.10 each

52,353

52,353

SAHARA INFRASTRUCTURE FUND

SCHEDULE 1
Investments
(Refer Note 8.14 of Schedule 8 for detailed
Portfolio statement)
Equity Shares

SCHEDULE 2
Other Current Assets
Balances with Banks in Current accounts

Outstanding and accrued income
Investment - Liquid MF Units for Dividend
SCHEDULE 3
Unit Capital
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(For 2012-2013 5235.328 units of Rs.10 each)
Fixed Plan Direct Growth
Fixed Pricing - Direct Growth Option 3422.3910
units of Rs.10 each
(For 2012-2013 2326.827 units of Rs.10 each)

34,224

23,268

Variable Plan Direct Dividend
Variable Pricing - Direct Dividend Option 9964.8730
units of Rs.10 each
(For 2012-2013 2612.6410 units of Rs.10 each)

99,649

26,126

Variable Plan Direct Growth
Variable Pricing - Direct Growth Option 3260.0660
units of Rs.10 each
(For 2012-2013 1278.125 units of Rs.10 each)
Total
(Refer Note 8.10 of Schedule 8)

32,601

12,781

39,242,723

48,916,631

SCHEDULE 4
Reserves and Surplus
Revenue Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year

864,431

Transferred from Revenue Account

(943,274)

Balance as at end of the year

7,368,624
(6,504,193)
(78,843)

864,431

Income Equalisation Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year
Additions During the year
Transferred to Revenue Account

-

-

(112,929)

(1,976,724)

112,929

Balance as at end of the year

1,976,724
-

-

Unrealised Appreciation Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year

2,009,436

3,696,562

Additions During the year

5,316,736

(1,687,126)

Balance as at end of the year

7,326,172

2,009,436

Unit Premium Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year
Additions During the year

1,780,256

2,103,422
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(735,889)
Balance as at end of the year

(323,165)
1,044,367
8,291,696

1,780,257
4,654,124

120,110

227,188

6,064

6,528

750

807

21

106

Payable - Fee on Investor Education

10,981

6,087

Payable - Load Subscription
Contract for purchase of Investments

385
1,569,747

627
595,571

689,724

522,974

169,212
2,566,994

169,212
1,529,100

SCHEDULE 5
Current Liabilities and Provisions
Sundry Creditors
Management Fees Payable
ST On Management Fees Payable
STT Payable

Payable on redemption of units
Distribution Payable

SCHEDULES FORMING PART OF REVENUE
ACCOUNT
SCHEDULE 6
Interest & Discount Income
CBLO
Reverse Repo
Net Income from Exit Load

As at
March 31,
2014
(Rs)

As at
March 31,
2013
(Rs)

19,196
286,431
3,070
308,697

2,993
271,183
1,504
275,680

(7,179,988)

(10,821,382)

(174,470)
7,005,518

(7,179,988)
3,641,394

SCHEDULE 7
Provision/ write back for dimunition in value of
Investments
At the beginning of the year
At the end of the year
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PERSPECTIVE HISTORICAL PER UNIT STATISTICS
SAHARA INFRASTRUCTURE FUND
As at
Particulars
31-Mar-14
(Rs. Per
Unit)
(a) Gross Income
(i) Income other than Profit on sale of Investments
(ii) Income from Profit (net of loss) on inter-scheme sales/
transfer of Investments

As at
31-Mar-13
(Rs. Per
Unit)

As at
31-Mar-12
(Rs. Per
Unit)

0.30

0.32

0.33

0.00

0.00

0.00

(2.03)

(1.71)

(0.64)

(iv) Transfer to revenue account from past year'
s reserve

NA

NA

NA

(b) Aggregate of expenses, write off, amortisation and
charges

0.27

0.27

0.26

(2.00)

(1.67)

(0.57)

1.82

(1.06)

(1.19)

(e) Net Asset Value
Fixed Pricing - Dividend Plan
Fixed Pricing - Growth Plan
Variable Pricing - Dividend Plan
Variable Pricing - Growth Plan
Fixed Pricing - Direct Dividend Plan
Fixed Pricing - Direct Growth Plan
Variable Pricing - Direct Dividend Plan
Variable Pricing - Direct Growth Plan

9.9134
13.5605
10.6211
14.4557
9.9405
13.6040
10.6548
14.4999

8.9940
12.3006
9.5443
12.9892
8.9952
12.3080
9.5501
12.9979

10.0959
13.8075
10.6128
14.4435
-

(f) Repurchase Price during the year**
(i) Highest
Fixed Pricing - Dividend Plan
Fixed Pricing - Growth Plan
Variable Pricing - Dividend Plan
Variable Pricing - Growth Plan
Fixed Pricing - Direct Dividend Plan
Fixed Pricing - Direct Growth Plan
Variable Pricing - Direct Dividend Plan
Variable Pricing - Direct Growth Plan

9.8143
13.4249
10.5149
14.3111
9.8411
13.4680
10.5483
14.3549

10.7155
14.6550
11.3419
15.4357
10.7155
14.6550
11.3419
15.4361

11.2980
15.4518
11.7794
16.0313
-

7.1538
9.7845
7.6220
10.3732

8.7633
11.9850
9.2581
12.5997

8.1285
11.1167
8.5246
11.6013

(iii) Income from Profit (net of Loss) on sale other than Inter
scheme

(c) Net Income
(d) Net unrealised appreciation/(dimunition) in value of
Investments

(ii) Lowest
Fixed Pricing - Dividend Plan
Fixed Pricing - Growth Plan
Variable Pricing - Dividend Plan
Variable Pricing - Growth Plan
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Fixed Pricing - Direct Dividend Plan
Fixed Pricing - Direct Growth Plan
Variable Pricing - Direct Dividend Plan
Variable Pricing - Direct Growth Plan

7.1626
9.8017
7.6347
10.3894

8.7639
11.9916
9.3017
12.6600

-

(g) Resale Price during the year**
(i) Highest
Fixed Pricing - Dividend Plan
Fixed Pricing - Growth Plan
Variable Pricing - Dividend Plan
Variable Pricing - Growth Plan
Fixed Pricing - Direct Dividend Plan
Fixed Pricing - Direct Growth Plan
Variable Pricing - Direct Dividend Plan
Variable Pricing - Direct Growth Plan

9.9134
13.5605
10.6211
14.4557
9.9405
13.6040
10.6548
14.4999

11.0672
15.1361
11.7143
15.9424
10.8237
14.8030
11.4565
15.5920

11.4121
15.6079
11.8984
16.1932
-

(ii) Lowest
Fixed Pricing - Dividend Plan
Fixed Pricing - Growth Plan
Variable Pricing - Dividend Plan
Variable Pricing - Growth Plan
Fixed Pricing - Direct Dividend Plan
Fixed Pricing - Direct Growth Plan
Variable Pricing - Direct Dividend Plan
Variable Pricing - Direct Growth Plan

7.2261
9.8833
7.6990
10.4780
7.2349
9.9007
7.7118
10.4943

9.0510
12.3785
9.5620
13.0134
8.8524
12.1127
9.3957
12.7879

8.2106
11.2290
8.6107
11.7185
-

2.26%

2.04%

1.99%

0.78%

-18.24%

-11.62%

(h) Ratio of expenses to average daily net assets by
Percentage
(i) Ratio of income to average daily net assets by
Percentage(excluding transfer to revenue account from past
year'
s reserve but including net change in unrealized
appreciation / depreciation in value of Investments and
adjusted for net loss on sale / redemption of investments)

*Annualized
**Based on the maximum load during the year
Per unit calculations based on number of units in issue at the end of the period
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SCHEDULE - 8
ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES FORMING PART OF ACCOUNTS FOR THE PERIOD ENDED
MARCH 31, 2014.
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1 About the Scheme
Sahara Infrastructure Fund (the “Scheme”) is an open ended growth scheme of Sahara Mutual Fund (the
“Fund”). The objective is to provide income distribution and / or medium to long term capital gains by
investing predominantly in equity / equity related instruments of companies in the infrastructure sector. In
line with SEBI Circular for providing separate options for direct investments , the scheme has two
options – Fixed Pricing Option and Variable Pricing Option and now four sub options namely (i) Growth
Option (ii) Dividend Option (iii) Growth Option – Direct and (iv) Dividend Option – Direct The scheme will
not declare dividend under the Growth Plan. The Income earned on such units will remain invested under
the scheme and will be reflected in the Net Asset Value. The initial issue period of the scheme was from
February 15, 2006 to March 14, 2006 and the scheme was reopen for continuous purchase and
redemption at prevailing NAV from April 6, 2006.
1.2 Asset Management Company
Sahara Mutual Fund (SMF) has been established as a Trust in accordance with the Indian Trusts Act,
1882, and is sponsored by Sahara India Financial Corporation Limited.
Sahara Asset Management Company Private Limited (“SAMCPL”), a company incorporated under the
Companies Act, 1956, has been appointed as the Asset Management Company (“Investment Manager”)
to Sahara Mutual Fund.
The Shareholding of Sahara Asset Management Company Private Limited as on March 31, 2014 is as
follows:
Name of the Shareholder
Type of Holdings
Holding
Sahara India Financial Corporation Limited
Equity
45.60%
Sahara India Corp Investment Limited
Equity
11.36%
Sahara Prime City Limited
11.36%
Equity
(formerly Sahara India Investment Corporation Limited )
Sahara Care Limited
Equity
31.68%
Name of the Shareholder
Sahara India Commercial Corporation Ltd
Sahara Care Ltd

Type of Holdings
Preference
Preference

Holding
90.32 %
9.68 %

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1. Basis of Accounting
The Scheme maintains its books of account on an accrual basis. These financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the Accounting Policies and Standards specified in the Ninth Schedule of
The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996, (the “Regulation”), and
amendments thereto, as applicable.
2.2. Accounting for Investments
2.2.1
Investments are accounted on trade dates at cost including brokerage, stamp duty and
other charges.
2.2.2
Profit or loss on sale of investments is determined on the respective trade date by
adopting the “Weighted Average Cost” method.
2.2.3
Bonus/Rights entitlements on equity holdings are recognized only when the original
shares on which the entitlement accrues are traded on the principal stock exchange on exbonus/ex-rights basis respectively.
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2.2.4

Primary Market Investments are recognized on the basis of allotment advice.

2.3. Valuation of Investments
VALUATION POLICY / PROCEDURES - EQUITY & EQUITY RELATED SECURITIES
1. Traded Equity Securities
A security would be treated as ‘Traded’ if it is traded on the “Designated Stock Exchanges” namely,
National Stock Exchange (NSE), or/and Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) or/and MCX Stock
Exchange, within a period of 30 days (including the date of valuation). The order in which the three
designated exchanges would be used for the purposes of valuation would always remain as NSE,
BSE and MCX. The price for valuation would be the last quoted closing price on the valuation date. If
the equity security is not traded on the valuation date in NSE, then BSE price would be considered
and if BSE is not available MCX Stock Exchange price would be considered for valuation.
The principal “Designated” stock exchange for valuation of equity security would be NSE. When an
equity security is not traded on the valuation date on any of the “Designated Stock Exchanges”, then
the closing price of the earliest previous date shall be used for valuation provided such date is within
a period of 30 days (including the date of valuation).
2. Thinly Traded Securities
"When trading in an equity/equity related security (such as convertible debentures, equity warrants,
etc.) in a month is both less than Rs.5 lakhs and the total volume is less than 50,000 shares, it shall
be considered as a thinly traded security and valued accordingly". In order to determine whether a
security is thinly traded or not, the volumes traded in all “designated” stock exchanges shall taken into
account.
3. Non-traded / Suspended / Unlisted Equity Securities
When a security (other than Government Securities) is not traded on any stock exchange for a period
of thirty days prior to the valuation date, the scrip would be considered as a Non-Traded security. This
would include at least four categories:
I.
II.
III.
IV.

Shares remaining non-traded for more than 30 days in all the “Designated Stock Exchanges”
Shares that are suspended from trading in all the “Designated Stock Exchanges” due to any
reason
Shares remaining unlisted for more than 30 days from the date of closure of any public issue
Shares issued by way of corporate actions by companies and remaining unlisted for more than 30
days from the ex-date of the respective corporate action.

The valuation methodology for the above four categories, until the date of listing, would be as follows:
a) Based on the latest available Balance Sheet, net worth would be calculated as follows:
I.
II.

Net Worth per share = [share capital+ reserves (excluding revaluation reserves) – Misc.
expenditure and Debit Balance in P&L A/c] Divided by No. of Paid up Shares.
Average capitalization rate (P/E ratio) for the industry based upon NSE prices or BSE prices and
discounted by 75% i.e. only 25% of the Industry average P/E would be taken as capitalization
rate (P/E ratio). Earnings Per Share (EPS) of the latest audited annual accounts would be
considered for this purpose.

b) The value as per the net worth value per share (i) and the capital earning value (ii) calculated as
above would be averaged and further discounted by 10%( 15% for Unlisted) for ill-liquidity so as
to arrive at the fair value per share.
c) In case the EPS is negative, EPS value for that year would be taken as zero for arriving at
capitalized earning.
d) In case where the latest Balance Sheet of the company is not available within nine months from
the close of the year, unless the accounting year is changed, the shares of such companies
would be valued at zero.
e) In case an individual security accounts for more than 5% of the total assets of the scheme, then
an Independent Valuer shall be appointed for the valuation of the said security.
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4. Demerger/ Spin-Off/Carve-Out/Divestiture etc.
Generally on any of the above corporate actions, a currently listed security in the portfolio gets bifurcated
into securities of two or more entities (Demerger/ Spin-Off/Carve-Out/Divestiture etc.)
The valuation of the shares of these entities would be as under.
1. In case shares of all entities post the corporate action are traded on the “Designated Stock
Exchanges”, the closing traded price would be used for valuation purpose.
2. In case one or all of the entities post the corporate action, are not traded, then it would be ensured
that:
a. Listed entity would be valued at the closing price
b. Unlisted entity would be valued = Value of combined entity(s) immediately prior to
corporate action – Value of listed entity immediately prior to corporate action AND this
valuation of the unlisted entity would be persisted till the entity gets listed. However, if the
entity remains unlisted for a period of 30 days (including the valuation date) from the date
of the corporate action, it would be valued as per the valuation rules applicable for a nontraded security.
5. Warrants
a. In respect of warrants to subscribe for shares attached to instruments, the warrants would be valued at
the value of the share which would be obtained on exercise of the warrants as reduced by the amount
which would be payable on exercise of the warrant. A discount similar to the discount to be determined in
respect on convertible debentures shall be deducted to account for the period, which must elapse before
the warrant can be exercised.
b. In case the warrants are traded separately they would be valued as per the valuation guidelines
applicable to Equity Shares.
6. Rights
Until they are traded, the value of "rights" shares would be calculated as:
Vr = n ÷ m x (Pex - Pof)
Where
Vr = Value of rights
n = no. of rights offered
m = no. of original shares held
Pex = Ex-rights price
Pof = Rights Offer Price
Where the rights are not treated pari passu with the existing shares, suitable adjustment would be made
to the value of rights. Where it is decided not to subscribe for the rights but to renounce them and
renunciations are being traded, the rights would be valued at the renunciation value.
7. Derivatives
Market values of traded open futures and option contracts would be determined with respect to the
exchange on which contracted originally, i.e., a future or an option contracted on the National Stock
Exchange (NSE) would be valued at the closing price on the NSE.
The price of the same futures and option contract on the Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) cannot be
considered for the purpose of valuation, unless the futures or option itself has been contracted on the
BSE.
The same will be valued at closing price if the contract is traded on the valuation day. In case there is no
trade on valuation day then the same would be valued at Settlement prices.
However, the contracts which are going to expire on valuation date would be valued at Settlement prices
only.
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Related matters
I.
In case of any other instruments not mentioned above and not covered in the policy above, the
same shall be referred to the Investment and Valuation Committee which is empowered to take
decision.
II.

In case of any perceived conflict of interest while valuing the securities, the matter shall be dealt
and decided by Investment and Valuation Committee.

III.

For non– business day the Valuation shall be done on aggregated Scrip wise prices as provided
by CRISIL/ICRA. In absence of Scrip wise prices the valuation shall be done on accrual
basis/amortization basis based on last valuation.

IV.

In case of exceptional circumstances like, exceptional policy announcements by
government/regulatory bodies, natural disasters, public disturbances, extreme volatility in capital
market, shut down of market, war etc and on those days if scrip- wise value or valuation matrices
are not available from CRISIL/ICRA and if security is not traded, the valuation for the day shall be
done based on last valuation plus accrual/amortization or as may decided by the Investment and
Valuation Committee.

V.

The Valuation Policy shall be reviewed by the Statutory Auditor at least once in a year.

VI.

Valuation Policy and Procedures as updated and approved by the Board of AMC /Board of Trustees
shall be applicable for the schemes of Sahara Mutual Fund

VALUATION OF DEBT INSTRUMENTS:
(I) - The Valuation Policy of Debt and Money Market Instruments is given below:
Sr.
No.
1.

2.

3.

Instrument
CBLO, REPO, Fixed Deposit, Call Money , etc and
such Similar Instruments
Certificate of Deposit (CD), Commercial Paper (CP),
Non-Convertible Debenture (NCD) Pass Through
Certificate (PTC), Bonds, etc. where Scrip wise values
are available from CRISIL/ ICRA( Over 60 days
residual maturity)
Certificate of Deposit (CD), Commercial Paper (CP),
Non-Convertible Debenture (NCD) Pass Through
Certificate (PTC), Bonds, etc where Scrip wise values
are not available from CRISIL/ ICRA
(Upto 60 days residual maturity)
Same security traded and reported on public
i)
platforms.

Valuation applicable on the day of
valuation

On Amortization basis / Accrual basis.
The aggregated price provided byCRISIL
/ ICRA for the given security or any other
agencies entrusted by SEBI from time to
time for that day

On Weighted Average Yield of all trades
(excluding abnormal and retail trades)
on Public platforms, for that Securities on
that day irrespective of settlement day.
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4.

If Same Security not traded and reported on any
ii)
of the public platforms.

The aggregated matrices of CRISIL/
ICRA for the respective category or any
other agencies entrusted by SEBI from
time to time for that day.

Central Government Securities / State Government
Securities / Treasury Bills/Cash Management Bill etc

Aggregated valuation as provided by
CRISIL/ ICRA or any other agencies
entrusted by SEBI from time to time for
that day.

(II) Pricing of Inter -Scheme Transfer of Debt Instruments (ISTs):
Sr.
No.

1.

Instrument

Certificate of Deposit (CD), Commercial Paper
(CP), Non-Convertible Debenture (NCD) Pass
Through Certificate (PTC), Bonds, etc.

i)

ii)

iii)

2.

Valuation applicable on the day of
valuation

Pricing will be based on Weighted Average
Yield of all trades in same security on FTRAC
(Excluding abnormal and retail trades)
irrespective
of
settlement
day
plus
Same security traded and reported on
accrual/amortization, if any, based on
FTRAC up to the time of IST.
settlement day of the IST. Example : If
settlement is T+0 then no accrual/amortization
and if the settlement is other than T+0, then
appropriate accrual/amortization.
Pricing will be based on Weighted Average
Yield of all trades in similar security/securities
on FTRAC (excluding abnormal and retail
If Same security is not traded but similar trades) irrespective of settlement day plus
Security/securities are traded and reported accrual/amortization, if any, based on
up to the time of IST on FTRAC
settlement day of the IST. Example : If
settlement is T+0 then no accrual/amortization
and if the settlement is other than T+0, then
appropriate accrual/amortization
Previous end of the day valuation plus accrual,
if any, based on settlement day of the IST
If Same or similar Security/securities are shall be taken. Example: if settlement is T+0
not traded and reported up to the time of then no accrual/amortization and if the
IST on FTRAC
settlement is other than T+0 then appropriate
Accrual/amortization.

Central Government Securities / State
Government Securities / Treasury Bills/ Cash
Management Bill etc

i)

Same security traded and reported on
NDS-OM section of CCIL website.

On last traded price as given on
NDS-Section of CCIL
Website (Excluding abnormal trade).
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ii)

Same security not traded and reported on
NDS-OM section of CCIL website

Previous end of the day valuation price plus
accrual/amortization shall be taken

AMC may take screen shot/ downloaded excel file from FTRAC / NDS-OM for the same purpose.
Similar Security:
Similar security here shall mean those securities which are same nature security [Commercial Paper (CP),
Certificate of Deposit (CD), Non-Convertible Debentures (NCD), etc ] of different issuers having same or
equivalent credit rating for Similar maturity profile (For both Short term rating and Long term rating), and
falling in same “Maturity Bucket” as defined below. Further the instruments Commercial Paper (CP), Bonds
and Non-Convertible Debentures (NCDs) etc are categorized into following sub-categories:—
1.
NBFC
2.
Real Estate,
3.
PTC
4.
Others
Maturity Bucket:
• For Debt Security having remaining maturity upto 91 days
Maturity date of securities falling between
1st and 7th of the month
8th and 15th of the month
16th and 23rd of the month
24th to end of the month

Time Bucket
1-7 of the same month
8-15 of the same month
16-23 of the same month
24- end of the month

• For Debt Securities having remaining maturities more than 91 days
“Time Bucket”for maturity profile of “Similar Securities” shall be same calendar month of that year.
Notes:
1. For the purpose of Valuation of securities and for Inter Scheme Transfer, Weighted average of all
trades of 5 crs and above, excluding abnormal trades and retail trades shall be taken. Since retail
trades are of small value and generally may deviate materially from the yield at which the market
lots in WDM is traded, it would be appropriate to exclude the retail trades for the more realistic
valuation of the security.
2. Abnormal Trade is defined as those transaction/s which is/are over+/- 250 Basis Point compared
to the previous day valuation yield of the security in question
For the Valuation/Inter-scheme transfer, the available trades of various public platform shall be
considered where the face value of trade per transaction is Rs. 5 crs and above. If in any given
day in same/ similar security, the value of total trade is less than minimum market lot of 5 Crs, the
same shall be ignored for the valuation purpose.
3. CRISIL and ICRA provide the valuation matrices for various maturity bucket. Scrip wise value for
various debt instruments are also provided by CRISIL and ICRA . Trades are also reported and
settled on various public platform.
4. Public platform for the purpose of valuation of security shall mean FIMMDA managed FTRAC,
NSE, BSE, (except NSER- NSE retail and BSER- BSE Retail), RBI managed NDS-OM or any
other Public platform for Debt market launched from time to time. Market trades from different
Platforms are usually collected by BILAV Information LLP, which may be used for the purpose of
Valuation of traded security for which scrip wise values are not available from CRISIL/ICRA
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5. The data on yield and prices are generally provided upto 4 decimal point which shall be
considered. Price upto 4 decimal points shall be considered on respective face value of the
instruments for arriving at valuation.
6. For the valuation of traded security where scrip wise values are not available by CRISIL/ICRA,
price derived from (corresponding to) Weighted Average yield of all available trades excluding
abnormal and retail trades on any public platform for the same security on t+1 settlement basis
shall be taken.
In case, on any other day because of technical and other reason, if the Required Bilav file is not
sent by 7.30 PM, FIMMDA managed FTRAC platform and NDS OM section of CCIL website may
be used for the calculation of weighted average yield of traded security for which scrip wise values
are not available .
7. For non traded security where scrip wise values are not available, the valuation shall be done on
the price derived from (corresponding to) the aggregated yield matrices for the respective category
as provided by CRISIL/ICRA on T+1 settlement basis.
For Government Securities, SDL, T-Bills, Cash Management Bill etc, the valuation shall be done
on aggregated script wise pricing as provided by CRISL/ICRA and as applicable for that day.
8. In the absence of scrip wise values the valuation shall be based on aggregated matrices if
available from CRISIL/ICRA on T+1 settlement and as applicable for that day.
9. In case the valuation matrices/script wise value is available either from CRISIL/ICRA upto
reasonable time limit, the same shall be considered for arriving at valuation

a

10. In case on any given day neither the script wise value nor the valuation Matrices is available from
CRISIL/ICRA within the reasonable time limit, the Valuation shall be done based on
accrual/amortization based on last valuation.
2.3.1 Valuation of Other Investments
Mutual Fund Units:
a. In case of traded Mutual Fund schemes, the units would be valued at closing price on the stock
exchange on which they are traded like equity instruments. In case the units are not traded for more than
7 days, last declared Repurchase Price (the price at which Mutual Fund schemes buys its units back)
would be considered for valuation.
b. If the last available Repurchase price is older than 7 days, the valuation will be done at the last
available NAV reduced by illiquidity discount. The illiquidity discount will be 10% of NAV or as decided by
the Valuation Committee.
c. In case of non-traded Mutual Fund scheme, the last declared Repurchase Price (the price at which
Mutual Fund schemes buys its units back) would be considered for valuation..
2.3.2 Valuation of securities not covered under the above valuation policy:
The total exposure in securities, which do not fall under above valuation norms, shall not exceed 5% of the
total AUM of the scheme
In case of any other instruments not mentioned above and not covered in the policy above, the same
shall be referred to the Investment and Valuation Committee which is empowered to take decision.
Investment in such securities is to be valued by a method approved by the Investment and Valuation
Committee and the same will be reported to the Board of Trustees.
2.3.3 Unrealised Appreciation/Depreciation.
In accordance with the Guidance Note on Accounting for Investments in the Financial Statements of
Mutual Funds issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, the unrealized appreciation
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determined separately for each individual investment is directly transferred to the “Unrealised
Appreciation Reserve Account” i.e. without routing it through the revenue account.
The provision for depreciation in value of investments determined separately for each individual
investment is recognized in the revenue account. The loss (realized) on investments sold / transferred
during the year is charged to revenue account, instead of being first adjusted against the provision for
depreciation, if already created in the prior year, as recommended by the said Guidance Note. However,
this departure from the Guidance Note does not have any net impact on the Scheme’s net assets or
results for the year.
2.4 Revenue Recognition
2.4.1 Income and Expenses are recognized on accrual basis.
2.4.2 Interest on funds invested in short term deposits with scheduled commercial banks is
recognized on accrual basis.
2.4.3 Dividend income earned by the scheme is recognized on the date the share is quoted on
ex-dividend basis on principal stock exchange.
2.4.4 Proportionate realized gains on investments out of sales / repurchase proceeds at the time
of sale / repurchase of units are transferred to revenue Account from Unit Premium
Reserve.
3. Net Asset Value for Growth/Dividend options
The net asset value of the units is determined separately for units issued under the Fixed Pricing Option
& Variable Pricing Option each having sub options Growth Option , Dividend Option, Growth Option –
Direct and Dividend Option – Direct. For reporting the net asset value of Growth Option , Dividend
Option, Growth Option – Direct and Dividend Option - Direct, daily income earned, including realized and
unrealized gain or loss in the value of investments and expenses incurred by the scheme are allocated to
the options in proportion to the value of the net assets.
4. Unit Premium Reserve Account
Upon issue and redemption of units, the net premium or discount to the face value of units is adjusted
against the unit premium reserve account of the respective Options / Scheme, after an appropriate of the
issue proceeds and redemption payout is credited or debited respectively to the income equalisation
account.
5. Income Equalisation Account
An appropriate part of the sale proceeds or the redemption amount, as the case may be, is transferred to
income equalization account. The total distributable surplus (without considering unrealized appreciation)
upto the date of issue/ redemption of units has been taken into account for the purpose of ascertaining
the amount to be transferred to Equalization Account on a daily basis. The net balance in this account is
transferred to the Revenue Account at the end of the year.
6. Load Charges
The Entry load charges collected, if any are used to meet expenses as per the stipulated SEBI guidelines
from time to time. Service tax on exit load , if any, shall be paid out of the exit load proceeds and exit
load net of service tax, if any, shall be credited to the scheme
7. Unclaimed Redemption.
In line with SEBI circular no. MFD/CIR/9/120/2000 dated November 24,2000, the unclaimed redemption
and dividend amounts may be deployed by the mutual funds in call money market or money market
instruments only and the investors who claim these amounts during a period of three years from the due
date shall be paid at the prevailing Net Asset Value. After a period of three years, this amount can be
transferred to a pool account and the investors can claim the unclaimed redemption amount at NAV
prevailing at the end of the third year. The income earned on such funds can be used for the purpose of
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investor education. The AMC should make continuous effort to remind the investors through letters to
take their unclaimed amounts. Further, the investment management fee charged by the AMC for
managing unclaimed amounts shall not exceed 50 basis points.
8.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

8.1 Management Fees , Trusteeship Fees, Custodian Fees
Management Fees
The Management Fee (inclusive of service tax) has been computed at 0.81 % on average net assets
calculated on a daily basis.
Under the Variable Pricing Option, the AMC fee earned depends on the scheme'
s daily performance and
the same has been computed on average net assets calculated on a daily basis.
The IMA fees are charged accordingly, on the basis of whether at least one of the two conditions is met.
(a) If NPR < Benchmark and NPR < 0
(b) if either NPR > Benchmark or NPR >
0
( c) if both NPR > Benchmark and NPR
>0

•
•
•
•

IMA fees = zero
Actual IMA fees = ½
of maximum
permissible IMA fees
Actual IMA fees = maximum permissible
IMA fees

Net Portfolio Return (NPR) = Gross Portfolio Return(GPR) - Scheme expense
IMA = Investment Management and Advisory fees
GPR = Total Income during the day (Incl Net Appreciation / Depreciation) / Opening Net
Assets*100
Benchmark Return = ((Benchmark Value of today – Benchmark Value of yesterday) /
Benchmark Value of yesterday)*(100*(365/1.25))

Trusteeship Fees & Expenses
th

In accordance with Deed of Trust dated 18 July 1996 between the Settler and the Trustees, the fund has
paid or provided an annual fee of Rs.1,00,000/- per Trustee. Trusteeship fees & Expenses are allocated
to the schemes on the basis of their daily average net assets.
Custodian Charges
HDFC Bank Ltd provides Custodial services for which fees is paid as per the agreement.
8.2 Provision for tax has not been made since the income of the scheme is exempt from tax under
Section 10(23D) of the Income Tax Act, 1961.
8.3 Transactions with Brokers in excess of 5% or more of the aggregate purchases and sale of
securities made by the Fund have\s been reported to the Trustees on a bimonthly basis
8.4 Certain investments are registered in the name of the Fund without specific reference to the
Scheme. As at March 31, 2014, the aggregate market value of securities under Sahara
Infrastructure Fund but held in the name of Sahara Mutual Fund is Rs 1,66,183.25.
8.5 The Registrar and Transfer Agents charges amounting to Rs. 1,91,101.00 and the custody fees
amounting to Rs. 1,15,590.77 constitutes 18.24 % and 11.03% respectively of the total schemes
expenses.
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8.6 Transactions with Associates
Brokerage / Commission on sale of units by the Scheme or by the Asset Management Company
given to associates, pursuant to Regulation 25(8):
Commission to SIFCL A/c CMSD (Associate) made for sale of units of the MF for the current year
st
ended 31 March 2014
(Rs. In lakhs)
Tax Gain
Growth
Liquid
Mid cap
Wealth
Short Term
Infrastructure Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund
Plus
Bond
Fund
0.42
0.13
0.03
0.14
0.02
0.01
0.07
Star Value
Super 20
Power and Natural
Banking & Financial
Income Fund
Fund
Fund
Resources Fund
Services Fund
0.01
0.02
0.00
0.76
0.01
Commission to SIFCL A/c CMSD (Associate) made for sale of units of the MF for the previous year ended
st
31 March 2013.
(Rs.In lakhs)
Tax Gain
Growth Liquid Mid cap
Wealth Plus
Short Term
Infrastructure
Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund
Bond
Fund
0.01
0.40
0.24
0.04
0.25
0.05
0.11
Star Value
Fund
0.04

Super 20
Fund
0.08

Power and Natural
Resources Fund
0.00

Banking & Financial
Services Fund
0.58

(Rs. in lakhs)
Income
Fund
0.00

Commission paid to associates / related parties /group companies of Sponsor/AMC
Name
of Nature
of Period
Business given
(Rs Commission paid
(Rs
/ Covered
cr and % of total & % of total commission
associate
/ association
related parties / nature of relation
business received by paid
group
the fund)
by the fund
companies
of
Sponsor / AMC
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
Sponsor /
SIFCL A/c
April 13(Rs.1,60,398.82 ;
Mutual Fund
(1.29 & 0.45%)
CMSD
March 14
13.57% )
Distributor
SIFCL A/c
Sponsor / Mutual
April 12(Rs.1,80,802.67 ; 8.82%
(0.81 & 0.24%)
CMSD
Fund Distributor
March 13
)
In column No.4, the total business received by the fund includes business through ARNs &
also direct business.
In column No 5, the amount includes the upfront and the trail.
Brokerage paid to associates / related parties / group companies of Sponsor/AMC
Name of associate / Nature
of Period
Value of Transaction (in Brokerage (Rs Cr &
related
parties
/ association
/ Covered
Rs, Cr & of Total value % of total brokerage
group companies of nature of relation
of Transaction of the paid by the Fund)
Fund)
Sponsor / AMC
There are no associate brokers, hence not applicable for the period April – Mar 2014 & April – Mar 2013.
8.7 The Aggregate value of purchases and sales of Investments during the year as a percentage of daily
average net asset value;
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Purchases
Year
2013-14
2012-13
Sales
Year
2013-14
2012-13
8.8

Amount ( Rs)
133,153,341
71,305,075
Amount (Rs)
136,726,576
84,003,879

% of Daily Average
295.05
127.71

Aggregate Appreciation and Depreciation in the value of Investments:
Asset Class
31-Mar-14
Appreciation
(Rs. In lakhs)

Depreciation
(Rs. In lakhs)

73.26

1.74

Equity Shares
8.9

% of Daily average
287.34
108.40

31-Mar-13
Depreciation
Appreciation
(Rs. In lakhs)
(Rs. In lakhs)
20.09

Income and Expense Ratio

Total Income (including net unrealized appreciation and net of loss on
sale of investments) to average net assets calculated on a daily
basis.
Total Expenditure (excluding Deferred Revenue Expenditure) to
average net assets calculated on a daily basis
8.10 Movements in Unit Capital: Face Value of Units: Rs. 10/- per unit.

71.80

2013-14
0.78%

2012-13
-18.24%

2.27%

2.04%

8.10.1

Fixed Pricing Option - Growth Option
Number of Units
Amount (Rs)
Number of Units
Amount (Rs)
As on March 31, As on March 31, As on March 31, As on March 31,
2014
2014
2013
2013
3,908,842.083
39,088,420.83
Initial Capital
3,908,842.083
39,088,420.83
884,954.543
8,849,545.43
Opening Balance
1,062,201.330
10,622,013.30
Units Sold during the
21,526.306
215,263.06
year
43,852.072
438,520.72
Units Repurchased
(196,383.268)
1,963,832.68)
during the year
(221,098.859)
(2,210,988.59)
710,097.581
7,100,975.81
Closing Balance
884,954.543
8,849,545.43

8.10.2 Fixed Pricing Option - Growth Option - Direct
Number of Units Amount (Rs)
Number of Units
Amount (Rs)
As on March 31, As on March 31, As on March 31, As on March 31,
2014
2014
2013
2013
Initial Capital
2,326.827
23,268.27
Opening Balance
Units Sold during the
2,795.476
27,954.76
year
2,326.827
23,268.27
Units Repurchased
(1,699.912)
(16,999.12)
during the year
Closing Balance

3,422.391

34,223.91

8.10.3 Fixed Pricing Option - Dividend Option
Number of Units Amount (Rs)

2,326.827

23,268.27

Number of Units

Amount (Rs)
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Initial Capital
Opening Balance
Units Sold during the
year
Units Repurchased
during the year
Closing Balance

As on March 31, As on March 31, As on March 31, As on March 31,
2014
2014
2013
2013
3,999,162.348
39,991,623.48
3,999,162.348
39,991,623.48
1,041,912.031
10,419,120.31
1,334,528.865
13,345,288.65
6,991.070

69,910.70

9,922.199

99,221.99

(164,151.335)
884,751.766

(1,641,513.35)
8,847,517.66

(302,539.033)
1,041,912.031

(3,025,390.33)
10,419,120.31

8.10.4

Fixed Pricing Option - Dividend Option- Direct
Number of Units
Amount (Rs)
Number of Units
As on March 31, As on March 31, As on March 31,
2014
2014
2013
Initial Capital
5,235.328
52,353.28
Opening Balance
Units Sold during
the year
5,235.328
Units Repurchased
during the year
5,235.328
52,353.28
Closing Balance
5,235.328

8.10.5

Variable Pricing Option – Growth Option
Number of Units
Amount (Rs)

Initial Capital
Opening Balance
Units Sold during
the year
Units Repurchased
during the year
Closing Balance
8.10.6

Number of Units

52,353.28
52,353.28
Amount (Rs)

As on March 31, As on March 31, As on March 31, As on March 31,
2014
2014
2013
2013
15,622,781.058
156,227,810.58
15,622,781.058 156,227,810.58
1,454,151.045
14,541,510.45
1,777,225.533
17,772,255.33
16,521.595

165,215.95

32,990.178

329,901.78

(330,092.753)
1,140,579.887

(3,300,927.53)
11,405,798.87

(356,064.666)
1,454,151.045

(3,560,646.66)
14,541,510.45

Variable Pricing Option – Growth Option - Direct
Number of Units Amount (Rs) Number of Units

Initial Capital
Opening Balance
Units Sold during the
year
Units Repurchased
during the year
Closing Balance

Amount (Rs)
As on March 31,
2013
-

Amount (Rs)

As on March 31, As on March 31, As on March 31, As on March 31,
2014
2014
2013
2013
1,278.125
12,781.25
3,253.951

32,539.51

1,278.125

12,781.25

(1,272.010)
3,260.066

(12,720.10)
32,600.66

1,278.125

12,781.25

8.10.7

Variable Pricing Option – Dividend Option
Number of Units Amount (Rs)
Number of Units
Amount (Rs)
As on March 31, As on March 31, As on March 31, As on March 31,
2014
2014
2013
2013
7,613,483.957
76,134,839.57
Initial Capital
7,613,483.957
76,134,839.57
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Opening Balance
Units Sold during the
year
Units Repurchased
during the year
Closing Balance

1,499,192.780

14,991,927.80

1,796,115.856

17,961,158.56

3,686.913

36,869.13

12,645.652

126,456.52

(335,919.288)
1,166,960.405

(3,359,192.88)
11,669,604.05

(309,568.728)
1,499,192.780

(3,095,687.28)
14,991,927.80

8.10.8

Variable Pricing Option – Dividend Option(Direct)
Number of Units Amount (Rs)
Number of Units
Amount (Rs)
As on March 31, As on March 31, As on March 31, As on March 31,
2014
2014
2013
2013
Initial Capital
Opening Balance
2,612.641
26,126.41
Units Sold during the
year
7,930.006
79,300.06
2,612.641
26,126.41
Units Repurchased
during the year
(577.774)
(5,777.74)
Closing Balance
9,964.873
99,648.73
2,612.641
26,126.41

8.11 The scheme has declared nil dividend during the year ended March 31, 2014 (PY: Nil).There
was no bonus declared during the year ended March 31, 2014 (PY: Nil).
8.12

Unclaimed Amounts (Beyond three months):
Unclaimed Dividend & Redemption amounts as of March 31, 2014 are as below:
Unclaimed
Scheme
No of
Unclaimed Dividend
No. of
Redemption
Name
Investors
(Rs)
Investors
(Rs)
Sahara Infrastructure
34
166,712.45
53
509,022.92
Fund

8.13

Investments made by the Schemes of Sahara Mutual Fund in Companies or their
subsidiaries that have invested more than 5% of the net asset value of any scheme,
pursuant to Regulation 25(11).:NIL

8.14

Portfolio Statement as on March 31, 2014:

Name of the Instrument
1) Equity & Equity Related
(a) Listed/awaiting Listing on Stock
Exchange
EQUITY SHARES
POWER
PTC INDIA LTD
KALPATARU POWER TRANSMISSION
LTD
GVK POWER & INFRASTRUCTURE LTD
TATA POWER COMPANY LTD.
CESC LTD
TATA POWER COMPANY LTD - RIGHTS
ISSUE

ISIN

Qty

Market
Value
(Rs. in
Lakhs)

% to
NAV

17.08
INE877F01012

36000

24.41

INE220B01022
INE251H01024
INE245A01021
INE486A01013

19125
125000
16000
2100

18.25
13.81
13.62
10.53

2240

0.56

% to
Category
Total

17.39
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INDUSTRIAL CAPITAL GOODS
CROMPTON GREAVES LTD
BHARAT HEAVY ELECTRICALS LTD
BEML LTD
TRF LIMITED
CONSTRUCTION PROJECT
VOLTAS LTD.
LARSEN AND TOUBRO LIMITED
ENGINEERS INDIA LTD
PETROLEUM PRODUCTS
RELIANCE INDUSTRIES LTD
BHARAT PETROLEUM CORPORATION
LTD
MINERALS/MINING
COAL INDIA LTD
GUJARAT MINERAL DEVEL CORPN.
LTD.
SESA STERLITE LIMITED
INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS
BHARAT FORGE LTD
SUPREME INDUSTRIES LTD.
JAIN IRRIGATION SYSTEMS LTD
FINANCE
POWER FINANCE CORPORATION LTD
IDFC LTD
TELECOM - SERVICES
TATA COMMUNICATIONS LTD
BHARTI AIRTEL LTD
GAS
GAIL (INDIA) LTD
GUJARAT STATE PETRONET LTD
CEMENT
HEIDELBERG CEMENT INDIA LTD
NON - FERROUS METALS
HINDALCO INDUSTRIES LTD.
SOFTWARE
TECH MAHINDRA LTD
BANKS
ANDHRA BANK LIMITED
CONSUMER DURABLES
BAJAJ ELECTRICALS LTD
TRANSPORTATION
GREAT EASTERN SHIPPING COMPANY
LTD
HOTELS
INDIAN HOTELS CO LTD
AUTO ANCILLARIES
JK TYRE & INDUSTRIES LTD
PESTICIDES

INE067A01029
INE257A01026
INE258A01016
INE391D01019

10500
7500
3500
6500

16.84
14.70
10.23
9.53

INE226A01021
INE018A01030
INE510A01028

11000
1300
5000

17.70
16.53
11.28

INE002A01018

2700

25.13

INE029A01011

3600

16.56

INE522F01014

5000

14.44

INE131A01031
INE205A01025

10000
5600

13.19
10.56

INE465A01025
INE195A01028
INE175A01038

3500
2400
16000

14.76
12.06
10.47

INE134E01011
INE043D01016

9500
6000

18.35
7.34

INE151A01013
INE397D01024

4000
3500

12.28
11.12

INE129A01019
INE246F01010

3000
16000
35000

15.47

INE038A01020

10000

14.18

INE669C01028

700

12.57

INE434A01013

19000

12.15

INE193E01025

3500

10.17

INE017A01032

2800

9.54

INE053A01029

12500

9.09

5000

10.98

9.58

9.75

8.77

8.93

8.03

8.17

7.85

7.99

5.40

5.50

4.92

5.01

4.71

4.79

3.25

3.31

2.98

3.03

2.64

2.69

2.56

2.61

2.14

2.18

2.00

2.04

1.91

1.94

1.87

1.90

1.75

1.78

11.28
11.09

INE578A01017

INE573A01034

10.79

8.87
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UPL LIMITED

INE628A01036

(b) Unlisted
Equity Total (a+b)
2) Debt Instruments
(a) Listed/awaiting Listing on Stock
Exchange
(b) Privately Placed/Unlisted
(c) Securitised Debt
3) Money Market Instruments
4) Short Term Deposit
5) Other- Net Current Assets
Grand Total

4500

8.30

Nil
429,565

Nil
466.95

0
98.23

Nil
100.00

Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
429,565

Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
8.39
475.34

Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
1.77
100.00

Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
100.00
100.00

8.15 Investments made by the Scheme in shares of Group Companies of the Sponsor –

NIL.

8.16 Holdings over 25% of the NAV of the scheme.
Particulars

As on March 31, 2014

As on March 31, 2013

Number of Investors

NIL

NIL

Percentage of Holdings

N/A

N/A

8.17 Contingent Liability: Nil
8.18 Previous year figures have been reclassified/regrouped, wherever necessary, to conform to the
current year’s classification.
As per our attached report of even date
For Chaturvedi & Co
Chartered Accountants
Firm Regn. No.:- 302137E

For Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Ltd

For Sahara Mutual Fund

S.N.Chaturvedi
Partner
Mem.No: 040479

C.Kamdar
Director

R M Joshi
Director

S R Hegde
Trustee

Naresh Kumar Garg
Chief Executive Officer

A.N.Sridhar
Fund Manager

Place: Mumbai
Date: 6th June 2014

A K Thakur
Trustee

Vidya Manjrekar
Head- Operations & NAV Accounting
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Trustees of Sahara Mutual Fund
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Sahara Mutual Fund – Sahara R.E.A.L.
Fund (“the Scheme”), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2014, and the Revenue
Account for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Trustees of Sahara Mutual Fund and the Management of Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Limited (the “Management”) are responsible for the preparation of these financial statements
that give a true and fair view of the financial position and financial performance of the Scheme in
accordance with the accounting policies and standards specified in the Ninth Schedule of the
Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996 and amendments thereto,
as applicable. This responsibility includes the design, implementation and maintenance of internal
control relevant to the preparation and presentation of the financial statements that give a true and fair
view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
Scheme’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Scheme’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the
financial statements give the information required by the Securities and Exchange Board of India
(Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996 and amendments thereto, as applicable, in the manner so required
and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India:
(a) in the case of the Balance Sheet, of the state of affairs of the Scheme as at March 31, 2014;
(b) in the case of the Revenue Account, of the surplus for the year ended on that date.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
As required by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996 and
amendments thereto, as applicable, we report that:
a) We have obtained all the information and explanations, which to the best of our knowledge
and belief were necessary for the purpose of our audit.
b) The statement of account has been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies and
standards specified in the Ninth Schedule of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual
Funds) Regulations, 1996 and amendments thereto, as applicable.
c) We have reviewed the Valuation Policy being followed for the schemes of Sahara Mutual Fund.
The Valuation Policy implemented for the scheme is in line with the SEBI guidelines issued in this
regard.
For Chaturvedi & Co.
Chartered Accountants
(Firm’s Registration No. 302137E)
(SN Chaturvedi)
(Partner)
Mem. No. 040479
Place : Mumbai
th
Date:6 June 2014
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BALANCE SHEET AS AT MARCH 31, 2014
SAHARA R.E.A.L FUND

Schedule

As at
March 31, 2014

As at
March 31, 2013

(Rs)

(Rs)

ASSETS
Investments

1

35,657,620

33,794,343

Other Current Assets

2

5,682,405

5,036,986

41,340,025

38,831,329

Total Assets
LIABILITIES
Unit Capital

3

40,503,818

52,039,961

Reserves & Surplus

4

(3,501,514)

(14,388,943)

Current Liabilities & Provisions

5

4,337,721

1,180,311

41,340,025

38,831,329

9.1355
9.1355
9.1704
9.1715

7.2350
7.2350
7.2425
7.2408

Total Liabilities
NET ASSET VALUE
Net Asset Value per unit (Rs.)
i) Dividend Plan
ii) Growth Plan
iii) Direct Dividend Plan
iv) Direct Growth Plan
Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to the
accounts

8

Schedules 1 to 5 and 8 form an integral part of the Balance Sheet
As per our attached report of even date
For Chaturvedi & Co
Chartered Accountants
Firm Regn. No.:- 302137E

For Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Ltd

For Sahara Mutual Fund

S.N.Chaturvedi
Partner
Mem.No: 040479

C.Kamdar
Director

R M Joshi
Director

S R Hegde
Trustee

Naresh Kumar Garg
Chief Executive Officer

A.N.Sridhar
Fund Manager

Place: Mumbai
Date: 6th June 2014

A K Thakur
Trustee

Vidya Manjrekar
Head- Operations & NAV Accounting
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REVENUE ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2014
SAHARA R.E.A.L FUND

Schedule

For the Year
Ended March
31, 2014
(Rs)

For the Year
Ended March
31, 2013
(Rs)

INCOME
Dividend Income

318,134

828,205

226,697

195,638

544,831

1,023,843

1,233,380

1,781,800

450,006

595,674

55,622

35,432

7,194

4,583

-

4,960

148,058

113,268

Custodian Fees

90,206

80,175

Fees & Expenses of Trustees

93,688

83,708

Statutory Audit Fees

39,955

39,698

Internal Audit Fees

66,728

66,653

Insurance

15,614

14,622

Costs related to Investor Communication

35,985

68,465

Transaction cost
Marketing & Selling Exps. Including agents
commission

22,941

24,615

1,538

115,868

2,260,915

3,029,521

(1,716,084)

(2,005,678)

4,597,627

2,207,570

Interest Income

6

Total Income
EXPENSES & LOSSES
Loss on Sale / Redemption of Investments (Net)
(Other than Inter Scheme Transfer / Sale)
Management Fees
ST on Management Fees
Investor Education & Awareness Fees
STT Fees on Equity Transactions
Registrar & Transfer Agent Charges

Total Expenses
Net Surplus for the Year (excluding unrealised
appreciation)
Provision / Writeback for dimunition in value of
investments
Transfer from Income Equalisation Reserve

7
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Net Surplus transferred to Revenue Reserve
Significant Accounting Policies and
Notes to the accounts

2,756,723

3,305,532

5,638,266

3,507,424

8

Schedules 6 to 8 form an integral part of the Revenue Account
As per our attached report of even date
For Chaturvedi & Co
Chartered Accountants
Firm Regn. No.:- 302137E

For Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Ltd

For Sahara Mutual Fund

S.N.Chaturvedi
Partner
Mem.No: 040479

C.Kamdar
Director

R M Joshi
Director

S R Hegde
Trustee

Naresh Kumar Garg
Chief Executive Officer

A.N.Sridhar
Fund Manager

Place: Mumbai
Date: 6th June 2014

A K Thakur
Trustee

Vidya Manjrekar
Head- Operations & NAV Accounting
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SCHEDULES FORMING PART OF THE BALANCE SHEET
As at
March 31,
SAHARA R.E.A.L FUND
2014
(Rs)

As at
March 31,
2013
(Rs)

SCHEDULE 1
Investments
(Refer Note 8.14 of Schedule 8 for detailed
Portfolio statement)
Equity Shares

35,657,620
35,657,620

33,794,343
33,794,343

1,240,201

768,668

238,627

3,775,281

2,994,708

-

603,275

-

4,496

4,551

601,098
5,682,405

488,486
5,036,986

8,758,285

12,169,467

31,681,644

39,859,319

47,477

3,725

SCHEDULE 2
Other Current Assets
Balances with Banks in Current accounts
Reverse Repo arrangements
Collatorised Borrowing
Contracts For Sale of Investments
Outstanding and accrued income
Investment - Liquid MF Units for Dividend

SCHEDULE 3
Unit Capital
Dividend Option 875828.505 units of Rs.10
each
(For 2012-2013 1216946.7330 units of Rs.10
each)
Growth Option 3168164.373 units of Rs.10
each
(For 2012-2013 3985931.8830 units of Rs.10
each)
Direct Dividend Option 4747.697 units of
Rs.10 each
(For 2012-13 372.4550 units of Rs.10 each)
Direct Growth Option 1641.205 units of Rs.10
each
(For 2012-2013 745.0360 units of Rs.10
each)
Total
(Refer Note 8.10 of Schedule 8)

16,412

40,503,818

7,450

52,039,961
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SCHEDULE 4
Reserves and Surplus
Revenue Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year
Transferred from Revenue Account

(14,378,703)
5,638,266

Balance as at end of the year
Income Equalisation Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year
Additions During the year
Transferred to Revenue Account
Balance as at end of the year

(17,886,127)
3,507,424
(14,378,703)

(8,740,437)

2,756,723

3,305,532

(2,756,723)

(3,305,532)
-

-

Unrealised Appreciation Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year

1,579,250

2,466,749

Additions During the year

5,603,217

(887,499)

Balance as at end of the year

1,579,250

7,182,467

Unit Premium Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year
Additions During the year

(1,589,490)

(2,140,415)
550,925

(354,054)
(1,943,544)
(3,501,514)

(1,589,490)
(14,388,943)

102,254

186,713

7,565

8,962

935

1,133

8,216

4,382

15

255

Contract for purchase of Investments

3,002,957

384,218

Payable on redemption of units

1,124,537

594,648

91,242

-

Balance as at end of the year

SCHEDULE 5
Current Liabilities and Provisions
Sundry Creditors
Management Fees Payable
ST on Management Fees
Payable - Fee on Investor Education
STT Payable

Switch out Payable
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4,337,721

1,180,311

12,925

-

213,740
32

195,138
500

226,697

195,638

(5,056,966)

(7,264,536)

(459,339)
4,597,627

(5,056,966)
2,207,570

SCHEDULES FORMING PART OF
REVENUE ACCOUNT
SCHEDULE 6
Interest & Discount Income
Collatarised Borrowing
Reverse Repo
Net Income from Exit Load

SCHEDULE 7
Provision / Write back for dimunition in
value of Investments
At the beginning of the year
At the end of the year
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Perspective Historical Per unit statistics
SAHARA R.E.A.L FUND

As at

As at

As at

Particulars

31-Mar-14
(Rs. Per
Unit)

31-Mar-13
(Rs. Per
Unit)

31-Mar-12
(Rs. Per Unit)

(a) Gross Income
(i) Income other than Profit on sale of Investments
(ii) Income from Profit (net of loss) on inter-scheme
sales/

0.13

0.20

0.18

0.00

0.00

0.00

-0.30

-0.34

-0.54

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.25

0.24

0.20

-0.42

-0.39

-0.56

1.66

-0.67

-0.68

Dividend Plan

9.1355

7.2350

7.4950

Growth Plan

9.1355

7.2350

7.4950

Direct Dividend Plan

9.1704

7.2425

Direct Growth Plan

9.1715

7.2408

Dividend Plan

9.0441

8.6646

8.2418

Growth Plan

9.0441

8.6647

8.2418

Direct Dividend Plan

9.0787

8.6648

Direct Growth Plan

9.0798

8.6648

Dividend Plan

6.4527

6.8590

6.1579

Growth Plan

6.4527

6.8591

6.1580

Direct Dividend Plan

6.4673

7.0257

transfer of Investments
(iii) Income from Profit (net of Loss) on sale other
than Inter scheme
(iv) Transfer to revenue account from past year'
s
reserve
(b) Aggregate of expenses, write off, amortisation
and charges
(c) Net Income

(d) Net unrealised appreciation/(dimunition) in value
of Investments
(e) Net Asset Value

(f) Repurchase Price during the year**
(i) Highest

(ii) Lowest
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Direct Growth Plan

6.4665

7.0240

Dividend Plan

9.1355

8.7521

8.3250

Growth Plan

9.1355

8.7522

8.3250

Direct Dividend Plan

9.1704

8.7523

Direct Growth Plan

9.1715

8.7523

Dividend Plan

6.5179

6.9283

6.2201

Growth Plan

6.5179

6.9284

6.2202

Direct Dividend Plan

6.5326

7.0967

Direct Growth Plan

6.5318

7.0949

(h) Ratio of expenses to average daily net assets by
Percentage

2.85%

2.62%

2.50%

(i) Ratio of income to average daily net assets by
Percentage (excluding transfer to revenue account from
past year'
s reserve but including net change in
unrealized appreciation / depreciation in value of
Investments and adjusted for net loss on sale /
redemption of investments)

16.76%

-8.89%

-12.98%

(g) Resale Price during the year**
(i) Highest

(ii) Lowest

*Annaulised
**Based on the maximum load during the year
Per unit calculations based on number of units in issue
at the end of the period
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SCHEDULE - 8
ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES FORMING PART OF ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
MARCH 31, 2014.
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1 About the Scheme
SAHARA ‘R.E.A.L. FUND’ (Retailing, Entertainment & Media, Auto & auto ancillaries and
Logistics Sector) (the “Scheme”) is an open ended equity scheme of Sahara Mutual Fund (the
“Fund”). The investment objective is to provide long term capital gains by investing predominantly
in equity / equity related instrument of companies in the Retailing, Entertainment & Media, Auto &
auto ancillaries and Logistics sector. In line with SEBI Circular for providing separate options for
direct investments , the scheme has now four options (1) Growth Option (ii) Dividend Option (iiI)
Growth Option – Direct and (iv) Dividend Option – Direct. The scheme will not declare dividend
under the Growth Plan. The Income earned on such units will remain invested under the scheme
and will be reflected in the Net Asset Value. The New Fund Offer period of the scheme was from
05/10/2007 to 02/11/2007. The scheme was a closed ended equity scheme with a provision to
become open ended upon completion of three years from the date of allotment. Accordingly the
th
scheme became an open ended scheme w.e.f 27 November, 2010.
1.2 Asset Management Company
Sahara Mutual Fund (SMF) has been established as a Trust in accordance with the Indian Trusts
Act, 1882, and is sponsored by Sahara India Financial Corporation Limited.
Sahara Asset Management Company Private Limited (“SAMCPL”), a company incorporated
under the Companies Act, 1956, has been appointed as the Asset Management Company
(“Investment Manager”) to Sahara Mutual Fund.
The Shareholding of Sahara Asset Management Company Private Limited as on March 31, 2014
is as follows:
Name of the Shareholder
Type of
Holding
Holdings
Sahara India Financial Corporation Limited
Equity
45.60 %
Sahara India Corp Investment Limited
Equity
11.36 %
Sahara Prime City Limited
Equity
11.36 %
(formerly Sahara India Investment Corporation
Limited )
Sahara Care Limited
Equity
31.68 %
Name of the Shareholder
Sahara India Commercial Corporation Ltd
Sahara Care Ltd

Type of
Holdings
Preference
Preference

Holding
90.32 %
9.68 %

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1. Basis of Accounting.
The Scheme maintains its books of account on an accrual basis. These financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with the Accounting Policies and Standards specified in the Ninth
Schedule of The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996, (the
“Regulation”), and amendments thereto, as applicable.
2.2. Accounting for Investments
2.2.1
Investments are accounted on trade dates at cost including brokerage, stamp duty and
other charges which are included in the acquisition of investments.
2.2.2
Profit or loss on sale of investments is determined on the respective trade date by
adopting the “Weighted Average Cost” method.
2.2.3
Bonus/Rights entitlements on equity holdings are recognized only when the original
shares on which the entitlement accrues are traded on the Principal stock exchange on exbonus/ex-rights basis respectively.
2.2.4
Primary Market Investments are recognized on the basis of allotment advice.
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2.3. Valuation of Investments
Valuation Policy as on 31.03.2014 is as under.
VALUATION POLICY / PROCEDURES - EQUITY & EQUITY RELATED SECURITIES
1. Traded Equity Securities
A security would be treated as ‘Traded’ if it is traded on the “Designated Stock Exchanges” namely,
National Stock Exchange (NSE), or/and Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) or/and MCX Stock
Exchange, within a period of 30 days (including the date of valuation). The order in which the three
designated exchanges would be used for the purposes of valuation would always remain as NSE,
BSE and MCX. The price for valuation would be the last quoted closing price on the valuation date. If
the equity security is not traded on the valuation date in NSE, then BSE price would be considered
and if BSE is not available MCX Stock Exchange price would be considered for valuation.
The principal “Designated” stock exchange for valuation of equity security would be NSE. When an
equity security is not traded on the valuation date on any of the “Designated Stock Exchanges”, then
the closing price of the earliest previous date shall be used for valuation provided such date is within
a period of 30 days (including the date of valuation).
2. Thinly Traded Securities
"When trading in an equity/equity related security (such as convertible debentures, equity warrants,
etc.) in a month is both less than Rs.5 lakhs and the total volume is less than 50,000 shares, it shall
be considered as a thinly traded security and valued accordingly". In order to determine whether a
security is thinly traded or not, the volumes traded in all “designated” stock exchanges shall taken into
account.
3. Non-traded / Suspended / Unlisted Equity Securities
When a security (other than Government Securities) is not traded on any stock exchange for a period
of thirty days prior to the valuation date, the scrip would be considered as a Non-Traded security. This
would include at least four categories:
I.
Shares remaining non-traded for more than 30 days in all the “Designated Stock
Exchanges”
II.
Shares that are suspended from trading in all the “Designated Stock Exchanges” due to
any reason
III.
Shares remaining unlisted for more than 30 days from the date of closure of any public
issue
IV.
Shares issued by way of corporate actions by companies and remaining unlisted for more
than 30 days from the ex-date of the respective corporate action.
The valuation methodology for the above four categories, until the date of listing, would be as follows:
a) Based on the latest available Balance Sheet, net worth would be calculated as follows:
(i)

b)
c)
d)
e)

Net Worth per share = [share capital+ reserves (excluding revaluation reserves) – Misc.
expenditure and Debit Balance in P&L A/c] Divided by No. of Paid up Shares.
(ii)
Average capitalization rate (P/E ratio) for the industry based upon NSE prices or BSE
prices and discounted by 75% i.e. only 25% of the Industry average P/E would be taken
as capitalization rate (P/E ratio). Earnings Per Share (EPS) of the latest audited annual
accounts would be considered for this purpose.
The value as per the net worth value per share (i) and the capital earning value (ii) calculated as
above would be averaged and further discounted by 10% ( 15% for Unlisted ) for ill-liquidity so as
to arrive at the fair value per share.
In case the EPS is negative, EPS value for that year would be taken as zero for arriving at
capitalized earning.
In case where the latest Balance Sheet of the company is not available within nine months from
the close of the year, unless the accounting year is changed, the shares of such companies
would be valued at zero.
In case an individual security accounts for more than 5% of the total assets of the scheme, then
an Independent Valuer shall be appointed for the valuation of the said security.
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4. Demerger/ Spin-Off/Carve-Out/Divestiture etc.
Generally on any of the above corporate actions, a currently listed security in the portfolio gets bifurcated
into securities of two or more entities (Demerger/ Spin-Off/Carve-Out/Divestiture etc.)
The valuation of the shares of these entities would be as under.
1. In case shares of all entities post the corporate action are traded on the “Designated Stock
Exchanges”, the closing traded price would be used for valuation purpose.
2. In case one or all of the entities post the corporate action, are not traded, then it would be
ensured that:
a. Listed entity would be valued at the closing price
b. Unlisted entity would be valued = Value of combined entity(s) immediately prior to
corporate action – Value of listed entity immediately prior to corporate action AND this
valuation of the unlisted entity would be persisted till the entity gets listed. However, if the
entity remains unlisted for a period of 30 days (including the valuation date) from the date
of the corporate action, it would be valued as per the valuation rules applicable for a nontraded security.
5. Warrants
a. In respect of warrants to subscribe for shares attached to instruments, the warrants would be valued at
the value of the share which would be obtained on exercise of the warrants as reduced by the amount
which would be payable on exercise of the warrant. A discount similar to the discount to be determined in
respect on convertible debentures shall be deducted to account for the period, which must elapse before
the warrant can be exercised.
b. In case the warrants are traded separately they would be valued as per the valuation guidelines
applicable to Equity Shares.
6. Rights
Until they are traded, the value of "rights" shares would be calculated as:
Vr = n ÷ m x (Pex - Pof)
Where
Vr = Value of rights
n = no. of rights offered
m = no. of original shares held
Pex = Ex-rights price
Pof = Rights Offer Price
Where the rights are not treated pari passu with the existing shares, suitable adjustment would be made
to the value of rights. Where it is decided not to subscribe for the rights but to renounce them and
renunciations are being traded, the rights would be valued at the renunciation value.
7. Derivatives
Market values of traded open futures and option contracts would be determined with respect to the
exchange on which contracted originally, i.e., a future or an option contracted on the National Stock
Exchange (NSE) would be valued at the closing price on the NSE.
The price of the same futures and option contract on the Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) cannot be
considered for the purpose of valuation, unless the futures or option itself has been contracted on the
BSE.
The same will be valued at closing price if the contract is traded on the valuation day. In case there is no
trade on valuation day then the same would be valued at Settlement prices.
However, the contracts which are going to expire on valuation date would be valued at Settlement prices
only.
Related matters
In case of any other instruments not mentioned above and not covered in the policy above, the same
shall be referred to the Investment and Valuation Committee which is empowered to take decision.
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In case of any perceived conflict of interest while valuing the securities, the matter shall be dealt and
decided by Investment and Valuation Committee.
For non– business day the Valuation shall be done on aggregated Scrip wise prices as provided by
CRISIL/ICRA. In absence of Scrip wise prices the valuation shall be done on accrual
basis/amortization basis based on last valuation.
In case of exceptional circumstances like, exceptional policy announcements by
government/regulatory bodies, natural disasters, public disturbances, extreme volatility in capital
market, shut down of market, war etc and on those days if scrip- wise value or valuation matrices are
not available from CRISIL/ICRA and if security is not traded, the valuation for the day shall be done
based on last valuation plus accrual/amortization or as may decided by the Investment and Valuation
Committee.
The Valuation Policy shall be reviewed by the Statutory Auditor at least once in a year.
Valuation Policy and Procedures as updated and approved by the Board of AMC/ Board of Trustees
shall be applicable for the schemes of Sahara Mutual Fund
VALUATION OF DEBT INSTRUMENTS
(I) The Valuation Policy of Debt and Money Market Instruments is given below:
Sr.
No.

Instrument

1.

CBLO, REPO, Fixed Deposit, Call Money , etc and
such Similar Instruments

2.

Certificate of Deposit (CD), Commercial Paper (CP),
Non-Convertible Debenture (NCD) Pass Through
Certificate (PTC), Bonds, etc. where Scrip wise
values are available from CRISIL/ ICRA
( Over 60 days residual maturity)

3.

Certificate of Deposit (CD), Commercial Paper (CP),
Non-Convertible Debenture (NCD) Pass Through
Certificate (PTC), Bonds, etc where Scrip wise
values are not available from CRISIL/ ICRA
(Upto 60 days residual maturity)

4.

Valuation applicable on the day of
valuation
On Amortization basis / Accrual basis.
The aggregated price provided byCRISIL /
ICRA for the given security or any other
agencies entrusted by SEBI from time
totime for that day

i)

Same security traded and reported on
public platforms.

On Weighted Average Yield of all trades
(excluding abnormal and retail trades) on
Public platforms, for that Securities on that
day irrespective of settlement day .

ii)

If Same Security not traded and reported
on any of the public platforms.

The aggregated matrices of CRISIL/ ICRA
for the respective category or any other
agencies entrusted by SEBI from time to
time for that day.

Central Government Securities / State Government
Securities / Treasury Bills/Cash Management Bill etc

Aggregated valuation as provided by
CRISIL/ ICRA or any other agencies
entrusted by SEBI from time to time for
that day.
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(II) Pricing of Inter -Scheme Transfer of Debt Instruments (ISTs):
Sr.
No.

1.

Instrument

Certificate of Deposit (CD), Commercial Paper
(CP), Non-Convertible Debenture (NCD) Pass
Through Certificate (PTC), Bonds, etc.

i)

ii)

iii)

2.

Valuation applicable on the day of
valuation

Pricing will be based on Weighted Average
Yield of all trades in same security on FTRAC
(Excluding abnormal and retail trades)
irrespective
of
settlement
day
plus
Same security traded and reported on
accrual/amortization, if any, based on
FTRAC up to the time of IST.
settlement day of the IST. Example : If
settlement is T+0 then no accrual/amortization
and if the settlement is other than T+0, then
appropriate accrual/amortization.
Pricing will be based on Weighted Average
Yield of all trades in similar security/securities
on FTRAC (excluding abnormal and retail
If Same security is not traded but similar trades) irrespective of settlement day plus
Security/securities are traded and reported accrual/amortization, if any, based on
up to the time of IST on FTRAC
settlement day of the IST. Example : If
settlement is T+0 then no accrual/amortization
and if the settlement is other than T+0, then
appropriate accrual/amortization
Previous end of the day valuation plus accrual,
if any, based on settlement day of the IST shall
If Same or similar Security/securities are be taken. Example: if settlement is T+0 then no
not traded and reported up to the time of accrual/amortization and if the settlement is
IST on FTRAC
other
than
T+0
then
appropriate
Accrual/amortization.

Central
Government
Securities
/
State
Government Securities / Treasury Bills/ Cash
Management Bill etc

i)

Same security traded and reported on
NDS-OM section of CCIL website.

On last traded price as given on
NDS-Section of CCIL
Website (Excluding abnormal trade).

ii)

Same security not traded and reported on
NDS-OM section of CCIL website

Previous end of the day valuation price plus
accrual/amortization shall be taken

AMC may take screen shot/ downloaded excel file from FTRAC / NDS-OM for the same purpose.
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Similar Security:
Similar security here shall mean those securities which are same nature security [Commercial Paper (CP),
Certificate of Deposit (CD), Non-Convertible Debentures (NCD), etc ] of different issuers having same or
equivalent credit rating for Similar maturity profile (For both Short term rating and Long term rating), and falling
in same “Maturity Bucket” as defined below. Further the instruments Commercial Paper (CP), Bonds and NonConvertible Debentures (NCDs) etc are categorized into following sub-categories:—
a) NBFC
b) Real Estate,
c) PTC
d) Others
Maturity Bucket:
• For Debt Security having remaining maturity upto 91 days
Maturity date of securities falling between
Time Bucket
1st and 7th of the month
1-7 of the same month
8th and 15th of the month
8-15 of the same month
16th and 23rd of the month
16-23 of the same month
24th to end of the month
24- end of the month
•
For Debt Securities having remaining maturities more than 91 days
“Time Bucket” for maturity profile of “Similar Securities” shall be same calendar month of that year.
Notes:
1. For the purpose of Valuation of securities and for Inter Scheme Transfer, Weighted average of all
trades of 5 crs and above, excluding abnormal trades and retail trades shall be taken. Since retail
trades are of small value and generally may deviate materially from the yield at which the market
lots in WDM is traded, it would be appropriate to exclude the retail trades for the more realistic
valuation of the security.
2. Abnormal Trade is defined as those transaction/s which is/are over+/- 250 Basis Point compared
to the previous day valuation yield of the security in question
For the Valuation/Inter-scheme transfer, the available trades of various public platform shall be
considered where the face value of trade per transaction is Rs. 5 crs and above. If in any given
day in same/ similar security, the value of total trade is less than minimum market lot of 5 Crs, the
same shall be ignored for the valuation purpose.
3. CRISIL and ICRA provide the valuation matrices for various maturity bucket. Scrip wise value for
various debt instruments are also provided by CRISIL and ICRA . Trades are also reported and
settled on various public platform.
4. Public platform for the purpose of valuation of security shall mean FIMMDA managed FTRAC,
NSE, BSE, (except NSER- NSE retail and BSER- BSE Retail), RBI managed NDS-OM or any
other Public platform for Debt market launched from time to time. Market trades from different
Platforms are usually collected by BILAV Information LLP, which may be used for the purpose of
Valuation of traded security for which scrip wise values are not available from CRISIL/ICRA
5. The data on yield and prices are generally provided upto 4 decimal point which shall be
considered. Price upto 4 decimal points shall be considered on respective face value of the
instruments for arriving at valuation.
6. For the valuation of traded security where scrip wise values are not available by CRISIL/ICRA,
price derived from (corresponding to) Weighted Average yield of all available trades excluding
abnormal and retail trades on any public platform for the same security on t+1 settlement basis
shall be taken.
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In case, on any other day because of technical and other reason, if the Required Bilav file is not
sent by 7.30 PM, FIMMDA managed FTRAC platform and NDS OM section of CCIL website may
be used for the calculation of weighted average yield of traded security for which scrip wise values
are not available .
7. For non traded security where scrip wise values are not available, the valuation shall be done on
the price derived from (corresponding to) the aggregated yield matrices for the respective category
as provided by CRISIL/ICRA on T+1 settlement basis.
8. For Government Securities, SDL, T-Bills, Cash Management Bill etc, the valuation shall be done
on aggregated script wise pricing as provided by CRISL/ICRA and as applicable for that day.
In the absence of scrip wise values the valuation shall be based on aggregated matrices if
available from CRISIL/ICRA on T+1 settlement and as applicable for that day.
9. In case the valuation matrices/script wise value is available either from CRISIL/ICRA upto
reasonable time limit, the same shall be considered for arriving at valuation

a

10. In case on any given day neither the script wise value nor the valuation Matrices is available from
CRISIL/ICRA within the reasonable time limit, the Valuation shall be done based on
accrual/amortization based on last valuation.
2.3.1 Valuation of Other Investments
Mutual Fund Units:
a. In case of traded Mutual Fund schemes, the units would be valued at closing price on the stock
exchange on which they are traded like equity instruments. In case the units are not traded for more than
7 days, last declared Repurchase Price (the price at which Mutual Fund schemes buys its units back)
would be considered for valuation.
b. If the last available Repurchase price is older than 7 days, the valuation will be done at the last
available NAV reduced by illiquidity discount. The illiquidity discount will be 10% of NAV or as decided by
the Valuation Committee.
c. In case of non-traded Mutual Fund scheme, the last declared Repurchase Price (the price at which
Mutual Fund schemes buys its units back) would be considered for valuation.
2.3.2 Valuation of securities not covered under the above valuation policy:
The total exposure in securities, which do not fall under above valuation norms, shall not exceed 5% of
the total AUM of the scheme
In case of any other instruments not mentioned above and not covered in the policy above, the same shall be
referred to the Investment and Valuation Committee which is empowered to take decision.
Investment in such securities is to be valued by a method approved by the Investment and Valuation
Committee and the same will be reported to the Board of Trustees.
2.3.3 Unrealised Appreciation / Depreciation.
In accordance with the Guidance Note on Accounting for Investments in the Financial Statements of
Mutual Funds issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, the unrealized appreciation
determined separately for each individual investment is directly transferred to the “Unrealised
Appreciation Reserve Account” i.e. without routing it through the revenue account.
The provision for depreciation in value of investments determined separately for each individual
investment is recognized in the revenue account. The loss (realized) on investments sold / transferred
during the year is charged to revenue account, instead of being first adjusted against the provision for
depreciation, if already created in the prior year, as recommended by the said Guidance Note. However,
this departure from the Guidance Note does not have any net impact on the Scheme’s net assets or
results for the year.
2.4 Revenue Recognition
2.4.1 Income and Expenses are recognized on accrual basis.
2.4.2 Interest on funds invested in short term deposits with scheduled commercial banks is
recognized on accrual basis.
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3.

2.4.3 Dividend income earned by the scheme is recognized on the date the share is quoted on
ex-dividend basis on principal stock exchange.
2.4.4 Proportionate realized gains on investments out of sales / repurchase proceeds at the time
of sale / repurchase of units are transferred to revenue Account from Unit Premium
Reserve.
Net Asset Value for Growth / Dividend Options:

The net asset value of the units is determined separately for units issued under the Growth Option ,
Dividend Option, Growth Option – Direct and Dividend Option – Direct. For reporting the net asset value
of the Growth Option , Dividend Option, Growth Option – Direct and Dividend Option - Direct, daily
income earned, including realized and unrealized gain or loss in the value of investments and expenses
incurred by the scheme are allocated to the options in proportion to the value of the net assets
4. Unit Premium Reserve Account
Upon issue and redemption of units, the net premium or discount to the face value of units is adjusted
against the unit premium reserve account of the respective Options / Scheme, after an appropriate of the
issue proceeds and redemption payout is credited or debited respectively to the income equalization
account.
5. Income Equalisation Account
An appropriate part of the sale proceeds or the redemption amount, as the case may be, is transferred to
income equalization account. The total distributable surplus (without considering unrealized appreciation)
upto the date of issue/ redemption of units has been taken into account for the purpose of ascertaining
the amount to be transferred to Equalization Account on a daily basis. The net balance in this account is
transferred to the Revenue Account at the end of the year.
6.

Load Charges
The Entry load charges collected, if any are used to meet expenses as per the stipulated SEBI
guidelines from time to time. Service tax on exit load , if any, shall be paid out of the exit load
proceeds and exit load net of service tax, if any, shall be credited to the scheme.

7.

Unclaimed Redemption.
In line with SEBI circular no. MFD/CIR/9/120 /2000 dated November 24, 2000, the unclaimed
redemption and dividend amounts may be deployed by the mutual funds in call money market or
money market instruments only and the investors who claim these amounts during a period of three
years from the due date shall be paid at the prevailing Net Asset Value. After a period of three years,
this amount can be transferred to a pool account and the investors can claim the unclaimed
redemption amount at NAV prevailing at the end of the third year. The income earned on such funds
can be used for the purpose of investor education. The AMC should make continuous effort to remind
the investors through letters to take their unclaimed amounts. Further, the investment management
fee charged by the AMC for managing unclaimed amounts shall not exceed 50 basis points.

8. NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
8.1 Management Fees, Trusteeship Fees, Custodian Fees
Management Fees
Management Fees (inclusive of service tax) has been computed at 1.40 % on average net
assets calculated on a daily basis.
Trusteeship Fees & Expenses
th
In accordance with Deed of Trust dated 18 July 1996 between the Settler and the Trustees, the
fund has paid or provided an annual fee of Rs.1,00,000/- per Trustee. Trusteeship fees &
expenses are allocated to the schemes on the basis of their daily average net assets.
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Custodian Charges
HDFC Bank provides Custodial services to the scheme for which fees is paid as per the
agreement.
8.2 Provision for tax has not been made since the income of the scheme is exempt from tax under
Section 10(23D) of the Income Tax Act, 1961.
8.3 Transactions with Brokers in excess of 5% or more of the aggregate purchases and sale of
securities made by the Fund have\s been reported to the Trustees on a Bimonthly basis.
8.4 Certain investments are registered in the name of the Fund without specific reference to the
Scheme. As at March 31, 2014 the aggregate market value of securities under Sahara R. E .A
.L Fund but held in the name of Sahara Mutual Fund is Rs. 2,38,888.43
8.5 The Registrar and Transfer Agents charges amounting to Rs.1,48,057.93
14.41% of the total schemes expenses

constitutes

8.6 Transactions with Associates
Brokerage / Commission on sale of units by the Scheme or by the Asset Management Company
given to associates, pursuant to Regulation 25(8):
Commission to SIFCL A/c CMSD (Associate) made for sale of units of the MF for the current
st
year ended 31 March 2014.
(Rs.In lakhs)
Tax Gain
Growth
Liquid
Mid cap
Wealth Plus
Short Term
Infrastructure
Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund
Bond
Fund
0.42

0.13

Star Value
Fund
0.01

Super 20
Fund
0.02

0.03

0.14

Power and Natural
Resources Fund
0.00

0.02

0.01

Banking & Financial
Services Fund
0.76

0.07
Income Fund
0.01

Commission to SIFCL A/c CMSD (Associate) made for sale of units of the MF for the previous year
st
ended 31 March 2013.
(Rs.In lakhs)
Tax Gain
Growth
Liquid
Mid cap
Wealth Plus
Short Term
Infrastructure
Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund
Bond
Fund
0.01
0.40
0.24
0.04
0.25
0.05
0.11
Star Value
Fund
0.04

Super 20
Fund
0.08

Power and Natural
Resources Fund
0.00

Banking & Financial
Services Fund
0.58

(Rs. in lakhs)
Income Fund
0.00

Commission paid to associates / related parties /group companies of Sponsor/AMC
Name of associate /
Nature of
Period
Business given (Rs
Commission paid
related parties / group
association /
Covered
cr and % of total
(Rs & % of total
companies of Sponsor /
nature of
business received
commission paid
AMC
relation
by the fund)
by the fund
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
Sponsor /
April 13SIFCL A/c CMSD
Mutual Fund
March 14
(1.29 & 0.45%)
(Rs.1,60,398.82 ;
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Distributor
13.57% )
Sponsor /
April 12SIFCL A/c CMSD
Mutual Fund
(0.81 & 0.24%)
(Rs.1,80,802.67 ;
March 13
Distributor
8.82% )
In column No 4, the total business received by the fund includes business through ARNs & also direct
business.
In column No 5, the amount includes the upfront and the trail.
Brokerage paid to associates / related parties / group companies of Sponsor/AMC
Name of associate /
related parties / group
companies of Sponsor /
AMC

Nature of
association /
nature of
relation

Period
Covered

Value of
Brokerage
Transaction
(Rs Cr & % of total
(in Rs, Cr & of Total
brokerage paid by
value of
the Fund)
Transaction of the
Fund)
There are no associate brokers, hence not applicable for the period April – Mar 2014 & April – Mar 2013.
8.7 The aggregate value of Investment purchased and sold(Including Redemption) during the year
as a percentage of daily average net asset value;
Purchases
Year
Amount (Rs)
% of Daily average
2013-14
80,325,217
223.13
2012-13
49,415,554
103.70
Sales

Year
2013-14
2012-13

Amount (Rs)
84,443,385
65,034,827

% of Daily average
234.57
136.47

8.8 Aggregate Appreciation and Depreciation in the value of Investments :

Asset Class

31-Mar-14
Appreciation
Depreciation
(Rs. In lakhs)
(Rs. In lakhs)

71.82
Equity Shares
8.9 Income and Expense Ratio

4.59

31-Mar-13
Depreciation
Appreciation
(Rs. In lakhs)
(Rs. In lakhs)
15.79

Total Income (including net unrealized appreciation and net of
loss on sale of investments) to average net assets calculated on
a daily basis.
Total Expenditure to average net assets calculated on a daily
basis
8.10

50.57
2013-14
16.76%

2012-13
-8.89%

2.85%

2.62%

Movements in Unit Capital : Face Value of Units : Rs. 10/- per unit.

8.10.1

Growth Option
Number of
Units
As on
March 31,

Amount
(Rs)
As on
March 31, 2014

Number of
Units
As on
March 31,

Amount
(Rs)
As on
March 31,
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2014
10,898,668.702 108,986,687.02

2013
2013
10,898,668.702 108,986,687.02

Initial Capital
Opening Balance
3,985,931.883 39,859,318.83
5,180,395.122 51,803,951.22
Units Sold during the
year
9,116.502
91,165.02
Units Repurchased
(817,767.510) (8,177,675.10) (1,203,579.741) (12,035,797.41)
during the year
3,168,164.373 31,681,643.73
Closing Balance
3,985,931.883 39,859,318.83
8.10.2
Growth Option (Direct)
Number of
Amount
Number of
Amount
Units
(Rs)
Units
(Rs)
As on
As on
As on
As on
March 31,
March 31,
March 31,
March 31,
2014
2014
2013
2013
Initial Capital
Opening Balance

745.036

7,450.36

-

-

Units Sold during the year
Units Repurchased during
the year
Closing Balance

896.169

8,961.69

745.036

7,450.36

1,641.205

16,412.05

745.036

7,450.36

8.10.3

Dividend Option

Number of
Amount
Number of
Amount
Units
(Rs)
Units
(Rs)
As on
As on
As on
As on
March 31, 2014 March 31, 2014 March 31, 2013 March 31, 2013
3,653,051.558 36,530,515.58 3,653,051.558 36,530,515.58
1,216,946.733 12,169,467.33 1,828,622.203 18,286,222.03
844.243
8,442.43
1,985.703
19,857.03

Initial Capital
Opening Balance
Units Sold during the year
Units Repurchased during the
(341,962.471) (3,419,624.71) (613,661.173) (6,136,611.73)
year
875,828.505 8,758,285.05 1,216,946.733 12,169,467.33
Closing Balance
8.10.4

Dividend Option(Direct)
Number of
Amount
Number of
Amount
Units
(Rs)
Units
(Rs)
As on
As on
As on
As on
March 31, 2014 March 31, 2014 March 31, 2013 March 31, 2013
Initial Capital
372.465
3,724.65
Opening Balance
4,375.232
43,752.32
Units Sold during the year
372.465
3,724.65
Units Repurchased during the
year
4,747.697
47,476.97
Closing Balance
372.465
3,724.65

8.11 The scheme has declared Nil dividend for the year ended March 31, 2014 (PY: Nil). There was no
bonus declared during the year ended March 31, 2014 (PY: Nil).
8.12

Unclaimed Amounts ( beyond three months) :

Unclaimed Dividend and Redemption amounts as on March 31, 2014 are as below:
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Scheme Name
Sahara R.E.A.L Fund

No of
Investors
-

Unclaimed
Dividend(Rs)
-

No. of
Investors
41

Unclaimed
Redemption (Rs)
605,486.31

8.13
Investments made by the Schemes of Sahara Mutual Fund in Companies or their
subsidiaries that have invested more than 5% of the net asset value of any scheme, pursuant
to Regulation 25(11):NIL
8.14

Portfolio Statement as on March 31, 2014

Name of the Instrument
1) Equity & Equity Related
(a) Listed/awaiting Listing on Stock
Exchange
EQUITY SHARES
MEDIA & ENTERTAINMENT
T.V. TODAY NETWORK LTD
DEN NETWORKS LTD
PVR LTD.
JAGRAN PRAKASHAN LTD
SUN TV NETWORK LIMITED
HATHWAY CABLE & DATACOM
LIMITED
AUTO ANCILLARIES
MOTHERSON SUMI SYSTEMS LTD
SUPRAJIT ENGINEERING LTD.
BALKRISHNA INDUSTRIES LTD
JK TYRE & INDUSTRIES LTD
WABCO INDIA LTD
AUTO
HERO MOTOCORP LTD
TVS MOTOR COMPANY LTD
ASHOK LEYLAND LTD
TATA MOTORS LTD
RETAILING
V-MART RETAIL LIMITED
FUTURE LIFESTYLE FASHION LTD.
SHOPPERS STOP LIMITED
FUTURE RETAIL LIMITED
BANKS
ORIENTAL BANK OF COMMERCE
DCB BANK LIMITED
CANARA BANK
TRANSPORTATION
GREAT EASTERN SHIPPING
COMPANY LTD
GATEWAY DISTRIPARKS LTD
ADANI PORTS & SEZ LTD

ISIN

Quantity

Market
Value
(Rs. in
Lakhs)

INE038F01029
INE947J01015
INE191H01014
INE199G01027
INE424H01027

12000
5000
2000
8000
2000

14.19
9.57
9.38
8.24
8.04

INE982F01028

3000

7.27

INE775A01035
INE399C01030
INE787D01026
INE573A01034
INE342J01019

5000
17000
2200
4700
400

12.78
11.62
10.50
8.34
8.14

INE158A01026
INE494B01023
INE208A01029
INE155A01022

700
15000
40000
2000

15.92
14.57
9.46
7.97

INE665J01013
INE452O01016
INE498B01024
INE623B01027

5000
14000
2026
9000

14.31
8.35
7.78
7.40

INE141A01014
INE503A01015
INE476A01014
INE017A01032
INE852F01015
INE742F01042

6000
20000
3500
3000
5500
3000

% to
NAV

% to
Category
Total

15.32

15.90

13.88

14.40

12.95

13.44

10.23

10.62

9.43

9.79

6.74

6.99

13.37
12.25
9.25
10.22
9.12
5.62
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CONSUMER DURABLES
BATA INDIA LTD
WHIRLPOOL OF INDIA LTD.
INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS
BHARAT FORGE LTD
MAHINDRA CIE AUTOMOTIVE LIMITED
TEXTILE PRODUCTS
ARVIND LTD
SERVICES
TALWALKARS BETTER VALUE
FITNESS LTD

INE176A01010
INE716A01013

1300
4000

14.83
9.24

INE465A01025
INE536H01010

3000
10000

12.65
7.48

INE034A01011

8000

13.92

INE502K01016

6500

INE486A01013

2000

INE226A01021

6000

INE668F01031

4000

3.90

2.83

2.94

2.71

2.81

2.61

2.71

2.24

2.32

1.72

1.78

2000

6.36

Nil

Nil

0

Nil

236,826

356.58

96.37

100.00

(a) Listed/awaiting Listing on Stock
Exchange

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

(b) Privately Placed/Unlisted

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

(c) Securitised Debt

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

3) Money Market Instruments

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

(b) Unlisted
Equity Total (a+b)

INE397D01024

3.76

8.29

TELECOM - SERVICES
BHARTI AIRTEL LTD

5.64

9.65

CONSUMER NON DURABLES
JYOTHY LABORATORIES LTD

5.44

10.03

CONSTRUCTION PROJECT
VOLTAS LTD.

6.76

10.48

POWER
CESC LTD

6.51

2) Debt Instruments

178

Sahara Mutual Fund – Annual Report 13-14.

4) Short Term Deposit

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

5) Other- Net Current Assets

Nil

13.44

3.63

100.00

Grand Total
8.15
8.16

236,826
370.02 100.00
100.00
Investments made by the Scheme in shares of Group Companies of the Sponsor – NIL.

Holdings over 25% of the NAV of the scheme as of March 31, 2014.
Particulars
As on March 31, 2014
As on March 31, 2013
Nil
Number of Investors
Nil
N/A
Percentage of Holdings
N/A

8.17 Contingent Liabilities: Nil
8.18 Previous year figures have been reclassified/regrouped, wherever necessary, to conform to the
current year’s classification.
As per our attached report of even date
For Chaturvedi & Co
Chartered Accountants
Firm Regn. No.:- 302137E

For Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Ltd

For Sahara Mutual Fund

S.N.Chaturvedi
Partner
Mem.No: 040479

C.Kamdar
Director

R M Joshi
Director

S R Hegde
Trustee

Naresh Kumar Garg
Chief Executive Officer

A.N.Sridhar
Fund Manager

Place: Mumbai
Date: 6th June 2014

A K Thakur
Trustee

Vidya Manjrekar
Head- Operations & NAV Accounting
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Trustees of Sahara Mutual Fund
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Sahara Mutual Fund – Sahara Banking and
Financial Services Fund (“the Scheme”), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2014, and
the Revenue Account for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Trustees of Sahara Mutual Fund and the Management of Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Limited (the “Management”) are responsible for the preparation of these financial statements that
give a true and fair view of the financial position and financial performance of the Scheme in accordance
with the accounting policies and standards specified in the Ninth Schedule of the Securities and
Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996 and amendments thereto, as applicable. This
responsibility includes the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the
preparation and presentation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Scheme’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Scheme’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the
financial statements give the information required by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual
Funds) Regulations, 1996 and amendments thereto, as applicable, in the manner so required and give a
true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India:
(a) in the case of the Balance Sheet, of the state of affairs of the Scheme as at March 31, 2014;
(b) in the case of the Revenue Account, of the deficit for the year ended on that date.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
As required by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996 and
amendments thereto, as applicable, we report that:
a) We have obtained all the information and explanations, which to the best of our knowledge and
belief were necessary for the purpose of our audit.
b) The statement of account has been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies and
standards specified in the Ninth Schedule of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual
Funds) Regulations, 1996 and amendments thereto, as applicable.
c) We have reviewed the Valuation Policy being followed for the schemes of Sahara Mutual Fund. The
Valuation Policy implemented for the scheme is in line with the SEBI guidelines issued in this regard.
For Chaturvedi & Co.
Chartered Accountants
(Firm’s Registration No. 302137E)
(SN Chaturvedi)
(Partner)
Mem. No. 040479
Place : Mumbai
th
Date:6 June 2014
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BALANCE SHEET AS AT MARCH 31, 2014
SAHARA BANKING AND FINANCIAL SERVICES FUND

Schedule

ASSETS

As at
March 31,
2014
(Rs)

As at
March 31,
2013
(Rs)

Investments

1

141,140,151

156,012,985

Other Current Assets

2

7,384,302

19,556,033

148,524,453

175,569,018

Total Assets
LIABILITIES
Unit Capital

3

99,421,991

128,215,363

Reserves & Surplus

4

44,986,857

44,281,770

Current Liabilities & Provisions

5

4,115,605

3,071,885

148,524,453

175,569,018

11.6327
32.8543
11.6846
32.9742

10.5807
29.8674
10.5887
29.8907

Total Liabilities
NET ASSET VALUE
Net Asset Value per unit (Rs.)
i) Dividend Plan
ii) Growth Plan
ii) Direct Dividend Plan
iv) Direct Growth Plan
Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to the accounts

8

Schedules 1 to 5 and 8 form an integral part of the
Balance Sheet
As per our attached report of even date
For Chaturvedi & Co
Chartered Accountants
Firm Regn. No.:- 302137E

For Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Ltd

For Sahara Mutual Fund

S.N.Chaturvedi
Partner
Mem.No: 040479

C.Kamdar
Director

R M Joshi
Director

S R Hegde
Trustee

Naresh Kumar Garg
Chief Executive Officer

A.N.Sridhar
Fund Manager

Place: Mumbai
Date: 6th June 2014

A K Thakur
Trustee

Vidya Manjrekar
Head- Operations & NAV Accounting
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REVENUE ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR ENDED March 31, 2014
SAHARA BANKING AND FINANCIAL SERVICES
For the Year
FUND
Schedule ended March
31, 2014

For the Year
ended March
31, 2013

(Rs)

(Rs)

2,754,550

3,598,617

861,512

751,552

-

29,845,891

3,616,062

34,196,060

10,379,389

-

1,914,241

2,616,113

236,602

163,870

30,622

21,170

-

6,355

Registrar & Transfer Agent Charges

623,309

457,521

Custodian Fees

373,288

342,980

Fees & Expenses of Trustees

256,611

323,634

Statutory Audit Fees

167,073

160,272

Internal Audit Fees

268,411

293,323

59,438

74,809

156,040

172,029

96,396

103,299

150,272

741,797

14,711,692

5,477,172

(11,095,630)

28,718,888

INCOME
Dividend Income
Interest Income
Profit on Sale / Redemption of Investments (Net)
(Other than Inter Scheme Transfer / Sale)
Total Income

6

EXPENSES & LOSSES
Loss on Sale / Redemption of Investments (Net)
(Other than Inter Scheme Transfer / Sale)
Management Fees
ST on Management Fees
Investor Education & Awareness Fees
STT on Equity transactions

Insurance
Costs related to Investor Communication
Transaction cost
Marketing & Selling Exps. Including agent
commission
Total Expenses
Net Surplus for the Year (excluding unrealised
appreciation)
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Provision / Write back for dimunition in value of
investments

7

Net Surplus for the Year (excluding unrealised
appreciation)
Transfer from Income Equalisation Reserve

10,658,939

(10,270,891)

(436,691)

18,447,997

(8,853,379)

6,724,702

-

(37,823,974)

(9,290,070)

(12,651,275)

Dividend Paid including distribution tax
Net Surplus transferred to Revenue Reserve
Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to the
accounts

8
`

Schedules 6 to 8 form an integral part of the
Revenue Account
As per our attached report of even date
For Chaturvedi & Co
Chartered Accountants
Firm Regn. No.:- 302137E

For Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Ltd

For Sahara Mutual Fund

S.N.Chaturvedi
Partner
Mem.No: 040479

C.Kamdar
Director

R M Joshi
Director

S R Hegde
Trustee

Naresh Kumar Garg
Chief Executive Officer

A.N.Sridhar
Fund Manager

Place: Mumbai
Date: 6th June 2014

A K Thakur
Trustee

Vidya Manjrekar
Head- Operations & NAV Accounting
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SCHEDULES FORMING PART OF THE
BALANCE SHEET

SCHEDULE 1
Investments
(Refer Note 8.14 of Schedule 8 for detailed
Portfolio statement)
Equity Shares

As at
March 31,
2014
(Rs)

As at
March 31,
2013
(Rs)

141,140,151
141,140,151

156,012,985
156,012,985

2,919,482

905,747

-

18,362,347

97,500
-

22,135
8,850

546,761

256,954

3,820,559
7,384,302

19,556,033

79,558,612

102,677,856

12,639,823

18,352,768

6,334,367

6,441,975

889,189

742,764

99,421,991

128,215,363

SCHEDULE 2
Other Current Assets
Balances with Banks in Current accounts
Reverse Repo arrangements
Outstanding and accrued income
Receivable on issue of Units / Switches
Investment - Liquid MF Units
Contracts on Sale of Investments

SCHEDULE 3
Unit Capital
Dividend Option 7955861.1650 units of Rs.10
each
(For 2012-2013 10267785.6020 units of Rs.10
each)
Growth Option 1263982.2230 units of Rs.10
each
(For 2012-2013 1835276.7580 units of Rs.10
each)
Direct Dividend Option 633436.6460 units of
Rs.10 each
(For 2012-2013 - 644197.5440 Units of Rs.10
each)
Direct Growth Option 88918.9430 units of
Rs.10 each
(For 2012-2013 - 74276.4270 Units of Rs.10
each)
Total
(Refer Note 8.10 of Schedule 8)
SCHEDULE 4
Reserves and Surplus
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Revenue Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year

34,026,852

46,678,126

Transferred from Revenue Account

(9,290,070)

(12,651,275)

Balance as at end of the year
Income Equalisation Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year
Additions During the year
Transferred to Revenue Account
Balance as at end of the year

24,736,782

(8,853,379)
8,853,379

34,026,851

6,724,702
(6,724,702)
-

-

Unrealised Appreciation Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year
Additions During the year

6,949,945

11,235,548

14,558,733

(4,285,603)

Balance as at end of the year

21,508,678

6,949,945

Unit Premium Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year
Additions During the year
Balance as at end of the year

3,304,974

3,508,137

(4,563,577)

(203,163)
(1,258,603)
44,986,857

3,304,974
44,281,770

163,116

279,826

29,615

41,145

3,660

5,399

36,309

20,177

Payable - Transaction Fees

375

788

STT Payable

158

843

237,192

100,174

Contract for purchase of Investments

2,126,878

2,255,407

Payable on redemption of units

1,475,869

368,038

SCHEDULE 5
Current Liabilities and Provisions
Sundry Creditors
Management Fees Payable
ST on Management Fees
Payable - Fee on Investor Education

Distribution Payable
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Payable Load Subscription
Payable / Receivable on Switches

SCHEDULES FORMING PART OF REVENUE
ACCOUNT
SCHEDULE 6
Interest & Discount Income

66

88

42,367
4,115,605

3,071,885

As at
March 31,
2014
(Rs)

As at
March 31,
2013
(Rs)

Collaterised Borrowing & Lending

166,090

65,531

Reverse Repo

619,178

620,333

Net Income from Exit load on Redemptions

76,244
861,512

65,688
751,552

(10,875,239)

(604,348)

(216,300)
10,658,939

(10,875,239)
(10,270,891)

SCHEDULE 7
Provision / Write back for dimunition in
value of Investments
At the beginning of the year
At the end of the year
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Perspective Historical Per Unit Statistics
SAHARA BANKING AND FINANCIAL
SERVICES FUND
Particulars

(a) Gross Income
(i) Income other than Profit on sale of
Investments
(ii) Income from Profit (net of loss) on interscheme sales/

As at

As at

As at

31-Mar-14
(Rs. Per
Unit)

31-Mar-13
(Rs. Per
Unit)

31-Mar-12
(Rs. Per
Unit)

0.36

0.34

0.28

0.00

0.00

0.00

-1.04

2.33

-1.39

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.44

0.43

0.36

-1.12

2.24

-1.48

2.14

-0.31

0.70

Dividend Plan

11.6327

10.5807

11.8583

Growth Plan

32.8543

29.8674

27.8344

Direct Dividend Plan

11.6846

10.5887

Direct Growth Plan

32.9742

29.8907

Dividend Plan

11.7522

14.9432

16.2140

Growth Plan

33.1754

35.0853

32.1137

Direct Dividend Plan

11.7662

14.9435

Direct Growth Plan

33.2198

35.0858

8.0791

10.3337

transfer of Investments
(iii) Income from Profit (net of Loss) on sale other
than Inter scheme
(iv) Transfer to revenue account from past year'
s
reserve

(b) Aggregate of expenses, write off,
amortisation and charges
(c) Net Income

(d) Net unrealised appreciation/(dimunition) in
value of Investments
(e) Net Asset Value

(f) Repurchase Price during the year**
(i) Highest

(ii) Lowest
Dividend Plan

9.2386
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Growth Plan

22.8067

24.6465

8.0978

10.3398

22.8529

29.1879

Dividend Plan

11.8709

15.4337

16.5788

Growth Plan

33.5105

36.2371

32.8363

Direct Dividend Plan

11.8850

15.0944

Direct Growth Plan

33.5554

35.4402

8.1607

10.6730

9.4465

23.0371

25.4556

22.2191

8.1796

10.4442

23.0837

29.4827

(h) Ratio of expenses to average daily net
assets by Percentage

2.85%

2.62%

2.50%

(i) Ratio of income to average daily net assets by
Percentage(excluding transfer to revenue account
from past year'
s reserve but including net change
in unrealized appreciation / depreciation in value
of Investments and adjusted for net loss on sale /
redemption of investments)

9.49%

24.85%

-2.87%

Direct Dividend Plan
Direct Growth Plan

21.7302

(g) Resale Price during the year**
(i) Highest

(ii) Lowest
Dividend Plan
Growth Plan
Direct Dividend Plan
Direct Growth Plan

*Annaulised
**Based on the maximum load during the year
Per unit calculations based on number of units in
issue at the end of the period
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SCHEDULE - 8
ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES FORMING PART OF ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
MARCH 31, 2014.
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1 About the Scheme
SAHARA Banking and Financial Services Fund is an open ended sectoral growth scheme of Sahara
Mutual Fund (the “Fund”). The investment objective is to provide long term capital appreciation through
investment in equities and equities related securities of companies engaged in Banking & Financial
Services, either whole or in part In line with SEBI Circular for providing separate options for direct
investments , the scheme has now four options (1) Growth Option (ii) Dividend Option (iii) Growth Option
– Direct and (iv) Dividend Option – Direct.
The scheme will not declare dividend under the Growth Plan. The Income earned on such units will
remain invested under the scheme and will be reflected in the Net Asset Value. The New Fund Offer
period of the scheme was from 28/07/2008 to 26/08/2008.
1.2 Asset Management Company
Sahara Mutual Fund (SMF) has been established as a Trust in accordance with the Indian Trusts Act,
1882, and is sponsored by Sahara India Financial Corporation Limited.
Sahara Asset Management Company Private Limited (“SAMCPL”), a company incorporated under the
Companies Act, 1956, has been appointed as the Asset Management Company (“Investment Manager”)
to Sahara Mutual Fund.
The Shareholding of Sahara Asset Management Company Private Limited as on March 31, 2014 is as
follows:
Name of the Shareholder
Type of Holdings
Holding
Sahara India Financial Corporation Limited
Equity
45.60 %
Sahara India Corp Investment Limited
Equity
11.36 %
Sahara Prime City Limited
(formerly Sahara India Investment Corporation Limited )

Equity

11.36 %

Sahara Care Limited

Equity

31.68 %

Type of Holdings
Preference
Preference

Holding
90.32 %
9.68 %

Name of the Shareholder
Sahara India Commercial Corporation Ltd
Sahara Care Ltd

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1. Basis of Accounting.
The Scheme maintains its books of account on an accrual basis. These financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with the Accounting Policies and Standards specified in the Ninth
Schedule of The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996, (the
“Regulation”), and amendments thereto, as applicable.
2.2. Accounting for Investments
2.2.1
Investments are accounted on trade dates at cost including brokerage, stamp duty and
other charges which are included in the acquisition of investments.
2.2.2
Profit or loss on sale of investments is determined on the respective trade date by
adopting the “Weighted Average Cost” method.
2.2.3
Bonus/Rights entitlements on equity holdings are recognized only when the original
shares on which the entitlement accrues are traded on the Principal stock exchange on
ex-bonus/ex-rights basis respectively.
2.2.4
Primary Market Investments are recognized on the basis of allotment advice.
2.3. Valuation of Investments
Valuation Policy as on 31.03.2014 is as under.
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VALUATION POLICY / PROCEDURES - EQUITY & EQUITY RELATED SECURITIES
1. Traded Equity Securities
A security would be treated as ‘Traded’ if it is traded on the “Designated Stock Exchanges” namely,
National Stock Exchange (NSE), or/and Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) or/and MCX Stock
Exchange, within a period of 30 days (including the date of valuation). The order in which the three
designated exchanges would be used for the purposes of valuation would always remain as NSE,
BSE and MCX. The price for valuation would be the last quoted closing price on the valuation date. If
the equity security is not traded on the valuation date in NSE, then BSE price would be considered
and if BSE is not available MCX Stock Exchange price would be considered for valuation.
The principal “Designated” stock exchange for valuation of equity security would be NSE. When an
equity security is not traded on the valuation date on any of the “Designated Stock Exchanges”, then
the closing price of the earliest previous date shall be used for valuation provided such date is within
a period of 30 days (including the date of valuation).
2. Thinly Traded Securities
"When trading in an equity/equity related security (such as convertible debentures, equity warrants,
etc.) in a month is both less than Rs.5 lakhs and the total volume is less than 50,000 shares, it shall
be considered as a thinly traded security and valued accordingly". In order to determine whether a
security is thinly traded or not, the volumes traded in all “designated” stock exchanges shall taken into
account.
3. Non-traded / Suspended / Unlisted Equity Securities
When a security (other than Government Securities) is not traded on any stock exchange for a period
of thirty days prior to the valuation date, the scrip would be considered as a Non-Traded security. This
would include at least four categories:
i. Shares remaining non-traded for more than 30 days in all the “Designated Stock Exchanges”
ii. Shares that are suspended from trading in all the “Designated Stock Exchanges” due to any
reason
iii. Shares remaining unlisted for more than 30 days from the date of closure of any public issue
iv. Shares issued by way of corporate actions by companies and remaining unlisted for more
than 30 days from the ex-date of the respective corporate action.
The valuation methodology for the above four categories, until the date of listing, would be as follows:
a) Based on the latest available Balance Sheet, net worth would be calculated as follows:
(i)

b)
c)
d)
e)

Net Worth per share = [share capital+ reserves (excluding revaluation reserves) – Misc.
expenditure and Debit Balance in P&L A/c] Divided by No. of Paid up Shares.
(ii)
Average capitalization rate (P/E ratio) for the industry based upon NSE prices or BSE
prices and discounted by 75% i.e. only 25% of the Industry average P/E would be taken
as capitalization rate (P/E ratio). Earnings Per Share (EPS) of the latest audited annual
accounts would be considered for this purpose.
The value as per the net worth value per share (i) and the capital earning value (ii) calculated as
above would be averaged and further discounted by 10%( 15% for Unlisted ) for ill-liquidity so as
to arrive at the fair value per share.
In case the EPS is negative, EPS value for that year would be taken as zero for arriving at
capitalized earning.
In case where the latest Balance Sheet of the company is not available within nine months from
the close of the year, unless the accounting year is changed, the shares of such companies
would be valued at zero.
In case an individual security accounts for more than 5% of the total assets of the scheme, then
an Independent Valuer shall be appointed for the valuation of the said security.

4. Demerger/ Spin-Off/Carve-Out/Divestiture etc.
Generally on any of the above corporate actions, a currently listed security in the portfolio gets bifurcated
into securities of two or more entities (Demerger/ Spin-Off/Carve-Out/Divestiture etc.)
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The valuation of the shares of these entities would be as under.
1. In case shares of all entities post the corporate action are traded on the “Designated Stock
Exchanges”, the closing traded price would be used for valuation purpose.
2. In case one or all of the entities post the corporate action, are not traded, then it would be
ensured that:
a. Listed entity would be valued at the closing price
b. Unlisted entity would be valued = Value of combined entity(s) immediately prior to
corporate action – Value of listed entity immediately prior to corporate action AND this
valuation of the unlisted entity would be persisted till the entity gets listed. However, if the
entity remains unlisted for a period of 30 days (including the valuation date) from the date
of the corporate action, it would be valued as per the valuation rules applicable for a nontraded security.
5. Warrants
a. In respect of warrants to subscribe for shares attached to instruments, the warrants would be valued at
the value of the share which would be obtained on exercise of the warrants as reduced by the amount
which would be payable on exercise of the warrant. A discount similar to the discount to be determined in
respect on convertible debentures shall be deducted to account for the period, which must elapse before
the warrant can be exercised.
b. In case the warrants are traded separately they would be valued as per the valuation guidelines
applicable to Equity Shares.
6. Rights
Until they are traded, the value of "rights" shares would be calculated as:
Vr = n ÷ m x (Pex - Pof)
Where
Vr = Value of rights
n = no. of rights offered
m = no. of original shares held
Pex = Ex-rights price
Pof = Rights Offer Price
Where the rights are not treated pari passu with the existing shares, suitable adjustment would be made
to the value of rights. Where it is decided not to subscribe for the rights but to renounce them and
renunciations are being traded, the rights would be valued at the renunciation value.
7. Derivatives
Market values of traded open futures and option contracts would be determined with respect to the
exchange on which contracted originally, i.e., a future or an option contracted on the National Stock
Exchange (NSE) would be valued at the closing price on the NSE.
The price of the same futures and option contract on the Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) cannot be
considered for the purpose of valuation, unless the futures or option itself has been contracted on the
BSE.
The same will be valued at closing price if the contract is traded on the valuation day. In case there is no
trade on valuation day then the same would be valued at Settlement prices.
However, the contracts which are going to expire on valuation date would be valued at Settlement prices
only.
Related matters
I.
In case of any other instruments not mentioned above and not covered in the policy above, the
same shall be referred to the Investment and Valuation Committee which is empowered to take
decision.
II.

In case of any perceived conflict of interest while valuing the securities, the matter shall be dealt
and decided by Investment and Valuation Committee.
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III.

For non– business day the Valuation shall be done on aggregated Scrip wise prices as provided
by CRISIL/ICRA. In absence of Scrip wise prices the valuation shall be done on accrual
basis/amortization basis based on last valuation.

IV.

In case of exceptional circumstances like, exceptional policy announcements by
government/regulatory bodies, natural disasters, public disturbances, extreme volatility in capital
market, shut down of market, war etc and on those days if scrip- wise value or valuation matrices
are not available from CRISIL/ICRA and if security is not traded, the valuation for the day shall be
done based on last valuation plus accrual/amortization or as may decided by the Investment and
Valuation Committee.

V.

The Valuation Policy shall be reviewed by the Statutory Auditor at least once in a year.

VI.

Valuation Policy and Procedures as updated and approved by the Board of AMC / Board of
Trustees shall be applicable for the schemes of Sahara Mutual Fund

VALUATION OF DEBT INSTRUMENTS
(I) - The Valuation Policy of Debt and Money Market Instruments is given below:
Sr.
No.
1.

2.

3.

4.

Instrument

Valuation applicable on the day of
valuation

CBLO, REPO, Fixed Deposit, Call Money , etc and
On Amortization basis / Accrual basis.
such Similar Instruments
Certificate of Deposit (CD), Commercial Paper
(CP), Non-Convertible Debenture (NCD) Pass
Through Certificate (PTC), Bonds, etc. where
Scrip wise values are available from CRISIL/
ICRA( Over 60 days residual maturity)

The aggregated price provided by
CRISIL / ICRA for the given security or
any other agencies entrusted by SEBI
from time to time for that day

Certificate of Deposit (CD), Commercial Paper
(CP), Non-Convertible Debenture (NCD) Pass
Through Certificate (PTC), Bonds, etc where
Scrip wise values are not available from CRISIL/
ICRA (Upto 60 days residual maturity)

i)

Same security traded and reported on
public platforms.

On Weighted Average Yield of all trades
(excluding abnormal and retail trades)
on Public platforms, for that Securities
on that day irrespective of settlement
day.

ii)

If Same Security not traded and reported
on any of the public platforms.

The aggregated matrices of CRISIL/
ICRA for the respective category or any
other agencies entrusted by SEBI from
time to time for that day.

Central
Government
Securities
/
State
Government Securities / Treasury Bills/Cash
Management Bill etc

Aggregated valuation as provided by
CRISIL/ ICRA or any other agencies
entrusted by SEBI from time to time for
that day.

(II) Pricing of Inter -Scheme Transfer of Debt Instruments (ISTs):
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Sr.
No.

1.

2.

Instrument

Valuation applicable on the day of
valuation

Certificate of Deposit (CD), Commercial Paper
(CP), Non-Convertible Debenture (NCD) Pass
Through Certificate (PTC), Bonds, etc.

i)

Same security traded and reported on
FTRAC up to the time of IST.

ii)

If Same security is not traded but similar
Security/securities are traded and reported
up to the time of IST on FTRAC

iii)

If Same or similar Security/securities are
not traded and reported up to the time of
IST on FTRAC

Pricing will be based on Weighted Average
Yield of all trades in same security on FTRAC
(Excluding abnormal and retail trades)
irrespective
of
settlement
day
plus
accrual/amortization, if any, based on
settlement day of the IST. Example: If
settlement is T+0 then no accrual/amortization
and if the settlement is other than T+0, then
appropriate accrual/amortization.
Pricing will be based on Weighted Average
Yield of all trades in similar security/securities
on FTRAC (excluding abnormal and retail
trades) irrespective of settlement day plus
accrual/amortization, if any, based on
settlement day of the IST. Example : If
settlement is T+0 then no accrual/amortization
and if the settlement is other than T+0, then
appropriate accrual/amortization
Previous end of the day valuation plus accrual,
if any, based on settlement day of the IST shall
be taken. Example: if settlement is T+0 then
no accrual/amortization and if the settlement is
other
than
T+0
then
appropriate
Accrual/amortization.

Central
Government
Securities
/
State
Government Securities / Treasury Bills/ Cash
Management Bill etc

i)

Same security traded and reported on
NDS-OM section of CCIL website.

On last traded price as given on NDS-Section
of CCIL Website (Excluding abnormal trade).

ii)

Same security not traded and reported on
NDS-OM section of CCIL website

Previous end of the day valuation price plus
accrual/amortization shall be taken

AMC may take screen shot/ downloaded excel file from FTRAC / NDS-OM for the same purpose.
Similar Security:
Similar security here shall mean those securities which are same nature security [Commercial Paper (CP),
Certificate of Deposit (CD), Non-Convertible Debentures (NCD), etc ] of different issuers having same or
equivalent credit rating for Similar maturity profile (For both Short term rating and Long term rating), and falling
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in same “Maturity Bucket” as defined below. Further the instruments Commercial Paper (CP), Bonds and NonConvertible Debentures (NCDs) etc are categorized into following sub-categories:—
1)
NBFC
2)
Real Estate,
3)
PTC
4)
Others
Maturity Bucket:
• For Debt Security having remaining maturity upto 91 days
Maturity date of securities falling between
Time Bucket
1st and 7th of the month
1-7 of the same month
8th and 15th of the month
8-15 of the same month
16th and 23rd of the month
16-23 of the same month
24th to end of the month
24- end of the month
•
For Debt Securities having remaining maturities more than 91 days
“Time Bucket”for maturity profile of “Similar Securities” shall be same calendar month of that year.
Notes:
1) For the purpose of Valuation of securities and for Inter Scheme Transfer, Weighted average of all
trades of 5 crs and above, excluding abnormal trades and retail trades shall be taken. Since retail
trades are of small value and generally may deviate materially from the yield at which the market
lots in WDM is traded, it would be appropriate to exclude the retail trades for the more realistic
valuation of the security.
2) Abnormal Trade is defined as those transaction/s which is/are over+/- 250 Basis Point compared
to the previous day valuation yield of the security in question
For the Valuation/Inter-scheme transfer, the available trades of various public platform shall be
considered where the face value of trade per transaction is Rs. 5 crs and above. If in any given
day in same/ similar security, the value of total trade is less than minimum market lot of 5 Crs, the
same shall be ignored for the valuation purpose.
3) CRISIL and ICRA provide the valuation matrices for various maturity bucket. Scrip wise value for
various debt instruments are also provided by CRISIL and ICRA . Trades are also reported and
settled on various public platform.
4) Public platform for the purpose of valuation of security shall mean FIMMDA managed FTRAC,
NSE, BSE, (except NSER- NSE retail and BSER- BSE Retail), RBI managed NDS-OM or any
other Public platform for Debt market launched from time to time. Market trades from different
Platforms are usually collected by BILAV Information LLP, which may be used for the purpose of
Valuation of traded security for which scrip wise values are not available from CRISIL/ICRA
5) The data on yield and prices are generally provided upto 4 decimal point which shall be
considered. Price upto 4 decimal points shall be considered on respective face value of the
instruments for arriving at valuation.
6) For the valuation of traded security where scrip wise values are not available by CRISIL/ICRA,
price derived from (corresponding to) Weighted Average yield of all available trades excluding
abnormal and retail trades on any public platform for the same security on t+1 settlement basis
shall be taken.
In case, on any other day because of technical and other reason, if the Required Bilav file is not
sent by 7.30 PM, FIMMDA managed FTRAC platform and NDS OM section of CCIL website may
be used for the calculation of weighted average yield of traded security for which scrip wise values
are not available .
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7) For non traded security where scrip wise values are not available, the valuation shall be done on
the price derived from (corresponding to) the aggregated yield matrices for the respective category
as provided by CRISIL/ICRA on T+1 settlement basis.
8) For Government Securities, SDL, T-Bills, Cash Management Bill etc, the valuation shall be done
on aggregated script wise pricing as provided by CRISL/ICRA and as applicable for that day.
In the absence of scrip wise values the valuation shall be based on aggregated matrices if
available from CRISIL/ICRA on T+1 settlement and as applicable for that day.
9) In case the valuation matrices/script wise value is available either from CRISIL/ICRA upto
reasonable time limit, the same shall be considered for arriving at valuation

a

10) In case on any given day neither the script wise value nor the valuation Matrices is available from
CRISIL/ICRA within the reasonable time limit, the Valuation shall be done based on
accrual/amortization based on last valuation.
2.3.1 Valuation of Other Investments
Mutual Fund Units:
a. In case of traded Mutual Fund schemes, the units would be valued at closing price on the stock
exchange on which they are traded like equity instruments. In case the units are not traded for
more than 7 days, last declared Repurchase Price (the price at which Mutual Fund schemes buys
its units back) would be considered for valuation.
b. If the last available Repurchase price is older than 7 days, the valuation will be done at the last
available NAV reduced by illiquidity discount. The illiquidity discount will be 10% of NAV or as
decided by the Valuation Committee.
c. In case of non-traded Mutual Fund scheme, the last declared Repurchase Price (the price at
which Mutual Fund schemes buys its units back) would be considered for valuation
2.3.2 Valuation of securities not covered under the above valuation policy:
The total exposure in securities, which do not fall under above valuation norms, shall not exceed
5% of the total AUM of the scheme
In case of any other instruments not mentioned above and not covered in the policy above, the
same shall be referred to the Investment and Valuation Committee which is empowered to take
decision.
Investment in such securities is to be valued by a method approved by the Investment and
Valuation Committee and the same will be reported to the Board of Trustees.
2.3.3 Unrealised Appreciation/Depreciation.
In accordance with the Guidance Note on Accounting for Investments in the Financial Statements of
Mutual Funds issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, the unrealized appreciation
determined separately for each individual investment is directly transferred to the “Unrealised
Appreciation Reserve Account” i.e. without routing it through the revenue account.
The provision for depreciation in value of investments determined separately for each individual
investment is recognized in the revenue account. The loss (realized) on investments sold / transferred
during the year is charged to revenue account, instead of being first adjusted against the provision for
depreciation, if already created in the prior year, as recommended by the said Guidance Note.
However, this departure from the Guidance Note does not have any net impact on the Scheme’s net
assets or results for the year.
2.4 Revenue Recognition
2.4.1 Income and Expenses are recognized on accrual basis.
2.4.2 Interest on funds invested in short term deposits with scheduled commercial banks is
recognized on accrual basis.
2.4.3 Dividend income earned by the scheme is recognized on the date the share is quoted on
ex-dividend basis on principal stock exchange.
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2.4.4 Proportionate realized gains on investments out of sales / repurchase proceeds at the time
of sale / repurchase of units are transferred to revenue Account from Unit Premium
Reserve.
3. Net Asset Value for Growth / Dividend Options:
The net asset value of the units is determined separately for units issued under the Growth Option,
Dividend Option, Growth Option – Direct and Dividend Option – Direct. For reporting the net asset
value of the Growth Option , Dividend Option, Growth Option – Direct and Dividend Option - Direct,
daily income earned, including realized and unrealized gain or loss in the value of investments and
expenses incurred by the scheme are allocated to the options in proportion to the value of the net
assets
4

Unit Premium Reserve Account
Upon issue and redemption of units, the net premium or discount to the face value of units is adjusted
against the unit premium reserve account of the Scheme, after an appropriate of the issue proceeds
and redemption payout is credited or debited respectively to the income equalization account.

5. Income Equalisation Account
An appropriate part of the sale proceeds or the redemption amount, as the case may be, is
transferred to income equalization account. The total distributable surplus (without considering
unrealized appreciation) upto the date of issue/ redemption of units has been taken into account for
the purpose of ascertaining the amount to be transferred to Equalization Account on a daily basis.
The net balance in this account is transferred to the Revenue Account at the end of the year.
6.

Load Charges
The Entry load charges collected, if any are used to meet expenses as per the stipulated SEBI
guidelines from time to time. Service tax on exit load , if any, shall be paid out of the exit load
proceeds and exit load net of service tax, if any, shall be credited to the scheme.

7.

Unclaimed Redemption
In line with SEBI circular no. MFD/CIR/9/120 /2000 dated November 24, 2000, the unclaimed
redemption and dividend amounts may be deployed by the mutual funds in call money market or
money market instruments only and the investors who claim these amounts during a period of three
years from the due date shall be paid at the prevailing Net Asset Value. After a period of three years,
this amount can be transferred to a pool account and the investors can claim the unclaimed
redemption amount at NAV prevailing at the end of the third year. The income earned on such funds
can be used for the purpose of investor education. The AMC should make continuous effort to remind
the investors through letters to take their unclaimed amounts. Further, the investment management
fee charged by the AMC for managing unclaimed amounts shall not exceed 50 basis points.

8.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
8.1 Management Fees, Trusteeship Fees, Custodian Fees
Management Fees
Management Fees (inclusive of service tax) has been computed at 1.40 % on average net
assets calculated on a daily basis.
Trusteeship Fees & Expenses
th
In accordance with Deed of Trust dated 18 July 1996 between the Settler and the Trustees, the
fund has paid or provided an annual fee of Rs.1,00,000/- per Trustee. Trusteeship fees &
expenses are allocated to the schemes on the basis of their daily average net assets.
Custodian Charges
HDFC Bank provides Custodial services to the scheme for which fees is paid as per the
agreement.

197

Sahara Mutual Fund – Annual Report 13-14.
8.2 Provision for tax has not been made since the income of the scheme is exempt from tax under
Section 10(23D) of the Income Tax Act, 1961.

8.3 Transactions with Brokers in excess of 5% or more of the aggregate purchases and sale of
securities made by the Fund have\s been reported to the Trustees on a Bimonthly basis.

8.4 Certain investments are registered in the name of the Fund without specific reference to the
Scheme. As at March 31, 2014 the aggregate market value of securities under Sahara Banking
and Financial Services Fund but held in the name of Sahara Mutual Fund is Rs.NIL

8.5 The Registrar and Transfer Agents charges amounting to Rs.6,23,309.00 Constitutes 14.39 %
of the total schemes expenses.
8.6 Transactions with Associates
Brokerage / Commission on sale of units by the Scheme or by the Asset Management Company
given to associates, pursuant to Regulation 25(8):
Commission to SIFCL A/c CMSD (Associate) made for sale of units of the MF for the current
year ended 31st March 2014.
(Rs.In lakhs)
Tax Gain
Growth Liquid
Mid cap
Wealth Plus
Short Term
Infrastructure
Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund
Bond
Fund
0.01
0.42
0.13
0.03
0.14
0.02
0.07
Star Value
Fund

Super 20
Fund

Power and Natural
Resources Fund

Banking & Financial
Services Fund

0.01

0.02

0.00

0.76

(Rs. In lakhs)
Income Fund
0.01

Commission to SIFCL A/c CMSD (Associate) made for sale of units of the MF for the previous year ended
st
31 March 2013.
(Rs. In lakhs)
Tax Gain
Growth Liquid
Mid cap
Wealth Plus
Short Term Bond
Infrastructure Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund
0.01
0.40
0.24
0.04
0.25
0.05
0.11
(Rs. in lakhs)
Star Value
Fund
0.04

Super 20 Fund
0.08

Power and Natural
Resources Fund
0.00

Banking & Financial
Services Fund
0.58

Income Fund
0.00

Commission paid to associates / related parties /group companies of Sponsor/AMC
Name of associate / Nature
of Period
Business
given Commission
paid
related parties / association
/ Covered
(Rs cr and % of total (Rs & % of total
group companies of nature of relation
business received by commission paid
Sponsor / AMC
the fund)
by the fund
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
Sponsor /
April 13SIFCL A/c CMSD
Mutual Fund
(1.29 & 0.45%)
(Rs.1,60,398.82 ;
March 14
Distributor
13.57% )
SIFCL A/c CMSD

Sponsor / Mutual
Fund Distributor

April 12March 13

(0.81 & 0.24%)

(Rs.1,80,802.67 ;
8.82% )

In column No 4, the total business received by the fund includes business through ARNs & also
direct business.
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In column No 5, the amount includes the upfront and the trail.
Brokerage paid to associates / related parties / group companies of Sponsor/AMC
Name of associate /
Nature of
Period
Value of Transaction (in
Brokerage (Rs Cr &
association /
Covered
Rs, Cr & of Total value
% of total brokerage
related parties /
group companies of
nature of relation
of Transaction of the
paid by the Fund)
Sponsor / AMC
Fund)
There are no associate brokers, hence not applicable for the period April – Mar 2014 & April – Mar 2013.
8.7 The aggregate value of Investment purchased and sold(Including Redemption) during the year as a
percentage of daily average net asset value;
Purchases
Year
2013-14
2012-13
Sales

Year
2013-14
2012-13

Amount (Rs)
845,466,282
568,488,165

% of Daily average
552.11
271.55

Amount (Rs)
875,343,489
626,351,467

% of Daily average
571.62
299.19

8.8 Aggregate Appreciation and Depreciation in the value of Investments :
Asset Class
31-Mar-14
31-Mar-13
Appreciation
Depreciation
Appreciation
Depreciation
(Rs. In lakhs)
(Rs. In lakhs)
(Rs. In lakhs)
(Rs. In lakhs)
Equity Shares

215.09

2.16

69.50

8.9 Income and Expense Ratio
Total Income (including net unrealized appreciation and net of loss on
sale of investments) to average net assets calculated on a daily basis.
Total Expenditure to average net assets calculated on a daily basis

8.10
8.10.1

108.75

2013-14
9.49%

2012-13
24.85%

2.83%

2.62%

Movements in Unit Capital: Face Value of Units: Rs.10/- per unit.
Growth Option

Initial Capital
Opening Balance
Units Sold during the
year
Units Repurchased
during the year
Closing Balance

Number of Units
As on March 31,
2014
1,902,668.279
1,835,276.758
258,532.191

Amount (Rs)
Number of Units
As on March 31, As on March 31,
2014
2013
19,026,682.79 1,902,668.279
18,352,767.58 2,087,296.372
2,585,321.91

Amount (Rs)
As on March 31,
2013
19,026,682.79
20,872,963.72

772,488.383

7,724,883.83

(829,826.726)

(8,298,267.26) (1,024,507.997)

(10,245,079.97)

1,263,982.223

12,639,822.23

1,835,276.758

18,352,767.58
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8.10.2

Growth option -Direct

Initial Capital
Opening Balance
Units Sold during the
year
Units Repurchased
during the year
Closing Balance
8.10.3

Number of Units

Amount(Rs)

As on March 31,
2014
74,276.427

As on March 31,
2014
742,764.27

164,401.374
(149,758.858)
88,918.943

Dividend Option

Number of
Units
As on March
31, 2014
356,886.705
10,267,785.602
718,785.606

Initial Capital
Opening Balance
Units Sold during the year
Units Repurchased during the
(3,030,710.043)
year
7,955,861.165
Closing Balance
8.10.4

Dividend Option Direct

Initial Capital
Opening Balance
Units Sold during the year
Units Repurchased during the
year
Closing Balance
8.11
8.12

Number of
Units
As on March
31, 2014
644,197.544
333,557.812
(344,318.710)
633,436.646

Number of
Units
As on March
31, 2013
-

Amount(Rs)
As on March 31,
2013
-

-

1,644,013.74

95,131.176

951,311.76

(1,497,588.58)
889,189.43

(20,854.749)
74,276.427

(208,547.49)
742,764.27

Amount (Rs)
Number of Units Amount (Rs)
As on March 31,
As on March
As on March
2014
31, 2013
31, 2013
3,568,867.05
356,886.705
3,568,867.05
102,677,856.02 13,025,527.510 130,255,275.10
7,187,856.06 1,917,780.540 19,177,805.40
(30,307,100.43) (4,675,522.448) (46,755,224.48)
79,558,611.65 10,267,785.602 102,677,856.02

Amount (Rs)
As on March 31,
2014

Number of Units Amount (Rs)
As on March
As on March
31, 2013
31, 2013
6,441,975.44
3,335,578.12 4,748,777.080 47,487,770.80

(3,443,187.10) (4,104,579.536) (41,045,795.36)
6,334,366.46
644,197.544
6,441,975.44

The scheme has declared Nil dividend during the year ended March 31, 2014 (PY: Rs. 2.50 per unit).
No bonus (PY: Nil) was declared during the year ended March 31, 2014.
Unclaimed Amounts ( beyond three months) :

Unclaimed Redemption and Dividend during the year ended March 31, 2014 are as below:
Scheme Name
No of
Unclaimed
No. of
Unclaimed
Investors
Dividend(Rs)
Investors
Redemption (Rs)
Sahara Banking and
Financial Services Fund
69
237,192.71
18
309,568.59
8.13 Investments made by the Schemes of Sahara Mutual Fund in Companies or their subsidiaries that
have invested more than 5% of the net asset value of any scheme, pursuant to Regulation
25(11):NIL
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8.14 Portfolio Statement as on March 31, 2014
Name of the Instrument

ISIN

Quantity

Market
Value
(Rs. in
Lakhs)

% to
NAV

% to
Category
Total

1) Equity & Equity Related
(a) Listed/awaiting Listing on Stock
Exchange
EQUITY SHARES
BANKS
ICICI BANK LTD
HDFC BANK LTD
AXIS BANK LIMITED
STATE BANK OF INDIA
PUNJAB NATIONAL BANK
INDUSIND BANK LIMITED
ORIENTAL BANK OF COMMERCE
CANARA BANK
BANK OF BARODA
THE FEDERAL BANK LIMITED
ING VYSYA BANK LTD
DCB BANK LIMITED
BANK OF INDIA
CITY UNION BANK LIMITED
FINANCE
BAJAJ FINANCE LIMITED
L&T FINANCE HOLDINGS LIMITED
HDFC LTD
(b) Unlisted
Equity Total (a+b)
2) Debt Instruments
(a) Listed/awaiting Listing on Stock
Exchange
(b) Privately Placed/Unlisted
(c) Securitised Debt
3) Money Market Instruments
4) Short term Deposit
5) Other- Net Current Assets
Grand Total

INE090A01013
INE040A01026
INE238A01026
INE062A01012
INE160A01014
INE095A01012
INE141A01014
INE476A01014
INE028A01013
INE171A01029
INE166A01011
INE503A01015
INE084A01016
INE491A01021

33700
40000
7000
4500
10000
13000
25000
20000
5000
35000
5000
45000
11000
18186

INE296A01016
INE498L01015
INE001A01036

91.38

93.49

6.36

6.51

419.58
299.52
102.24
86.30
74.39
65.24
55.73
52.87
36.04
33.51
31.75
27.56
25.14
9.79

2000
40000
3000

35.82
29.42
26.52

Nil
317,386

Nil
1411.40

0.00
97.74

Nil
100.00

Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
317,386

Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
32.69
1444.09

Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
2.26
100.00

Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
100.00
100.00

8.15

Investments made by the Scheme in shares of Group Companies of the Sponsor – NIL.

8.16

Holdings over 25% of the NAV of the scheme as of March 31, 2014.
Particulars
Number of Investors
Percentage of Holdings

As on March 31, 2014
Nil
N/A

As on March 31, 2013
Nil
N/A
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8 .17 Contingent Liabilities: Nil
8.18 Previous year figures have been reclassified/regrouped, wherever necessary, to conform to the
current year’s classification.
As per our attached report of even date
For Chaturvedi & Co
Chartered Accountants
Firm Regn. No.:- 302137E

For Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Ltd

For Sahara Mutual Fund

S.N.Chaturvedi
Partner
Mem.No: 040479

C.Kamdar
Director

R M Joshi
Director

S R Hegde
Trustee

Naresh Kumar Garg
Chief Executive Officer

A.N.Sridhar
Fund Manager

Place: Mumbai
Date: 6th June 2014

A K Thakur
Trustee

Vidya Manjrekar
Head- Operations & NAV Accounting
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Trustees of Sahara Mutual Fund
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Sahara Mutual Fund – Sahara Power and
Natural Resources Fund (“the Scheme”), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2014, and
the Revenue Account for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Trustees of Sahara Mutual Fund and the Management of Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Limited (the “Management”) are responsible for the preparation of these financial statements that
give a true and fair view of the financial position and financial performance of the Scheme in accordance
with the accounting policies and standards specified in the Ninth Schedule of the Securities and
Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996 and amendments thereto, as applicable. This
responsibility includes the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the
preparation and presentation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Scheme’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Scheme’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the
financial statements give the information required by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual
Funds) Regulations, 1996 and amendments thereto, as applicable, in the manner so required and give a
true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India:
(a) in the case of the Balance Sheet, of the state of affairs of the Scheme as at March 31, 2014;
(b) in the case of the Revenue Account, of the surplus for the year ended on that date.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
As required by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996 and
amendments thereto, as applicable, we report that:
a) We have obtained all the information and explanations, which to the best of our knowledge and
belief were necessary for the purpose of our audit.
b) The statement of account has been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies and
standards specified in the Ninth Schedule of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual
Funds) Regulations, 1996 and amendments thereto, as applicable.
c) We have reviewed the Valuation Policy being followed for the schemes of Sahara Mutual Fund. The
Valuation Policy implemented for the scheme is in line with the SEBI guidelines issued in this regard.
For Chaturvedi & Co.
Chartered Accountants
(Firm’s Registration No. 302137E)

(SN Chaturvedi)
(Partner)
Mem. No. 040479
Place : Mumbai
th
Date: 6 June 2014
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BALANCE SHEET AS AT MARCH 31, 2014
As at
Schedule
SAHARA POWER AND NATURAL RESOURCES
March 31,
FUND
2014
ASSETS
(Rs)

As at
March 31,
2013
(Rs)

Investments

1

21,487,779

21,550,030

Other Current Assets

2

1,334,981

3,344,953

22,822,760

24,894,983

Total Assets
LIABILITIES
Unit Capital

3

18,810,302

25,778,354

Reserves & Surplus

4

3,054,258

(1,244,446)

Current Liabilities & Provisions

5

958,200

361,075

22,822,760

24,894,983

10.4951
12.3029
10.5362
12.3326

8.5980
10.0789
8.6098
10.0855

Total Liabilities
NET ASSET VALUE
Net Asset Value per unit (Rs.)
i) Dividend Plan
ii) Growth Plan
iii) Direct Dividend Plan
iv) Direct Growth Plan
Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to the
accounts

10

Schedules 1 to 6 and 9 form an integral part of the
Balance Sheet
As per our attached report of even date
For Chaturvedi & Co
Chartered Accountants
Firm Regn. No.:- 302137E

For Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Ltd

For Sahara Mutual Fund

S.N.Chaturvedi
Partner
Mem.No: 040479

C.Kamdar
Director

R M Joshi
Director

S R Hegde
Trustee

Naresh Kumar Garg
Chief Executive Officer

A.N.Sridhar
Fund Manager

Place: Mumbai
Date: 6th June 2014

A K Thakur
Trustee

Vidya Manjrekar
Head- Operations & NAV Accounting
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REVENUE ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR ENDED March 31, 2014
For the
For the year
SAHARA POWER AND NATURAL RESOURCES
year ended
Schedule
ended March
FUND
March 31,
31, 2013
2014
(Rs)
(Rs)
INCOME
Dividend Income

558,412

650,695

146,497

126,571

704,909

777,266

2,381,264

3,943,145

279,138

394,756

34,503

23,075

4,459
-

2,985
930

Registrar & Transfer Agent Charges

92,092

74,387

Custodian Fees

56,023

53,308

Fees & Expenses of Trustees

50,721

56,029

Statutory Audit Fees

24,768

26,453

Internal Audit Fees

40,772

43,755

9,530

9,438

Costs related to Investor Communication

22,471

45,325

Transaction cost
Marketing & Selling Exps. Including agents
commission

14,251

16,685

8,359

79,045

3,018,351

4,769,316

(2,313,442)

(3,992,050)

-

-

3,783,874

736,802

Interest Income

6

Total Income
EXPENSES & LOSSES
Loss on Sale / Redemption of Investments (Net)
(Other than Inter Scheme Transfer / Sale)
Management Fees
ST on Management Fees
Investor Education & Awareness Fees
STT Fees on Equity Transactions

Insurance

Total Expenses
Net Surplus for the Year (excluding unrealised
appreciation)
Dividend Paid including dividend distribution tax
Provision / Write back for dimunition in value of
Investments

7
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Transfer from Income Equalisation Reserve

(456,468)

(1,050,622)

Net Surplus transferred to Revenue Reserve

1,013,964

(4,305,870)

Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to the
accounts

8

Schedules 6 to 7 form an integral part of the Revenue
Account
As per our attached report of even date
For Chaturvedi & Co
Chartered Accountants
Firm Regn. No.:- 302137E

For Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Ltd

For Sahara Mutual Fund

S.N.Chaturvedi
Partner
Mem.No: 040479

C.Kamdar
Director

R M Joshi
Director

S R Hegde
Trustee

Naresh Kumar Garg
Chief Executive Officer

A.N.Sridhar
Fund Manager

Place: Mumbai
Date: 6th June 2014

A K Thakur
Trustee

Vidya Manjrekar
Head- Operations & NAV Accounting
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As at
March 31,
2014

As at
March 31,
2013

(Rs)

(Rs)

21,487,779

21,550,030

21,487,779

21,550,030

Balances with Banks in Current accounts

524,792

356,730

Reverse Repo arrangements

622,505

2,803,017

11,731

11,379

175,953

173,827

1,334,981

3,344,953

SCHEDULES FORMING PART OF THE
BALANCE SHEET

SCHEDULE 1
Investments
(Refer Note 8.14 of Schedule 8 for detailed
Portfolio statement)
Equity Shares

SCHEDULE 2
Other Current Assets

Outstanding and accrued income
Investment - Liquid MF Units for Dividend

SCHEDULE 3
Unit Capital
Dividend Option 700752.283 units of Rs.10
each
(Previous Year 2012-13 974430.5440 units of
Rs.10 each)
Growth Option 1167392.125 units of Rs.10
each
Previous Year 2012-13 -1586185.5560 units of
Rs.10 each)
Direct Dividend Option 6182.966 units of Rs.10
each
(Previous Year 2012-13 - 3348.4730 units of
Rs.10 each)
Direct Growth Option 6702.824units of Rs.10
each
(Previous Year 2012-13 - 13870.7930 units of
Rs.10 each)
Total
(Refer Note 8.10 of Schedule 8)

7,007,523

9,744,305

11,673,921

15,861,856

61,830

33,485

67,028

138,708

18,810,302

25,778,354
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SCHEDULE 4
Reserves and Surplus
Revenue Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year

555,426

4,861,296

Transferred from Revenue Account

1,013,965

(4,305,870)

Balance as at end of the year
Income Equalisation Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year
Additions During the year
Transferred to Revenue Account

1,569,391

555,426

-

-

(456,468)

(1,050,622)

456,468

1,050,622

Balance as at end of the year

-

-

Unrealised Appreciation Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year
Additions During the year

350,598

747,099

2,894,225

(396,501)

Balance as at end of the year

3,244,823

350,598

Unit Premium Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year
Additions During the year
Balance as at end of the year

(2,150,470)

(2,740,859)

390,514

590,389
(1,759,956)

(2,150,470)

3,054,258

(1,244,446)

55,350

103,290

4,446

5,856

550

738

5,216

2,853

22

195

SCHEDULE 5
Current Liabilities and Provisions
Sundry Creditors
Management Fees Payable
ST on Management Fees Payable
Payable Fee on Investor Education
STT Payable
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Payable Load Subscription

22

22

Contract for purchase of Investments

674,563

0

Payable on redemption of units

209,473

227,827

8,558

20,294

958,200

361,075

As at
March 31,
2014

As at
March 31,
2013

(Rs)

(Rs)

2,660

-

-

189

143,389

125,944

448

438

146,497

126,571

(3,977,271)

(4,714,073)

(193,397)

(3,977,271)

3,783,874

736,802

Distribution Payable

SCHEDULES FORMING PART OF REVENUE
ACCOUNT
SCHEDULE 6
Interest & Discount Income
CBLO
Non Convertible Debentures
Reverse Repo
Net Income from Exit Load

SCHEDULE 7
Provision / Write Back for dimunition in value
of Investments
At the beginning of the year
At the end of the year
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SAHARA POWER AND NATURAL RESOURCES FUND
Perspective Historical Per Unit Statistics
Particulars

As at

As at

As at

31-Mar-14
(Rs. Per
Unit)

31-Mar-13
(Rs. Per
Unit)

31-Mar-12
(Rs. Per
Unit)

(a) Gross Income
(i) Income other than Profit on sale of Investments

0.37

0.30

0.29

(ii) Income from Profit (net of loss) on inter-scheme sales/

0.00

0.00

0.00

-1.27

-1.53

-0.33

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.34

0.32

0.30

-1.23

-1.55

-0.34

1.62

-1.41

-1.21

Dividend Plan

10.4951

8.5980

9.8215

Growth Plan

12.3029

10.0789

11.5134

Direct Dividend Plan

10.5362

8.6098

Direct Growth Plan

12.3326

10.0855

Dividend Plan

10.3901

10.1059

11.0894

Growth Plan

12.1799

11.8467

12.9998

Direct Dividend Plan

10.4308

10.1157

Direct Growth Plan

12.2093

11.8467

Dividend Plan

7.3591

8.4087

7.9614

Growth Plan

8.6267

9.8570

9.3328

Direct Dividend Plan

7.3767

8.4200

Direct Growth Plan

8.6385

9.8631

transfer of Investments
(iii) Income from Profit (net of Loss) on sale other
than Inter scheme
(iv) Transfer to revenue account from past year'
s
reserve
(b) Aggregate of expenses, write off, amortisation and
charges
(c) Net Income
(d) Net unrealised appreciation/(dimunition) in value of
Investments
(e) Net Asset Value

(f) Repurchase Price during the year**
(i) Highest

(ii) Lowest
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(g) Resale Price during the year**
(i) Highest
Dividend Plan

10.4951

10.4377

11.2014

Growth Plan

12.3029

12.2356

13.1311

Direct Dividend Plan

10.5362

10.2081

Direct Growth Plan

12.3326

11.9664

Dividend Plan

7.4334

8.6847

8.0418

Growth Plan

8.7138

10.1806

9.4271

Direct Dividend Plan

7.4512

8.5050

Direct Growth Plan

8.7258

9.9627

(h) Ratio of expenses to average daily net assets by
Percentage

2.85%

2.62%

2.50%

(i) Ratio of income to average daily net assets by
Percentage

6.16%

-21.51%

-10.49%

(ii) Lowest

(excluding transfer to revenue account from past year'
s
reserve but including net change in unrealized appreciation /
depreciation in value of Investments and adjusted for net
loss on sale / redemption of investments)
*Annaulised
**Based on the maximum load during the year
Per unit calculations based on number of units in issue at the
end of the period
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SCHEDULE - 8
ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES FORMING PART OF ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
MARCH 31, 2014.
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1 About the Scheme
SAHARA Power and Natural Resources Fund is an open ended growth scheme of Sahara Mutual Fund
(the “Fund”). The investment objective is to generate long term capital appreciation through investment in
equities and equity related securities of companies engaged in the business of generation, transmission,
distribution of Power or in those companies that are engaged directly or indirectly in any activity
associated in the power sector or principally engaged in discovery, development, production, processing
or distribution of natural resources. In line with SEBI Circular for providing separate options for direct
investments, the scheme has now four options (1) Growth Option (ii) Dividend Option (iii) Growth Option
– Direct and (iv) Dividend Option – Direct. The scheme will not declare dividend under the Growth Plan.
The Income earned on such units will remain invested under the scheme and will be reflected in the Net
Asset Value. The New Fund Offer period of the scheme was from 28/04/2008 to 27/05/2008.
1.2 Asset Management Company
Sahara Mutual Fund (SMF) has been established as a Trust in accordance with the Indian Trusts Act,
1882, and is sponsored by Sahara India Financial Corporation Limited.
Sahara Asset Management Company Private Limited (“SAMCPL”), a company incorporated under the
Companies Act, 1956, has been appointed as the Asset Management Company (“Investment Manager”)
to Sahara Mutual Fund.
The Shareholding of Sahara Asset Management Company Private Limited as on March 31, 2014 is as
follows:
Name of the Shareholder
Type of Holdings
Holding
Sahara India Financial Corporation Limited
Equity
45.60 %
Sahara India Corp Investment Limited
Equity
11.36 %
Sahara Prime City Limited
(formerly Sahara India Investment Corporation Limited )

Equity

11.36 %

Sahara Care Limited

Equity

31.68 %

Type of Holdings
Preference
Preference

Holding
90.32 %
9.68 %

Name of the Shareholder
Sahara India Commercial Corporation Ltd
Sahara Care Ltd
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1. Basis of Accounting.
The Scheme maintains its books of account on an accrual basis. These financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the Accounting Policies and Standards specified in the Ninth Schedule of
The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996, (the “Regulation”), and
amendments thereto, as applicable.
2.2. Accounting for Investments
2.2.1 Investments are accounted on trade dates at cost including brokerage, stamp duty and
other charges which are included in the acquisition of investments.
2.2.2 Profit or loss on sale of investments is determined on the respective trade date by
adopting the “Weighted Average Cost” method.
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2.2.3
2.2.4

Bonus/Rights entitlements on equity holdings are recognized only when the original
shares on which the entitlement accrues are traded on the Principal stock exchange on
ex-bonus/ex-rights basis respectively.
Primary Market Investments are recognized on the basis of allotment advice.

2.3. Valuation of Investments
Valuation Policy as on 31.03.2014 is as under.
VALUATION POLICY / PROCEDURES - EQUITY & EQUITY RELATED SECURITIES
1. Traded Equity Securities
A security would be treated as ‘Traded’ if it is traded on the “Designated Stock Exchanges” namely,
National Stock Exchange (NSE), or/and Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) or/and MCX Stock
Exchange, within a period of 30 days (including the date of valuation). The order in which the three
designated exchanges would be used for the purposes of valuation would always remain as NSE,
BSE and MCX. The price for valuation would be the last quoted closing price on the valuation date. If
the equity security is not traded on the valuation date in NSE, then BSE price would be considered
and if BSE is not available MCX Stock Exchange price would be considered for valuation.
The principal “Designated” stock exchange for valuation of equity security would be NSE. When an
equity security is not traded on the valuation date on any of the “Designated Stock Exchanges”, then
the closing price of the earliest previous date shall be used for valuation provided such date is within
a period of 30 days (including the date of valuation).
2. Thinly Traded Securities
"When trading in an equity/equity related security (such as convertible debentures, equity warrants,
etc.) in a month is both less than Rs.5 lakhs and the total volume is less than 50,000 shares, it shall
be considered as a thinly traded security and valued accordingly". In order to determine whether a
security is thinly traded or not, the volumes traded in all “designated” stock exchanges shall taken into
account.
3. Non-traded / Suspended / Unlisted Equity Securities
When a security (other than Government Securities) is not traded on any stock exchange for a period
of thirty days prior to the valuation date, the scrip would be considered as a Non-Traded security. This
would include at least four categories:

i. Shares remaining non-traded for more than 30 days in all the “Designated Stock Exchanges”
ii. Shares that are suspended from trading in all the “Designated Stock Exchanges” due to any
reason

iii. Shares remaining unlisted for more than 30 days from the date of closure of any public issue
iv. Shares issued by way of corporate actions by companies and remaining unlisted for more
than 30 days from the ex-date of the respective corporate action.

The valuation methodology for the above four categories, until the date of listing, would be as follows:
a) Based on the latest available Balance Sheet, net worth would be calculated as follows:
(i) Net Worth per share = [share capital+ reserves (excluding revaluation reserves) – Misc.
expenditure and Debit Balance in P&L A/c] Divided by No. of Paid up Shares.
(ii) Average capitalization rate (P/E ratio) for the industry based upon NSE prices or BSE prices
and discounted by 75% i.e. only 25% of the Industry average P/E would be taken as
capitalization rate (P/E ratio). Earnings Per Share (EPS) of the latest audited annual accounts
would be considered for this purpose.
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b) The value as per the net worth value per share (i) and the capital earning value (ii) calculated as
above would be averaged and further discounted by 10%(15% for Unlisted) for ill-liquidity so as
to arrive at the fair value per share.
c) In case the EPS is negative, EPS value for that year would be taken as zero for arriving at
capitalized earning.
d) In case where the latest Balance Sheet of the company is not available within nine months from
the close of the year, unless the accounting year is changed, the shares of such companies
would be valued at zero.
e) In case an individual security accounts for more than 5% of the total assets of the scheme, then
an Independent Valuer shall be appointed for the valuation of the said security.
4. Demerger/ Spin-Off/Carve-Out/Divestiture etc.
Generally on any of the above corporate actions, a currently listed security in the portfolio gets bifurcated
into securities of two or more entities (Demerger/ Spin-Off/Carve-Out/Divestiture etc.)
The valuation of the shares of these entities would be as under.
1. In case shares of all entities post the corporate action are traded on the “Designated Stock
Exchanges”, the closing traded price would be used for valuation purpose.
2. In case one or all of the entities post the corporate action, are not traded, then it would be
ensured that:
a. Listed entity would be valued at the closing price
b. Unlisted entity would be valued = Value of combined entity(s) immediately prior to
corporate action – Value of listed entity immediately prior to corporate action AND this
valuation of the unlisted entity would be persisted till the entity gets listed. However, if the
entity remains unlisted for a period of 30 days (including the valuation date) from the date
of the corporate action, it would be valued as per the valuation rules applicable for a nontraded security.
5. Warrants
a. In respect of warrants to subscribe for shares attached to instruments, the warrants would be valued at
the value of the share which would be obtained on exercise of the warrants as reduced by the amount
which would be payable on exercise of the warrant. A discount similar to the discount to be determined in
respect on convertible debentures shall be deducted to account for the period, which must elapse before
the warrant can be exercised.
b. In case the warrants are traded separately they would be valued as per the valuation guidelines
applicable to Equity Shares.
6. Rights
Until they are traded, the value of "rights" shares would be calculated as:
Vr = n ÷ m x (Pex - Pof)
Where
Vr = Value of rights
n = no. of rights offered
m = no. of original shares held
Pex = Ex-rights price
Pof = Rights Offer Price
Where the rights are not treated pari passu with the existing shares, suitable adjustment would be made
to the value of rights. Where it is decided not to subscribe for the rights but to renounce them and
renunciations are being traded, the rights would be valued at the renunciation value.
7. Derivatives
Market values of traded open futures and option contracts would be determined with respect to the
exchange on which contracted originally, i.e., a future or an option contracted on the National Stock
Exchange (NSE) would be valued at the closing price on the NSE.
The price of the same futures and option contract on the Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) cannot be
considered for the purpose of valuation, unless the futures or option itself has been contracted on the
BSE.
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The same will be valued at closing price if the contract is traded on the valuation day. In case there is no
trade on valuation day then the same would be valued at Settlement prices.
However, the contracts which are going to expire on valuation date would be valued at Settlement prices
only.
8. Mutual Fund Units
a. In case of traded Mutual Fund schemes, the units would be valued at closing price on the stock
exchange on which they are traded like equity instruments. In case the units are not traded for more than
7 days, last declared Repurchase Price (the price at which Mutual Fund schemes buys its units back)
would be considered for valuation.
b. If the last available Repurchase price is older than 7 days, the valuation will be done at the last
available NAV reduced by illiquidity discount. The illiquidity discount will be 10% of NAV or as decided by
the Valuation Committee.
c. In case of non-traded Mutual Fund scheme, the last declared Repurchase Price (the price at which
Mutual Fund schemes buys its units back) would be considered for valuation.
Related matters
I.
In case of any other instruments not mentioned above and not covered in the policy above, the
same shall be referred to the Investment and Valuation Committee which is empowered to take
decision.
II.

In case of any perceived conflict of interest while valuing the securities, the matter shall be
dealt and decided by Investment and Valuation Committee.

III.

For non– business day the Valuation shall be done on aggregated Scrip wise prices as
provided by CRISIL/ICRA. In absence of Scrip wise prices the valuation shall be done on
accrual basis/amortization basis based on last valuation.

IV.

In case of exceptional circumstances like, exceptional policy announcements by
government/regulatory bodies, natural disasters, public disturbances, extreme volatility in
capital market, shut down of market, war etc and on those days if scrip- wise value or
valuation matrices are not available from CRISIL/ICRA and if security is not traded, the
valuation for the day shall be done based on last valuation plus accrual/amortization or as may
decided by the Investment and Valuation Committee.

V.

The Valuation Policy shall be reviewed by the Statutory Auditor at least once in a year.

VI.

Valuation Policy and Procedures as updated and approved by the Board of AMC /
Board of Trustees shall be applicable for the schemes of Sahara Mutual Fund

VALUATION OF DEBT INSTRUMENTS
(I) The Valuation Policy of Debt and Money Market Instruments is given below:
Sr.
No.
1.

Instrument
CBLO, REPO, Fixed Deposit, Call Money , etc
and such Similar Instruments

Valuation applicable on the day of
valuation

On Amortization basis / Accrual basis.
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2.

Certificate of Deposit (CD), Commercial Paper
(CP), Non-Convertible Debenture (NCD) Pass
Through Certificate (PTC), Bonds, etc. where
Scrip wise values are available from CRISIL/
ICRA( Over 60 days residual maturity)

3.

Certificate of Deposit (CD), Commercial Paper
(CP), Non-Convertible Debenture (NCD) Pass
Through Certificate (PTC), Bonds, etc where
Scrip wise values are not available from CRISIL/
ICRA
(Upto 60 days residual maturity)

i)

Same security traded and reported on
public platforms.

On Weighted Average Yield of all trades
(excluding abnormal and retail trades) on
Public platforms, for that Securities on that
day irrespective of settlement day .

ii)

If Same Security not traded and reported
on any of the public platforms.

The aggregated matrices of CRISIL/ ICRA
for the respective category or any other
agencies entrusted by SEBI from time to
time for that day.

Central Government Securities / State
Government Securities / Treasury Bills/Cash
Management Bill etc

4.

The aggregated price provided byCRISIL /
ICRA for the given security or any other
agencies entrusted by SEBI from time to
time for that day

Aggregated valuation as provided by
CRISIL/ ICRA or any other agencies
entrusted by SEBI from time to time for that
day.

(II) Pricing of Inter -Scheme Transfer of Debt Instruments (ISTs):
Sr.
No.

1.

Instrument

Valuation applicable on the day of
valuation

Certificate of Deposit (CD), Commercial Paper
(CP), Non-Convertible Debenture (NCD) Pass
Through Certificate (PTC), Bonds, etc.

i)

Same security traded and reported on
FTRAC up to the time of IST.

Pricing will be based on Weighted Average
Yield of all trades in same security on FTRAC
(Excluding abnormal and retail trades)
irrespective
of
settlement
day
plus
accrual/amortization, if any, based on
settlement day of the IST. Example : If
settlement is T+0 then no accrual/amortization
and if the settlement is other than T+0, then
appropriate accrual/amortization.
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2.

Pricing will be based on Weighted Average
Yield of all trades in similar security/securities
on FTRAC (excluding abnormal and retail
trades) irrespective of settlement day plus
accrual/amortization, if any, based on
settlement day of the IST. Example : If
settlement is T+0 then no accrual/amortization
and if the settlement is other than T+0, then
appropriate accrual/amortization

ii)

If Same security is not traded but similar
Security/securities are
traded and
reported up to the time of IST on FTRAC

iii)

Previous end of the day valuation plus accrual,
if any, based on settlement day of the IST
If Same or similar Security/securities are
shall be taken. Example: if settlement is T+0
not traded and reported up to the time of
then no accrual/amortization and if the
IST on FTRAC
settlement is other than T+0 then appropriate
Accrual/amortization.

Central Government Securities / State
Government Securities / Treasury Bills/ Cash
Management Bill etc

i)

Same security traded and reported on
NDS-OM section of CCIL website.

On last traded price as given on NDS-Section
of CCIL Website (Excluding abnormal trade).

ii)

Same security not traded and reported on
NDS-OM section of CCIL website

Previous end of the day valuation price plus
accrual/amortization shall be taken

AMC may take screen shot/ downloaded excel file from FTRAC / NDS-OM for the same purpose.
Similar Security:
Similar security here shall mean those securities which are same nature security [Commercial Paper (CP),
Certificate of Deposit (CD), Non-Convertible Debentures (NCD), etc ] of different issuers having same or
equivalent credit rating for Similar maturity profile (For both Short term rating and Long term rating), and
falling in same “Maturity Bucket” as defined below. Further the instruments Commercial Paper (CP), Bonds
and Non-Convertible Debentures (NCDs) etc are categorized into following sub-categories:—
1. NBFC
2. Real Estate,
3. PTC
4. Others
Maturity Bucket:
•
For Debt Security having remaining maturity upto 91 days
Maturity date of securities falling between
Time Bucket
1st and 7th of the month
1-7 of the same month
8th and 15th of the month
8-15 of the same month
16th and 23rd of the month
16-23 of the same month
24th to end of the month
24- end of the month
•
For Debt Securities having remaining maturities more than 91 days
“Time Bucket”for maturity profile of “Similar Securities” shall be same calendar month of that year.
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Notes:
For the purpose of Valuation of securities and for Inter Scheme Transfer, Weighted average of all trades of
5 crs and above, excluding abnormal trades and retail trades shall be taken. Since retail trades are of
small value and generally may deviate materially from the yield at which the market lots in WDM is traded,
it would be appropriate to exclude the retail trades for the more realistic valuation of the security.
Abnormal Trade is defined as those transaction/s which is/are over+/- 250 Basis Point compared to the
previous day valuation yield of the security in question
For the Valuation/Inter-scheme transfer, the available trades of various public platform shall be considered
where the face value of trade per transaction is Rs. 5 crs and above. If in any given day in same/ similar
security, the value of total trade is less than minimum market lot of 5 Crs, the same shall be ignored for the
valuation purpose.
CRISIL and ICRA provide the valuation matrices for various maturity bucket. Scrip wise value for various
debt instruments are also provided by CRISIL and ICRA . Trades are also reported and settled on various
public platform.
Public platform for the purpose of valuation of security shall mean FIMMDA managed FTRAC, NSE, BSE,
(except NSER- NSE retail and BSER- BSE Retail), RBI managed NDS-OM or any other Public platform for
Debt market launched from time to time. Market trades from different Platforms are usually collected by
BILAV Information LLP, which may be used for the purpose of Valuation of traded security for which scrip
wise values are not available from CRISIL/ICRA
The data on yield and prices are generally provided upto 4 decimal point which shall be considered. Price
upto 4 decimal points shall be considered on respective face value of the instruments for arriving at
valuation.
For the valuation of traded security where scrip wise values are not available by CRISIL/ICRA, price
derived from (corresponding to) Weighted Average yield of all available trades excluding abnormal and
retail trades on any public platform for the same security on t+1 settlement basis shall be taken.
In case, on any other day because of technical and other reason, if the Required Bilav file is not sent by
7.30 PM, FIMMDA managed FTRAC platform and NDS OM section of CCIL website may be used for the
calculation of weighted average yield of traded security for which scrip wise values are not available .
For non traded security where scrip wise values are not available, the valuation shall be done on the price
derived from(corresponding to) the aggregated yield matrices for the respective category as provided by
CRISIL/ICRA on T+1 settlement basis.
For Government Securities, SDL, T-Bills, Cash Management Bill etc, the valuation shall be done on
aggregated script wise pricing as provided by CRISL/ICRA and as applicable for that day.
In the absence of scrip wise values the valuation shall be based on aggregated matrices if available from
CRISIL/ICRA on T+1 settlement and as applicable for that day.
In case the valuation matrices/script wise value is available either from CRISIL/ICRA upto a reasonable
time limit, the same shall be considered for arriving at valuation
In case on any given day neither the script wise value nor the valuation Matrices is available from
CRISIL/ICRA within the reasonable time limit, the Valuation shall be done based on accrual/amortization
based on last valuation.
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2.3.1 Valuation of Other Investments
Mutual Fund Units :
a. In case of traded Mutual Fund schemes, the units would be valued at closing price on the stock
exchange on which they are traded like equity instruments. In case the units are not traded for more than
7 days, last declared Repurchase Price (the price at which Mutual Fund schemes buys its units back)
would be considered for valuation.
b. If the last available Repurchase price is older than 7 days, the valuation will be done at the last
available NAV reduced by illiquidity discount. The illiquidity discount will be 10% of NAV or as decided by
the Valuation Committee.
c. In case of non-traded Mutual Fund scheme, the last declared Repurchase Price (the price at which
Mutual Fund schemes buys its units back) would be considered for valuation
2.3.2 Valuation of securities not covered under the above valuation policy:
The total exposure in securities, which do not fall under above valuation norms, shall not exceed 5% of
the total AUM of the scheme
In case of any other instruments not mentioned above and not covered in the policy above, the same
shall be referred to the Investment and Valuation Committee which is empowered to take decision.
Investment in such securities is to be valued by a method approved by the Investment and Valuation
Committee and the same will be reported to the Board of Trustees.
2.3.3 Unrealised Appreciation / Depreciation.
In accordance with the Guidance Note on Accounting for Investments in the Financial Statements of
Mutual Funds issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, the unrealized appreciation
determined separately for each individual investment is directly transferred to the “Unrealised
Appreciation Reserve Account” i.e. without routing it through the revenue account.
The provision for depreciation in value of investments determined separately for each individual
investment is recognized in the revenue account. The loss(realized) on investments sold / transferred
during the year is charged to revenue account, instead of being first adjusted against the provision for
depreciation, if already created in the prior year, as recommended by the said Guidance Note. However,
this departure from the Guidance Note does not have any net impact on the Scheme’s net assets or
results for the year.
2.4 Revenue Recognition
2.4.1 Income and Expenses are recognized on accrual basis.
2.4.2 Interest on funds invested in short term deposits with scheduled commercial banks is
recognized on accrual basis.
2.4.3 Dividend income earned by the scheme is recognized on the date the share is quoted on
ex-dividend basis on principal stock exchange.
2.4.4 Proportionate realized gains on investments out of sales / repurchase proceeds at the time
of sale / repurchase of units are transferred to revenue Account from Unit Premium
Reserve
3. Net Asset Value for Growth / Dividend Options:
The net asset value of the units is determined separately for units issued under the Growth Option,
Dividend Option, Growth Option – Direct and Dividend Option – Direct. For reporting the net asset
value of the Growth Option, Dividend Option, Growth Option – Direct and Dividend Option - Direct,
daily income earned, including realized and unrealized gain or loss in the value of investments and
expenses incurred by the scheme are allocated to the options in proportion to the value of the net
assets
.
4 Unit Premium Reserve Account
Upon issue and redemption of units, the net premium or discount to the face value of units is adjusted
against the unit premium reserve account of the respective Options /Scheme, after an appropriate of
the issue proceeds and redemption payout is credited or debited respectively to the income
equalization account.
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5.

Income Equalisation Reserve
An appropriate part of the sale proceeds or the redemption amount, as the case may be, is
transferred to income equalization account. The total distributable surplus (without considering
unrealized appreciation) upto the date of issue/ redemption of units has been taken into account for
the purpose of ascertaining the amount to be transferred to Equalization Account on a daily basis.
The net balance in this account is transferred to the Revenue Account at the end of the year.
6. Load Charges
The Entry load charges collected, if any are used to meet expenses as per the stipulated SEBI
guidelines from time to time. Service tax on exit load , if any, shall be paid out of the exit load
proceeds and exit load net of service tax, if any, shall be credited to the scheme.
7. Unclaimed Redemption.
In line with SEBI circular no. MFD/CIR/9/120 /2000 dated November 24, 2000, the unclaimed
redemption and dividend amounts may be deployed by the mutual funds in call money market or
money market instruments only and the investors who claim these amounts during a period of three
years from the due date shall be paid at the prevailing Net Asset Value. After a period of three years,
this amount can be transferred to a pool account and the investors can claim the unclaimed
redemption amount at NAV prevailing at the end of the third year. The income earned on such funds
can be used for the purpose of investor education. The AMC should make continuous effort to remind
the investors through letters to take their unclaimed amounts. Further, the investment management
fee charged by the AMC for managing unclaimed amounts shall not exceed 50 basis points.
8. NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
8.1
Management Fees, Trusteeship Fees, Custodian Fees

8.2
8.3

Management Fees
Management Fees (inclusive of service tax) has been computed at 1.40 % on average net assets
calculated on a daily basis.
Trusteeship Fees & Expenses
th
In accordance with Deed of Trust dated 18 July 1996 between the Settler and the Trustees, the
fund has paid or provided an annual fee of Rs.1,00,000/- per Trustee. Trusteeship fees &
expenses are allocated to the schemes on the basis of their daily average net assets.
Custodian Charges
HDFC Bank provides Custodial services to the scheme for which fees is paid as per the
agreement.
Provision for tax has not been made since the income of the scheme is exempt from tax under
Section 10(23D) of the Income Tax Act, 1961.
Transactions with Brokers in excess of 5% or more of the aggregate purchases and sale of
securities made by the Fund have\s been reported to the Trustees on a Bimonthly basis.

8.4

Certain investments are registered in the name of the Fund without specific reference to the
Scheme. As at March 31, 2014 the aggregate market value of securities under Sahara Power &
Natural Resources Fund but held in the name of Sahara Mutual Fund is Rs.6,23,187.20.

8.5

The Registrar and Transfer Agents charges amounting to Rs.92,091.00 constitutes 14.46 % of
the total schemes expenses.

8.6

Brokerage / Commission on sale of units by the Scheme or by the Asset Management Company
given to associates, pursuant to Regulation 25(8):

Commission to SIFCL A/c CMSD (Associate) made for sale of units of the MF for the current year
st
ended 31 March 2014.
(Rs.In lakhs)
Tax Gain
Growth
Liquid
Mid cap
Wealth Plus
Short Term
Infrastructure
Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund
Bond
Fund
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0.42
Star Value
Fund
0.01

0.13
Super 20
Fund
0.02

0.03
0.14
Power and Natural
Resources Fund
0.00

0.02

0.01
Banking &
FinancialServices Fund
0.76

0.07
Income Fund
0.01

Commission to SIFCL A/c CMSD (Associate) made for sale of units of the MF for the previous year ended
st
31 March 2013.
(Rs.In lakhs)
Tax Gain
Growth
Liquid
Mid cap
Wealth Plus Short Term Infrastructure
Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund
Bond
Fund
0.01
0.40
0.24
0.04
0.25
0.05
0.11
Star Value
Fund
0.04

Super 20
Fund
0.08

Power and Natural
Resources Fund
0.00

Banking & Financial
Services Fund
0.58

(Rs. in lakhs)
Income Fund
0.00

Commission paid to associates / related parties /group companies of Sponsor/AMC
Name of associate / Nature
of Period
Business given
(Rs Commission
paid
related
parties
/ association / Covered
cr and % of total (Rs & % of total
group companies of nature
of
business received by commission paid
Sponsor / AMC
relation
the fund)
by the fund
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
Sponsor /
April 13SIFCL A/c CMSD
Mutual Fund
(1.29 & 0.45%)
(Rs.1,60,398.82 ;
March 14
Distributor
13.57% )
Sponsor /
April 12SIFCL A/c CMSD
Mutual Fund
(0.81 & 0.24%)
(Rs.1,80,802.67 ;
March 13
Distributor
8.82% )
In column No 4, the total business received by the fund includes business through ARNs & also direct
business.
In column No 5, the amount includes the upfront and the trail.
Brokerage paid to associates / related parties / group companies of Sponsor/AMC
Name of associate / related
Nature of
Period
Value of Transaction Brokerage (Rs Cr &
parties / group companies
association /
Covered
(in Rs, Cr & of Total
% of total brokerage
value of Transaction
paid by the Fund)
of Sponsor / AMC
nature of
relation
of the Fund)
There are no associate brokers, hence not applicable for the period April – Mar 2014 & April – Mar 2013.
8.7 The aggregate value of Investment purchased and sold(Including Redemption) during the year as a
percentage of daily average net asset value;
Purchases

Sales

Year
2013-14
2012-13

Amount (Rs)
36,278,207
23,413,294

% of Daily average
162.46
74.14

Year
2013-14

Amount (Rs)
40,639,954

% of Daily average
181.99

2012-13

33,102,764

104.82
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8.8 Aggregate Appreciation and Depreciation in the value of Investments :
31-Mar -14
31-Mar-13
Appreciation
Depreciation
Appreciation
Depreciation
Asset Class
(Rs. In lakhs) (Rs. In lakhs)
(Rs. In lakhs)
(Rs. In lakhs)
32.45

Equity Shares

1.93

3.51

8.9 Income and Expense Ratio
Total Income (including net unrealized appreciation and net of loss on
sale of investments) to average net assets calculated on a daily basis.
Total Expenditure to average net assets calculated on a daily basis

39.77
2013-14
6.16%

2012-13
-21.51%

2.85%

2.62%

8.10 Movements in Unit Capital: Face Value of Units : Rs. 10/- per unit.
8.10.1 Growth Option
Number of
Number of
Amount (Rs)
Units
Units
As on
As on
As on
March 31,
March 31
March 31,
2014
, 2014
2013
4,493,635.091 44,936,350.91 4,493,635.091
Initial Capital
1,586,185.556 15,861,855.56 2,043,123.753
Opening Balance
6,980.612
69,806.12
Units Sold during the year
40,323.919
Units Repurchased during
(425,774.043) (4,257,740.43) (497,262.116)
the year
1,167,392.125 11,673,921.25 1,586,185.556
Closing Balance
8.10.2 Growth Option (Direct)

Initial Capital
Opening Balance
Units Sold during the year
Units Repurchased during the
year
Closing Balance

Number of
Units
As on
March 31,
2014
13,870.793
35,437.718
(42,605.687)
6,702.824

8.10.3 Dividend Option
Number of Units

Amount (Rs)
As on
March 31,
2013
44,936,350.91
20,431,237.53
403,239.19
(4,972,621.16)
15,861,855.56

As on
March 31,
2014
138,707.93
354,377.18

Number of
Units
As on
March 31,
2013
14,138.646

As on
March 31, 2013
141,386.46

(426,056.87)
67,028.24

(267.853)
13,870.793

(2,678.53)
138,707.93

Amount (Rs)

Number of
Units
As on March
As on March 31,
31,
2014
2013
20,946,883.31 2,094,688.331
9,744,305.44 1,247,224.828
58,637.01
21,990.237
Amount (Rs)

As on March 31,
2014
2,094,688.331
Initial Capital
974,430.544
Opening Balance
5,863.701
Units Sold during the year
Units Repurchased during
(279,541.962) (2,795,419.62) (294,784.521)
the year
700,752.283
7,007,522.83
Closing Balance
974,430.544

Amount (Rs)

Amount (Rs)
As on March 31,
2013
20,946,883.31
12,472,248.28
219,902.37
(2,947,845.21)
9,744,305.44

223

Sahara Mutual Fund – Annual Report 13-14.
8.10.4

Dividend Option (Direct)
Number of Units
As on March 31,
2014

Initial Capital
Opening Balance
Units Sold during the year
Units Repurchased during
the year
Closing Balance
8.11

3,348.473
3,789.007

Number of
Units
As on March
As on March 31,
31,
2014
2013
33,484.73
37,890.07
3,348.473
Amount (Rs)

(954.514)
6,182.966

(9,545.14)
61,829.66

Amount (Rs)
As on March 31,
2013
33,484.73

3,348.473

33,484.73

The scheme has declared nil dividends for the year ended March 31, 2014 (PY: NIL).There was no
bonus declared during the year ended March 31, 2014 (PY: Nil).

8.12 Unclaimed Amounts ( beyond three months) :
Unclaimed Redemption and Dividend during the year ended March 31, 2014 are as below:
Scheme Name
No of
Unclaimed
No of
Unclaimed
Investors
Dividend (Rs)
Investors
Redemption (Rs)
Sahara Power & Natural
5
8,558.10
13
155,002.83
Resources Fund
8.13 Investments made by the Schemes of Sahara Mutual Fund in Companies or their subsidiaries
that have invested more than 5% of the net asset value of any scheme, pursuant to Regulation
25(11):NIL
8.14 Portfolio Statement as on March 31, 2014
Name of the Instrument

ISIN

Quantity

Market
Value
(Rs.In
lakhs)

1) Equity & Equity Related
(a) Listed/awaiting Listing on Stock
Exchange
EQUITY SHARES
POWER
CESC LTD
POWER GRID CORPORATION OF
INDIA LTD.
PTC INDIA LTD
TATA POWER COMPANY LTD.
TORRENT POWER LTD
KALPATARU POWER
TRANSMISSION LTD
GVK POWER &
INFRASTRUCTURE LTD
TATA POWER COMPANY LTD RIGHTS ISSUE
MINERALS/MINING

INE486A01013

1700

8.52

INE752E01010
INE877F01012
INE245A01021
INE813H01021

8000
12000
9000
6000

8.40
8.14
7.66
5.64

INE220B01022

4675

4.46

INE251H01024

40000

4.42

1260

0.32

% to
NAV

% to
category
Total

21.75

22.13

12.95

13.18
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COAL INDIA LTD
SESA STERLITE LIMITED
GUJARAT MINERAL DEVEL
CORPN. LTD.
NMDC LIMITED
PETROLEUM PRODUCTS
RELIANCE INDUSTRIES LTD
BHARAT PETROLEUM
CORPORATION LTD
GULF OIL CORPORATION
LIMITED

INE522F01014
INE205A01025

3150
4500

9.10
8.48

INE131A01031
INE584A01023

5500
2500

7.25
3.48

INE002A01018

1250

11.63

INE029A01011

1981

9.11

INE077F01027

5500

5.98

INDUSTRIAL CAPITAL GOODS
CROMPTON GREAVES LTD
BHARAT HEAVY ELECTRICALS
LTD
THERMAX LTD
CONSTRUCTION PROJECT

INE067A01029

6000

9.62

INE257A01026
INE152A01029

3000
700

5.88
5.24

VOLTAS LTD.
LARSEN AND TOUBRO LIMITED
FINANCE

INE226A01021
INE018A01030

6500
450

10.46
5.72

IDFC LTD
POWER FINANCE CORPORATION
LTD
OIL

INE043D01016

6000

7.34

INE134E01011

3000

5.80

OIL & NATURAL GAS CORP LTD
TRANSPORTATION

INE213A01029

ADANI PORTS & SEZ LTD
PAPER
TAMIL NADU NEWSPRINT &
PAPERS LTD

INE742F01042

INE107A01015

2600
3650

5000

12.43

9.49

9.66

7.40

7.53

6.01

6.12

3.79

3.86

3.13

3.18

2.93

2.98

2.92

2.97

2.73

2.78

2.70

2.75

2.53

2.57

2.53

2.57

2.43

2.47

2.26

2.30

8.29
6.84

6.42

NON - FERROUS METALS
HINDALCO INDUSTRIES LTD.
GAS

INE038A01020

4500

6.38

INDRAPRASTHA GAS LTD
FERROUS METALS

INE203G01019

2000

5.98

TATA STEEL LTD
PESTICIDES

INE081A01012

1500

5.91

UPL LIMITED
INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS

INE628A01036

3000

5.53

SUPREME INDUSTRIES LTD.
AUTO ANCILLARIES

INE195A01028

1100

5.53

JK TYRE & INDUSTRIES LTD
CONSUMER DURABLES

INE573A01034

3000

5.32

BAJAJ ELECTRICALS LTD

INE193E01025

1700

12.22

4.94
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TEXTILES - COTTON
NAHAR SPINNING MILLS LTD

0.51

0.52

Nil
214.88

0.00
98.28

Nil
100

Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

Nil
Nil
161,823

Nil
3.77
218.65

Nil
1.72
100.00

Nil
100.00
100.00

1107

1.09

(b) Unlisted
Equity Total (a+b)
2) Debt Instruments
(a) Listed/awaiting Listing on Stock
Exchange
(b) Privately Placed/Unlisted
(c) Securitised Debt
3) Money Market Instruments

Nil
161,823

4) Short Term Deposit
5) Other- Net Current Assets
Grand Total
8.15

INE290A01027

Investments made by the Scheme in shares of Group Companies of the Sponsor – NIL.

Holdings over 25% of the NAV of the scheme as of March 31, 2014.
Particulars
As on March 31, 2014
As on March 31, 2013
Nil
Number of Investors
Nil
N/A
Percentage of Holdings
N/A

8.16

8 .17 Contingent Liabilities: Nil
8.18 Previous year’s figures have been reclassified and regrouped wherever necessary to conform to
the current year’s classification.
As per our attached report of even date
For Chaturvedi & Co
Chartered Accountants
Firm Regn. No.:- 302137E

For Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Ltd

For Sahara Mutual Fund

S.N.Chaturvedi
Partner
Mem.No: 040479

C.Kamdar
Director

R M Joshi
Director

S R Hegde
Trustee

Naresh Kumar Garg
Chief Executive Officer

A.N.Sridhar
Fund Manager

Place: Mumbai
Date: 6th June 2014

A K Thakur
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Trustees of Sahara Mutual Fund
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Sahara Mutual Fund – Sahara Super 20 Fund
(“the Scheme”), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2014, and the Revenue Account for
the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Trustees of Sahara Mutual Fund and the Management of Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Limited (the “Management”) are responsible for the preparation of these financial statements that
give a true and fair view of the financial position and financial performance of the Scheme in accordance
with the accounting policies and standards specified in the Ninth Schedule of the Securities and
Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996 and amendments thereto, as applicable. This
responsibility includes the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the
preparation and presentation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Scheme’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Scheme’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the
financial statements give the information required by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual
Funds) Regulations, 1996 and amendments thereto, as applicable, in the manner so required and give a
true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India:
(a) in the case of the Balance Sheet, of the state of affairs of the Scheme as at March 31, 2014;
(b) in the case of the Revenue Account, of the surplus for the year ended on that date.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
As required by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996 and
amendments thereto, as applicable, we report that:
a) We have obtained all the information and explanations, which to the best of our knowledge and
belief were necessary for the purpose of our audit.
b) The statement of account has been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies and
standards specified in the Ninth Schedule of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual
Funds) Regulations, 1996 and amendments thereto, as applicable.
c) We have reviewed the Valuation Policy being followed for the schemes of Sahara Mutual Fund. The
Valuation Policy implemented for the scheme is in line with the SEBI guidelines issued in this regard.
For Chaturvedi & Co.
Chartered Accountants
(Firm’s Registration No. 302137E)
(SN Chaturvedi)
(Partner)
Mem. No. 040479
Place: Mumbai
th
Date: 6 June, 2014
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BALANCE SHEET AS AT MARCH 31, 2014
SAHARA SUPER 20 FUND

Schedule

ASSETS

As at

As at

March 31, 2014

March 31, 2013

(Rs)

(Rs)

Investments

1

7,197,227

7,874,353

Other Current Assets

2

1,176,255

1,766,705

8,373,482

9,641,058

Total Assets
LIABILITIES
Unit Capital

3

5,631,262

8,059,695

Reserves & Surplus

4

1,939,921

1,051,894

Current Liabilities & Provisions

5

802,299

529,469

8,373,482

9,641,058

Net Asset Value per unit (Rs.)
i) Dividend Plan

11.3043

11.3043

ii) Growth Plan

11.3051

11.3051

iii) Direct Dividend Plan

11.3175

11.3175

iv) Direct Growth Plan

11.3160

11.3160

Total Liabilities
NET ASSET VALUE

Significant Accounting Policies and
Notes to the accounts

8

Schedules 1 to 5 and 8 form an integral
part of the Balance Sheet
As per our attached report of even date
For Chaturvedi & Co
Chartered Accountants
Firm Regn. No.:- 302137E

For Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Ltd

For Sahara Mutual Fund

S.N.Chaturvedi
Partner
Mem.No: 040479

C.Kamdar
Director

R M Joshi
Director

S R Hegde
Trustee

Naresh Kumar Garg
Chief Executive Officer

A.N.Sridhar
Fund Manager

Place: Mumbai
Date: 6th June 2014

A K Thakur
Trustee

Vidya Manjrekar
Head- Operations & NAV Accounting
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REVENUE ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR ENDED March 31, 2014
For the year
For the year
SAHARA SUPER 20 FUND
Schedule
ended March
ended March 31,
31, 2014
2013
(Rs)

(Rs)

INCOME
Dividend Income

139,647

167,470

68,882

93,076

107,699

348,659

316,228

609,205

101,402

138,379

12,535

8,219

-

1,525

1,615

1,063

Registrar & Transfer Agent Charges

33,385

25,372

Custodian Fees

20,776

19,029

Fees & Expenses of Trustees

13,889

16,807

Statutory Audit Fees

8,943

8,652

Internal Audit Fees

14,367

15,560

Insurance

3,230

3,414

Costs related to Investor Communication

8,263

8,998

Interest Income
Profit on Sale / Redemption of Investments
(Net)

6

(Other than Inter Scheme Transfer / Sale)
Total Income

EXPENSES & LOSSES
Management Fees
ST on Management Fees
STT on Equity Transactions
Investor Education & Awareness
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Transaction cost

5,224

6,312

Marketing & Selling Exps. Including agent
commission

7,091

36,399

230,720

289,729

85,508

319,476

663,755

(127,863)

(562,842)

(547,290)

186,421

(355,677)

Total Expenses

Net Surplus for the Year (excluding
unrealised appreciation)
Provision / Write back for dimunition in
value of investments

7

Transfer from Income Equalisation Reserve
Net Surplus transferred to Revenue
Reserve
Significant Accounting Policies and Notes
to the accounts

8

Schedules 6 to 8 form an integral part of
the Revenue Account
As per our attached report of even date
For Chaturvedi & Co
Chartered Accountants
Firm Regn. No.:- 302137E

For Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Ltd

For Sahara Mutual Fund

S.N.Chaturvedi
Partner
Mem.No: 040479

C.Kamdar
Director

R M Joshi
Director

S R Hegde
Trustee

Naresh Kumar Garg
Chief Executive Officer

A.N.Sridhar
Fund Manager

Place: Mumbai
Date: 6th June 2014

A K Thakur
Trustee

Vidya Manjrekar
Head- Operations & NAV Accounting
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SCHEDULES FORMING PART OF THE BALANCE SHEET

SAHARA SUPER 20 FUND

As at
March 31,
2013

As at
March 31,
2013

(Rs)

(Rs)

SCHEDULE 1
Investments
(Refer Note 8.14 of Schedule 8 for detailed
Portfolio statement)
Equity Shares

7,197,227

7,874,353

7,197,227

7,874,353

Balances with Banks in Current accounts

500,203

630,837

Reverse Repo arrangements

460,653

1,127,413

Outstanding and accrued income

6,055

6,159

Contracts for Sale of Investments
Investment - Liquid MF Units

98,467

-

110,877

2,296

1,176,255

1,766,705

1,580,647

2,213,663

3,858,533

5,682,785

30,989

18,036

161,093

145,211

5,631,262

8,059,695

SCHEDULE 2
Other Current Assets

SCHEDULE 3
Unit Capital
Dividend Option 158064.6780 units of Rs.10
each
(For 2012-2013 221366.2570 units of Rs.10
each)
Growth Option 385853.2610 units of Rs.10
each
(For 2012-2013 568278.4510 units of Rs.10
each)
Direct Dividend Option 3098.8610 units of
Rs.10 each
(For 2012-2013 - 1803.6110 units of Rs.10
each)
Direct Growth Option 16109.3220 units of
Rs.10 each
(For 2012-2013 -14521.1190 units of Rs.10
each)
Total
(Refer Note 8.10 of Schedule 8)
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SCHEDULE 4
Reserves and Surplus
Revenue Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year

1,424,037

1,779,714

Transferred from Revenue Account

186,421

(355,677)

Balance as at end of the year

1,610,458

1,424,037

Income Equalisation Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year
Additions During the year
Transferred to Revenue Account

-

-

(562,842)

(547,290)

562,842

Balance as at end of the year

547,290
-

-

Unrealised Appreciation Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year

104,131

279,528

Additions During the year

655,464

(175,397)

Balance as at end of the year

759,595

104,131

Unit Premium Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year
Additions During the year
Balance as at end of the year

(476,274)

(553,148)

46,142

76,874
(430,132)

(476,274)

1,939,921

1,051,894

14,295

18,753

1,550

2,583

192

274

4

111

637,498

448,255

SCHEDULE 5
Current Liabilities and Provisions
Sundry Creditors
Management Fees Payable
ST on Management Fees Payable
STT Payable
Contracts or Purchase of Investments
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Payable Load Subscription
Payable - Fee on Investor Education
Payable on redemption of units

SCHEDULES FORMING PART OF
REVENUE ACCOUNT
SCHEDULE 6
Interest & Discount Income
Commercial Paper/Certificate of Deposit/
CBLO
Reverse Repo
Net Income from Exit Load

44

44

1,866

1,015

146,850

58,434

802,299

529,469

For the year
ended
March 31,
2014

For the year
ended
March 31,
2013

(Rs)

(Rs)

527

-

64,727

91,712

3,628

1,364

68,882

93,076

(670,426)

(542,563)

(6,671)

(670,426)

663,755

(127,863)

SCHEDULE 7
Provision / Write back for dimunition in
value of investments
At the beginning of the year
At the end of the year
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SAHARA SUPER 20 FUND
Historical Per Unit Statistics
Particulars

As at
31-Mar-14
(Rs. Per Unit)

As at
31-Mar-13
(Rs. Per Unit)

As at
31-Mar-12
(Rs. Per Unit)

0.37

0.32

0.23

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.19

0.43

0.27

0.00

0.00

0.00

(b) Aggregate of expenses, write off,
amortisation and charges

0.41

0.36

0.30

(c) Net Income

0.15

0.39

0.21

(d) Net unrealised appreciation/(dimunition) in
value of Investments

1.34

-0.70

-0.24

13.4359
13.4456
13.5082
13.5044

11.3043
11.3051
11.3175
11.3160

11.3999
11.3993

13.3015
13.3111
13.3731
13.3694

12.5481
12.5477
12.6169
12.5477

12.0223
12.0218

10.4706
10.4764
10.5008
10.4984

10.2573
10.2569
11.0150
11.0136

9.8914
9.8904

13.4359

12.9600

12.1437

(a) Gross Income
(i) Income other than Profit on sale of Investments
(ii) Income from Profit (net of loss) on interscheme sales/
transfer of Investments
(iii) Income from Profit (net of Loss) on sale other
than Inter scheme
(iv) Transfer to revenue account from past year'
s
reserve

(e) Net Asset Value
Dividend Plan
Growth Plan
Direct Dividend Plan
Direct Growth Plan
(f) Repurchase Price during the year**
(i) Highest
Dividend Plan
Growth Plan
Direct Dividend Plan
Direct Growth Plan
(ii) Lowest
Dividend Plan
Growth Plan
Direct Dividend Plan
Direct Growth Plan
(g) Resale Price during the year**
(i) Highest
Dividend Plan
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Growth Plan
Direct Dividend Plan
Direct Growth Plan
(ii) Lowest
Dividend Plan
Growth Plan
Direct Dividend Plan
Direct Growth Plan
(h) Ratio of expenses to average daily net
assets by Percentage

(i) Ratio of income to average daily net assets
by Percentage
(excluding transfer to revenue account from
past year'
s reserve but including net change in
unrealized appreciation / depreciation in value of
Investments and adjusted for net loss on sale /
redemption of investments)

13.4456
13.5082
13.5044

12.9596
12.6750
12.6744

12.1432

10.5764
10.5822
10.6069
10.6044

10.5940
10.5936
11.1263
11.1248

9.9913
9.9903

2.84%

2.62%

2.50%

13.18%

0.39%

2.19%
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SCHEDULE - 8
ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES FORMING PART OF ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
MARCH 31, 2014.
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1 About the Scheme
Sahara Super 20 Fund is an open ended growth scheme of Sahara Mutual Fund (the “Fund”). The
investment objective of the scheme would be to provide long term capital appreciation by investing in
predominantly equity and equity related securities of around 20 companies selected out of the top 100
largest market capitalization companies, at the point of investment. In line with SEBI Circular for providing
separate options for direct investments , the scheme has now four options (1) Growth Option (ii) Dividend
Option (iii) Growth Option – Direct and (iv) Dividend Option – Direct.
The scheme will not declare dividend under the Growth Plan. The Income earned on such units will
remain invested under the scheme and will be reflected in the Net Asset Value. The New Fund Offer
period of the scheme was from 25/06/2009 to 23/07/2009.
1.2 Asset Management Company
Sahara Mutual Fund (SMF) has been established as a Trust in accordance with the Indian Trusts Act,
1882, and is sponsored by Sahara India Financial Corporation Limited.
Sahara Asset Management Company Private Limited (“SAMCPL”), a company incorporated under the
Companies Act, 1956, has been appointed as the Asset Management Company (“Investment Manager”)
to Sahara Mutual Fund.
The Shareholding of Sahara Asset Management Company Private Limited as on March 31, 2014 is as
follows:
Name of the Shareholder
Sahara India Financial Corporation Limited
Sahara India Corp Investment Limited
Sahara Prime City Limited
(formerly Sahara India Investment Corporation Limited
)
Sahara Care Limited
Name of the Shareholder
Sahara India Commercial Corporation Ltd
Sahara Care Ltd

Type of Holdings
Equity
Equity

Holding
45.60 %
11.36 %

Equity

11.36 %

Equity

31.68 %

Type of Holdings
Preference
Preference

Holding
90.32 %
9.68 %

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1. Basis of Accounting.
The Scheme maintains its books of account on an accrual basis. These financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with the Accounting Policies and Standards specified in the Ninth
Schedule of The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996, (the
“Regulation”), and amendments thereto, as applicable.

237

Sahara Mutual Fund – Annual Report 13-14.
2.2. Accounting for Investments
2.2.1 Investments are accounted on trade dates at cost including brokerage, stamp duty and
other charges which are included in the acquisition of investments.
2.2.2 Profit or loss on sale of investments is determined on the respective trade date by
adopting the “Weighted Average Cost” method.
2.2.3 Bonus/Rights entitlements on equity holdings are recognized only when the original
shares on which the entitlement accrues are traded on the Principal stock exchange on
ex-bonus/ex-rights basis respectively.
2.2.4 Primary Market Investments are recognized on the basis of allotment advice.
2.3. Valuation of Investments
Valuation Policy as on 31.03.2014 is as under.
VALUATION POLICY / PROCEDURES - EQUITY & EQUITY RELATED SECURITIES
1. Traded Equity Securities
A security would be treated as ‘Traded’ if it is traded on the “Designated Stock Exchanges” namely,
National Stock Exchange (NSE), or/and Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) or/and MCX Stock
Exchange, within a period of 30 days (including the date of valuation). The order in which the three
designated exchanges would be used for the purposes of valuation would always remain as NSE,
BSE and MCX. The price for valuation would be the last quoted closing price on the valuation date. If
the equity security is not traded on the valuation date in NSE, then BSE price would be considered
and if BSE is not available MCX Stock Exchange price would be considered for valuation.
The principal “Designated” stock exchange for valuation of equity security would be NSE. When an
equity security is not traded on the valuation date on any of the “Designated Stock Exchanges”, then
the closing price of the earliest previous date shall be used for valuation provided such date is within
a period of 30 days (including the date of valuation).
2. Thinly Traded Securities
"When trading in an equity/equity related security (such as convertible debentures, equity warrants,
etc.) in a month is both less than Rs.5 lakhs and the total volume is less than 50,000 shares, it shall
be considered as a thinly traded security and valued accordingly". In order to determine whether a
security is thinly traded or not, the volumes traded in all “designated” stock exchanges shall taken into
account.
3. Non-traded / Suspended / Unlisted Equity Securities
When a security (other than Government Securities) is not traded on any stock exchange for a period
of thirty days prior to the valuation date, the scrip would be considered as a Non-Traded security. This
would include at least four categories:

i. Shares remaining non-traded for more than 30 days in all the “Designated Stock Exchanges”
ii. Shares that are suspended from trading in all the “Designated Stock Exchanges” due to any
reason

iii. Shares remaining unlisted for more than 30 days from the date of closure of any public issue
iv. Shares issued by way of corporate actions by companies and remaining unlisted for more
than 30 days from the ex-date of the respective corporate action.

The valuation methodology for the above four categories, until the date of listing, would be as follows:
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a) Based on the latest available Balance Sheet, net worth would be calculated as follows:
(i)
(ii)

Net Worth per share = [share capital+ reserves (excluding revaluation reserves) – Misc.
expenditure and Debit Balance in P&L A/c] Divided by No. of Paid up Shares.
Average capitalization rate (P/E ratio) for the industry based upon NSE prices or BSE
prices and discounted by 75% i.e. only 25% of the Industry average P/E would be taken
as capitalization rate (P/E ratio). Earnings Per Share (EPS) of the latest audited annual
accounts would be considered for this purpose.

b) The value as per the net worth value per share (i) and the capital earning value (ii) calculated as
above would be averaged and further discounted by 10%(15% for Unlisted) for ill-liquidity so as
to arrive at the fair value per share.
c) In case the EPS is negative, EPS value for that year would be taken as zero for arriving at
capitalized earning.
d) In case where the latest Balance Sheet of the company is not available within nine months from
the close of the year, unless the accounting year is changed, the shares of such companies
would be valued at zero.
e) In case an individual security accounts for more than 5% of the total assets of the scheme, then
an Independent Valuer shall be appointed for the valuation of the said security.
4. Demerger/ Spin-Off/Carve-Out/Divestiture etc.
Generally on any of the above corporate actions, a currently listed security in the portfolio gets bifurcated
into securities of two or more entities (Demerger/ Spin-Off/Carve-Out/Divestiture etc.)
The valuation of the shares of these entities would be as under.
1. In case shares of all entities post the corporate action are traded on the “Designated Stock
Exchanges”, the closing traded price would be used for valuation purpose.
2. In case one or all of the entities post the corporate action, are not traded, then it would be
ensured that:
a. Listed entity would be valued at the closing price
b. Unlisted entity would be valued = Value of combined entity(s) immediately prior to
corporate action – Value of listed entity immediately prior to corporate action AND this
valuation of the unlisted entity would be persisted till the entity gets listed. However, if the
entity remains unlisted for a period of 30 days (including the valuation date) from the date
of the corporate action, it would be valued as per the valuation rules applicable for a nontraded security.
5. Warrants
a. In respect of warrants to subscribe for shares attached to instruments, the warrants would be valued at
the value of the share which would be obtained on exercise of the warrants as reduced by the amount
which would be payable on exercise of the warrant. A discount similar to the discount to be determined in
respect on convertible debentures shall be deducted to account for the period, which must elapse before
the warrant can be exercised.
b. In case the warrants are traded separately they would be valued as per the valuation guidelines
applicable to Equity Shares.
6. Rights
Until they are traded, the value of "rights" shares would be calculated as:
Vr = n ÷ m x (Pex - Pof)
Where
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Vr = Value of rights
n = no. of rights offered
m = no. of original shares held
Pex = Ex-rights price
Pof = Rights Offer Price
Where the rights are not treated pari passu with the existing shares, suitable adjustment would be made
to the value of rights. Where it is decided not to subscribe for the rights but to renounce them and
renunciations are being traded, the rights would be valued at the renunciation value.
7. Derivatives
Market values of traded open futures and option contracts would be determined with respect to the
exchange on which contracted originally, i.e., a future or an option contracted on the National Stock
Exchange (NSE) would be valued at the closing price on the NSE.
The price of the same futures and option contract on the Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) cannot be
considered for the purpose of valuation, unless the futures or option itself has been contracted on the
BSE.
The same will be valued at closing price if the contract is traded on the valuation day. In case there is no
trade on valuation day then the same would be valued at Settlement prices.
However, the contracts which are going to expire on valuation date would be valued at Settlement prices
only.
Related matters
I.

In case of any other instruments not mentioned above and not covered in the policy above, the
same shall be referred to the Investment and Valuation Committee which is empowered to take
decision.

II.

In case of any perceived conflict of interest while valuing the securities, the matter shall be
dealt and decided by Investment and Valuation Committee.

III.

For non– business day the Valuation shall be done on aggregated Scrip wise prices as
provided by CRISIL/ICRA. In absence of Scrip wise prices the valuation shall be done on
accrual basis/amortization basis based on last valuation.

IV.

In case of exceptional circumstances like, exceptional policy announcements by
government/regulatory bodies, natural disasters, public disturbances, extreme volatility in
capital market, shut down of market, war etc and on those days if scrip- wise value or
valuation matrices are not available from CRISIL/ICRA and if security is not traded, the
valuation for the day shall be done based on last valuation plus accrual/amortization or as may
decided by the Investment and Valuation Committee.

V. The Valuation Policy shall be reviewed by the Statutory Auditor at least once in a year.
vi)

Valuation Policy and Procedures as updated and approved by the Board of AMC /
Board of Trustees shall be applicable for the schemes of Sahara Mutual Fund
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VALUATION OF DEBT INSTRUMENTS
(I) - The Valuation Policy of Debt and Money Market Instruments is given below:
Sr.
No.

Instrument
CBLO, REPO, Fixed Deposit, Call Money , etc and
such Similar Instruments

1

2

Certificate of Deposit (CD), Commercial Paper (CP),
Non-Convertible Debenture (NCD) Pass Through
Certificate (PTC), Bonds, etc. where Scrip wise
values are available from CRISIL/ ICRA
( Over 60 days residual maturity)

3

Certificate of Deposit (CD), Commercial Paper (CP),
Non-Convertible Debenture (NCD) Pass Through
Certificate (PTC), Bonds, etc where Scrip wise
values are not available from CRISIL/ ICRA
(Upto 60 days residual maturity)

On Amortization basis / Accrual basis.
The aggregated price provided by
CRISIL / ICRA for the given
security or any other agencies entrusted by
SEBI from time to
time for that day

i)

Same security traded and reported on
public platforms.

On Weighted Average Yield of all trades
(excluding abnormal and retail trades)
on Public platforms, for that Securities
on that day irrespective of settlement
day .

ii)

If Same Security not traded and reported
on any of the public platforms.

The aggregated matrices of CRISIL/
ICRA for the respective category or any
other agencies entrusted by SEBI from
time to time for that day.

Central Government Securities / State Government
Securities / Treasury Bills/Cash Management Bill etc

4

Valuation applicable on the day of
valuation

Aggregated valuation as provided by
CRISIL/ ICRA or any other agencies
entrusted by SEBI from time to time for
that day.

(II) Pricing of Inter -Scheme Transfer of Debt Instruments (ISTs):
Sr.
No.

1.

Instrument

Valuation applicable on the day of
valuation

Certificate of Deposit (CD), Commercial Paper
(CP), Non-Convertible Debenture (NCD) Pass
Through Certificate (PTC), Bonds, etc.
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i)

ii)

iii)

2.

Pricing will be based on Weighted Average
Yield of all trades in same security on FTRAC
(Excluding abnormal and retail trades)
irrespective
of
settlement
day
plus
Same security traded and reported on
accrual/amortization, if any, based on
FTRAC up to the time of IST.
settlement day of the IST. Example : If
settlement is T+0 then no accrual/amortization
and if the settlement is other than T+0, then
appropriate accrual/amortization.
Pricing will be based on Weighted Average
Yield of all trades in similar security/securities
on FTRAC (excluding abnormal and retail
If Same security is not traded but similar trades) irrespective of settlement day plus
Security/securities are traded and reported accrual/amortization, if any, based on
up to the time of IST on FTRAC
settlement day of the IST. Example : If
settlement is T+0 then no accrual/amortization
and if the settlement is other than T+0, then
appropriate accrual/amortization
Previous end of the day valuation plus accrual,
if any, based on settlement day of the IST shall
If Same or similar Security/securities are be taken. Example: if settlement is T+0 then no
not traded and reported up to the time of accrual/amortization and if the settlement is
IST on FTRAC
other
than
T+0
then
appropriate
Accrual/amortization.

Central
Government
Securities
/
State
Government Securities / Treasury Bills/ Cash
Management Bill etc

i)

Same security traded and reported on
NDS-OM section of CCIL website.

On last traded price as given on
NDS-Section of CCIL
Website (Excluding abnormal trade).

ii)

Same security not traded and reported on
NDS-OM section of CCIL website

Previous end of the day valuation price plus
accrual/amortization shall be taken

AMC may take screen shot/ downloaded excel file from FTRAC / NDS-OM for the same purpose.
Similar Security:
Similar security here shall mean those securities which are same nature security [Commercial Paper (CP),
Certificate of Deposit (CD), Non-Convertible Debentures (NCD), etc ] of different issuers having same or
equivalent credit rating for Similar maturity profile (For both Short term rating and Long term rating), and
falling in same “Maturity Bucket” as defined below. Further the instruments Commercial Paper (CP), Bonds
and Non-Convertible Debentures (NCDs) etc are categorized into following sub-categories:—
1. NBFC
2. Real Estate,
3. PTC
4. Others
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Maturity Bucket:
• For Debt Security having remaining maturity upto 91 days
Maturity date of securities falling between
1st and 7th of the month
8th and 15th of the month
16th and 23rd of the month
24th to end of the month

Time Bucket
1-7 of the same month
8-15 of the same month
16-23 of the same month
24- end of the month

• For Debt Securities having remaining maturities more than 91 days
“Time Bucket”for maturity profile of “Similar Securities” shall be same calendar month of that year.
Notes:
1) For the purpose of Valuation of securities and for Inter Scheme Transfer, Weighted average of all
trades of 5 crs and above, excluding abnormal trades and retail trades shall be taken. Since retail
trades are of small value and generally may deviate materially from the yield at which the market
lots in WDM is traded, it would be appropriate to exclude the retail trades for the more realistic
valuation of the security.
2) Abnormal Trade is defined as those transaction/s which is/are over+/- 250 Basis Point compared
to the previous day valuation yield of the security in question
For the Valuation/Inter-scheme transfer, the available trades of various public platform shall be
considered where the face value of trade per transaction is Rs. 5 crs and above. If in any given
day in same/ similar security, the value of total trade is less than minimum market lot of 5 Crs, the
same shall be ignored for the valuation purpose.
3) CRISIL and ICRA provide the valuation matrices for various maturity bucket. Scrip wise value for
various debt instruments are also provided by CRISIL and ICRA . Trades are also reported and
settled on various public platform.
4) Public platform for the purpose of valuation of security shall mean FIMMDA managed FTRAC,
NSE, BSE, (except NSER- NSE retail and BSER- BSE Retail), RBI managed NDS-OM or any
other Public platform for Debt market launched from time to time. Market trades from different
Platforms are usually collected by BILAV Information LLP, which may be used for the purpose of
Valuation of traded security for which scrip wise values are not available from CRISIL/ICRA
5) The data on yield and prices are generally provided upto 4 decimal point which shall be
considered. Price upto 4 decimal points shall be considered on respective face value of the
instruments for arriving at valuation.
6) For the valuation of traded security where scrip wise values are not available by CRISIL/ICRA,
price derived from (corresponding to) Weighted Average yield of all available trades excluding
abnormal and retail trades on any public platform for the same security on t+1 settlement basis
shall be taken.
In case, on any other day because of technical and other reason, if the Required Bilav file is not
sent by 7.30 PM, FIMMDA managed FTRAC platform and NDS OM section of CCIL website may
be used for the calculation of weighted average yield of traded security for which scrip wise values
are not available .
7) For non traded security where scrip wise values are not available, the valuation shall be done on
the price derived from (corresponding to) the aggregated yield matrices for the respective category
as provided by CRISIL/ICRA on T+1 settlement basis.
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8) For Government Securities, SDL, T-Bills, Cash Management Bill etc, the valuation shall be done
on aggregated script wise pricing as provided by CRISL/ICRA and as applicable for that day.
In the absence of scrip wise values the valuation shall be based on aggregated matrices if
available from CRISIL/ICRA on T+1 settlement and as applicable for that day.
9) In case the valuation matrices/script wise value is available either from CRISIL/ICRA upto
reasonable time limit, the same shall be considered for arriving at valuation

a

10) In case on any given day neither the script wise value nor the valuation Matrices is available from
CRISIL/ICRA within the reasonable time limit, the Valuation shall be done based on
accrual/amortization based on last valuation.
2.3.1 Valuation of Other Investments
Mutual Fund Units :
a. In case of traded Mutual Fund schemes, the units would be valued at closing price on the stock
exchange on which they are traded like equity instruments. In case the units are not traded for more than
7 days, last declared Repurchase Price (the price at which Mutual Fund schemes buys its units back)
would be considered for valuation.
b. If the last available Repurchase price is older than 7 days, the valuation will be done at the last
available NAV reduced by illiquidity discount. The illiquidity discount will be 10% of NAV or as decided by
the Valuation Committee.
c. In case of non-traded Mutual Fund scheme, the last declared Repurchase Price (the price at which
Mutual Fund schemes buys its units back) would be considered for valuation
2.3.2 Valuation of securities not covered under the above valuation policy:
The total exposure in securities, which do not fall under above valuation norms, shall not exceed
5% of the total AUM of the scheme.
In case of any other instruments not mentioned above and not covered in the policy above, the
same shall be referred to the Investment and Valuation Committee which is empowered to take
decision.
Investment in such securities is to be valued by a method approved by the Investment and
Valuation Committee and the same will be reported to the Board of Trustees.
2.3.3 Unrealised Appreciation / Depreciation.
In accordance with the Guidance Note on Accounting for Investments in the Financial Statements
of Mutual Funds issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, the unrealized
appreciation determined separately for each individual investment is directly transferred to the
“Unrealised Appreciation Reserve Account” i.e. without routing it through the revenue account.
The provision for depreciation in value of investments determined separately for each individual
investment is recognized in the revenue account. The loss (realized) on investments sold /
transferred during the year is charged to revenue account, instead of being first adjusted against
the provision for depreciation, if already created in the prior year, as recommended by the said
Guidance Note. However, this departure from the Guidance Note does not have any net impact
on the Scheme’s net assets or results for the year.
2.4 Revenue Recognition
2.4.1 Income and Expenses are recognized on accrual basis.
2.4.2 Interest on funds invested in short term deposits with scheduled commercial banks is
recognized on accrual basis.

244

Sahara Mutual Fund – Annual Report 13-14.

5.

2.4.3 Dividend income earned by the scheme is recognized on the date the share is quoted on
ex-dividend basis on principal stock exchange.
2.4.4 Proportionate realized gains on investments out of sales / repurchase proceeds at the time
of sale / repurchase of units are transferred to revenue Account from Unit Premium
Reserve.
Net Asset Value for Growth / Dividend Options:
The net asset value of the units is determined separately for units issued under the Growth
Option, Dividend Option, Growth Option – Direct and Dividend Option – Direct. For reporting the
net asset value of the Growth Option, Dividend Option, Growth Option – Direct and Dividend
Option - Direct, daily income earned, including realized and unrealized gain or loss in the value of
investments and expenses incurred by the scheme are allocated to the options in proportion to
the value of the net assets

4

Unit Premium Reserve Account
Upon issue and redemption of units, the net premium or discount to the face value of units is
adjusted against the unit premium reserve account of the Scheme, after an appropriate of the issue
proceeds and redemption payout is credited or debited respectively to the income equalization
account.

5.

Income Equalisation Account
An appropriate part of the sale proceeds or the redemption amount, as the case may be, is
transferred to income equalization account. The total distributable surplus (without considering
unrealized appreciation) upto the date of issue/ redemption of units has been taken into account for
the purpose of ascertaining the amount to be transferred to Equalization Account on a daily basis.
The net balance in this account is transferred to the Revenue Account at the end of the year.

6.

Load Charges
The Entry load charges collected, if any are used to meet expenses as per the stipulated SEBI
guidelines from time to time. Service tax on exit load , if any, shall be paid out of the exit load
proceeds and exit load net of service tax, if any, shall be credited to the scheme.

7. Unclaimed Redemption.
In line with SEBI circular no.MFD/CIR/9/120 /2000 dated November 24, 2000, the unclaimed
redemption and dividend amounts may be deployed by the mutual funds in call money market or
money market instruments only and the investors who claim these amounts during a period of three
years from the due date shall be paid at the prevailing Net Asset Value. After a period of three years,
this amount can be transferred to a pool account and the investors can claim the unclaimed
redemption amount at NAV prevailing at the end of the third year. The income earned on such funds
can be used for the purpose of investor education. The AMC should make continuous effort to remind
the investors through letters to take their unclaimed amounts. Further, the investment management
fee charged by the AMC for managing unclaimed amounts shall not exceed 50 basis points.
8.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
8.1

Management Fees, Trusteeship Fees, Custodian Fees
Management Fees
Management Fees (inclusive of service tax) has been computed at 1.40 % on average net
assets calculated on a daily basis
Trusteeship Fees & Expenses
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In accordance with Deed of Trust dated 18 July 1996 between the Settler and the Trustees, the
fund has paid or provided an annual fee of Rs.1,00,000/- per Trustee. Trusteeship fees &
expenses are allocated to the schemes on the basis of their daily average net assets.
Custodian Charges
HDFC Bank provides Custodial services to the scheme for which fees is paid as per the
agreement.
8.2 Provision for tax has not been made since the income of the scheme is exempt from tax under
Section 10(23D) of the Income Tax Act, 1961.
8.3 Transactions with Brokers in excess of 5% or more of the aggregate purchases and sale of
securities made by the Fund have\s been reported to the Trustees on a Bimonthly basis.
8.4 Certain investments are registered in the name of the Fund without specific reference to the
Scheme. As at March 31, 2014 the aggregate market value of securities under Sahara Super
20 Fund but held in the name of Sahara Mutual Fund is Rs. 4,61,158.53
8.5 The Registrar and Transfer Agents charges amounting to Rs.33,385.00 constitutes 14.47% of
the total schemes expenses
8.6 Transactions with Associates
Brokerage / Commission on sale of units by the Scheme or by the Asset Management Company
given to associates, pursuant to Regulation 25(8):
Commission to SIFCL A/c CMSD (Associate) made for sale of units of the MF for the current year
st
ended 31 March 2014.
Tax
Gain
Fund

Growth
Fund

Liquid
Fund

Mid cap
Fund

Wealth
Plus Fund

0.42

0.13

0.03

0.14

0.02

Star Value
Fund
0.01

Super 20
Fund
0.02

Power and Natural
Resources Fund
0.00

(Rs.In lakhs)
Short Term
Infrastructure
Bond
Fund
0.01

Banking & Financial
Services Fund
0.76

0.07
Income Fund
0.01

Commission to SIFCL A/c CMSD (Associate) made for sale of units of the MF for the previous year ended
st
31 March 2013.
(Rs.In lakhs)
Tax Gain
Growth
Liquid
Mid cap
Wealth Plus Short Term Infrastructure
Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund
Bond
Fund
0.01
0.40
0.24
0.04
0.25
0.05
0.11
Star Value
Fund
0.04

Super 20
Fund
0.08

Power and Natural
Resources Fund
0.00

Banking & Financial
Services Fund
0.58

(Rs. in lakhs)
Income Fund
0.00
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Commission paid to associates / related parties /group companies of Sponsor/AMC
Name of associate /
related parties / group
companies of Sponsor /
AMC

Nature of
association /
nature of
relation

Period
Covered

Business given
(Rs cr and % of
total business
received by the
fund)
(4)

(1)

Commission paid
(Rs & % of total
commission paid
By the fund

(2)
(3)
(5)
Sponsor /
April 13SIFCL A/c CMSD
Mutual Fund
(1.29 & 0.45%)
(Rs.1,60,398.82 ;
March 14
Distributor
13.57% )
Sponsor /
April 12SIFCL A/c CMSD
Mutual Fund
(0.81 & 0.24%)
(Rs.1,80,802.67 ;
March 13
Distributor
8.82% )
In column No 4, the total business received by the fund includes business through ARNs & also direct
business.
In column No 5, the amount includes the upfront and the trail.
Brokerage paid to associates / related parties / group companies of Sponsor/AMC
Name of associate /
related parties / group
companies of Sponsor /
AMC

Nature of
association
/ nature of
relation

Period
Covered

-

-

-

Value
of
Transaction (in Rs,
Cr & of Total value
of Transaction of
the Fund)
-

Brokerage (Rs Cr &
% of total brokerage
paid by the Fund)
-

There are no associate brokers, hence not applicable for the period April – Mar 2014 & April – Mar 2013.
8.7 The aggregate value of Investment purchased and sold(Including Redemption) during the year as a
percentage of daily average net asset value;
Purchases
Year
2013-14

Sales

Amount (Rs)
25,656,734

% of Daily average
316.27

2012-13

23,769,095

214.70

Year
2013-14

Amount (Rs)
27,761,304

% of Daily average
342.21

2012-13

26,764,672

241.76

8.8 Aggregate Appreciation and Depreciation in the value of Investments :
Asset Class
31-Mar-14
31-Mar-13
Appreciation
Depreciation
Appreciation
Depreciation
(Rs. In lakhs)
(Rs. In lakhs
(Rs. In lakhs)
(Rs. In lakhs)
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7.60

Equity Shares

0.07

1.04

6.70

8.9 Income and Expense Ratio
Total Income (including net unrealized appreciation and net of
loss on sale of investments) to average net assets calculated
on a daily basis.
Total Expenditure to average net assets calculated on a daily
basis
8.10

2013-14
13.18%

2012-13
0.39%

2.84%

2.62%

Movements in Unit Capital: Face Value of Units: Rs. 10/- per unit.

8.10.1 Growth Option

Number of
Units
Amount (Rs) Number of Units Amount (Rs)
As on March As on March 31, As on March 31, As on March 31,
31, 2014
2014
2013
2013
1,544,460.958 15,444,609.58
1,544,460.958
15,444,609.58
568,278.451
5,682,784.51
775,092.991
7,750,929.91

Initial Capital
Opening Balance
Units Sold during the
42,057.774
year
Units Repurchased
(224,482.964)
during the year
385,853.261
Closing Balance

420,577.74

59,259.171

592,591.71

(2,244,829.64)
3,858,532.61

(266,073.711)
568,278.451

(2,660,737.11)
5,682,784.51

8.10.2

Growth Option (Direct)
Number of
Units
Amount (Rs) Number of Units Amount (Rs)
As on March As on March 31, As on March 31, As on March 31,
31, 2014
2014
2013
2013
Initial Capital
14,521.119
145,211.19
Opening Balance
Units Sold during the
15,301.954
153,019.54
year
14,679.687
146,796.87
Units Repurchased
(13,713.751)
(137,137.51)
during the year
(158.568)
(1,585.68)
16,109.322
161,093.22
Closing Balance
14,521.119
145,211.19

8.10.3 Dividend Option
Number of
Units
Amount (Rs) Number of Units Amount (Rs)
As on March As on March 31, As on March 31, As on March 31,
31, 2014
2014
2013
2013
Initial Capital

482,579.297

4,825,792.97

482,579.297

4,825,792.97

Opening Balance
Units Sold during the
year
Units Repurchased
during the year

221,366.257

2,213,662.57

301,218.290

3,012,182.90

523.697

5,236.97

3,884.783

38,847.83

(63,825.276)

(638,252.76)

(83,736.816)

(837,368.16)

Closing Balance

158,064.678

1,580,646.78

221,366.257

2,213,662.57
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8.10.4 Dividend Option(Direct)
Number of
Units
As on March
31, 2014
-

-

-

-

1,803.611

18,036.11

-

-

2,305.104

23,051.04

1,803.611

18,036.11

(1,009.854)

(10,098.54)

-

-

3,098.861

30,988.61

1,803.611

18,036.11

Initial Capital
Opening Balance
Units Sold during the
year
Units Repurchased
during the year
Closing Balance

Amount (Rs) Number of Units Amount (Rs)
As on March As on March
As on March
31, 2014
31, 2013
31, 2013

8.11 The scheme has declared Nil dividend for the year ended March 31, 2014 (PY: Nil). There was
no bonus declared during the year ended March 31, 2014 (PY: Nil)
8.12 Unclaimed Amounts ( beyond three months) :
Unclaimed Redemption and Dividend during the year ended March 31, 2014 are as below:
Scheme Name
Sahara Super 20
Fund

No of
Investors

Unclaimed
Dividend
(Rs)

No. of
Investors

Unclaimed
Redemption
(Rs)

-

-

9

110,877.25

8.13 Investments made by the Schemes of Sahara Mutual Fund in Companies or their subsidiaries
that have invested more than 5% of the net asset value of any scheme, pursuant to Regulation
25(11):NIL
8.14

Portfolio Statement as on March 31, 2014

Name of the Instrument

ISIN

Quantity

Market
Value
(Rs. in
Lakhs)

% to
NAV

% to
Category
Total

1) Equity & Equity Related
(a) Listed/awaiting Listing on
Stock Exchange
EQUITY SHARES
BANKS
ICICI BANK LTD

INE090A01013

400

4.98

HDFC BANK LTD

INE040A01026

650

4.87

STATE BANK OF INDIA

INE062A01012

240

4.60

PUNJAB NATIONAL BANK

INE160A01014

425

3.16

SOFTWARE
INFOSYS LIMITED

INE009A01021

130

23.26

24.47

12.89

13.56

4.27
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TATA CONSULTANCY
SERVICES LTD

INE467B01029

130

2.77

WIPRO Ltd

INE075A01022

500

2.72

CONSUMER NON DURABLES
ITC LTD

INE154A01025

1400

4.94

HINDUSTAN UNILEVER LTD

INE030A01027

400

2.42

PETROLEUM PRODUCTS
RELIANCE INDUSTRIES LTD
FINANCE
HOUSING DEVELOPMENT
FINANCE CORPORATION LTD
L&T FINANCE HOLDINGS
LIMITED

INE002A01018

615

INE001A01036

350

3.09

INE498L01015

2000

1.47

NMDC LIMITED

INE584A01023

1700

2.37

COAL INDIA LTD

INE522F01014

600

1.73

PHARMACEUTICALS
CADILA HEALTHCARE LTD

INE010B01019

250

2.56

IPCA LABORATORIES LTD

INE571A01020

150

1.27

TRANSPORTATION
INE742F01042

2000

CONSTRUCTION PROJECT
LARSEN AND TOUBRO
LIMITED

INE129A01019

INE018A01030

850

250

INE101A01026

250

INE047A01013

80

OIL

INE397D01024

700

6.34

5.41

5.69

5.06

5.32

4.95

5.21

4.22

4.44

4.20

4.42

3.24

3.41

3.05

3.21

2.94

3.09

2.53

2.66

2.45
2.31

TELECOM - SERVICES
BHARTI AIRTEL LTD

6.03

3.18

CEMENT
GRASIM INDUSTRIES LTD.

7.95

3.20

AUTO
MAHINDRA & MAHINDRA LTD

7.56

3.75

GAS
GAIL (INDIA) LTD

10.22

5.72

MINERALS/MINING

ADANI PORTS & SEZ LTD

9.72

2.22

250

Sahara Mutual Fund – Annual Report 13-14.
OIL & NATURAL GAS CORP
LTD

INE213A01029

600

1.91

Nil

Nil

0

Nil

14,670

71.97

95.06

100

2) Debt Instruments
(a) Listed/awaiting Listing on
Stock Exchange

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

(b) Privately Placed/Unlisted

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

(c) Securitised Debt

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

3) Money Market Instruments

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

4) Short Term Deposit

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

5) Other- Net Current Assets

Nil

3.74

4.94

100.00

14,670

75.71

100.00

100.00

(b) Unlisted
Equity Total (a+b)

Grand Total

8.15 Investments made by the Scheme in shares of Group Companies of the Sponsor – NIL.
8.16 Holdings over 25% of the NAV of the scheme as of March 31, 2014
Particulars
Number of Investors
Percentage of Holdings

As on March 31, 2014
Nil
N/A

As on March 31, 2013
Nil
N/A

8 .17 Contingent Liabilities: Nil
8.18 Previous year figures have been reclassified/regrouped, wherever necessary, to conform to the
current year’s classification.
As per our attached report of even date
For Chaturvedi & Co
Chartered Accountants

For Sahara Asset Management Company Private Limited

Partner

Director

Director

Place: Mumbai
Date: June 6, 2014

Chief Executive Officer

Fund Manager

Head- Operations & NAV Accounting
For Sahara Mutual Fund
Place: Mumbai
Date: June 6, 2014

Trustee

Trustee
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Trustees of Sahara Mutual Fund
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Sahara Mutual Fund – Sahara Star Value
Fund (“the Scheme”), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2014, and the Revenue
Account for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Trustees of Sahara Mutual Fund and the Management of Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Limited (the “Management”) are responsible for the preparation of these financial statements that
give a true and fair view of the financial position and financial performance of the Scheme in accordance
with the accounting policies and standards specified in the Ninth Schedule of the Securities and
Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996 and amendments thereto, as applicable. This
responsibility includes the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the
preparation and presentation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Scheme’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Scheme’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the
financial statements give the information required by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual
Funds) Regulations, 1996 and amendments thereto, as applicable, in the manner so required and give a
true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India:
(a) in the case of the Balance Sheet, of the state of affairs of the Scheme as at March 31, 2014;
(b) in the case of the Revenue Account, of the surplus for the year ended on that date.

252

Sahara Mutual Fund – Annual Report 13-14.
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
As required by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996 and
amendments thereto, as applicable, we report that:
a) We have obtained all the information and explanations, which to the best of our knowledge and
belief were necessary for the purpose of our audit.
b) The statement of account has been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies and
standards specified in the Ninth Schedule of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual
Funds) Regulations, 1996 and amendments thereto, as applicable.
c) We have reviewed the Valuation Policy being followed for the schemes of Sahara Mutual Fund. The
Valuation Policy implemented for the scheme is in line with the SEBI guidelines issued in this regard.
d) The methods used to value non-traded securities as at March 31,2014 as determined by the
Management under procedures approved by the Trustees of Sahara Mutual Fund in accordance with
the guidelines for valuation of securities for mutual funds, issued by the Securities and Exchange
Board of India, are fair and reasonable.
For Chaturvedi & Co
Chartered Accountants
(Firm’s Registration No. 302137E)
(SN Chaturvedi)
(Partner)
Mem. No. 040479
Place: Mumbai
Date: 6th June 2014
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BALANCE SHEET AS ON MARCH 31, 2014
As at
SAHARA STAR VALUE FUND
Schedule
March 31, 2014
ASSETS
(Rs)

As at
March 31, 2013
(Rs)

Investments

1

11,178,026

9,111,417

Other Current Assets

2

1,352,633

2,057,125

12,530,659

11,168,542

Total Assets
LIABILITIES
3

Reserves & Surplus

4

2,046,282

(611,795)

Current Liabilities & Provisions

5

1,099,684

137,056

Total Liabilities

12,530,659

NET ASSET VALUE
Net Asset Value per unit (Rs.)
i) Dividend Plan
ii) Growth Plan
iii) Direct Dividend Plan
iv) Direct Growth Plan

Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to the
accounts

9,384,693

11,643,281

Unit Capital

11.3361
12.4430
11.4959
12.5208

11,168,542

8.8539
9.6781
8.9103
9.6926

8

Schedules 1 to 5 and 8 form an integral part of the
Balance Sheet

254

Sahara Mutual Fund – Annual Report 13-14.
REVENUE ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31,2014

SAHARA STAR VALUE FUND

Schedule

For the year
ended March
31, 2014
(Rs)

For the year
ended March
31, 2013
(Rs)

INCOME
Dividend Income
Interest Income

190,025

292,485

81,719

96,506

3,678

4,501

6

Net Income from Exit Load
Total Income

275,422

393,492

EXPENSES & LOSSES
Loss on Sale / Redemption of Investments (Net)
(Other than Inter Scheme Transfer / Sale)

1,101,230

1,817,982

Management Fees

102,760

154,208

ST on Management Fees

12,702

8,852

Investor Education & Awareness Fees

2,070

1,391

STT on Equity Transactions

-

703

Registrar & Transfer Agent Charges

42,277

33,457

Custodian Fees

26,281

24,965

Fees & Expenses of Trustees

17,625

22,674

Statutory Audit Fees

11,454

11,580

Internal Audit Fees

19,370

20,313

Insurance

4,670

4,423

Costs related to Investor Communication

10,227

12,688

Transaction cost

6,922

8,201

Marketing & Selling Exps. Including agents commission

8,709

50,333

Total Expenses

1,366,297

2,171,770
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Net Surplus for the Year (excluding unrealised appreciation)

(1,090,875)

(1,778,278)

Dividend Paid including dividend distribution tax
Provision / write back for dimunition in value
of investments

-

-

2,146,087

358,956

7

Transfer from Income Equalisation Reserve

101,600
1,156,812

Net Surplus transferred to Revenue Reserve

Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to
the accounts

(326,866)
(1,746,188)

8

Schedules 6 to 8 form an integral part of the Revenue Account
As per our attached report of even date

For Chaturvedi & Co.
Chartered Accountants

For Sahara Asset Management Company
Private Limited

Director

Director

Chief Executive Officer

Fund Manager

Partner

Head- Operations & NAV Accounting
For Sahara Mutual Fund

Place: Mumbai
Date:

Trustee

Trustee
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SCHEDULES FORMING PART OF THE BALANCE SHEET
As at
SAHARA STAR VALUE FUND
March 31,
2014
(Rs)
SCHEDULE 1

As at
March 31,
2013
(Rs)

Investments
(Refer Note 8.14 of Schedule 8 for detailed Portfolio
statement)
Equity Shares

11,178,027

9,111,417

11,178,027

9,111,417

SCHEDULE 2
Other Current Assets
Balances with Banks in Current accounts
Reverse Repo arrangements
Investment - Liquid MF Units for Dividend
Outstanding and accrued income

561,337
711,731

238,605
1,760,419

76,285

47,579

3,280

10,522

1,352,633

2,057,125

SCHEDULE 3
Unit Capital
Dividend Option 212006.5820 units of Rs.10 each
(For 2012-2013 280764.4790 units of Rs.10 each)

2,120,066

2,807,645

Growth Option 692007.6290 units of Rs.10 each
(For 2012-2013 - 863429.8000 units of Rs.10 each)
Direct Dividend Option 14069.5460 units of Rs.10
each
(For 2012-2013 - 7535.4170 units of Rs.10 each)
Direct Growth Option 20385.5620 units of Rs.10

6,920,076

8,634,298

140,695

75,354
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each
(For 2012-2013 - 12598.4360 units of Rs.10 each)

203,856

125,984

9,384,693

Total
(Refer Note 8.10 of Schedule 8)

11,643,281

SCHEDULES FORMING PART OF THE BALANCE
SHEET
SCHEDULE 4
Reserves and Surplus
Revenue Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year

(1,035,235)

710,953

Transferred from Revenue Account

1,156,812

(1,746,188)

Balance as at end of the year

121,577

(1,035,235)

Income Equalisation Reserve
-

Balance as at beginning of the year
Additions During the year
Transferred to Revenue Account

-

101,600

(326,866)

(101,600)

326,866

Balance as at end of the year

-

-

Unrealised Appreciation Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year
Additions During the year

6,423

348,350

1,606,238

(341,927)

Balance as at end of the year

1,612,661

6,423

Unit Premium Reserve
Balance as at beginning of the year
Additions During the year
Balance as at end of the year

417,017

505,313

(104,973)

(88,295)
312,044

417,017

2,046,282

(611,795)
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As at
March 31,
2014
(Rs)

As at
March 31,
2013
(Rs)

Sundry Creditors

20,840

34,584

Management Fees Payable

1,799

2,212

222

271

SCHEDULE 5
Current Liabilities and Provisions

ST on Management Fees Payable
Contract for purchase of Investments

935,750

Payable on redemption of units

131,445

88,922

7,188

9,633

-

44

2,433

1,331

7

59

Distribution Payable
Payable - Load Subscription
Payable - Fee on Investor Education
STT Payable

-

-

-

1,099,684

SCHEDULES FORMING PART OF REVENUE
ACCOUNT
SCHEDULE 6
Interest & Discount Income

As at
March 31,
2014
(Rs)

137,056

As at
March 31,
2013
(Rs)

Commercial Paper/Certificate of Deposit

790

-

Reverse Repo

80,929

96,506

81,719

96,506

At the beginning of the year

(2,713,985)

(3,072,941)

At the end of the year

(567,898)

(2,713,985)

2,146,087

358,956

SCHEDULE 7
Provision/ write back for dimunition in value of
Investments
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Perspective Historical Per unit statistics
SAHARA STAR VALUE FUND
Particulars

As at

As at

As at

31-Mar-14
(Rs. Per
Unit)

31-Mar-13
(Rs. Per
Unit)

31-Mar-12
(Rs. Per
Unit)

(a) Gross Income
(i) Income other than Profit on sale of Investments

0.29

0.34

0.36

-1.17

-1.56

0.11

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.28

0.30

0.26

-1.16

-1.53

0.22

1.11

-2.33

-1.82

Dividend Plan

11.3361

8.8539

10.3502

Growth Plan

12.4430

9.6781

11.3058

Direct Dividend Plan

11.4959

8.9103

Direct Growth Plan

12.5208

9.6926

Dividend Plan

11.2227

11.2537

11.0900

Growth Plan

12.3186

12.3041

12.0952

Direct Dividend Plan

11.3809

11.2542

Direct Growth Plan

12.3956

12.3050

Dividend Plan

7.5332

8.6724

8.4810

Growth Plan

8.2452

9.4792

9.2577

Direct Dividend Plan

7.5951

8.7261

Direct Growth Plan

8.2717

9.4922

(ii) Income from Profit (net of loss) on inter-scheme sales/
transfer of Investments
(iii) Income from Profit (net of Loss) on sale other
than Inter scheme
(iv) Transfer to revenue account from past year'
s
reserve
(b) Aggregate of expenses, write off, amortisation and
charges
(c) Net Income
(d) Net unrealised appreciation/(dimunition) in value of
Investments
(e) Net Asset Value

(f) Repurchase Price during the year**
(i) Highest

(ii) Lowest
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(g) Resale Price during the year**
(i) Highest
Dividend Plan

11.3361

11.6232

11.2020

Growth Plan

12.4430

12.7080

12.2174

Direct Dividend Plan

11.4959

11.3679

Direct Growth Plan

12.5208

12.4293

Dividend Plan

7.6093

8.9571

8.5667

Growth Plan

8.3285

9.7903

9.3512

Direct Dividend Plan

7.6718

8.8142

Direct Growth Plan

8.3553

9.5881

(h) Ratio of expenses to average daily net assets by
Percentage

2.55%

2.40%

2.32%

(i) Ratio of income to average daily net assets by
Percentage

2.11%

-27.98%

-12.12%

(ii) Lowest

(excluding transfer to revenue account from past year'
s
reserve but including net change in unrealized appreciation /
depreciation in value of Investments and adjusted for net
loss on sale / redemption of investments)
*Annaulised
**Based on the maximum load during the year
Per unit calculations based on number of units in issue at the
end of the period
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SCHEDULE - 8
ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES FORMING PART OF ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
MARCH 31, 2014.
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1 About the Scheme
Sahara Star Value Fund is an open ended growth scheme of Sahara Mutual Fund (the “Fund”).
The investment objective would be to provide long term capital appreciation by investing
predominantly in equity / equity related instruments of select companies based on value
parameters In line with SEBI Circular for providing separate options for direct investments , the
scheme has now four options (1) Growth Option (ii) Dividend Option (iii) Growth Option – Direct
and (iv) Dividend Option – Direct.-. The scheme will not declare dividend under the Growth Plan.
The Income earned on such units will remain invested under the scheme and will be reflected in
the Net Asset Value. The New Fund Offer period of the scheme was from 30/07/2009 to
28/08/2009.
1.2 Asset Management Company
Sahara Mutual Fund (SMF) has been established as a Trust in accordance with the Indian Trusts
Act, 1882, and is sponsored by Sahara India Financial Corporation Limited.
Sahara Asset Management Company Private Limited (“SAMCPL”), a company incorporated
under the Companies Act, 1956, has been appointed as the Asset Management Company
(“Investment Manager”) to Sahara Mutual Fund.
The Shareholding of Sahara Asset Management Company Private Limited as on March 31, 2014
is as follows:
Name of the Shareholder

Type of
Holdings
Equity
Equity

Holding

Sahara Prime City Limited
(formerly Sahara India Investment Corporation Limited )

Equity

11.36 %

Sahara Care Limited

Equity

31.68 %

Type of
Holdings
Preference
Preference

Holding

Sahara India Financial Corporation Limited
Sahara India Corp Investment Limited

Name of the Shareholder
Sahara India Commercial Corporation Ltd
Sahara Care Ltd

45.60 %
11.36 %

90.32 %
9.68 %

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1. Basis of Accounting.
The Scheme maintains its books of account on an accrual basis. These financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with the Accounting Policies and Standards specified in the Ninth
Schedule of The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996, (the
“Regulation”), and amendments thereto, as applicable.
2.2. Accounting for Investments
2.2.1 Investments are accounted on trade dates at cost including brokerage, stamp duty and
other charges which are included in the acquisition of investments.
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2.2.2 Profit or loss on sale of investments is determined on the respective trade date by
adopting the “Weighted Average Cost” method.
2.2.3 Bonus/Rights entitlements on equity holdings are recognized only when the original
shares on which the entitlement accrues are traded on the Principal stock exchange on
ex-bonus/ex-rights basis respectively.
2.2.4 Primary Market Investments are recognized on the basis of allotment advice.

2.3. Valuation of Investments
Valuation Policy as on 31.03.2014 is as under.
VALUATION POLICY / PROCEDURES - EQUITY & EQUITY RELATED SECURITIES
1. Traded Equity Securities
A security would be treated as ‘Traded’ if it is traded on the “Designated Stock Exchanges” namely,
National Stock Exchange (NSE), or/and Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) or/and MCX Stock
Exchange, within a period of 30 days (including the date of valuation). The order in which the three
designated exchanges would be used for the purposes of valuation would always remain as NSE,
BSE and MCX. The price for valuation would be the last quoted closing price on the valuation date. If
the equity security is not traded on the valuation date in NSE, then BSE price would be considered
and if BSE is not available MCX Stock Exchange price would be considered for valuation.
The principal “Designated” stock exchange for valuation of equity security would be NSE. When an
equity security is not traded on the valuation date on any of the “Designated Stock Exchanges”, then
the closing price of the earliest previous date shall be used for valuation provided such date is within
a period of 30 days (including the date of valuation).
2. Thinly Traded Securities
"When trading in an equity/equity related security (such as convertible debentures, equity warrants,
etc.) in a month is both less than Rs.5 lakhs and the total volume is less than 50,000 shares, it shall
be considered as a thinly traded security and valued accordingly". In order to determine whether a
security is thinly traded or not, the volumes traded in all “designated” stock exchanges shall taken into
account.
3. Non-traded / Suspended / Unlisted Equity Securities
When a security (other than Government Securities) is not traded on any stock exchange for a period
of thirty days prior to the valuation date, the scrip would be considered as a Non-Traded security. This
would include at least four categories:
i. Shares remaining non-traded for more than 30 days in all the “Designated Stock Exchanges”
ii. Shares that are suspended from trading in all the “Designated Stock Exchanges” due to any
reason
iii. Shares remaining unlisted for more than 30 days from the date of closure of any public issue
iv. Shares issued by way of corporate actions by companies and remaining unlisted for more
than 30 days from the ex-date of the respective corporate action.
The valuation methodology for the above four categories, until the date of listing, would be as follows:
a) Based on the latest available Balance Sheet, net worth would be calculated as follows:
(i)

Net Worth per share = [share capital+ reserves (excluding revaluation reserves) – Misc.
expenditure and Debit Balance in P&L A/c] Divided by No. of Paid up Shares.
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(ii)

Average capitalization rate (P/E ratio) for the industry based upon NSE prices or BSE
prices and discounted by 75% i.e. only 25% of the Industry average P/E would be taken
as capitalization rate (P/E ratio). Earnings Per Share (EPS) of the latest audited annual
accounts would be considered for this purpose.

b) The value as per the net worth value per share (i) and the capital earning value (ii) calculated as
above would be averaged and further discounted by 10%(15% for Unlisted) for ill-liquidity so as
to arrive at the fair value per share.
c) In case the EPS is negative, EPS value for that year would be taken as zero for arriving at
capitalized earning.
d) In case where the latest Balance Sheet of the company is not available within nine months from
the close of the year, unless the accounting year is changed, the shares of such companies
would be valued at zero.
e) In case an individual security accounts for more than 5% of the total assets of the scheme, then
an Independent Valuer shall be appointed for the valuation of the said security.
4. Demerger/ Spin-Off/Carve-Out/Divestiture etc.
Generally on any of the above corporate actions, a currently listed security in the portfolio gets bifurcated
into securities of two or more entities (Demerger/ Spin-Off/Carve-Out/Divestiture etc.)
The valuation of the shares of these entities would be as under.
1. In case shares of all entities post the corporate action are traded on the “Designated Stock
Exchanges”, the closing traded price would be used for valuation purpose.
2. In case one or all of the entities post the corporate action, are not traded, then it would be
ensured that:
a. Listed entity would be valued at the closing price
b. Unlisted entity would be valued = Value of combined entity(s) immediately prior to
corporate action – Value of listed entity immediately prior to corporate action AND this
valuation of the unlisted entity would be persisted till the entity gets listed. However, if the
entity remains unlisted for a period of 30 days (including the valuation date) from the date
of the corporate action, it would be valued as per the valuation rules applicable for a nontraded security.
5. Warrants
a. In respect of warrants to subscribe for shares attached to instruments, the warrants would be valued at
the value of the share which would be obtained on exercise of the warrants as reduced by the amount
which would be payable on exercise of the warrant. A discount similar to the discount to be determined in
respect on convertible debentures shall be deducted to account for the period, which must elapse before
the warrant can be exercised.
b. In case the warrants are traded separately they would be valued as per the valuation guidelines
applicable to Equity Shares.
6. Rights
Until they are traded, the value of "rights" shares would be calculated as:
Vr = n ÷ m x (Pex - Pof)
Where
Vr = Value of rights
n = no. of rights offered
m = no. of original shares held
Pex = Ex-rights price
Pof = Rights Offer Price
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Where the rights are not treated pari passu with the existing shares, suitable adjustment would be made
to the value of rights. Where it is decided not to subscribe for the rights but to renounce them and
renunciations are being traded, the rights would be valued at the renunciation value.
7. Derivatives
Market values of traded open futures and option contracts would be determined with respect to the
exchange on which contracted originally, i.e., a future or an option contracted on the National Stock
Exchange (NSE) would be valued at the closing price on the NSE.
The price of the same futures and option contract on the Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) cannot be
considered for the purpose of valuation, unless the futures or option itself has been contracted on the
BSE.
The same will be valued at closing price if the contract is traded on the valuation day. In case there is no
trade on valuation day then the same would be valued at Settlement prices.
However, the contracts which are going to expire on valuation date would be valued at Settlement prices
only.
Related matters
1) In case of any other instruments not mentioned above and not covered in the policy above, the
same shall be referred to the Investment and Valuation Committee which is empowered to take
decision.
2) In case of any perceived conflict of interest while valuing the securities, the matter shall be dealt
and decided by Investment and Valuation Committee.
3) For non– business day the Valuation shall be done on aggregated Scrip wise prices as provided
by CRISIL/ICRA. In absence of Scrip wise prices the valuation shall be done on accrual
basis/amortization basis based on last valuation.
4) In case of exceptional circumstances like, exceptional policy announcements by
government/regulatory bodies, natural disasters, public disturbances, extreme volatility in capital
market, shut down of market, war etc and on those days if scrip- wise value or valuation matrices
are not available from CRISIL/ICRA and if security is not traded, the valuation for the day shall be
done based on last valuation plus accrual/amortization or as may decided by the Investment and
Valuation Committee.
5) The Valuation Policy shall be reviewed by the Statutory Auditor at least once in a year.
6) Valuation Policy and Procedures as updated and approved by the Board of AMC /
Board of Trustees shall be applicable for the schemes of Sahara Mutual Fund
VALUATION OF DEBT INSTRUMENTS
(I) - The Valuation Policy of Debt and Money Market Instruments is given below:
Sr.
No.

Instrument

Valuation applicable on the day of
valuation
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CBLO, REPO, Fixed Deposit, Call Money , etc and
such Similar Instruments

1

Certificate of Deposit (CD), Commercial Paper
(CP), Non-Convertible Debenture (NCD) Pass
Through Certificate (PTC), Bonds, etc. where Scrip
wise values are available from CRISIL/ ICRA
(Over 60 days residual maturity)
Certificate of Deposit (CD), Commercial Paper
(CP), Non-Convertible Debenture (NCD) Pass
Through Certificate (PTC), Bonds, etc where Scrip
wise values are not available from CRISIL/ ICRA
(Upto 60 days residual maturity)

2

3

The aggregated price provided byCRISIL /
ICRA for the given security or any other
agencies entrusted by SEBI from time to
time for that day

i)

Same security traded and reported on
public platforms.

On Weighted Average Yield of all trades
(excluding abnormal and retail trades) on
Public platforms, for that Securities on that
day irrespective of settlement day .

ii)

If Same Security not traded and reported
on any of the public platforms.

The aggregated matrices of CRISIL/ ICRA
for the respective category or any other
agencies entrusted by SEBI from time to
time for that day.

Central Government Securities / State Government
Securities / Treasury Bills/Cash Management Bill
etc

4

On Amortization basis / Accrual basis.

Aggregated valuation as provided by
CRISIL/ ICRA or any other agencies
entrusted by SEBI from time to time for
that day.

(II) Pricing of Inter -Scheme Transfer of Debt Instruments (ISTs):
Sr.
No.

1.

Instrument

Valuation applicable on the day of
valuation

Certificate of Deposit (CD), Commercial Paper
(CP), Non-Convertible Debenture (NCD) Pass
Through Certificate (PTC), Bonds, etc.

i)

Same security traded and reported on
FTRAC up to the time of IST.

Pricing will be based on Weighted Average
Yield of all trades in same security on
FTRAC (Excluding abnormal and retail
trades) irrespective of settlement day plus
accrual/amortization, if any, based on
settlement day of the IST. Example : If
settlement
is
T+0
then
no
accrual/amortization and if the settlement is
other
than
T+0,
then
appropriate
accrual/amortization.
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ii)

iii)

2.

Pricing will be based on Weighted Average
Yield
of
all
trades
in
similar
security/securities on FTRAC (excluding
abnormal and retail trades) irrespective of
If Same security is not traded but similar
settlement day plus accrual/amortization, if
Security/securities are traded and reported
any, based on settlement day of the IST.
up to the time of IST on FTRAC
Example : If settlement is T+0 then no
accrual/amortization and if the settlement is
other
than
T+0,
then
appropriate
accrual/amortization
Previous end of the day valuation plus
accrual, if any, based on settlement day of
the IST shall be taken. Example: if
If Same or similar Security/securities are
settlement
is
T+0
then
no
not traded and reported up to the time of
accrual/amortization and if the settlement is
IST on FTRAC
other
than
T+0
then
appropriate
Accrual/amortization.

Central
Government
Securities
/
State
Government Securities / Treasury Bills/ Cash
Management Bill etc

i)

Same security traded and reported on
NDS-OM section of CCIL website.

On last traded price as given on
NDS-Section of CCIL
Website (Excluding abnormal trade).

ii)

Same security not traded and reported on
NDS-OM section of CCIL website

Previous end of the day valuation price plus
accrual/amortization shall be taken

AMC may take screen shot/ downloaded excel file from FTRAC / NDS-OM for the same purpose.
Similar Security:
Similar security here shall mean those securities which are same nature security [Commercial Paper (CP),
Certificate of Deposit (CD), Non-Convertible Debentures (NCD), etc ] of different issuers having same or
equivalent credit rating for Similar maturity profile (For both Short term rating and Long term rating), and
falling in same “Maturity Bucket” as defined below. Further the instruments Commercial Paper (CP), Bonds
and Non-Convertible Debentures (NCDs) etc are categorized into following sub-categories:—
1. NBFC
2. Real Estate,
3. PTC
4. Others
Maturity Bucket:
• For Debt Security having remaining maturity upto 91 days
Maturity date of securities falling between
1st and 7th of the month
8th and 15th of the month
16th and 23rd of the month
24th to end of the month

Time Bucket
1-7 of the same month
8-15 of the same month
16-23 of the same month
24- end of the month
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• For Debt Securities having remaining maturities more than 91 days
“Time Bucket”for maturity profile of “Similar Securities” shall be same calendar month of that year.
Notes:
1. For the purpose of Valuation of securities and for Inter Scheme Transfer, Weighted average of all
trades of 5 crs and above, excluding abnormal trades and retail trades shall be taken. Since retail
trades are of small value and generally may deviate materially from the yield at which the market
lots in WDM is traded, it would be appropriate to exclude the retail trades for the more realistic
valuation of the security.
2. Abnormal Trade is defined as those transaction/s which is/are over+/- 250 Basis Point compared
to the previous day valuation yield of the security in question
3. CRISIL and ICRA provide the valuation matrices for various maturity bucket. Scrip wise value for
various debt instruments are also provided by CRISIL and ICRA . Trades are also reported and
settled on various public platform.
4. Public platform for the purpose of valuation of security shall mean FIMMDA managed FTRAC,
NSE, BSE, (except NSER- NSE retail and BSER- BSE Retail), RBI managed NDS-OM or any
other Public platform for Debt market launched from time to time. Market trades from different
Platforms are usually collected by BILAV Information LLP, which may be used for the purpose of
Valuation of traded security for which scrip wise values are not available from CRISIL/ICRA
5. The data on yield and prices are generally provided upto 4 decimal point which shall be
considered. Price upto 4 decimal points shall be considered on respective face value of the
instruments for arriving at valuation.
6. For the valuation of traded security where scrip wise values are not available by CRISIL/ICRA,
price derived from (corresponding to) Weighted Average yield of all available trades excluding
abnormal and retail trades on any public platform for the same security on t+1 settlement basis
shall be taken.
7. For non traded security where scrip wise values are not available, the valuation shall be done on
the price derived from (corresponding to) the aggregated yield matrices for the respective category
as provided by CRISIL/ICRA on T+1 settlement basis.
8. For Government Securities, SDL, T-Bills, Cash Management Bill etc, the valuation shall be done
on aggregated script wise pricing as provided by CRISL/ICRA and as applicable for that day.
9. In case the valuation matrices/script wise value is available either from CRISIL/ICRA upto
reasonable time limit, the same shall be considered for arriving at valuation

a

10. In case on any given day neither the script wise value nor the valuation Matrices is available from
CRISIL/ICRA within the reasonable time limit, the Valuation shall be done based on
accrual/amortization based on last valuation.
2.3.1 Valuation of Other Investments
Mutual Fund Units :
a. In case of traded Mutual Fund schemes, the units would be valued at closing price on the stock
exchange on which they are traded like equity instruments. In case the units are not traded for more than
7 days, last declared Repurchase Price (the price at which Mutual Fund schemes buys its units back)
would be considered for valuation.
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b. If the last available Repurchase price is older than 7 days, the valuation will be done at the last
available NAV reduced by illiquidity discount. The illiquidity discount will be 10% of NAV or as decided by
the Valuation Committee.
c. In case of non-traded Mutual Fund scheme, the last declared Repurchase Price (the price at which
Mutual Fund schemes buys its units back) would be considered for valuation.
2.3.2 Valuation of securities not covered under the above valuation policy:
The total exposure in securities, which do not fall under above valuation norms, shall not exceed 5% of
the total AUM of the scheme
In case of any other instruments not mentioned above and not covered in the policy above, the same
shall be referred to the Investment and Valuation Committee which is empowered to take decision.
Investment in such securities is to be valued by a method approved by the Investment and Valuation
Committee and the same will be reported to the Board of Trustees.
2.3.3 Unrealised Appreciation/Depreciation.
In accordance with the Guidance Note on Accounting for Investments in the Financial Statements of
Mutual Funds issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, the unrealized appreciation
determined separately for each individual investment is directly transferred to the “Unrealised
Appreciation Reserve Account” i.e. without routing it through the revenue account.
The provision for depreciation in value of investments determined separately for each individual
investment is recognized in the revenue account. The loss (realized) on investments sold / transferred
during the year is charged to revenue account, instead of being first adjusted against the provision for
depreciation, if already created in the prior year, as recommended by the said Guidance Note. However,
this departure from the Guidance Note does not have any net impact on the Scheme’s net assets or
results for the year.
2.4 Revenue Recognition
2.4.1 Income and Expenses are recognized on accrual basis.
2.4.2 Interest on funds invested in short term deposits with scheduled commercial banks is
recognized on accrual basis.
2.4.3 Dividend income earned by the scheme is recognized on the date the share is quoted on
ex-dividend basis on principal stock exchange.
2.4.4 Proportionate realized gains on investments out of sales / repurchase proceeds at the time
of sale / repurchase of units are transferred to revenue Account from Unit Premium
Reserve.
3. Net Asset Value for Growth / Dividend Options:
The net asset value of the units is determined separately for units issued under the Growth Option ,
Dividend Option, Growth Option – Direct and Dividend Option – Direct. For reporting the net asset value
of the Growth Option , Dividend Option, Growth Option – Direct and Dividend Option - Direct, daily
income earned, including realized and unrealized gain or loss in the value of investments and expenses
incurred by the scheme are allocated to the options in proportion to the value of the net assets
4

Unit Premium Reserve Account

Upon issue and redemption of units, the net premium or discount to the face value of units is adjusted
against the unit premium reserve account of the Scheme, after an appropriate of the issue proceeds and
redemption payout is credited or debited respectively to the income equalization account.
5. Income Equalisation Account
An appropriate part of the sale proceeds or the redemption amount, as the case may be, is transferred to
income equalization account. The total distributable surplus (without considering unrealized appreciation)
upto the date of issue/ redemption of units has been taken into account for the purpose of ascertaining
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the amount to be transferred to Equalization Account on a daily basis. The net balance in this account is
transferred to the Revenue Account at the end of the year.
6. Load Charges
The Entry load charges collected, if any are used to meet expenses as per the stipulated SEBI guidelines
from time to time. Service tax on exit load , if any, shall be paid out of the exit load proceeds and exit
load net of service tax, if any, shall be credited to the scheme.
7. Unclaimed Redemption.
In line with SEBI circular no.MFD/CIR/9/120 /2000 dated November 24, 2000, the unclaimed redemption
and dividend amounts may be deployed by the mutual funds in call money market or money market
instruments only and the investors who claim these amounts during a period of three years from the due
date shall be paid at the prevailing Net Asset Value. After a period of three years, this amount can be
transferred to a pool account and the investors can claim the unclaimed redemption amount at NAV
prevailing at the end of the third year. The income earned on such funds can be used for the purpose of
investor education. The AMC should make continuous effort to remind the investors through letters to
take their unclaimed amounts. Further, the investment management fee charged by the AMC for
managing unclaimed amounts shall not exceed 50 basis points.
8. NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
8.1 Management Fees, Trusteeship Fees, Custodian Fees
Management Fees
Management Fees (inclusive of service tax) has been computed at 1.11 % on average net assets
calculated on a daily basis.
Trusteeship Fees & Expenses
th

In accordance with Deed of Trust dated 18 July 1996 between the Settler and the Trustees, the
fund has paid or provided an annual fee of Rs.1,00,000/- per Trustee. Trusteeship fees &
expenses are allocated to the schemes on the basis of their daily average net assets.
Custodian Charges
HDFC Bank provides Custodial services to the scheme for which fees is paid as per the
agreement.
8.2 Provision for tax has not been made since the income of the scheme is exempt from tax under
Section 10(23D) of the Income Tax Act, 1961.
8.3 Transactions with Brokers in excess of 5% or more of the aggregate purchases and sale of
securities made by the Fund have\s been reported to the Trustees on a Bimonthly basis.
8.4 Certain investments are registered in the name of the Fund without specific reference to the
Scheme. As at March 31, 2014 the aggregate market value of securities under Sahara Star
Value Fund but held in the name of Sahara Mutual Fund is Rs.7,12,510.70.
8.5 The Registrar and Transfer Agent amounting to Rs.42277.00 constitutes 15.95% of the total
schemes expenses.
8.6 Transactions with Associates
Brokerage / Commission on sale of units by the Scheme or by the Asset Management Company
given to associates, pursuant to Regulation 25(8):
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Commission to SIFCL A/c CMSD (Associate) made for sale of units of the MF for the
st
current year ended 31 March 2014.
(Rs.In lakhs)
Tax Gain
Fund

Growth
Fund

0.42

0.13

Star Value
Fund
0.01

Super 20
Fund
0.02

Liquid
Fund

Mid cap
Fund

Wealth
Plus Fund

Short Term
Bond

Infrastructure
Fund

0.03

0.14

0.02

0.01

0.07

Power and Natural
Resources Fund
0.00

Banking & Financial
Services Fund
0.76

Income Fund
0.01

Commission to SIFCL A/c CMSD (Associate) made for sale of units of the MF for the previous
st
year ended 31 March 2013.
(Rs.In lakhs)
Tax Gain
Fund
0.40
Star Value
Fund
0.04

Growth
Fund
0.24

Liquid
Fund
0.04

Super 20
Fund
0.08

Mid cap
Fund
0.25

Wealth Plus
Fund
0.05

Power and Natural
Resources Fund
0.00

Short Term
Bond
0.01

Banking & Financial
Services Fund
0.58

Infrastructure
Fund
0.11
(Rs. in lakhs)
Income Fund
0.00

Commission paid to associates / related parties /group companies of Sponsor/AMC
Name of associate / Nature of Period
Business
given Commission paid
(Rs &
(Rs cr and % of total % of total commission paid
related parties / group association Covered
business received by the fund
companies of Sponsor / / nature of
AMC
relation
by the fund)
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
Sponsor /
Mutual
April 13(1.29 & 0.45%)
(Rs.1,60,398.82 ; 13.57% )
SIFCL A/c CMSD
Fund
March 14
Distributor
Sponsor /
Mutual
April 12(0.81 & 0.24%)
(Rs.1,80,802.67 ; 8.82% )
SIFCL A/c CMSD
Fund
March 13
Distributor
In column No 4, the total business received by the fund includes business through ARNs &
also direct business.
In column No 5, the amount includes the upfront and the trail.
Brokerage paid to associates / related parties / group companies of Sponsor/AMC
Name of associate /
related parties / group
companies of Sponsor /
AMC

Nature of
association
/ nature of
relation

-

-

Period
Covered

-

Value
of
Transaction (in Rs,
Cr & of Total value
of Transaction of the
Fund)
-

Brokerage (Rs Cr & % of
total brokerage paid by the
Fund)
-
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There are no associate brokers, hence not applicable for the period April – Mar 2014 & April – Mar
2013.
8.7 The aggregate value of Investment purchased and sold(Including Redemption) during the year
as a percentage of daily average net asset value.
Purchases
Year
2013-14

Sales

Amount (Rs)
26,197,344

% of Daily average
252.25

2012-13

13,423,561

90.90

Year
2013-14
2012-13

Amount (Rs)
26,782,620
17,394,091

% of Daily average
257.89
117.79

8.8 Aggregate Appreciation and Depreciation in the value of Investments :
Asset Class

Equity Shares

31-Mar-14
Appreciation Depreciation
(Rs. In
(Rs. In
lakhs)
lakhs)
16.13

5.68

31-Mar-13
Appreciation
Depreciation
(Rs. In
(Rs. In
lakhs)
lakhs)
00.06

27.14

8.9 Income and Expense Ratio

Total Income (including net unrealized appreciation and net of
loss on sale of investments) to average net assets calculated
on a daily basis.
Total Expenditure to average net assets calculated on a daily
basis
8.10

2013-14

2012-13

2.11%

-27.98%

2.55%

2.40%

Movements in Unit Capital: Face Value of Units: Rs. 10 /- per unit.

8.10.1 Growth Option

As on March 31,
2014
877,619.245
863,429.800
48,185.332

Number of
Units
Amount (Rs)
As on March
As on March
31,
As on March
31, 2014
2013
31, 2013
8,776,192.45
877,619.245 8,776,192.45
8,634,298.00 1,087,964.534 10,879,645.34
481,853.32
104,937.243 1,049,372.43

(219,607.503)
692,007.629

(2,196,075.03) (329,471.977) (3,294,719.77)
6,920,076.29
863,429.800 8,634,298.00

Number of Units

Initial Capital
Opening Balance
Units Sold during the year
Units Repurchased during
the year
Closing Balance

Amount (Rs)
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8.10.2 Growth Option (Direct)
Number of Units
As on March 31,
2014
-

Initial Capital

12,598.436
20,141.662

Opening Balance
Units Sold during the year
Units Repurchased during
the year
Closing Balance

Number of
Units
Amount (Rs)
As on March
As on March 31,
31,
As on March 31,
2014
2013
2013
125,984.36
201,416.62
13,300.695
133,006.95

(12,354.536)
20,385.562

Amount (Rs)

(123,545.36)
203,855.62

(702.259)
12,598.436

(7,022.59)
125,984.36

8.10.3 Dividend Option

Initial Capital
Opening Balance
Units Sold during the year
Units Repurchased during the
year
Closing Balance
8.10.4

Number of
Units
As on March
31,
2014
542,433.551
280,764.479
17,539.650

As on March
31, 2014
5,424,335.51
2,807,644.79
175,396.50

(86,297.547)
212,006.582

(862,975.47)
2,120,065.82

Amount (Rs)

Number of
Units
As on March
31,
2013
542,433.551
412,542.210
32,967.982

Amount (Rs)
As on March
31, 2013
5,424,335.51
4,125,422.10
329,679.82

(164,745.713) (1,647,457.13)
280,764.479 2,807,644.79

Dividend Option(Direct)
Number of
Units
As on March
31,
2014

Initial Capital
Opening Balance
Units Sold during the year
Units Repurchased during the
year
Closing Balance

Amount (Rs)
As on March
31, 2014

7,535.417
9,773.382

75,354.17
97,733.82

(3,239.253)
14,069.546

(32,392.53)
140,695.46

Number of
Units
As on March
31,
2013
8,426.548

Amount (Rs)
As on March
31, 2013
84,265.48

(891.131)
7,535.417

(8,911.31)
75,354.17

8.11 The scheme has declared nil dividend for the year ended March 31,2014 (PY:NIL). There was
no bonus declared during the year ended March 31, 2014 (PY: Nil).
8.12

Unclaimed Amounts ( beyond three months) :
Unclaimed Redemption and Dividend during the year ended March 31, 2014 are as below:
Scheme name
Sahara Star Value

No of
Investors

Unclaimed
Dividend
(Rs)

No. of
Investors

Unclaimed
Redemption
(Rs)

5

7,188.88

6

69,096.59
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Fund
8.13 Investments made by the Schemes of Sahara Mutual Fund in Companies or their subsidiaries
that have invested more than 5% of the net asset value of any scheme, pursuant to Regulation
25(11):NIL
8.14

Portfolio Statement as on March 31, 2014
Name of the Instrument

ISIN

Quantity

Market
Value
(Rs. in
Lakhs)

% to
NAV

% to
Category
Total

1) Equity & Equity Related
(a) Listed/awaiting Listing on Stock
Exchange
EQUITY SHARES
PHARMACEUTICALS
TORRENT PHARMACEUTICALS LTD

INE685A01028

850

4.46

Dishman Pharmaceuticals Ltd.

INE353G01020

5000

4.20

MARKSANS PHARMA LTD

INE750C01026

17000

4.06

SOFTWARE
HEXAWARE TECHNOLOGIES LTD

INE093A01033

2500

3.76

NIIT TECHNOLOGIES LTD

INE591G01017

900

3.62

PERSISTENT SYSTEMS LTD.

INE262H01013

300

3.15

BANKS
ALLAHABAD BANK

INE428A01015

6000

5.45

CANARA BANK

INE476A01014

1500

3.97

POWER
KALPATARU POWER TRANSMISSION
LTD

INE220B01022

5000

4.77

PTC INDIA LTD

INE877F01012

6500

4.41

INDUSTRIAL CAPITAL GOODS
CROMPTON GREAVES LTD

INE067A01029

3000

4.81

BEML LTD

INE258A01016

1300

3.80

CONSUMER NON DURABLES
DCM SHRIRAM LIMITED

INE499A01024

5000

4.61

TATA GLOBAL BEVERAGES LTD

INE192A01025

2500

3.75

11.13

11.38

9.22

9.43

8.24

8.43

8.03

8.21

7.53

7.70

7.32

7.49
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CHEMICALS
ATUL LTD

INE100A01010

1000

4.34

TATA CHEMICALS LTD

INE092A01019

1400

4.02

CONSTRUCTION PROJECT
VOLTAS LTD.

INE226A01021

3000

4.83

ENGINEERS INDIA LTD

INE510A01028

1300

2.93

AUTO
TVS MOTOR COMPANY LTD

INE494B01023

5500

5.34

ESCORTS LTD

INE042A01014

1800

2.07

AUTO ANCILLARIES
PRICOL LTD.

INE605A01026

14000

3.76

JK TYRE & INDUSTRIES LTD

INE573A01034

2000

3.55

PETROLEUM PRODUCTS
GULF OIL CORPORATION LIMITED
FERTILISERS
NAGARJUNA FERTILIZERS AND
CHEMICALS LTD

INE077F01027

INE454M01024

4000

25300

INE347A01017

3000

TRANSPORTATION
GREAT EASTERN SHIPPING COMPANY
LTD
MINERALS/MINING
GUJARAT MINERAL DEVEL CORPN.
LTD.

INE034A01011

INE017A01032

1000

6.94

6.49

6.64

6.39

6.53

3.81

3.90

3.40

3.48

3.23

3.30

3.04

3.11

2.98

3.05

2.88

2.95

3.69
3.48

3.41

2500

3.30

Nil

Nil

0

Nil

125,150

111.78

97.79

100.00

2) Debt Instruments
(a) Listed/awaiting Listing on Stock
Exchange

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

(b) Privately Placed/Unlisted

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

(c) Securitised Debt

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

3) Money Market Instruments

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

(b) Unlisted
Equity Total (a+b)

INE131A01031

2000

6.79

3.89

TEXTILE PRODUCTS
ARVIND LTD

7.48

4.35

CEMENT
MANGALAM CEMENT LTD

7.31
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4) Short term Deposit

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

5) Other- Net Current Assets

Nil

2.53

2.21

100.00

125,150

114.31

100.00

100.00

Grand Total

8.15 Investments made by the Scheme in shares of Group Companies of the Sponsor – NIL.
8.16 Holdings over 25% of the NAV of the scheme as of March 31, 2014.
As on March 31, 2014

As on March 31, 2013

Number of Investors

Nil

Nil

Percentage of Holdings

N/A

N/A

Particulars

8.17 Contingent Liability: Nil
8.18 Previous year figures have been reclassified/regrouped, wherever necessary, to conform to the
current year’s classification.
As per our attached report of even date
For Chaturvedi & Co
Chartered Accountants

For Sahara Asset Management Company Private Limited

Partner

Director

Place: Mumbai
Date: June 6, 2014

Chief Executive Officer Fund Manager

Director

Head- Operations & NAV Accounting
For Sahara Mutual Fund

Place: Mumbai
Date: June 6, 2014

Trustee

Trustee
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Summary of the Substantive Provisions of the Trust Deed
The Trust Deed dated July 18, 1996, contains inter-alia, the following clauses that may be of material
interest to the investor:
• Frame one or more schemes for the issue of units to be subscribed by the public or class of public or
specified person or persons whether singly or otherwise and shall frame such rules and regulations
for the issue, re-purchase and redemption thereof and for the distribution of income on units, and
modify or alter the said rules and regulations as the Trustees may in their absolute discretion deem
fit, the duration of each scheme being indefinite in the case of open-ended schemes.
• In carrying out his responsibilities as a member of the Board of Trustees of Sahara Mutual Fund, the
individual trustee shall maintain an arm’s length relationship with other companies, or institutions or
financial intermediaries or anybody corporate with which he/she may be associated in any capacity.
• A member of the Board of Trustees shall not participate in the meetings of the Board or in any
decision making process for any investments in which he/she may be interested.
• All members of the Board of Trustees shall furnish to SEBI and the Board of Trustees the interest
which he/she may have in any other company, or institution or financial intermediary or any corporate
by virtue of his/her position as Director, partner or with which he/she may be associated in any other
capacity.
• No member of the Board of Trustees of Sahara Mutual Fund shall be a member of the Board of
Trustees of any other Mutual Fund and shall hold them in trust for the Unit holders.
• The Trustees shall take into their custody or under their control all the capital and other property of
the various schemes of Sahara Mutual Fund and shall hold them in trust for the Unit holders.
• The Trustees shall supervise the collection of any income receivable by the Fund of any scheme
thereunder and any claims for refund of taxes paid and shall hold any income received in trust for the
Unit holders in accordance with the Deed of Trust and the guidelines issued by SEBI.
• It shall be the duty of the Trustees to act in the best interest of the Unit holders of the various
schemes floated under the Deed of Trust at all times and the Trustees shall provide or cause to be
provided to the Unit holders and SEBI such information as may be specified by SEBI from time to
time.
• The Trustees shall take reasonable care to ensure that the funds under the schemes are managed by
the AMC in accordance with the Deed of Trust and SEBI guidelines.
Duties and Responsibilities of the Trustees
• The trustees and the AMC shall, with the prior approval of SEBI enter into an Investment
Management Agreement.
• The investment management agreement shall contain such provisions as are mentioned in the fourth
schedule of SEBI Regulations and such other provisions as are necessary for the purpose of making
investments.
• The trustees shall have a right to obtain from the AMC such information as is considered necessary
by the trustees.
• The trustees shall ensure before the launch of any scheme that the AMC has
Systems in place for its back office, dealing room and accounting.
Appointed all key personnel including Fund Managers for the Scheme and submitted their biodata which shall contain the educational qualifications, past experience in the securities markets
within 15 days of their appointment.
Appointed auditors to audit its accounts.
Appointed a Compliance Officer to comply with regulatory requirements and to redress investor
grievances.
Appointed Registrars and laid down parameters for their supervision.
Prepared a compliance manual and designed internal control mechanisms including internal audit
systems.
Specified norms for empanelment of brokers and marketing agent.
obtained, wherever required under these regulations, prior in principle
approval from the recognised stock exchange(s) where units are proposed to be listed.

277

Sahara Mutual Fund – Annual Report 13-14.

•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•

•

•
•
•
•
•

The compliance officer appointed shall immediately and independently report to the Board any
non-compliance observed by him.
The trustees shall ensure that the AMC has been diligent in empanelling the brokers, in monitoring
securities transactions with brokers and avoiding undue concentration of business with any broker.
The trustees shall ensure that the AMC has not given any undue or unfair advantage to any
associates or dealt with any of the associates of the AMC in any manner detrimental to interest of the
Unit holders.
The trustees shall ensure that the transactions entered into by the AMC are in accordance with the
SEBI Regulations and the Scheme.
The trustee shall ensure that the AMC has been managing the Mutual Fund Scheme independently of
other activities and has taken adequate steps to ensure that the interest of investors of those Scheme
are not being compromised with those of any other Scheme or of other activities of the AMC.
The trustees shall ensure that all the activities of the AMC are in accordance with he provisions of the
SEBI Regulations.
Where the trustees have reason to believe that the conduct of business of the Mutual Fund is not in
accordance with the SEBI Regulations and the Scheme, they shall forthwith take such remedial steps
as are felt necessary by them, and shall immediately inform SEBI of the violation and the action taken
by them.
Each trustee shall file the details of his transactions (exceeding Rs.1 lakh) of dealing in securities with
the Mutual Fund on a quarterly basis.
The trustees shall be accountable for, and be the custodian of the property of the respective Scheme
and shall hold the same in trust for the benefit of the Unit holders in accordance with the SEBI
Regulations and the provisions of the trust deed.
The trustees shall take steps to ensure that the transactions of the Mutual Fund are in accordance
with the provisions of the trust deed.
The trustees shall be responsible for the calculation of any income due to be paid to the Mutual Fund
and also of any income received in the Mutual Fund for the holders of the Units of any scheme in
accordance with the SEBI Regulations and the trust deed.
No amendments shall be carried out without the prior approval of SEBI and unit holders approval
would be obtained where it affects the interests of unit holders.
The trustees shall obtain the consent of the Unit holders:Whenever required to do so by SEBI in the interest of the Unit holder; or
Whenever required to do so on the requisition made by three fourths of the Unit holders of any
Scheme or
When the majority of the trustees decide to wind up or prematurely redeem the Units
The trustees shall ensure that no change in the fundamental attributes of any Scheme or the trust or
fees and expenses payable or any other change which would modify the scheme and affects the
interest of Unit holders, shall be carried out unless:A written communication about the proposed change is sent to each Unit holder and an
advertisement is given in one English daily newspapers having nationwide circulation well as in a
newspaper published in the language of the region where the Head Office of the Mutual Fund is
located;
The Unit holders are given an option to exit at the prevailing net asset value without any exit load.
The trustees shall call for the details of transactions in securities by the key personnel of the AMC in
their own names or on behalf of the AMC and shall report to SEBI, on a six monthly basis.
The trustees shall, on a quarterly basis, review all transactions carried out between the Mutual Fund,
and AMC and its associates.
The trustees shall review that net worth of the AMC on a quarterly basis and in case of any shortfall,
ensure that the AMC make up for the shortfall as per clause (f) of sub-Regulations (1) of regulation 21
of SEBI Regulations.
The trustees shall periodically review all service contracts such as custody arrangements, transfer
agency of the securities and satisfy themselves that such contracts are executed in the interests of
the Unit holder.
The trustees shall ensure that there is no conflict of interest between the manner of deployment of its
networth by the AMC and the interests of the Unit holders.
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•
•
•

•
•

The trustees shall periodically review the investor complaints received and the redressal of the same
by the AMC.
The trustees shall abide by the code of conduct as specified in the fifth schedule of SEBI Regulations.
The trustees shall furnish to SEBI, on a half yearly basis:A report on the activities of the Mutual Fund
A certificate stating that the trustees have satisfied themselves that there have been no instances
of self dealing or front running by any of the trustees, directors and key personnel of the AMC.
A certificate to the effect that the AMC has been managing the Scheme independently of any
other activities and in case any activities of the nature referred to in sub-regulations (2) of
regulation 24 have been undertaken by the AMC and has taken adequate steps to ensure that
the interests of the Unit holders are protected.
The independent trustees referred to in sub-regulation (5) of regulation 16 of SEBI Regulations shall
give their comments on the report received from the AMC regarding the investments by the Mutual
Fund in the securities of group companies of the Sponsor.
Disclosures to the investors:- The trustee shall be bound to make such disclosure to the Unit holders
as are essential in order to keep them informed about any information which may have an adverse
bearing on their investments.

The Trustees Shall Exercise Due Diligence As Under:
General:
• The Trustee shall be discerning in the appointment of the Board of Directors of the AMC.
• The Trustee shall review the desirability of continuance of the AMC if substantial irregularities are
observed in any of the Scheme and shall not allow the AMC to float new Schemes.
• The Trustee shall ensure that the trust property is properly protected, held and administered by
proper person and by a proper number of such persons.
• The Trustee shall ensure that service providers are holding appropriate registrations from SEBI or
concerned regulatory authority.
• The trustees shall arrange for test checks of service contracts.
• The trustees shall immediately report to SEBI any special developments in the Mutual Fund.
• As per SEBI Circular MFD/CIR/16/400/02 & MFD/CIR/01/071/02 dated 26.03.02 & 15.04.02
respectively the trustees will compare the performance of the scheme with the specified benchmark
at their meetings.
• As per SEBI Circular MFD/CIR/03/526/2002 dated May 9, 2002 about investment in unlisted equity
shares, if any, the trustees would report compliance of the regulations in their reports to SEBI.
Specific:
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•

Obtain internal audit reports at regular intervals from independent auditors appointed by the trustees.
Obtain compliance certificates at regular intervals from the AMC.
Hold meetings of trustees on a Bimonthly basis as per MFD/CIR/10/15895/2002 dt 20.08.2002.
The trustees supervisory role is discharged by reviewing the information and the operation of fund
based on the reports submitted at the Trustee meeting. The Trustees also review the Internal Audit
Report, Statutory Audit Report and the Annual Accounts of the Fund and review the reports sent to
SEBI periodically by the AMC. The Trustees have formed an Audit Committee during their meeting on
th
7 September, 2001. The Audit committee members presently are Shri S R Hegde,Shri A K Thakur
and Shri P V Rao and the quorum being any two members.
Consider the reports of the independent auditor and compliance reports of AMC at the meetings of
trustees for appropriate action.
Maintain records of the decision of the trustees at their meetings and also the minutes of their
meetings.
Prescribe and adhere to a code of ethics by the trustees, AMC and its personnel.
Communicate in writing to the AMC the deficiencies and checking the removal of deficiencies.
Notwithstanding anything contained hereinabove the trustees shall not be held liable for acts done in
good faith if they have exercised adequate due diligence honestly.
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•

The trustees shall pay specific attention to the following, as may be applicable, namely:
The investment management agreement and the compensation paid under the agreement.
Service contracts with affiliates, whether the AMC has charged higher fees than outside
contractors for the same service.
Selection of the AMC’s independent directors.
Securities transactions involving affiliates to the extent such transactions are permitted.
Selecting and nominating individuals to fill independent director’s vacancies.
Code of ethics must be designed to prevent fraudulent, deceptive or manipulative practices by
insiders in connection with personal securities transactions.
The reasonableness of the fees paid to the Sponsor, AMC and any other for services provided.
Principal underwriting contracts and their renewals.
Any service contract with the associates of the AMC.

•

Power to make rules:The trustee company may, from time to time, as per provisions of SEBI Regulations (with the prior
permission from Unit holders, in case of change of fundamental attributes in accordance with Clause
15 of Regulation 18 of the SEBI (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996 and otherwise to be in conformity
with the SEBI Regulations or to reflect the change in rules and regulations, generally applicable to
mutual funds or trusts), prescribe such forms and make such rules for the purpose of giving effect to
the provisions of the Scheme, with power to the Trustee company / Asset Management company to
add to, alter or amend all or any of the forms and rules that may be framed from time to time.

•

Power to remove difficulties:If any difficulty in giving effect to the provisions of the Scheme, the trustee company may take such
steps which are not inconsistent with these provisions, which appear to them to be necessary or
expedient, for the purpose of removing the difficulties.
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